
County Commission Courthouse
206 W. 1st Avenue

Hutchinson, KS 67501

  
1. Call to Order
  
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag and Prayer
  
3. Welcome and Announcements by Commission Chair
  
4. Public Comment on Items not on the Agenda

Please come forward to the podium, state your name and address and limit your remarks to not more than 5
minutes per item.

  
5. Determine Additions or Revisions to the Agenda
  
6. Consent Agenda
 6.A Vouchers (bills or payments owed by the county or related taxing units)
 6.B BOCC drafted minutes for approval January 10th, 24th, and 31st, 2024
 6.C Approving a resolution for 2024 dividing commissioner districts
 6.D Declare 1997 Ford E-350 (VIN 1FBHE31L7VHC01339), 2019 Ford F150 (VIN

1FTEW1P43KKD16681), used tires from RCAT, and Moose Plow UTV snowplow
as surplus to be sold on Purple Wave; and authorize County Administrator Randy
Partington to sign the titles of the vehicles

 6.E Public Works Department request to purchase one (1) 2024 Ram 3500 Crew Cab 4x4
from Allen Samuels, Hutchinson, Kansas, for a total price of $53,105, and declare
the 2009 Chevrolet Silverado 2500 (VIN#1GCHK49K99E134563) as surplus to be
auctioned on Purple Wave, and authorize County Administrator, Randy Partington,
to sign the title

 6.F Purchase of Two (2) 2024 Ford F-250 Crew Cab 4x4 Trucks from Midway Motors
Hutchinson, KS for the Solid Waste Department in the amount of $76,620.00; and declare the
2017 Ram 2500 (VIN 3C6TR5CT4HG563170) and 2013 Ford F250 (VIN
1FT7W2B67DEA43656) as surplus property for trade; and authorize County Administrator
Randy Partington to sign the titles

 6.G Caterpillar Certified Powertrain Rebuild on #355 D8T Dozer SN#FMJC01096 from
Foley Equipment Wichita, KS in the amount of $596,370.14 

 6.H Caterpillar Certified Powertrain Rebuild on #343 826 Compactor SN#AWF00831 from Foley
Equipment in Wichita, KS in the amount of $252,761.23

 6.I Replace and install a new Undercarriage on #356 D8T CAT Dozer in the amount of
$98,234.38 by Foley Equipment, Wichita, KS 

REGULAR SESSION

  

A G E N D A
Reno County Courthouse Veterans Room

206 W. 1st Ave.
Hutchinson, KS 67501

Wednesday, February 28, 2024, 9:00 AM

Randy Parks
District 1

Ron Hirst
District 2

Daniel P. Friesen
District 3

John Whitesel
District 4

Don Bogner
District 5

 



 6.J Ward Davis Builders Change Order #1 Courthouse Renovation project in the amount
of $24,756.00

 6.K Approval of Standard Operating Policy and Procedures for the Reno County Fire
Districts.
Associated SOP documents 

 6.L Reappoint Emergency Management Director, Adam Weishaar to the South Central
Kansas Homeland Security Council as Reno County's representative effective
2/28/2024 through 12/31/2026.

 6.M Approve the updated Reno County Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) and the
Chairman to sign the promulgation document.

  
7. Public Hearing
 7.A Public Hearing regarding the amended Reno County Sanitation Code

1. Open the Hearing
2. Discussion
3. Close the Hearing 

  
8. Business Items
 8.A Adoption of Reno County Sanitation Code
 8.B Resolution changing the organization plan for the County Environmental Health

Department
 8.C StartUp Hutch 2023 Report
 8.D Emergency Management Annual Report 
 8.E County Appraisal Questions & Answers
 8.F Ideatek Broadband Acceleration Grant Request
  
9. County Administrator Report
 9.A Monthly Department Reports
  
10. County Commission Report/Comments
  
11. Executive Session
 11.A Executive Session for 20 Minutes for client-attorney privileged legal matters
  
12. Adjournment
  
13. Study Items
 13.A Discussion of Proposals for Landfill Methane Gas Project.

Associated Documents

Randy Parks
District 1

Ron Hirst
District 2

Daniel P. Friesen
District 3

John Whitesel
District 4

Don Bogner
District 5

 

https://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/13195/06K-SOP-Docs
https://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/13196/Study-Session-Documents


�����������
	������

�����
��

������������ ��������	���	����

������������ � !"�	#��$ !

	

	

	
��������%��&�

'(��	"��)$�"	* !�$�+	),�	�--�,.�/	0�!����	1�$2�	��$2�	�!"	31+$�	����

�44�%���%���

15	6--�,.�

�5	7�!�

��&%��������%��8���9:����

6--�,.�	'(��	"��)$	),�	) !�/	;,-�	�$	$2�	!�<$	�=�!"�	+�++ ,!5



���
�

�������	
��	��	
����	������	����������	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 �����������	������	
	

���	�����	��	����	������	�������������	����	��	� ����	
�������	!���	��������	"�����	#�������	������������	���	������	
������������	�����	$��%��	������������	"��	�� ����	���	
������������	����	&��������	������	���������	$�����%	��������	
������	'������������	�����	$����� ����	���	(������	����%	�����	
(������	)������*			
	

���	������ 	+� ��	!���	���	$��� �	��	'��� �����	�����!��	+�	
�	�����	���������	)�����	���	+�	$�����	&����	"�&�����	,���!���	
������	��	������*		
	
	 �������	���-���	���	��!��	�))������	������	���������	!��	
./01234565783/093:;95:;23<:;=70:;:3>:;62=3?/.59@A739;:BC33D8;3
����������	�������	������ 	���	���	+���	!���	���	���������	E�����	
656;3F;=:73=623G=H;3=3I:5;4370BB=:F3/4398;3<:;=70:;:A73J445K;3
)��L����*		���	�����	!�������	���	���	 �-�	�����	��� �����������*		
	

�����	!���	��	���������	��	��-������	��	���	� ����*			
	

MNOP QRNSTPUVWXY�	SXZV[YXYP \]PMNOP V̂_[XN�	 ��	 �))��-�	
�������������	�������	� ����	��������� 	��	�����	̀'	���	̀ �	!����	
��������	���a	bcde	'�������	$���+��	f�� ��	���	������	)���+��	��	
�������	g���	���	������� 	hi��g�j*k�l	'�������	$���+��	f�� ��	
���	������	)���+��	��	�������	
���	������� 	h
���m�jg̀*i�l	bĉe	
�))��-��	������	�+����	���	����)��	��n�����	���� �	������	���+����	
�jòmg�	̀m̀ �	���	̀i�	���	�))��-��	+�	���	�����	��	�������������l	
��	)��������	+�	�����*	���	������	���	���	�������	� ����	!��	
�))��-��	+�	�	����	����	-���	��	go�*	
	
	 k'*	(�������	p)�� ��-�	!���	�� �����	��	"����	)��������	���	
������	��)���	��	�j	)��L����	��	���	��)�������*		q��	�)�%�	
�+���	���	������)�	+��%�	+��� 	�� ���r��	���	���	�����	
s���������	!���	!����	��))��	��	���	+��%�	�����	��������������	
������*		(�*	p)�� ��-�	������	�����	!���	�	��!	�)�����	
�-����+���	���	!��	������ 	����	��	p���� �����	t�����	u	q���� �	
���	���	����������	���	��������	�������	����	!��	���	+�����	
�)����*		
	 		
	
	
	
	



���
�

� ��������	
�����������
����������������
��������������
���������������
�����
��
����� ��!�������"� �#�$
����
%&'()&*(+,-,.'+/0123)45++678'18+9&878*&7:+;1<:2+1=3)'33+(>3+
�
������?������@ABC�!�������$
�������������D�
�� ��
������
��
��EF���$
����
��������G!�
��� �� ���������
�����
�H�
��
�!������� �#�
�������!���I�A��! �����
���� ���
����J���
�����
����������������B����
�����
����
��������
���!��������
��

�������
��������������������B��GFKL��������������M����������
"� �#������ ����N.'+782+678'18+;7'+(>3+18:O+)3'P18'3+)3*3&=325++
����������Q ���������!�����
�� ���������
����������	
�������
��
�����!�RSTHUUU�!�������@ABC��
������?H�J��?������J#�RSUHUUU�
!�����E
���#�
�����
����
��RTHUUU�����������������I�A��
C�������
��������������
����������������
 ���������
	
��������
����������������
�
���������!����������#�����!�
����������F������
#�����!�
#���
��� ���J���
���J#������
����
��������������������VWXYZ[\]̂WY_[̀ âbYĉd[]âaYefYVWXYghWicH����

�������������������
�����������������������
��
 �����j������
"�
��������������
��������
�����������J#���
!!����F���������
�
��
�������� 
��� ��#��
�
� k����"� �#���������
���������
�#�	
��������Q ������!�
�����������Q ���������
#��!����������#����
�������������H�
��������������������
� �Y�
� k��������	
���������
��������!�
��
���������������
���� ���A����J���
������������ �������#�
�E�����
�!������
F���!�
��!�
��
��������������J�����
�����������!���J� 
�#����
!������!��
�����B�����������
���
���!��������"�
�J����!�
"��������������������?�������
�����������
����!�����"��#�
����������$�����
#H�l
 
�#�mS���J������knUU�
����
��onUU�

����
�������
�������C����"�������B��
�?��������� �����?������
���?���H�����$��������
������	
�?���� ���J��
��������p����
��������
�����J��l
 
�#�qr����������� ������J��
�Q �� ��������
� ����������������������������l
 
�#�mS���
�����J��
!��������
"�
�J������������
��
��� �����!���������������� ���J��

�������
����
���������
���
�
��onmU�
���H�������
���

��������F����
���������
��!��������� ���� ����
�������������#�
����� ��
���Q ����!���������
������J���������Rq�o����������B��

�?����!�������
����
��������������! ���
�� ����������������
�!�RSUUHUUU�������B������ �����������?���
��"	��!����� ����
RTUHUUU�����
���!�RSUUHUUU�������	
�������
�?���
J� ��
����� ����
��� �#������������
�?�
J� �������
�!��������
��
������������"����B���� ���
�?�������$
����A�����������
�
A
��������������
�����

��������J� 
�#�
!��������!�����

���
��������H�������
���
���������
�



���
�

� �������	
��	��������	���	��������	�
������	�������		
���
���	�������������������	�������
	����� ��	����!��"�����
���	�
����
��#
��
	��$	�	��%�
&���
	'�"
����(��	����
�
	�	������
���
���
�����
�����	��	��
����������)��������"���������������	�
��	�����������	����
���	�
��
�������	���&��(��'�������
������������	�����		
���	�������*
(�	����	�����	�������
�
���
�������������	
��������!
��	�������	����
��
����������
���
�
	�	��"
	���*���
�������)���������������	���
�
	
+��
�������������������	
��	�������(�����"
	��	���	��,�	���
����-
�����	���������	���(
�
(�����	���
�
� .��/((
��
����/((��	�0�
�
� ����#�
	�����������	�������
��	���
&�������'�"
	��	���
"��	�������
	
��1��	�'�"����������&�������'�����
�
� ����!
��	�"��	���	�	���������
��#�����������	��
�������
"���"
	��	���"��	�������
	
�����2�.3�/��
���(��	
���"�����
4�����5�	�����������
���(
����	�����������
�����	�����!��
"�����
���	�������	���(�6��
���	��$�
"��	�2�.3���	"����(
���
(�������789:;<:==>:?<@:ABC:DBEFA:GA:HIFGJ:KLF:MN?GN;@L:
IBOBAB<NPQ�
RR
R ������������������S�
������������((��	���
�
� �����������((��	�����	���/����&�	
��(��	
������
�		������(��	
�
����
����
�������	���&�
���������	����
������	�
��	"���
�
� 7�T������S�
�����������	����(
��	
������/��
��
���������
����!
��	��(
��	������������U�	���&	��"�������
(����	�����
"
	���������������	�
�
����
�
� 7��������S�
�����������	����(
��	
������V
���/��
��
��
������������������(
��	������������U�	���&	��"�������
(����	�
����"
	���������������	�
�
�����	����	
������(������	��	��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�



���
�

� ��������	�
�������
����
���������
����������������������
���
�
��
����������	����
�����	�
����

�
�  ��!����

��
� � """"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""�
� � #
����$�
����%�&����#������#�������������
�
'�(()*(+�
�
"""""""""""""""""""""""""� � � � � """""""""�
&����#������#���,� � � � � � � -
���
.��

�

�

�

�
��
��������	���
&����#������#���������

� � � � � � � � /��.�������0
��
��
�

(��$�
����%�&����#������#�������������
�����
����
�
���������.�������%������
�����
�

�

�

�

�
��
��������	���
&����#������#���������

� � � � � � � � /��.�������0
��
��
�

(��$�
����%�&����#������#�����������������
��
����
�
��������1���#
���
��&
����2
�,���#������������-���$�������
#������������&���/������
���#�������������������������#������
#���������2
���.,�/�%%�
���#���������������
����&
����
2
����������
���3�������#���,�#�����3
������ ��������
#������������-
�����4�������1
������
!
��
5����
�

(����������5��
��
�����	�
����1������2�������%�������
�.��
%����1���5��
��������.�
��
�� �
��������5��2
�����3
���1�*�
%%����
%����4�����#������
����
��#��.��%�/��.��������
��



���
�

�������	
�������������������������������������
��������

�

������
�������������
�����������������������������

�
����������������������
��������
���
������������������

�
� ���� ��
�������������������
����������������������!"#����$��
�
����%����&���'���()*+,-*./0,)1*2)34-*567)895)8:);8905<);8==+052)�
�������������$��
����������������������������������������
����
���������������
�

>?@ABCDEFGFHAIJKFL#�GFMJNLFLAOPA>?@AQJRNF?#��������������
���
��������������
�
������������
�!S�����$���!T�����������$��
�
�����UVWX�S���$��
���Y�&���Z���������������
��Y�&������[��$��Y�
'���#�\�\]#����������̂ '#��\#�'_�\�̀�S���$��
���Y�&���Z����������
�����
��Y�&������[��$��Y�\!��#���������� ]̂a\#_b'�_à�S���$��
�
��Y�&���Z���������������
��Y�&������c�&�$��Y�\��#�\�\]#����������
]̂]�#aa��'b̀�UVQX�������"dee����$��
�����%����&���'��������
%����&���\b��#�\�\�̀�UVfX�g���������������������e�$��Y�e����

�
��������������������'���#�\�\]#����
��������������������������Y�
h�����������i����
��Y#�������\b��#�\�\]����a����������������j����
e�$��Y�S�����e����������j���̀�UVkX����������������

������
%�������������g���������
���������������$�����$����
��������
l�dmn����	�������������om��$&���������������e��������������������
5p+);8905<76);8*+)q-r9+6()=/66/80)65-5+=+05()-0.)s2t)58)u).-<)vwx)

�

���
�����������$����������������� '̂b�#���������������$��Y�
������
�������
�����dm���c$��
�������������������������Y��
������
������$�����&$�����������
�����������������$��������\�\]�����
�

�&�Y�\�\_�&$����
���������$��Y������&��&���������
�

����$
��̀�
UVyX�-zz*8q-r)8:)3p+*/::76)3p885/0,){-0,+)|,*++=+05)4/5p)v95580)
e��
��$���������������
��������
��T��������e����

�����������

��������������������������������T��[$�Y�\�\\#����������

����
�$�����}�����
��'������������$�����������������̂!��#����� $�����
e��
��$���������
��������������������������Y�&��������
��T������
���$��������������$����������̂ _�a#b!�������$�����}��������$��Y�
������
����������
�����������
��$��������������������������������
��
�
��������
���
�����������������~���������������$�����c$���
���)���w){+6+*q+)�90.�)4/5p)08)/=z-;5)80)5p+);8905<76)8z+*-5/0,)
&$����̀�UV�X�������������$&����i��	
�%������������$�
�����
$����
������l'n�\�\_�c������������'�ag%���������������$�	����

�
�
�������'!�������$��&��Y��������$�	�e������e������
#�i������#�
o��
�
#���������������������̂\�b#a�'����&$�����������\�\]��������
e������T�����������������$&����i��	
�c$�����b�d����������
h�$�����̀�UV�X�����������$����
����\�\]�c����c�_������
j����o�������[�����c����%�
�������'�����������Y������
�����
_̂�#ab_�����j����������\�'\�c�������������\'�!���$����$�	�������
��
�''�Y���
�''������
������\]�#��\�����
��
����'�\\�\]�$����
���
���\�'\������
��
�&$�����������\�\]��������e������T����������



���
�

������	
�����������������������������������������������������
��������������� �!��������������"���#���������$%&'((()��*����
+,-./0123/04352263+706624389-389779:;6<3=/234;1=-;.=>13?@AB33C/23
���#���������#����D�������������������#���������!����E������#����
����#�����.=>131+2.;0732F,;+G26=38,64H3	
I����JKLMNOPQMRSTUVUWX
VYZ�[S\]̂_̀abI_cSda\̂a[cbSb_Sef̂f[fSghXUiVYSjI\]kbIclSb�]SmÌIclS
_mS[S\][̀S]̂b[b]Sb[nSm_\]k̀ _̂a\]S[kbI_c�����������#�E�������)�*���
D�����������������������o��#��!��������#�E����������������������
%p()�
�
� qr)���������������s�����t��u��"�����#��E������t�!�
v������D����w�D��������������������������������������������
�����������o����#�)��x��!���#�E����y&p������������D�#��!����
�����������������D��������!������#�!����'�������!��#�z���r������
������������!��#�r#�D��s�����)�r����������o��������������
D�D������!���#�E������#�������������������������������!������
���o�����������D�##��������������������D�D������u������t�!�
v������D����{�������|��������!��������������������������������
��������#���)�}�������#�w��������������������}���������!�
��������#�����}����������s���������#��������#���������������
D�D�����)��{��t�#o���z~���#����#�D�������#�����E��������������
���#��!���#�E�����������#�����#)�������������!���#�������������
�!������o����#����#�D�D�����)���JfS��QPKLKNS�M�K��SLK�MR�K�S��S
�JfS�QJLP'��������������������������������D�D���������
�������#�E�������)��*���D������!��������#�E�������������������
���%p()���
� ��
� q�)�w��������������������}���������!��������#�����
���������������������������'����������������������D����D����
��������#���'���#�����o����#����������)��w�)����!������#�����
������������������z�����#�y�#��������!�����D����#)�*���&���������
����������!���#������$z�%'&(y)&&���#��������o���������##��������
69=3=932�.2243�������3=93523,12435�3=/23�;1=-;.=3�==9-62�>13
���������#����������������)�w�)�������o����������#������������
���#������������������)�
�
� w�)�������������������#�!��������������������������������
��#������������E�����������������������o��E�"��)�����������
r��������*�D�s������������#����!��������!����������D������o����
��������E���������!��'���#����#����!���������������������������
������#���)��JfS�QJLPS�M�K��SLK�MR�K�S��S�JfS�M�RKJ'����������
���������������������������������������D�}{�|{��������������
������'�}��������������$z�%'&(y)&&���#��������u���##��������
�������o����D���#������������#�������$zy'(((�����������#)��*���
D������!��������#�E����������������������%p()���
�������



���
�

� ������	�
���������������������������	��������	�����
����
������������������������������������������������
������	�����
����	�������������	��������������������������������
����
���	�������������������������
��������������� ��������������
������
�����!�������"����������	���
�����!�������������
�������#�
���������	����������������
��������������	����
����
���	������������$�!�������������������������
������������
���	����������	�
������������������������������������%	�������
���������������������������&����������
�����!��'��'����������
���	�����������!��()�������
�
� ������	�
������	�*���!�����������'������������������������
��������������'������������!���*��
�
����������'����	��*����
�������������������������'���������������������������'�����
����	�������
��������������+), -.(�//�������'����������
�����������()��������������*�'��������������	�����!�����0
%	���������������������'����������������������������	������
!�����0��������������
��������������������1���
���� ������

�����!��������!����������������'������������������������
������
���������������
����
��������������������������������������������������������������������2�
� -&���%'�'34&%��������������!����5�������'�������������
��	������6����	�*���!����!���������������
�����������������!����
�����+-7 ///�������!�������������+89/ ///�����������:��	����

�������� �������������+8./ 8)9�//��������������6��������
������������;�<��4�	����$���
��������������������������������
���!�����
��������	���
����8//�	������������������'�����	����
���9/�	��������
���������������������	��������
�
� 7%���&�����%����������������4����=����'����:���������
������
�������:�����������������������������	�������
��	���� �������
����������������������������������������
$�!������)7��������'�������
������������������
����6�����������
�����������'�������������6&6���'����'���������	����������
�	�*���!�����=�����������!��'�����
����������'�%4=%������
������!�����	������������$�������6	���������5������4��������

����!�������'�
����������������������*��������������������*��
�����������������������������	�������)/),������
�������������
��	�������������������'������������������������������:���������
��	��������������!���)/)9�����������'�������������&&��������
���	�������	�������������
����!�����	�������������������������
���������������		������%4=%��'������������	�������������
�
�
�
�



���
�

� �����	�����
�������������������
���������������
����������
������������������������ ��!����������������������������"�
�
������������������!�
������
������
��#���	������
����������
����

�!�
����#����	�$%��&�$'$(��)�������������"�!��������
���������������
��������������*��������������
���������������
��!�����
��������!�����
����������������	�!��
���&��������
����
���#����	������������!��������������������
�
�
� +�������

������������
,�
��
�
� -����
����������������)��������"� ���������	�����������
./012.341.5.6157891894189:;<98189.818941=>.818.?15:/@81A41
� ������������
������"�!����
��������
������ �
������*����
�������&����
������ ������#����	������	���
!����B��
����
�
�������
�����
�����������������
����������������������	�����
�����������C��DD��������"���
��!����
�	��"����	��������"�!����
����
����������������	���������
��������
�����
���������������
���
��!������������
�������E����%�!���
������
�����������F'(�
����
��������������������
��B����G����
�����������"������
�
!���������"��� ��F��������������
������������������C����!�
��
*�����!��������"�!�������
��

����������"�����!��������
�������
���������������������!������������H+E�������������"�!����-��
�����"���������������������DI���
������������������"����"���
������������������!�����
������"�����
�
� -��*�"���
���������������C������������	��������
�
�
J������K�
����
������������"����"�����!�����

��
�!����
L�� ������K���������	���	��� ����
�������������	�B������

� ������!
��������������������������!�������������
����
������"�!����
�����������������"�����
��K���������	����
�
����������"
����������	�
��!
�������������
&����	��� �����
2:/M704N189412:;/86@M12:/M704N.87:/18:1A4/4=781O4/:1P:;/86Q11R941
��
������"�K���������	�����!�
�����S'TS'��
���������������
����U��
����K���������	������������������#������������"&�!����
VNQ1W:==3./@M194>X15415:;>019.Y413:N41:=1.1M.617/159.8@M1<:7/<1
��������������	&�"� ��"��
���������
�	�����-����������!�����
�� ��������������
������"�������
������"
��������"���U������
�����
��������!�
�ZF&'''��������	�����!����������
��

����
�������
��
� -����������
���������!�
���������	��������
�
�J������
K�
��������������&�������
������"���U������-��*�"���!�
�

������"�������������� ������������������[��!�
���������
C������������
������"����!������
����������������!��������
��������"���	����#�
��\�]�����������



���
�

� ������	
�		�����	�������
��������������
����������
��
����������������
��	��������	�	��������
�		����������������
	�����������������������	������������������	�����������������
�		����	�������
������������
��
������������������������
���
��	����		��	��
�
�  ���!����������������������������������������"�����
����#��������$�	�	������������������������	�������������
	����	������	���������	���
����	����������	�����������	�����
���$�	�	����������	�����������	
�		�������������	��
��
�  ���%����	�����������������������������	����������
�������
��������	����������	�	��	�������
�����&����
�%���	��������
'����������
��	��
���	��������(
������)����������� ���
&��������������������#������������'����*����		"������������
�����	�	�����������	���������	�
�����������������
�����	�
���
����	����������������������)�
�	����������������'�������
���
��	����������������������	����������	������������������
+���'�����
���,�	�������$�	�	�#�����-.&����������	����	�
��	�������������������������	������.����������/01����
����
��������	�����������������������	����������+���'��������������
��	������	���������������"���		���(�	"������		����������	���
%��������������������������
����������	�����
�����	�������	"���������+������
��&������������	������������	�
��������������������������������	����
���
�
�  ���&���	�������
�����	��
�

*��/�230�������������������
�		�����������������	��
�

���� ������� ��
������ ����� ���� '����		����	"� '�����
*����	�������+����&�������"�'�����'��	�����&����
��������"�
��� ����	�'�����'���� ����"����	����
�
� /�*��456789:86;<=<6>?<6@;?AB6=CDEF����������!�������
�		�
�����(�
������	�		���������������	������//2�������������
'�����'��	�����&����
��������"�'�����*����	�������+����
&�������"�+���'�����G #�'�����H����I��	��"���� �����
��
H���
����������H�������������	��)�
������������������	
�		��	�
����������������
J��	����������������������������������
)�	����
�������������(�
������	�		�������������������
��	
�		��	�����������������
J��	���������������������"�
BEKCLFEF6MN6>?<6OPQ5EBER���������������	��������������������

������������ST���
� �
��



����
�

� �������		�
�������
����
��������������������������
����������

���
����������������������
��������
���������	����
�� �		�
����

�
�!!��"����

��
� � ########################################�
� � $
����%�
����&�'����$������$�������������
�
(�))*+),�
�
#########################� � � � � #########�
'����$������$���-� � � � � � � .
���
/��

�

�

�



�����������
	������

�����
��

������������ ��������	���	����

�������������  �!!�	��"��

	

	

	
��������#���

$%%�&'(!"	�	��)&*�+(&!	,&�	����	-('(-(!"	.&//())(&!��	-()+�(.+)

�0������1���2��#0���#3��#���

4�-()+�(.+(!"	5�)	-&!�	5(+6	%��'(&�)	��)&*�+(&!	����789

�::�#���#���

8;	$%%�&'�

�;	<�=�	>6�!"�)

?;	@�!�

��#��������#��A���B0����

$%%�&'(!"	+6�	��)&*�+(&!	+6�+	6�-	!&	.6�!"�)	,�&/	+6�	��-()+�(.+(!"	-&!�	(!	����;

�#:���A�3���:�������

!&!�



�
�

���������	�
�
�����
�
�

�����������	�������	����	�����	����	���
����������	�������������������	��������������
���

�
�
�

������ !����������
�����"#$�� �%���&'��(�')�*'#+%,�*'--$  $'+�� �%'�($.$(��%���*'#+%,�$+%'�
)$.��*'--$  $'+���($ %�$*% �� �*'-/�*%��+(��"#�0�$+�/'/#0�%$'+�� �/'  $&0�1��+(�

�
������ !�'+�'���&'#%�2�&�#��,�3!�
�
�!�%���*'--$  $'+�� ���.����.$�4�(�%���($ %�$*%�

&'#+(��$� ��+(�(�%��-$+�(�+'�*��+5� �����+�*�  ��,��%�%�$ �%$-�1��+(�
�
�

������ !�'+�'���&'#%���,�
3!�
�

!�%�����+'��'#+%,��0��6���*�$.�(�%����%�%����5$ 0�%$.��

��($ %�$*%$+5�-�/ �)�'-�%�����+ � ���5$ 0�%$.���� ���*����/��%-�+%�/#� #�+%�%'�

����
7
8��9:&;!��� #0%$+5�$+�/��*$+*%� /0$% 1��+(�
�
�

������ !�'+�'���&'#%�<�+#��,�8!�
�

!�%�����+'��'#+%,��0��6���*�$.�(�%�����+ # �
�
��
��($ %�$*%$+5���%���#--��,�2$0��� �/��/���(�&,�%����))$*��')���*��%��,�')��%�%�!��$.$ $'+�')���+ # 1�
�+(�

�
�

������ !�%���
�
����+ � ���+ # �:=>>?@ABCD>EF=GEACHC>I;�$ �%���0� %�'))$*$�0�*�+ # ��.�$0�&0��
%'�%���J'��(�')��'#+%,��'--$  $'+�� ��+(�%���)$� %� $+*��%���2�(���0���+ # �')�
���1��+(�

�
�

������ !���.$+5�*'+ $(���(�%���*�+ # �(�%�!�%���J'��(�')��'#+%,��'--$  $'+�� �)$+( �%��%�
%���*#���+%�*'-/' $%$'+�')�*'--$  $'+���($ %�$*% �� %�&0$ ��(�&,��� '0#%$'+�
�
������-�$+ �� �
*'-/�*%��+(��"#�0�$+�/'/#0�%$'+�� �/'  $&0���

�
	����K���2���!�J��������������J���K��J������2����	���

���������	�����2���	�����	��!���	���!�%��%L�
�
�� ����)$.��*'--$  $'+���($ %�$*% �')���+'��'#+%,� ��00���-�$+�� �)'00'4 L��
�
� ��� ���������	�����:�'/#0�%$'+L��
!

8;�
�

K#%*�$+ '+����*$+*% L��!�M!��!���!���!�
�!�
�!�9
1�
�
�

�$%$� L���������������	$*6�� '+����( L�N�!�
��+(�9�

����K$5�0�+( ����������������$00'4&�''6�
�
�

�'4+ �$/ L���������+%��������������������������������+'�	'�%��
�
�

J�� ���������	���
�:�'/#0�%$'+L��
!�7�;��
�

� K#%*�$+ '+����*$+*% �0K��
!�0K��
�!�
!�9!�9�1�
�
�
�
�
�



�
�

��������� ���	
����� � ����	�������������
� � � ��������� � ����	��������������
� � � �������� � �	�
���
� � � �������� � �����
� � � ���
���� � ������������������������������
�
�

�� ����!��� ��������� � �����
����� �����������"������
� � � ��������� � �������� �������������������#�
� � � $���� � � �������� ������������	�
���
� � � ���������� � ������ �������������	�
� � � ������� � %��&��� �������������������
� � � � '���!���� � %��(��� ���������������(������

� � � )�
���� � ���
���� � �
� � � ��	���� � "����������
�

�*� � +,��",���-.*���/��!�����������0012�
�

���������������������3�������41�����'5���
����3���6���6�'5���
�������
������7�

�
��������� $�����

�
�� ����!��� ���	�-���� � �������"�
��

�� � ���	�-����'����
�� %�����
�

+*�� � +,��",���-.*�1�/��!�����������0632�
�
�

��������������������0��8��3�����������4��������41���1���0���6���9���4�����
�����07�

�
'*� � +,��",���-.*�0�/��!�����������1332�

�
���������������������8�������4��������41���0���8��

�8�'5���
����4����8�'5���
�����1���1���1�'5���
�������87�

�

��������� ��
���

�

�� ����!�� ���	���������4�:�� ��(���

� � ���	���������4��� ;����	���4��

� � ���	����������1� ;����	����1�

� � ��
����4�� � <������4��

� � ��
������1�� <�������1�

� � -���������
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�



�
�
�
�
�����������	
���	��
������������������������������������������������������

�
�
�

����� �! "�#$%& "�''())(�$*�) 
�! �*$� "�#$%&+ ,�$)�)�

�
�

� �� � � � �
� ���������������������������������

� -�������	.���/���	0�����
�
����1�2�

� ���������������������������������
������������������������������� � ������������3���
	��4�5
�/���	0��� ���
��������������/������/
	.� �� �

�
� ���������������������������������

� � � � � � � ������������
�6	�
�
���7
08
	�
�
�

� ���������������������������������
� � � � � � � ��������-���9�	����7
08
	�
�
�

� ���������������������������������
� � � � � � � ��������:����;���
�
��7
08
	�
�
�
� �
�
�

�



�����������
	������

�����
���

����������� ��������	���	����

������������ �� �	!��"�	#�$%&%$'(�	)'��*$%�

	

	

	
��������+��,

)�* ���	-../	�%�0	1234�	5678	-�!913-:/69;�-33.<�	��-.	�%�0	�-4�	5678

-�=1>-?�3��)-@@�-<�	�A�0	$'��A	B�%&	C;#=�	�D0	E%%A�	? %F	G=6	AD%FH %F	�A	A��H �A	$%	��

A% 0	%D	?��H �	>�(�I	�D0	��$J%�'K�	;%�D$�	#0&'D'A$��$%�	C�D0�	?��$'D"$%D	$%	A'"D	$J�	$'$ �A	%B	$J�

(�J'* �A

�L������M���,N��+L���+O��+��,

=J�A�	(�J'* �A	J�(�	�  	���D	��H �*�0	'D	$J�	;%�D$�PA	B ��$	�D0	���	A��H �AQ	>�	F'  	� A%	A�  	�	���@

E� '��	$J�$	J�A	� ���0�	���D	0�* ���0	A��H �A	5!R;;	--2��2���3<Q	>�	F'  	� A%	A�  	A%&�	�A�0	$'��A

B�%&	C;#=	�D0	�	G=6	AD%F	� �0�	$J�$	F�A	��H �*�0	%D	E�'D$�D�D*�	��F�A�S'	E� �Q

�TT�+���+��

-Q	#HH�%(�	0'AH%A� 	%B	$J�A�	'$�&AI	�D0	��$J%�'K�	;%�D$�	#0&'D'A$��$%�	C�D0�	?��$'D"$%D	$%	A'"D

$J�	$'$ �A

�Q	���H	$J�	(�J'* �A	�D0	�A�	�A	$��0�Q	

��,+��������+��U���VL���

#HH�%(�	$J�	A� �	%B	$J�A�	'$�&A	�D0	��$J%�'K�	;%�D$�	#0&'D'A$��$%�	C�D0�	?��$'D"$%D	$%	A'"D	$J�	$'$ �A

�+T�,��U�O��,�T�����,�

?�%*��0A	%B	$J�	A� �	F'  	��	H �*�0	'D$%	$J�	"�D��� 	B�D0	F'$J	$J�	�W*�H$'%D	%B	$J�	$'��A�	FJ'*J	F'  	��

H �*�0	'D$%	C;#=PA	��*$'%D	H�%*��0	B�D0Q













�����������
	������

�����
���

����������� ��������	���	����

������������ � !	"�#$$�#!�	%��&#'	( �)*	�#��'$ �

	

	

	
��������+��,

%��&#'	( �)*	��-��$.�!$	��/��*$	$ 	-��'0�*�	 !�	123	����	4�.	56��	7��8	7��	�9�	:� .	;&&�!

<�.��&*�	=�$'0#!* !�	>�!*�*�	: �	�	$ $�&	-�#'�	 :	?65�2�6�	�!@	@�'&���	$0�	���A	70�B� &�$	<#&B���@ 

�6��	1CDEF2G7=>�A>AAH25�6I53	�*	*��-&�*	$ 	��	��'$# !�@	 !	%��-&�	(�B��	�!@	��$0 �#J�	7 �!$�

;@.#!#*$��$ ��	4�!@�	%��$#!K$ !�	$ 	*#K!	$0�	$#$&�

�L������M���,N��+L���+O��+��,

P0�	����	4�.	56��	7��8	7��	�9�	8#&&	��	��-&�'#!K	$0�	���A	70�B� &�$	<#&B���@ 	�6���	80#'0	#*	2�

����*�	22	. !$0*	 &@�	8#$0	�2���5�	.#&�*	�*	 :	��Q��Q�����	�!@	8#&&	0�B�	�--� 9#.�$�&�	�������	.#&�*

 !	#$	80�!	8�	��'�#B�	�	!�8	$��')R		P0�	���A	70�B� &�$	8�*	-��'0�*�@	#!	S��'0	 :	���AR		P0#*	$��')

8�*	*'0�@�&�@	$ 	��	��-&�'�@	�:$��	26	����*	 �	2T6����	.#&�*R

�UU�+���+��

2R	;--� B�	$0�	-��'0�*�	 :	 !�	123	����	4�.	56��	7��8	7��	�9�	:� .	;&&�!	<�.��&*�	=�$'0#!* !�

>�!*�*�	: �	�	$ $�&	-�#'�	 :	?65�2�6R

�R	��!�	$0�	-��'0�*�R

��,+��������+��V���WL���

;8��@	�#@	: �	-��'0�*�	 :	 !�	123	����	4�.	56��	7��8	7��	�9�	:� .	;&&�!	<�.��&*�	=�$'0#!* !�

>�!*�*�	: �	�	$ $�&	-�#'�	 :	?65�2�6�	�!@	@�'&���	$0�	���A	70�B� &�$	<#&B���@ 	�6��

1CDEF2G7=>�A>AAH25�6I53	�*	*��-&�*	$ 	��	��'$# !�@	 !	%��-&�	(�B��	�!@	��$0 �#J�	7 �!$�

;@.#!#*$��$ ��	4�!@�	%��$#!K$ !�	$ 	*#K!	$0�	$#$&�R

�+U�,��V�O��,�U�����,�

"�@K�$�@	: �	����	-��	$0�	7�-#$�&	D.-� B�.�!$	%&�!R		%��&#'	( �)*	��!@	��T	X-���$# !�&	H/�#-.�!$R











�����������
	������

�����
��

������������ ��������	���	����

�������������  �!�"	#�$%&'("�	)(*%&	+�',�	#%��-,(�

	

	

	
��������.��/�
0��-1�'�	(2	34(	5�6	����	�(�&	�7�8�	9��4	9��	�:�	3��-;'	2�(<	 %&4��	 (,(�'	=�,-1%"'("�	>)	2(�	,1�	)(*%&

+�',�	#�?��,<�",	%"	,1�	�<(�",	(2	@AB�B��C��D	�"&	&�-*���	,1�	��EA	F�<	�8��	5GHI	J9B3F893�=K8BJEA�6	�"&

��EJ	�(�&	��8�	5GHI	E�3A+�LBA#MN�JB8B6	�'	'��?*�'	?�(?��,�	2(�	,��&�D	�"&	��,1(�%O�	9(�",�	N&<%"%',��,(�

F�"&�	0��,%"!,("	,(	'%!"	,1�	,%,*�'

�P������Q���/R��.P���.��.��/�
31�	*�"&2%**	-����",*�	1�'	�	��EJ	�(�&	��8��	�"&	�	��EA	#(&!�	�8��	,��-;	,1�,	"��&	��?*�-�&	�"&	1�'	���"

�??�($�&	4%,1%"	,1�	9H0	����	��&!�,C	31�'�	,��-;'	1�$�	���"	�'�&	8	&��'	�	4��;	E�	1(��'	�	&��	�"&	1�$�	���-1�&

,1�	�"&	(2	,1�%�	*%2�	-�-*�	�,	,1�	*�"&2%**C	31�	&�',�S<�&&�S�(�!1	,����%"	(2	,1�	*�"&2%**	%'	$���	1��&	("	'�'?�"'%("'�

,1�	1(��'	,1�,	���	��"	("	,1�	�"!%"�'	2�(<	��%"!	�%,1��	&�%$�"	��(�"&	,1�	'%,�	�**	&��	(�	��""%"!	�'	�	'?(,,��T'	,��-;	%"

,1�	2%�*&C	F�U��','	2(�	�%&'	4���	'�",	(�,	,(	 %&4��	 (,(�'�	 %&4�',	�(�&�	)1�?	91�$�(*�,�	9(";*%"	9��'�	�"&

N**�"	)�<��*'C	L(,1	(2	,1�'�	,��-;'	1�$�	%''��'	,1�,	���	-��'%"!	,1�	-(�",�	�:?�"'�'	,(	;��?	,1�<	%"	(?���,%("'C

 %&4��	 (,(�'	4�'	,1�	*(4	U�(,�	%"	,1�	�<(�",	(2	@AB�B��C��C	31%'	?�%-�	%"-*�&�'	,1�	,��&�	%"'	("	,1�	��EA	#(&!�

�8��	�"&	,1�	��EJ	�(�&	��8�C	31�	�',%<�,�&	&�*%$���	(2	,1�	,4(	"�4	,��-;'	%'	J7�	<(",1'C

�VV�.���.���
EC	N--�?,	,1�	W�(,�	2(�	�7����	�(�&	�7��8�	2�(<	 %&4��	 (,(�'	%"	,1�	�<(�",	(2	@AB�B��C��	5�',%<�,�&	&�*%$���

J7�	<(",1'6D	�"&	&�-*���	,1�	,4(	,��&�7%"	$�1%-*�'	�'	'��?*�'	�"&	��,1(�%O�	9(�",�	N&<%"%',��,(�	F�"&�	0��,%"!,("

,(	'%!"	,1�	,%,*�'C

�C	N--�?,	,1�	U�(,�	2�(<	)1�?	91�$�(*�,	2(�	�7	����	91�$�(*�,	�8��	5H"	),(-;6C		31��	4���	,1�	�"&	*(4�',	U�(,�	%"

,1�	�<(�",	(2	@AX��8�D	�"&	&�-*���	,1�	,4(	,��&�	$�1%-*�'	�'	'��?*�'	�"&	��,1(�%O�	9(�",�	N&<%"%',��,(�	F�"&�

0��,%"!,("	,(	'%!"	,1�	,%,*�'	2(�	,1�	,��&�	$�1%-*�'C

JC	K(	��-;	(�,	2(�	U�(,�'	("	�	JS�	,("	-��4	-��	�:�	,��-;'C

��/.��������.��Y���ZP����
N--�?,	�"&	�??�($�	,1�	U�(,�	2�(<	 %&4��	 (,(�'	2(�	�7	����	�(�&	�7�8�	9��4	9��	�:�	3��-;'	%"	,1�	�<(�",	(2

@AB�B��C��D	&�-*���	,1�	,��&�	$�1%-*�'	�'	'��?*�'	�"&	�??�($�	9(�",�	N&<%"%',��,(�	F�"&�	0��,%"!,("	,(	'%!"	,1�

,%,*�'	(2	,1�	,4(	,��-;'	��%"!	,��&�&	(22[		��EA	F�<	�8��	5GHI	J9B3F893�=K8BJEA�6	�"&	��EJ	�(�&	��8�	5GHI

E�3A+�LBA#MN�JB8B6

�.V�/��Y���/�V�����/��
31�'�	,��-;'	4%**	��	?��-1�'�&	2�(<	,1�	9�?%,�*	\�,*��	�--(�",	(2	�U�%?<�",	0��-1�'�'	�"&	,1��	4���	��&!�,�&	2(�

,1�	����	-�*�"&��	����C















































































�����������
	������

�����
���

����������� ��������	���	����

������������ �� �!	"�#$%&'!

	

	

	
��������(��)

*�+��,$--��	*��+$.$�%	/'0��+��$!	1���$-%	'!	2344	"�5	"'6��	782��9*�:�;<	.�'=	�'-��	>?�$,=�!+

@$AB$+��	C7	$!	+B�	�='�!+	'.	D4;<�3E�F:�	

�G������H���)I��(G���(J��(��)

*��+�$!	,$�A�&	'.	*�+��,$--��	K*L5M	�?�$,=�!+	���	�-$ $�-�	.'�	*L5	*��+$.$�%	/'0��+��$!	K*/5M	����$-%&

0B�!	+B�	B'��&	'.	+B�	=�AB$!�	���AB	�	A��+�$!	,'$!+	$!	$+&	-$.�	A�A-�F		L	%'6��	A�!	��	����$-+	+0'

%$..���!+	+$=�&N	+B�	.$�&+	��$! 	0B�!	+B�	B'��	=�+��	���AB�&	:4����	B'��&N	�!%	+B�	&�A'!%	����$-%	'AA��&

0B�!	+B�	+'+�-	B'��	=�+��	���AB�&	�4����F		L	*L5	*/5	����$-%	'..��&	�	-$O�P!�0	=�AB$!�	0$+B	�	-$O�P

!�0	3P�����	4���PB'��	,'0��+��$!	�!%	B�%���-$A	0����!+�F		Q��	2344	"'6��	B�&	�	+'+�-	'.	:��4�<	B'��&F

	

5B�	A'&+	+'	,��AB�&�	�	!�0	%'6��	$&	��'�!%	D:�:������F��F		"��	+'	+B�	�='�!+	+B�+	A�!	��	&�#�%	+'

����$-%	#��&�&	���$! 	�	!�0	,$�A�	'.	�?�$,=�!+�	0�	,��.��	B�#$! 	+B�	*L5	*/5	����$-%&	%'!�	'!

�-$ $�-�	�?�$,=�!+	$!&+��%	'.	,��AB�&$! 	!�0F

�RR�(���(��

:F	L,,�'#�	+B�	*��+$.$�%	/'0��+��$!	1���$-%	K*/5M	.'�	2344	"'6��	.�'=	�'-��	>?�$,=�!+	$!	+B�

�='�!+	'.	D4;<�3E�F:�	0B$AB	$&	$!	-$!�	0$+B	7'-$%	@�&+�S&	*T/	>?�$,=�!+	1�,-�A�=�!+U1���$-%

/-�!

�F	/'&+,'!�	+B�	1���$-%	'!	+B�	%'6��	+'	�!'+B��	����	0B$AB	A'�-%	��&�-+	$!	=�V'�	�?�$,=�!+	.�$-���&F

3F	/��AB�&�	�	!�0	%'6��	+'	��,-�A�	+B�	"�5	"'6��	2344	K�	!�0	=�AB$!�	0$--	��	��'�!%	D:�:������M

��)(��������(��W���XG���

L,,�'#�%	+B�	*��+$.$�%	1���$-%	'!	2344	"'6��	.�'=	�'-��	>?�$,=�!+	$!	+B�	�='�!+	'.	D4;<�3E�F:�

�(R�)��W�J��)�R�����)�

5B$&	/��AB�&�	$&	,��+	'.	+B�	*T/	>?�$,=�!+	1�,-�A�=�!+	,-�!	$!	+B�	&'-$%	0�&+�	��% �+F	5B�	.�!%&	0$--

A'=�	'�+	'.	+B�	A�,$+�-	'�+-��	�?�$,=�!+	-$!�	$+�=F









�����������
	������

�����
��

������������ ��������	���	����

�������������  �!�"	#�$%&'("

	

	

	
��������)��*�
+�,��-%..��	+��,%/%�&	0(1��,��%"	2���%.&	("	34�4	��5	+(6-�7,(�	893:;����4<	/�(6	�(.��	=>�%-6�",	%"

;%7?%,��	@8	%"	,?�	�6(�",	(/	A�B��C5<D�4

�E������F���*G��)E���)H��)��*�
+��,�%"	-%�7�'	(/	+�,��-%..��	I+:JK	�>�%-6�",	���	�.%!%�.�	/(�	+:J	+��,%/%�&	0(1��,��%"	I+0JK	����%.&'	1?�"	,?�

?(��'	(/	,?�	6�7?%"�	���7?	�	7��,�%"	-(%",	%"	%,'	.%/�	7�7.�D		:	7(6-�7,(�	7�"	��	����%.,	,1(	&%//���",	,%6�'L	,?�	/%�',

��%"!	1?�"	,?�	?(��	6�,��	���7?�'	<�����	?(��'L	�"&	,?�	'�7("&	����%.&	(77��'	1?�"	,?�	,(,�.	?(��	6�,��	���7?�'

�B����D		:	+:J	+0J	����%.&	(//��'	�	.%M�N"�1	6�7?%"�	1%,?	�	.%M�N"�1	4N�����	B���N?(��	-(1��,��%"	�"&	?�&���.%7

1����",�D		O��	34�4	+(6-�7,(�	?�'	�	,(,�.	(/	P�BP<	?(��'	1?�"	%,	1�'	.�',	(-���,�&D	J?%'	6�7?%"�	7��!?,	/%��	.�',

O7,(���	C�	���4	'(	%,	?�'	���"	�,	�(.��	=>�%-6�",	'%"7�	,?�"	�"&	�Q,�"'%$�	%"'-�7,%("'	?�$�	���"	&("�	/(�	�"

%"'���"7�	7.�%6D

	
J?�	,1(	>�(,�'	,?�,	?�$�	���"	�,,�7?�&	���	("�	/(�	,?�	�',%6�,�&	/%��	&�6�!�	(/	,?�	6�7?%"��	�"&	,?�	(,?��	%'	,?�

-�%7�	(/	�	7(6-.�,�	����%.&	(/	,?�	6�7?%"�	1?%7?	%"7.�&�'	7(','	/�(6	,?�	/%��	�'	1�..D	J?�	,(,�.	(/	,?�	+0J	����%.&

1�'	��&�7�&	��	,?�	/%��	&�6�!�	�',%6�,�	,?�,	%'	1?���	,?�	,(,�.	�6(�",	7?�"!�&	,(	,?�	A�B��C5<D�4D	J?%'	6�7?%"�

1%..	��	��.�	,(	��	����%.,	("�	6(��	,%6�	��/(��	,?�	�"&	(/	%,'	.%/�	7�7.�	%'	($��D	J?�	/%��	&�6�!�	>�(,�	%'	',%..	�"&��

%"$�',%!�,%("	1%,?	%"'���"7�	7(6-�"%�'	�"&	1%..	��	,�M�"	7���	(/	��	,?�	%"'���"7�	7(6-�"�D

	
J?�	7(',	,(	-��7?�'�	�	"�1	7(6-�7,(�	%'	��,1��"	A<��������N<�<������D		#��	,(	,?�	�6(�",	,?�,	7�"	��	'�$�&	,(

����%.&	$��'�'	���%"!	�	"�1	-%�7�	(/	�>�%-6�",�	1�	-��/��	?�$%"!	,?�	+:J	+0J	����%.&'	&("�	("	�.%!%�.�

�>�%-6�",D

�RR�)���)���

<D	:--�($�	,?�	+��,%/%�&	0(1��,��%"	2���%.&	I+0JK	/(�	34�4	+(6-�7,(�	/�(6	�(.��	=>�%-6�",	%"	,?�	�6(�",

(/	A�B��C5<D�4	1?%7?	%'	%"	.%"�	1%,?	8(.%&	;�',�S'	+T0	=>�%-6�",	2�-.�7�6�",U2���%.&	0.�"

�D	0(',-("�	,?�	2���%.&	("	,?�	7(6-�7,(�	,(	�"(,?��	����	I&(%"!	,?%'	1%..	"(,	��-�%�	,?�	/�..	6�7?%"�	/�(6	,?�

/%��D	J?�	(".�	,?%"!	,?�,	1%..	��	��-.�7�&	�"&	����%.,	%'	1?�,	1�'	&�6�!�&	��	,?�	/%��DK

4D	0��7?�'�	�	"�1	7(6-�7,(�	,(	��-.�7�	,?�	��5	+(6-�7,(�	34�4	I�	"�1	6�7?%"�	1%..	��	�"�1?���	/�(6

A<��������NA<�<������

��*)��������)��V���WE����
:--�($�	,?�	+��,%/%�&	0(1��,��%"	2���%.&	("	34�4	+(6-�7,(�	/�(6	�(.��	=>�%-6�",	%"	,?�	�6(�",	(/	A�B��C5<D�4

�)R�*��V�H��*�R�����*��
J?%'	0��7?�'�	%'	-��,	(/	,?�	+T0	=>�%-6�",	2�-.�7�6�",	-.�"	%"	,?�	'(.%&	1�',�	��&!�,D	J?�	/�"&'	1%..	7(6�	(�,	(/

,?�	7�-%,�.	(�,.��	�>�%-6�",	.%"�	%,�6�	�"&	%,	%'	1%,?%"	,?�	��&!�,D











�����������
	������

�����
���

����������� ��������	���	����

������������ �� �!	"�#$%&'!

	

	

	
��������(��)

*�+,�-�	�!%	$!&.�,,	�	!�/	0!%��-���$� �	'!	1234	"�5	675	"'8��	$!	.9�	�:'�!.	';	<=���2�>2�	��

�',��	?@�$+:�!.�	A$-9$.��	BC	

�D������E���)F��(D���(G��(��)

59���	���	./'	:�$!	+$�-�&	';	�@�$+:�!.	.9�.	���	#$.�,	.'	.9�	,�!%;$,,>	H!�	';	.9�:	$&	.9�	"'8��>	I.	9�&	�

%�$,�	J'�	';	+�&9$! 	.9�	.��&9	�!%	'�	-'!&.��-.$'!	%�:'	%���$&	'!.'	.9�	,$;.	;'�	.9�	-':+�-.'�&	.'	.9�!

-':+�-.	.9�	/�&.�	�&	:�-9	�&	.9��	-�!	.'	&�#�	&+�-�	$!	.9�	,�!%;$,,	/$.9	.$:�	.9�	�!%��-���$� �&	';

.9�&�	:�-9$!�&	/���	%'/!	�!%	!��%	��+,�-�%>	7	6��.$;$�%	�',��	*�+��&�!.�.$#�	-':�&	'�.	�#���

@���.��	�!%	:��&���&	.9�	�!%��-���$� �&	�!%	/9��,&	'!	.9�	:�-9$!�&	.'	&��	9'/	.9�	:�-9$!�&	���

/���$! 	'!	.9�	+��.&	$!	.9�	�!%��-���$� �	'�	.9�	/9��,	.$+&	'!	�	-':+�-.'�>	"�+�!%$! 	'!	.9�	�&� �	';

.9�	:�-9$!�	�!%	9'/	:�-9	.9�	:�-9$!�	$&	�.$,$8�%	.9$&	-�!	�;;�-.	/9�!	.9�&�	+��.&	!��%&	��+,�-�%>

	

59$&	%'8��	9�&	���!	�&�%	:'��	$!	.9�	+�&.	3	:'!.9&	&$!-�	.9�	��4	-':+�-.'�	-�� 9.	;$��	��-K	$!

H-.'���>	H!	�	��+,�-�:�!.	';	.9�	�!%��-���$� �	.9$&	+��.$-�,��	:�-9$!�	$&	!'.	 '$! 	$!.'	.9�	&9'+	.'	��

��+�$��%	�&	.9�	.�-9!$-$�!	/$,,	+��;'�:	.9�	J'�	$!	.9�	;$�,%	%��	.'	�@�$+:�!.	��&.��$!.&	.9�	,�!%;$,,	9�&

;�-�%	/$.9	%'/!	�@�$+:�!.	$!	.9�	&9'+>	59�	+��.&	.9�.	/$,,	��	��+,�-�%	���	.9�	!�/	��$,&�	!�/	&9'�&�

!�/	$%,��&>	!�/	,'/��	�',,���	�!%	!�/	&+�'-K�.	&� :�!.&	'!	�'.9	&$%�&	';	.9�	:�-9$!�>	

�LL�(���(��

M>	7++�'#�	.9�	��+,�-�:�!.	';	.9�	�!%��-���$� �	$!	.9�	�:'�!.	';	<=���2�>2�	/9$-9	$&	$!	.9�	����

6IN	O�% �.

�>	P',%	';;	'!	��+�$�$! 	.9�	�!%��-���$� �	�!'.9��	����	Q.9$&	/$,,	'!,�	-'&.	.9�	-'�!.�	:'��	$!

��+�$�&	,�.��	'!R	

��)(��������(��S���TD���

7++�'#�	.9�	��+,�-�:�!.	';	.9�	�!%��-���$� �	'!	1234	"�5	"'8��	$!	.9�	�:'�!.	';	<=���2�>2�	��

�',��	?@�$+:�!.>

�(L�)��S�G��)�L�����)�

59$&	$&	+��.	';	.9�	6�+$.',	*�+,�-�:�!.	N,�!	;'�	&',$%	/�&.�	��% �.>	59�	;�!%&	/$,,	-':�	'�.	';	.9�

-�+$.',	'�.,��	�@�$+:�!.	,$!�	$.�:>	







�����������
	������

�����
��

������������ ��������	���	����

�������������  ��!�"	#�$�%�	&�'"(�"�")�	#'��)(*�

	

	

	
��������+��,�

-��.	#�/'0	1�'!.��0	23�"4�	5�.��	67	2*��(3*�0�	8�"*/�('*"	$�*9�)(	'"	(3�	�:*�"(	*;	<���=>?@��

�A������B���,C��+A���+D��+��,�

E3'0	)3�"4�	*�.��	'")!�.�0	0�/���!	)*0(	'(�:0	�")*�"(���.	.��'"4	(3�	$�*9�)(	�$	(*	(3'0	$*'"(@		F(	%�0

��/'�%�.	'"	.�(�'!	�(	(3�	!�0(	2*::'00'*"	&��('"4	'"	G�"����	����@		E3'0	;*�:�!	.*)�:�"(	'0	"*%	���.�

;*�	�$$�*/�!@

�HH�+���+���

7@	I$$�*/�	(3�	23�"4�	5�.��

�@	#�"�	(3�	23�"4�	5�.��

��,+��������+��J���KA����

I$$�*/�	23�"4�	5�.��	67

�+H�,��J�D��,�H�����,��

E3'0	)3�"4�	*�.��	'")���0�0	(3�	)*"(��)(	(*(�!	��	<���=>?@��	�".	%'!!	��	$�'.	;�*:	;�".0	�!!*)�(�.	;*�

(3'0	$�*9�)(@	



������������	
��


������

������������

������� !"#$�%&'(�)�*'(&+�,�-./012$�3�(4&45�(46&5�*'''�5�*''(�7#8�*'(&+��99�/012$:�/":"/;"8+�<=2"��!"/0�7#��#:$0$ $"��>��/�20$"�$:5?�<�!"/0�7#��#:$0$ $"��>�
�/�20$"�$:5?�<���5?�$2"�����@�1�5�7#8�<����,�#$/7�$���� !"#$:?�7/"�$/78"!7/A:��>�=2"��!"/0�7#��#:$0$ $"��>��/�20$"�$:+�=20:�8�� !"#$�B7:�-/�8 �"8�7$�(*CD&CEE�
,=��#�'(F*GF*'*G� #8"/�H/8"/�I�+E('G*E6J''�B20�2�"K-0/":��#�'DF(GF*'*G5�0:�#�$�>�/�/":79"5�0:�90�"#:"8�>�/��#"L$0!"� :"��#9.5�7#8�!7.��#9.�M"� :"8�0#�
7���/87#�"�B0$2�$2"�����,�#$/7�$���� !"#$:N�="/!:��>�O"/;0�"+�=��/"-�/$���-./012$�;0�97$0�#:5�"L!709�8��0#>�P707��#$/7�$:+��!+
QRSTUVWXSRY�� ZE[4���E\]

^

_̀abcdefghijklmjnomjooplqqr dasètde�usvàwteuasf dxts	c�à�c̀�usvàwteuasf
yz{|g}|~{��g}|~���|~�z
����zg���������|{g��~��

}|{�����g�|��g�z{z���g}|{���~���|{ }��{�zg���z�g�~��z��g���

���g��g���g��z{~z
�~����{�|{�g��g� ¡��

������z��¢�g£�|¤z��g�¥�¦¥y�����

§��z�g̈����g �g���¦ §��z�g©�{~���g�¦�g���ª

a«sc̀fghijklmjnomjooplqqr t̀dxuecdefghijklmjnomjooplqqr dasètdeàfghijklmjnomjooplqqr
yz{|g}|~{��g¬|���g|g}|������|{z�� �®̈ ḡ������z��~�z�g°{�� ����g§����g¬~���z���g°{��
���g��g���g��z{~z
�~����{�|{�g��g� ¡��

�¡�¡g±�g§|~����
��������g��g� ���

����g��g̈��{�g�~��zg}
�~����{�|{�g��g� ¡��

exc�dasètde�u²�dxts	c��t²�va³³a«²f
h́nqlpµmjmolµj¶·lomolq̧p¶¹µ¶ºnmº»mµ¼lm̧¼jn½lmjno¾m¶»mj¹¹·¶̧j¿·l¾mjµµj̧¼mºpmpl»lplņlmq¹ļ¶»¶̧mlÀ¼¶¿¶µqÁmÂ·qºm¶ņ·Ãolmj½pllomÃ¹ºnmjoÄÃqµklnµqm
jµµp¶¿Ãµj¿·lmµºmlÀļÃµlomÅºnqµpÃ̧µ¶ºnmÅ¼jn½lmÆ¶pļµ¶ÇlqÁr

È�zg|��|É�{�g������|{�g��zg�z�g������z�g}��{�zgyzÊ~z��g��g���z�g©�{~���g�ª�g���ª�g
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg���gËg���g��||�g±�z�������g}�|�z�g����g������|{ Ìg��¦¥�
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg���gËg�̄ �}g}~��� gg ggg¥�¥¥ 
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg��¦gËg���{z��g¦�¡�g§||��gª���g�{�gª�ª¬�g¦��g}�|�z��g¡��g��||��g±�z�������g}�|�z�g¡�� ggggggggg�
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg��ªgËg���~��~���g��zz�g¬z��� ggggggggg�
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg��¡gËg¡��g��||�g�z��g����z�z{� ggg ����
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg���gËg¡��g��||�g§||�g¡��g�{�g����g�{g¡�� ggggggggg�
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg�� gËg���g��||�g}���{z�� ggg¡��ª�
£�|�|�z�g}��{�zg��ÍgËg¡��g��||�g±�z�������g�z��z��g±Î���g�~��z���g�����g����{� gg ggg����¦

È�È�®g�§§ Ì�ª� ¡�

È�zg|����{��g}|{�����g�~�gÉ��g Ï ��Í� ���¡���gg
È�zg{z�g���{�zg��g��z��|~���g�~��|���z�g}��{�zg���z�� Ï ����g
È�zg}|{�����g�~�g���|�g�|g����g}��{�zg���z�gÉ�� Ï ��Í� ���¡���
È�zg}|{�����g�~�gÉ���g�zg�{��z��z�g��g����g}��{�zg���z�g�{g��zg��|~{�g| Ï �ª� ¡����
È�zg{zÉg}|{�����g�~�g�{��~��{�g����g}��{�zg���z�gÉ���g�z Ï ��Í¦�� Í����gg

È�zg}|{�����gÈ��zgÉ���g�zg�{��z��z�g��g��Î��Ð�É|gÑ��Òg�����
È�zg{zÉg���zg|g�~����{����g}|���z��|{gÉ���g�zgg�����g���g���ª

saecfgÈ���g}��{�zg���z�g�|z�g{|�g�{��~�zg��¤~���z{��g�|g��zg}|{�����g�~�g|�g�~���{�zz�g̈�Î��~�g£���z�g|�g��zg}|{�����g
È��z�g����g���zg�zz{g�~��|���z�g��g}|{���~���|{g}��{�zg§��z����zg~{���g��zg�|��g�{�g���zg���zg�zz{g���zz�g~�|{g��g�|��g��zg
�É{z�g�{�g}|{�����|��g�{gÉ����g���zg�g}��{�zg���z�g��gzÎz�~�z�g�|g�~�z��z�zg��zg}|{���~���|{g}��{�zg§��z����z�g

sae�Ót³u��Ôseu³�²u	sc��ÕÖ�exc�t̀dxuecde×�dasètdeà�ts��a«sc̀Ø

�®̈ ḡ������z��~�z�g°{�� ����g§����g¬~���z���g°{�� yz{|g}|~{��g¬|���g|g}|������|{z��
t̀dxuecdeghÙ¶pkmnjklr dasètdeàghÙ¶pkmnjklr a«sc̀ghÙ¶pkmnjklr

g g g
²u	steỒc ²u	steỒc ²u	steỒc

¬����z�g§|z�z{�g�°��g®±±§g�£
}|��~{���g§�����|{g®z���g��z����|{� ggggg ggggg
_̀usec��stwc�ts��eue³c _̀usec��stwc�ts��eue³c _̀usec��stwc�ts��eue³c

©�{~���g�¦�g���ª ggggg ggggg
�tec �tec �tec

ÚÛÜÝÞßàáâãáäåæÛçåâèÚéâêëìíîïïðñãðòðñíòëëñóôóÚñîôíóãõöòêóô÷

øùúùøûøü

ýþÿ��

��þ�������



�
�
������� � � � � � ����	
������
��������� � � � � ������	
����
������


�������������� !"�� � #$�%�&�	
'(�&�
)����*�����










�+��
,
-���
'./
�
 
 
 


0��&1��2��3
4'



 
 
 5





 6�+7879�:+

 
 
 
 


 ;;;<;�$==�>�2?���=�$2<&�@
 
 


5
5
ABCDEF5GFHIFJK5LM5
N
OPQRNSTUN
VQWXYQZP[PYWZNW\NU]PN\̂WWXNQ̂Q_PXY_[̂N_̂W]QPNUUS̀N
a
a
bcdefgchaiajkfalmccnaoccpkajjqrsajjqaehtajjua
a
vwkdngxfgchayazmehaghtgdefwtatccnafcacxwhaghfcajjusa{|hwnanw}~wkfwtad�eh�wafcacxwhatccnaghfca
jjqa
a
a
�dcxwac�a|cn��a

�
��wawmwdfngdemaxehwmsa��adctwsahwwtkafca�wapc~hfwtacxxckgfwaf�watccn�a��waxehwmaehta
e�c~fa�adcht~gfka|wnwaemnwet�aghkfemmwt�a��wadcht~gfahwwtwtafca�wanwxmedwtafcan~haghfca
xehwmachaemfwnhefwa|emm�a��waxehwma|ekax��kgdemm�anwpc�wtaehtanwpc~hfwtachahcnf�a|emm�a
�
rtta�a��ua

�
��wapwfemakf~ta|emma�eta�wwhaghkfemmwtaehtanw}~gnwtanw�nepgh�aefaemfwnhefwamcdefgch�a
�
rtta�a�uua

�
vwme�kagha|cn�axnc�nwkkaiahw�mg�g�mwa
�
�chtaghdm~twta
�
rmmaexxmgde�mwakemwkafe�agkaw�dm~twta|gf�az�����a

a

#$�&���
�1����
$����2�
�<�

 
 
 
 
 
�
�3:�6<++

5
��BF�I�F5�FHIFJK5�
,���

5
5
5



�� ¡¢£¤¥¦§¥̈©ª�«©¦¬�¦®̄°±²³³́µ§́ ¶́µ±¶̄ µ̄·̧ ·�µ²̧ ±·§¹º¶®·̧ »



���������
���	�
�����
����������������������������� �����!"#$��
�
%&��#�����������&��#�����"#$���&&'&'����$&����#&��&'������(&�'"&�����''&'�#�������")������
����*�&�����'��#�&���������������#&�&�#����+�������
�
,���&����-�#*.�

/01''��"#$��&�2�����'���(&3��!"���4���(&��������44�'��&����")������"�����567���������))&'�
����&-�#����#&�)��&4&�����'��������44�'��&���##�-�����#&�&�+�������)��&4&������
��'����&'�����89�5:;�

/0%&)�<�����-�#*��#�2#&�������2��������=�$"��-�))�����#&>"&���4�#&���4&����?@������#���&&)�
��4&����&A�&�'&'3��

/0B��'����)"'&'�
/01))����)���$)&���)&����A����&A�)"'&'�-����C3�3!3�

�

DEFGFHI00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 00
J0KELMN0OPQRE00 0 0 0 0 0 S0TUVWX0
J0KELMNYZ[\0GLEQM0]0̂0NP000 0 0 0 S0WU_̀X0
J0KELMN0abcD00 0 0 0 0 0 S0TUXTd0
J0efZ0OPQRE0PHg0MLhhiFNg0jR0GLj0PHg0ENkRlN0mRPk0 S0000WWX0
J0efZ0]0GRHjPFHNEM0mRE0gNQEFM0RH0ERRmU0GEPHN0jR0iRnNE0S0000WWX0

[RHjPFHNEM0Rm0mRPk0PHg0iPHgmFii0mNNM0
J0oiNGjEFGPi0GRHgLFjM0FH0ERRm0gNGp0GRHGENjNJ0iRGPjFRH0HRj00S0000WXX0

PlPFiPQiN0mRE0hiPHMq0oiNGjEFGFPHM0r0s0]0s0tRLEM0jR00
jEPGN0PHg0jELHGPjN0iFlN0nFEFHI0FH0REFIFHPi0GRHGENjN0MiPQ0

J0\LQjRjPi0 0 0 0 0 0 0 S0dUd_d0
J0u[0abcD00TXv00 0 0 0 0 S0000dd_0
J0ZRHg0sq̂v00 0 0 0 0 0 S00000sẀ0

0
0

wxyz{|}~z���|������y|����|| | | | | �|��������|
0
0

\GtNgLiN0EN�LNMj0]0�RHN0

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
0
0
0

���������������������� ¡¢£¤¥¥¦§�¦̈¦§£̈¡¡§©ª©�§¤ª£©�«¬̈ ©ª



���������
�	
�	���	������	�
	��	���������	�������	����
	�����	�������������� 	����!"��
�
���������#�
�$%�&'(($�)�*'*+,�*+�-*�+�..��/0�
1�2	3	
	��	�245�678�
9:;<=>:?@A@:BCDEB:<FGCHF>G:F>:IJDK:LMF<F>GN:;<=>:O:PP@:F>IFL=HMB:=<HMJF>G:LMF<F>G:CMFGCHB:DQ�
�
���	�����"�R	�
	�
	��S�����	������3�
�T	��������U���V	�����V��	
�3�
��	���

��
�����
�����T	��������"�W�	��	��������
3�	��
	������33	
	����	X��
	�����V�����

	���
	�T�X	����33����������	������	������U������3�
����������3�X��
	�
	��S��U��������
����	�U���������	V��������������	����������3�
��	��
��V�
�������
�	�"�
9:YLDKMZ�

��2	��S	�����	
��	������
��[������	���		��T	���V����������
�������	
�
��2	���	�	X�������3���
	��	���3�X��
	�U�V�������������T���	�	��	��	���S	
�U�V����
\[]�3�X��
	���	
�����[̂7��
��_��	
�������	������	������V�����T	�
	���
	�����	X�	����	��
��V�
	�����	X�������
�������
��2	��S	�V���������V�����	�
�����	X�������
�����V������̂7��
��4���
�����	
��
����������
��5������̀�a��	���������R���	���̂7����	������	
�
��������3���������	���	�

�
�
�����������
b$�c�&'(($�%(($.�b/b�d�ef�
9:]��
�878�g����
	�����������
	�	�����������
9:h����]��
�878̀��		��������S	����������S�����V�������3�����V����878g�
9:W�	
	���������������6!i������	��������3���	����V������������V�����
���	U�T������	���������
	�	��"�
9:̀����	�878̀������S	��������
�	
U��	����3���	�
��������T��
���	����
�����	�����T	��������	
������	������	��3��V��"�
9:W�	�V����	�
�������	�	X�������	��
���������	����������V����
	�������
���	�����	��	�������
	�����33	
	���	�	S�����������V���������V���
�����
�������	�����	
��	������"�
9:5����	�à  ̀ ����	��3����
�878g���	���S	�3������������
�	��T��	��U���	��
V��������	�������������
�	�����������������V���V��������������
���	
V��	������������	�V�	����S����878g"�
9:W����V�������V��		�	��������������	�����������3����
��
�
�����������

̂��a���	��V���������
9:jCFB:L<DBMH:C=I:=:LD>LJMHM:LMF<F>G:=H:HCM:<FIk:lM:EDm<I:<FnM:HD:KmH:O;o:p=Ln:F>:HCFB:L<DBMH:HD:=<<DE�
3�
�����	���	���	��������������U�V�
���U��������
���T��������������

	����������	���T�	����
�������	���"�
�
���������b�
����4���
�
9:R���T	�V		���6̂�����68�V����T	��	�	�	��

qrstuvwxyzx{|}r~|y�q�y���������z������������q�����z�������



�������������	��
����
�	�����������
�������	���������������������
�	�����������������������������
������������������������������
�����
�
�
������� �!�
"#$������
��������%&'�(��������������������)������������
������%&&�*
�����

��+����������,-�'�
./,
���	������
��������������������$
�0�
��1����''2�����������
��
�	�$�3&%�����������
��	�����������	�������
���0�
��1����������	�	���������������
�������
������������
��
��4�����������
��������
��%&'0��������������������
1����������
���
�����
�����	����
�	��������������
�����
�	���������������
��0�
����
��������
�����������������4
�������%'2�������
���
�����������3�%567���
����	���������������������������
�
�����
����������������
�����������������
�������������������������	���������������
��0�

�
������� �89:;<��:�=>;��?�@��A�B=��
,���	�������
��C�D����
		����
��	
����������	0�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�������E�
F�B>8�>B:G�F���G�B�H�IJ<;�I89�H>G��J�K:8���
�
1���25%��
���������
��������
��������	������	����������������
����
�	�����
�������������4�	0����������������������
1�������5�������
�������������
��	�����������
������	
��������	�	������������������������������������������
�
�����
��0��
./1��������������
����
���������
./1����������
������������	���������
���
�L���������L����������	����%�����������)��
��	��
��	0�
./*��
������������������
�������������������������������
�������������������������������������������������
	�
����
���������D�	�������������	
���
��
��
����
����4�	��������	�����0���

�
�������
��(�M�D����
�
,���	�������
��C�%%��
���	
��	
��0��
�
�
�
�������!�
%������������N���������
��������4
��
./1��������������������
�	��
����
	����4���
�����	L�
�	����
���	�
������������	�����
������������������
������������)����
�	��
�	����0�

./1������������������������
���	�
�������
�	���������
	����	�����0��1����������	������������������������
���
����
��������������������0��-�����������
	����	������
�	�������
������	L��������	��
4��
���
����
�	L������������������0��

./1�����������������	�����
	���
	����4�����������	�����������4�	������������
	����������������������������������
���������������0�

�

OPQRSTUVWXVYZ[P\ZW]ÔW_̀abcddefXegefbg̀ f̀hihOfcibhXjkg_hil



����������	
������������������
���������������������
�����
��
�������
�	��������������
������
��	��
����������������		�����	�����
�
�
�� !"#$%"
������		���&���		������&��'���
()*'������+��
�������	,��	���		���&��
��������
�'
��������		������	����
�
��������������������������������
�&�-�&.'���'
����	,�����

()*'������+��
����'����&�-�&���	�/��
�/
�+��������	,����	���	'��	���	���
�	�0��
��������
� �&�-�&.��

()�������	������		�����������,��������/��������,������	�
�������'����������'����*'�����
�
�������1��	
������2��	�
�����������������2��	���
��
�
�
�
�
�� !"#$"3"
4�����	����/����
����&�1�/��5��		��
()*'������+��
�
��	��������������	'����/����
�'�����	�������	�����6��5�&�1�/��'���������
� �	��������'�
���	'���0�

��		����

�
���������7	
�
�����&8��
�����������9����������������	��	�������+��
�������'��������
�
�
�
�� !"#$:""
����;�����������������<���	�����
����
����'����0�
();��������'���������������������&���

=)�������
�������������������������������0�	�����
�
���������
������'����/����
� �������������������	�0����������������������������

=)�����������
�	����/	<�	��
�������'����/��������'�����	�����>�����
=)9����0��
���������

()4��������	���	�����
�����������&1������������*'���
���+��
��
()?�'	�5�����	��������	�������'����0������0����0��	��8�����		��
���
��

=)�����<�
���0��	������'
������		������5�	'���	���	�������
��<�
���0��	�����������
� ��	

�����
����	�����0��

=)?��	�����	���������
����'����0��	������8����
������0��
����	���/���		����0��
��
�
�������@��	
�
�����&���.����
������������	���
�
�
�
�
�

ABCDEFGHIJHKLMBNLIOAPIQRSTUVVWXJWYWXTYRRXZ[ZAXU[TZJ\]YQZ[̂



����������	�
���
������� � � � � ��������������
��	�	�������������������
�������	�
���� ���������������!"#����
��	�	���������������$�%& �����'��� � ��������"�""������
��	�	�������������!�$�(�
������������)�
��*���������������
��	�	�������������)�$�+
���
�����+
��'�,�� ��������������
��	�	���������������$��
��(�
�-�		���'�
,�
������������������
��	�	�������������#�$��
��.�		�������		������/�����������������
��	�	���������������$���
�.�		����'��
��� � �����������)������
��	�	���������������$��
������� � � ������������!����
0	
����	�
���
��������	������
����	.�������� ����!���������
�
�
�
+�������,���
�
1������������'�
��
�����	,��
�	�� �

2�����	�
���
�$���'�
��
�����	,��
�	��!#����3��$�4������������)�
2����5	
���
	���	���$�+�'�
��
�����	,��
�	��-'��)�����)�����+�'�
��
�����
� �	,��
�	��	.�4������������)�

1�67��
����������
2�-	��+
����+
���
�����+
���
�+
����� � � �������������3��
2�-	��4��
����'�
,�
�	���
��(�
� � � ��������������3��

1���	�	���+�'�
��
�����	,��
�	��� � � �  ������#����)��
2�-������	,��
�	��� � � � � 4�3��#�����)�

1�8
,��..�
�����,���������������
2�-�		�����	���
��(�
�9 ��

:�5��
	�/	�;���	������	��
�	���
2�-�		����������
�	���/	�;�����

:�+
	����'	<�����
	���	��
�.�	,���
�
	��
�����
��.
���	,��
�	���
:�4	����	��
�	��	.�.�<
����	����
�	���/	�;�������

�
�

=>?@ABAC>DEFA
(����9�����
�����
(����9�����G�������
�
�
�
�
�/���6����
�
���

HIJKLMNOPQORSTIUSPVHWPXYZ[\]]̂_Q̂ `̂_[̀YY_abaH_\b[aQcd̀Xabe



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.K

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Travis Vogt, Fire Administrator

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Approval of Standard Operating Policy and Procedures for the Reno County Fire Districts.
Associated SOP documents 

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
The BOCC approved ARPA funds to allow the rural fire districts to purchase a standardized policy and
procedure platform from Lexipol. These policy and procedures were created by Lexipol, then reviewed
and edited by the Fire Administrator, a Fire District Chief, the Emergency Management Director, and
County Counselor. By moving to this platform, it will allow the 8 rural fire districts to all operate under
the same policy and procedure manual to ensure that each district is operating at scenes the same way.
This is a big step towards standardizing the 8 fire districts. 

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the policy and procedure manual from Lexipol for the Reno County Fire Districts.
2. Deny the approval. 

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve the standard operating policy and procedures from Lexipol for the Reno County Fire Districts. 

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
The implementation of this manual was funded with ARPA funds. 

https://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/13195/06K-SOP-Docs


AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.L

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Adam Weishaar, Emergency Management Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Reappoint Emergency Management Director, Adam Weishaar to the South Central Kansas Homeland
Security Council as Reno County's representative effective 2/28/2024 through 12/31/2026.

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Adam Weishaar has represented Reno County on the South-Central Kansas Homeland Security Council
since 2016.  Attached are a copy of the by-laws.
 
In addition to representing Reno County, Adam has served as the Vice Chairman of the South-Central
Homeland Security Council since 2017 and the current term will expire in 2026.  

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the reappointment
2. Appoint a different member of the county's staff.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approval



Page 1 of 5 

SOUTH CENTRAL KANSAS REGIONAL HOMELAND SECURITY COUNCIL 
 

BYLAWS 

ARTICLE I 
NAME AND PRINCIPAL OFFICE 

 
Section 1. Name. The name of the entity shall be the South Central Kansas Regional 

Homeland Security Council, hereinafter referred to as the “Council ." 
 

Section 2. Principal Address. The official address shall be the location of the Regional Council 
Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson  
 

ARTICLE II 
MISSION STATEMENT 

 
The South Central Region will continue to support statewide all-hazard preparedness while 
reducing vulnerabilities. The South Central Region will accomplish this by building capabilities, 
and developing comprehensive strategies in partnership with other government agencies and the 
private sector. 
 

VISION 
 

South Central Region citizens and critical infrastructure partners will be served by the 
appropriate levels of preparedness measures with respect to any real or potential hazard. This 
will be accomplished by managing emergencies through a unified homeland security structure 
that will protect against today’s threats and address the unknown threats of the future. 
 

FOCUS 
 

South Central Region’s security strategy provides the foundation for meeting the State’s vision 
by focusing on the following key areas of all hazard preparedness: 
  
Protection-The protection phase, also known as prevention, includes actions taken to avoid an 
incident or stopping an incident from occurring.  
 
Preparedness- involves a continuous cycle of planning, training, equipping, educating, 
exercising, evaluating, and taking action to correct and mitigate. 
 
Mitigation – identify and protect critical infrastructure assets while improving the ability of state 
and local agencies to gather, analyze, and share information about all hazard activity. 
 
Response – identify and close existing gaps in basic emergency response capabilities as well as 
ensure effective coordination of emergency response to all hazards.  
 
Recovery – put plans and resources in place to enable an effective recovery from natural and/or 
manmade hazards for both public and private entities. 

PURPOSE   

 



Page 2 of 5 

The purpose of the council drives the requirements for membership. 
 
The initial task for the council will be to examine current & future response capabilities on a 
regional level and measure those against the desired (required) core capabilities outlined under 
the Homeland Security Presidential Directive – 8.   
 
From this analysis, the council will identify priorities for improvement and recommend projects 
for funding. 
 

A. Carry out the intent and purpose of the State Homeland Security Program Grants and 
other council tasks which involve the first responders of the 19 county area of South 
Central Kansas that includes Barber, Barton, Butler, Cowley, Comanche, Edwards, 
Harper, Harvey, Kingman, Kiowa, Marion, McPherson, Pawnee, Pratt, Reno, Rice, 
Sedgwick, Stafford, Sumner and the combined population of nearly 1 million 
citizens of Kansas. 
 

B. Serve as a regional emergency planning council for suggestions, ideas, and 
formulation of proposals concerning the nineteen counties in the south central 
region. 

ARTICLE III 

COORDINATION AND DUTIES 
 

Section 1. Coordination. To coordinate the South Central Region’s all hazards planning for 
emergencies.  
 

Section 2. Duties. The duties of the Council shall include: 
     

A. Develop and support sub-committees to coordinate specific regional projects, i.e. 
exercises, training, planning. 
 

B. Recommend guidelines to the various agencies and counties that will help 
coordinate South Central Regional activities. 

 

ARTICLE IV 
CALENDAR YEAR 

The fiscal year of the Council shall coincide with the Calendar year, January 1 to December 31. 

 

ARTICLE V 
  COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Section l. Composition. Two guiding principles for populating the council are representation of  
functional disciplines and local governments.  

  
   The Council shall consist of 41 members.  Each of the 19 Counties of the South 

Central Region shall be represented by one member appointed by the Board of 
County Commissioners of that county.   

 



Page 3 of 5 

   In addition, functional disciplines shall have representation as noted below. All 
appointed council members are voting members and represent the cities, 
counties, and functional disciplines of the entire region as appointed.  
Members of functional disciplines may also serve as the representative of the 
county or city in which they live, if designated by a County or Class One City. 

 
   In the absence of a member, a proxy may be designated to represent them, 

upon notification by written or electronic (email) notice to the Chairperson 
and/or Vice-Chairperson prior to each meeting. 

 
A. Functional Disciplines include: 

(2)  Fire Service, appointed by the 
                             1 Kansas Association of Fire Chiefs  

           1 Kansas Association of Fire Firefighters 
(2)  Law Enforcement, appointment by 
      1 Kansas Police Chiefs Association 
      1 Kansas Sheriffs Association 
(2)  Emergency Management, appointed by KEMA 
(2)  Emergency Medical Services, appointed by the Region III EMS Council 
(2)  Public Health, appointed by 

1  Kansas Association of Local Health Dept’s 
                              1  Subject matter in environmental health appointed by 
                                  the Kansas Environmental Health Association 

(1)  Hospital Representative, appointed by the Kansas Hospital Association 
(1) Physician from the region, appointed by the Kansas Medical Society 
(1)  Public Works Representative, appointed by the Kansas Highway Association,  
      District Five 
(2)  Public Safety Communications, appointed by  
            1  Kansas Chapter of APCO 
            1  Kansas 911 Coordinating Council 
(2)  Members at large, appointed by the regional council may consist of 
     (1) with agricultural background, preferably a veterinarian 
     (1) representing a volunteer/non-profit organization   
 (1) Member appointment by the Regional Forensic Science Center  

 
B. Each city of the first class governing body may designate one representative to the 
council who has voting rights.  Class One cities in the South Central Region are Wichita, 
Hutchinson, Newton, & Derby. 

 
 

Section 2. Selection. All members of the Council shall become so by virtue of their appointment 
by the representation of the counties/cities/functional disciplines.  When 
vacancies occur, notice shall be given to the Council.  After a resignation has 
been accepted a replacement member shall  be chosen by the discipline or 
county/city the member represented.   

 
Section 3. Term. The Council members shall serve a minimum of two years though eligible for 

consecutive terms.  
 



Page 4 of 5 

Section 4. Meetings. The Council shall hold at least one (1) regular meeting every three (3) months 
unless sooner convened by the Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson or any five (5) 
members. Meetings shall be at the time and place as called by the Chairperson, Vice-
Chairperson or any five (5) members upon five (5) days written notice unless such 
notice is waived by all members. Notices shall state time and place of the meeting but 
need not state purpose. Any vote by a majority of the members present shall be the 
act of all the Council members. 

A. Ten (10) voting members of the Council participating in any meeting of the Council shall 
constitute a quorum. Voting members do not have to be physically present at the meeting 
to vote if they have given, consistent with Article V, Section I of these bylaws, their 
proxy vote to a non-voting representative at the meeting. Any voting member shall have 
no more than one vote. Participation via electronic means such as telephone, video or 
web conferencing shall not constitute participation for purposes of voting and 
establishing a quorum except as provided in Article V, Section 4, B. Any vote by a 
majority of the quorum shall be the act of all the Council members.  

B. At the discretion of the Council Chairperson, and only in rare circumstances:  
1. Webinars/teleconferences may be used to conduct meetings of the council  
 
2. Matters may be submitted to the voting members by electronic means via email  for          
consideration. In the case of electronic voting, voting members will have up to thre e (3) 
business days to respond. Proxy votes are not allowed. Any vote by a majority of the voting   
members shall be the act of all Council members. 

             C. In case of a tie, the chairperson will be the tie breaking vote.  If a member is representing both a 
  functional discipline and County/City, they only have one vote.  

D. Absences from meeting. If a council member is absent from three (3) consecutive meetings or an 
   any regular four (4) meetings in a calendar year the position shall be considered vacant.  A
   Attendance by a proxy constitutes presence of a council member. The council chair will  
   notify that member’s appointing agency and/or function recommend that a new member be  
   appointed to represent that agency/or function. 

E. Non-council meeting attendees.  Non-council meeting attendees may participate in any council
   meeting and serve on council established committees but, they may not vote on any   
   matters that come before the council.             

 

Section 5. Procedures. Agendas for the regular meetings will be prepared and distributed to the 
Council prior to each meeting whenever possible. 

ARTICLE VI 
OFFICERS 

Section l. Number and Type. Officers of the Council shall initially consist of a Chairperson, 
Vice-Chairperson, and a Secretary.  

Section 2. Term. Officers shall serve for two years, though eligible to run for consecutive terms 
without limits. 

Section 3. Elections.  
Election of officers shall be made by the Council membership at the last regular 
meeting of the officers’ terms. The Chairperson term will begin during January of 
the even years, and the Vice-Chairperson and the Secretary’s term will begin during 
January of the even years. The election process will include a request for 



Page 5 of 5 

nominations, open discussion and the election will be by a simple majority of those 
voting shall elect the officer or officers. 

Section 4. Vacancies. Officer vacancies due to termination or resignation shall be filled by a 
majority vote of the Council present; the newly elected officer shall serve in that 
office for the remainder of the term. 

Section 5. Duties. Duties of the officers shall be as follows: 

l. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Council. The Chairperson 
shall perform other duties designated by the Council. The Chairperson shall 
prepare agendas with input from the Regional Coordinator and notices and 
answering correspondence as directed. The Chairperson shall serve as the 
official spokesperson for the Council. 

2. The Vice-Chairperson shall perform such duties as the Chairperson and/or the 
Council may designate. In the absence of the Chairperson, the Vice-Chairperson 
shall perform the Chairperson’s duties. 

3. The Secretary shall be responsible for maintaining the minutes of all meetings. 
In the absence of a secretary the vice chair or chairpersons appointee shall.  

4. The executive board will consist of the Council Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, 
Secretary, Regional Coordinator, and Fiscal Agent. Their duties include organizing, 
facilitating and reporting any administrative issues to the membership as well as 
consulting and communicating with project managers regarding money movement. 

  
ARTICLE VII 

AMENDMENTS 

Section 1. Council members shall be given five (5) days written or electronic (email) notice prior 
to any vote amending these Bylaws. 

Section 2. Amendments to these Bylaws shall take effect when they have been approved by no 
fewer than two-thirds of the Council members present at meetings of which 
notice was properly given. 

ADOPTED by the South Central Kansas Regional Homeland Security Council 
 
this    day of _____________   20___.   

 

_______________________________       ____________________________ 
Chairperson      Secretary or Vice Chair 



 

Randy Parks 
District 1 

Ron Hirst 
District 2 

Daniel P. Friesen 
District 3 

John Whitesel 
District 4 

Don Bogner 
District 5 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
February 28, 2024 
 
Mr. Greg Klein, Chairman 
South Central Homeland Security Council 
PO Box 505 
Lyons, KS 67554 
 
Dear Mr. Klein: 
 
The Reno County Commissioners have re-appointed Adam Weishaar to serve as Reno County’s 
representative on the South-Central Regional Homeland Security Council beginning February 28, 
2024, through December 31, 2026. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
       
Randy Parks 
Chairman, Reno County Commission 

Courthouse 
206 W. 1st Avenue 

Hutchinson, Ks 67501 

 

County Commission 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.M

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Adam Weishaar, Emergency Management Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Approve the updated Reno County Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) and the Chairman to sign the
promulgation document.

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
The County's Emergency Operations Plan is updated regularly to meet the Kansas Panning standards. 
Last year, the plan was sent to the State of Kansas to review.  The state has reviewed and approved the
plan; the next step is approval by the Board of County Commissioners.
 
To make the plan official, it must be promulgated by the Commission prior to April 1, 2024.  Once
approved, the plan will be valid until 2030

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the plan.
2. Do not approve.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
N/A



 

2800 SW Topeka Blvd. 
Topeka, KS  66611-1287 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Kansas Division of Emergency Management 
 

phone:  785-646-2000 
fax:  785-646-2001 

www.kansastag.gov 
 

 

Brigadier General Michael T. Venerdi 
The Adjutant General and Director of Emergency 
Management & Homeland Security 

 
 

Laura Kelly, Governor 

 
 
January 2, 2024 
 
Adam Weishaar, Director  
Reno County Emergency Management  
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
 
Subject: Review of Reno County Emergency Operations Plan 
 
The purpose of this letter is to provide the status of the Reno County Emergency Operations Plan (EOP). In 
accordance with KSA 48-929(d), the Reno County EOP submitted to Kansas Division of Emergency 
Management (KDEM) is Approved - Pending Adoption. KDEM has determined that the Plan contains the basic 
planning considerations outlined within the Kansas Planning Standards.  
 
The Plan has been reviewed and found compliant with the Kansas Planning Standards to include SARA Title III, 
ADA compliancy, and NIMS requirements. Approval does not however mean KDEM is endorsing or accepting 
responsibility for any operational component of the Plan.  
 
Please note, a copy of your signed promulgation must be submitted to KDEM within 90 days to finalize this 
approval process. Prior to the expiration of this approved EOP in 83 months*, Reno County will be required to 
update their plan to reflect the current Kansas Planning Standards then resubmit to KDEM for approval. Annual 
review requirements are the responsibility of Reno County. 
 

County Review 
Completed   

Status  Date of 
Promulgation 

Date of Plan 
Expiration 

 
Reno 

 
1/2/2024 

Approved (Pending 
Adoption by 

County) 
TBD (required prior 

to April 1, 2024) 

 
12/31/2030* 

*Determined using Homeland Security (HLS) region LEOP expiration cycle (Directive 2003) 
 
If you have questions or concerns, please contact either of the KDEM LEOP Planners listed below. 
Doug Cruce (785) 221-1152 or doug.cruce@ks.gov 
John Stradal (785) 480-8824 or john.stradal@ks.gov  
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Dirk Christian 
Planning and Mitigation Bureau Director 
Kansas Division of Emergency Management 
Email: dirk.a.christian@ks.gov 
Office: (785) 646-2301 

Dirk Christian Digitally signed by Dirk Christian 
Date: 2024.01.02 14:31:46 -06'00'



 

RENO COUNTY 

 

EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN 
(EOP) 

 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

DRAFT 
  
  

  

 
NOTICE: This document may contain information pertaining to the 
deployment, mobilization, and tactical operations of Reno County in 
response to and recovery from emergencies and disasters.  
  

   



  1  

Table of Contents 

Highlight the words 'INSERT TABLE HERE' under this paragraph. Then in the "References" 
menu of Word, select "Insert Table of Contents" from the Table of Contents icon. Make any 
formatting changes in that screen, or click OK for the default format. Then select "Update Table" 
to update page numbers. Lastly, highlight and delete these instructions. 
 
INSERT TABLE HERE 
 
  



  2  

I. INTRODUCTION  

A. GENERAL 

Reno County is vulnerable to disasters.  These disasters can affect  the county in a variety of 
ways, necessitating immediate and sometimes long term assistance to meet the needs 
generated by them.  This Emergency Operations Plan (EOP) serves as an overarching policy 
that considers the risk of disasters and establishes how the County mitigates against, prepares 
for, responds to, and recovers from them. 
 
Presidential Homeland Security Directives 5 and 8, enacted in 2004, require the State and Local 
governments to adopt the fundamental principles, language and operational concepts 
embedded in the National Incident Management System (NIMS) and the National Response 
Plan (NRP) as a condition for receiving certain categories of federal support for Emergency 
Management. To meet these requirements, Reno County created this Emergency Operations 
Plan (EOP) and the Board of County Commissioners officially adopted it on Plan Not Yet Active. 
 
The revised Reno County EOP is the product of a detailed and focused planning process that 1) 
fully incorporates the NIMS concepts, principles, practice and language 2) capitalizes on the 
lessons learned from recent disasters, 3) incorporates plans, programs and policies that have 
emerged since the last revision of the EOP. The EOP establishes a framework through which 
the County may prepare for; respond to; recover from; and mitigate to prevent the impacts of a 
wide variety of disasters that could adversely affect the health, safety and or general welfare of 
the residents and emergency workers of Reno County. The EOP provides guidance to Reno 
County officials as well as procedures, organization, and responsibilities which will prevent, 
minimize and/or relieve personnel hardship and property damage associated with disasters or 
the imminent threat thereof. This plan also provides for an integrated and coordinated county, 
municipal, state and federal response. 
 
The EOP is operation oriented and addresses communication and warning systems; rapid 
deployment and pre-deployment resources; evacuation and shelter operations; post disaster 
response and recovery activities and clearly defines responsibilities of county, municipal, 
volunteer and other organizations through an Incident Management System/Emergency Support 
Function approach to planning and operations. 
 
The EOP describes the basic strategies, assumptions and mechanics through which the County 
will mobilize resources and conduct activities to guide and support County Emergency 
Management efforts through prevention, preparedness, response, recovery and mitigation. To 
facilitate inter-government operations, the EOP adopts a functional approach that groups the 
type of assistance to be provided under each Emergency Support Function (ESF). Each ESF is 
headed by a primary agency, which has been selected based on its authorities, resources and 
capabilities in the functional area. In addition, other agencies with similar capabilities have been 
given support assignments to appropriate ESF(s). The ESF(s) serve as the primary operational 
mechanism through which County assistance is managed. Command staff and other General 
staff have been assigned to support the ESF(s). County assistance will be provided to impacted 
communities within the County under the overall authority of the Reno County Emergency 
Management, on behalf of the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
In an effort to ensure that the revised EOP was strictly aligned with the State and National 
preparedness guidance, the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency 



  3  

Management and National Department of Homeland Security publications listed below were 
consulted and closely followed: 

• National Preparedness Goal (September 2005) 

• National Prevention Framework 

• National Protection Framework 

• National Mitigation Framework 

• National Response Framework (October 2019) 

• National Disaster Recovery Framework 

• Comprehensive Preparedness Guide (CPG) 101 (November 2010) 

B. PURPOSE 

The purpose of the Reno County Emergency Operations Plan is to establish a comprehensive 
framework for local government, non-profit/non-governmental organizations, private sector and 
residents to address prevention, preparation, response, recovery and mitigation of the effects of 
emergencies and disasters. 
 
  

C. Scope 

This plan identifies when and under what conditions the application or activation of this plan is 
necessary. 
 
The plan establishes fundamental policies strategies and assumptions for a County-
wide program that is guided by the principles of the National Incident Management System. 
This EOP provides the following benefits to Reno County: 

• A plan which addresses all hazards, all phases of emergency management, all impacts, 
and extending an opportunity to partner with all stakeholders.  

• Establishes a Concept of Operations spanning the direction and control of an emergency 
from initial monitoring through post disaster response, recovery, and mitigation.  

• Defines inter-agency and inter-government coordination mechanisms to facilitate 
delivery of immediate response and recovery assistance  

• Assigns specific functions to appropriate local governments and organizations as well as 
outlining methods to coordinate with the private sector, volunteer organizations, citizens, 
state and federal counterparts  

• Identifies actions that County response and recovery organizations will take in 
coordination with municipal, state, and federal counterparts as appropriate, regardless of 
the magnitude of the disaster.  



  4  

• The EOP acknowledges the importance of flexibility regarding the full range of complex 
and constantly changing requirements in anticipation of or in response to threats or acts 
of terrorism, major disasters, and other emergencies  

• The EOP also provides the basis to initiate long-term community recovery and mitigation 
activities  

• The EOP outlines the procedures to facilitate delivery of immediate assistance, including 
direction and control of intrastate, interstate, and federal response and recovery 
assistance.  

• The EOP addresses the various types of emergencies that are likely to occur, from local 
emergencies, to minor, major or catastrophic disasters.  

• Establishes the legal authority and organizational basis for disaster operations in 
Reno County.   

D. Methodology 

The Reno County EOP was developed as a team effort consisting of the following agencies and 
organizations:    
 
Federal 
Department of Homeland Security 
Federal Emergency Management Agency 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
 
State 
Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management 
Adjutant General's Office, Kansas National Guard 
Hutchinson Correctional Facility 
Kansas Department of Agriculture 
Kansas Department of Health and Environment 
Kansas Department of Transportation 
Kansas Department of Wildlife and Parks 
Kansas Forestry Service 
Kansas Highway Patrol 
Kansas State Fire Marshal's Office 
State EOC 
 
County 
Board of County Commissioners 
Reno County Administration 
Reno County Dept of Aging and Transportation 
Reno County Emergency Management 
Reno County EMS 
Reno County Extension Service 
Reno County Fire District 3 
Reno County Fire District 4 
Reno County Fire District 6 
Reno County Fire District 7 



  5  

Reno County Fire District 8 
Reno County Fire District 9 
Reno County Health Department 
Reno County ICS 
Reno County Information Services 
Reno County LEPC 
Reno County Public Works  
Reno County Sheriff's Department 
Reno County Solid Waste 
Reno/Harvey Joint Fire District 2 
Reno/Kingman Joint Fire District 1 
 
City 
Buhler Police Department 
City of Abbyville 
City of Arlington 
City of Buhler 
City of Haven 
City of Hutchinson 
City of Langdon 
City of Nickerson 
City of Partridge 
City of Plevna 
City of Pretty Prairie 
City of South Hutchinson 
City of Sylvia 
City of The Highlands 
City of Turon 
City of Willowbrook 
Haven EMS 
Haven Police Department 
Hutchinson Fire Department 
Hutchinson Landmark Commission 
Hutchinson Police Department 
Hutchinson Public Works 
Hutchinson/Reno County Emergency Communications  
Nickerson EMS 
Pretty Prairie EMS 
South Hutchinson Fire Department 
South Hutchinson Police Department 
South Hutchinson Public Works 
Trail West EMS 
 
Private Sector 
AT and T 
Black Hills Energy 
BNSF Railway 
Century Link 
Cox Communications 
Davita Dialysis Center of Hutchinson 
Disability Supports 



  6  

EagleMed 
Elliott Mortuary 
Enterprise Products 
Evergy 
Health Equip 
Horizons Mental Health 
Hutchinson Clinic 
Hutchinson/Reno County Chamber of Commerce 
Ideatek 
Interim Healthcare 
Kansas Gas Service 
LifeSave Transport 
Midwest Energy 
Pinnacle Sports Medicine 
Prairie View Mental Health 
Summit Surgical 
Wesley Towers 
 
Non-Profit 
American Red Cross 
First Call For Help 
Horizon's Mental Health 
Hospice & Homecare of Reno County 
Hospice Care of Kansas 
Hutchinson Regional Medical Center 
Interfaith Housing Services 
Kansas Funeral Directors Association 
Mennonite Friendship Communities 
New Beginnings 
Prairie Independent Living Resources (PILR) 
Prairie Star Health Center 
Reno County Historical Society 
State Animal Response Team (SART) 
The Salvation Army 
The United Way of Reno County  
The Volunteer Center 
United Way of the Plains 211 
 
Other 
Ark Valley Electric Cooperative 
B & K Medical 
Bluestem PACE 
Buhler Sunshine Meadows 
Diversicare 
Encompass Health 
Good Samaritan Society 
Grace Home Health Care 
Great Plains Disaster Response (United Methodist) 
Home Instead Senior Care 
Hutchinson Community College Fire Science Program 
Hutchinson Health and Rehab 



  7  

Hutchinson/Reno County Chamber of Commerce 
Kansas Disaster Assessment Team 
Kansas Relay 
Kindred House 
Maxim Healthcare Services 
Ninnescah Rural Electric Cooperative 
Pioneer Rural Electric 
Prairie View Mental Health 
Reno County Kansas Amateur Radio Association 
Reno County VOAD 
Sedgwick County Electric Cooperative 
South Central Healthcare Coalition 
Summit Surgical 
Township Albion 
Township Arlington 
Township Bell 
Township Castleton 
Township Center 
Township Clay 
Township Enterprise 
Township Grant 
Township Grove 
Township Haven 
Township Hayes 
Township Huntsville 
Township Langdon 
Township Lincoln 
Township Little River 
Township Loda 
Township Medford 
Township Medora 
Township Miami 
Township Ninnescah 
Township Plevna 
Township Reno 
Township Roscoe 
Township Salt Creek 
Township Sumner 
Township Sylvia 
Township Troy 
Township Valley 
Township Walnut 
Township Westminster 
Township Yoder 
United Way of the Plains 
USD 308 - Hutchinson 
USD 309 - Nickerson/South Hutchinson 
USD 310 - Fairfield 
USD 311 - Pretty Prairie 
USD 312 - Haven 
USD 313 - Buhler 



  8  

 
 
 
To the best extent possible, each agency was consulted with to determine their particular 
emergency roles and responsibilities. Each agency has agreed with the responsibilities 
assigned to them in the Reno County EOP. Agency concurrence signatures are maintained 
with Reno County Emergency Management. The EOP's concepts were developed by Reno 
County Emergency Management, in coordination with the agencies and organizations involved 
in emergency management activities. Each agency and organization involved is expected to 
have its own procedures to implement the concept of operations. 
 
 
Each of the above listed agencies upon request will receive "Viewer Access" to the Reno 
County EOP via the Bold Planning Solutions Planning System, www.KansasPlanner.com.   
 
In addition: 

• The Reno County EOP is adopted by the Board of County Commissioners by resolution, 
which serves as the promulgation letter for the EOP. A copy of the signed promulgation 
can be found in the file archive of this plan. 

• A Record of Changes Log is used to record all published changes as those holding 
copies of the EOP receive them. The holder of the copy is responsible for making the 
appropriate changes and updating the Log.  

• A master copy of the EOP, with a master Record of Changes Log, is maintained in the 
Reno County Emergency Management office. 

1. Planning Process 

The process used by Reno County has been designed to ensure that all stakeholders have an 
opportunity to participate in the development of the EOP and the EOP is based on the best 
information available. To this end, the planning process is based on the following planning 
principles: 

• Planning should be community-based, representing the whole community and their 
needs 

• Planning should include participation from all stakeholders in the community 

• Planning uses a logical and analytical problem-solving process to help address the 
complexity and uncertainty inherent in potential hazards 

• Planning considers all hazards and threats 

• Planning should be flexible enough to address both traditional and catastrophic incidents 

• Time, uncertainty, risk and experience influence planning 

• Effective plans tell those with operational responsibilities what to do and why to do it 



  9  

• Planning is fundamentally a process to manage risk 

• Planning is one of the key components of the preparedness cycle of planning, 
organizing, training, equipping, exercising, evaluating, and taking corrective actions 

2. Implementation of NIMS 

The Reno County EOP implements NIMS by: 

• Using ICS and the multi-agency coordination system to manage and support all 
incidents 

• Integrating all response agencies and entities into a single, seamless system 

• Establishing a public information plan (ESF-15) 

• Identifying and characterizing resources according to established standards and types 

• Requiring the need for all personnel to be trained properly for the job they perform 

• Ensuring interoperability, accessibility and redundancy of communications 

II. SITUATION 

This section of the plan summarizes the hazards that could potentially affect Reno County. The 
hazards and risk analysis addresses the major hazards to which the County is vulnerable; 
provides a summary of the County's vulnerable population; outlines the assumptions that were 
considered in the planning process; and defines disaster magnitude classifications that will 
trigger county response under the NIMS. 
 
A comprehensive hazard and risk assessment is contained in the Reno County mitigation plan. 
The plan is kept under separate cover and can be accessed by contacting Reno County 
Emergency Management. 

A. Hazard Analysis 

Hazard and Vulnerability Assessment Summary 
 
Reno County is vulnerable to a wide range of hazards that threaten its communities, businesses 
and environment. To determine the hazards that pose the greatest threat, Reno County has 
prepared a Hazard Identification and Vulnerability Assessment. The major findings are 
summarized below. The assessment was developed from historical data of events that have 
occurred, and specifically examines:  

1. Probability (frequency) of event 

2. Magnitude of event 

3. Expected warning time before event 



  10  

4. Expected duration of event  

For emergency management planning purposes, the critical analysis that must be undertaken is 
an assessment of the consequences of each hazard, including potential area of impact, 
population exposed and impacted, duration of the hazard, and potential economic 
consequences. 
 
Three levels of risk have been identified: High, Moderate and Low. 
 
High - High probability of occurrence; at least 50 percent or more of population at risk from 
hazard; significant to catastrophic physical impacts to buildings and infrastructure; major loss or 
potential loss of functionality to all essential facilities (hospital, police, fire, EOC and shelters). 
 
Moderate - Less than 50 percent of population at risk from hazard; moderate physical impacts 
to buildings and infrastructure; moderate potential for loss of functionality to essential facilities. 
 
Low - Low probability of occurrence or low threat to population; minor physical impacts.    

Hazard Profile Summary for Emergency Operations Plan 

Hazard Probability 
Magnitude 
Severity 

Warning 
Time 

Duration CPRI 
Planning 

Significance 

Tornado  4  3.5  4  1.5  3.6  High  

Winter Storm  4  2.5  2.5  3  3.225  High  

Flood  3.5  3  3  3  3.225  High  

Hailstorm  4  2  3.5  1  3.025  High  

Windstorm  4  2  3.5  2.5  3.175  High  

Wildfire  3.5  2  4  3  3.075  High  

Utility / Infrastructure 
Failure  

3  2  3.5  3  2.775  Moderate  

Extreme 
Temperatures  

3  2  1.5  3.5  2.525  Moderate  

Drought  3  2  1  4  2.5  Moderate  

Agricultural 
Infestation  

2  3  1  4  2.35  Moderate  

HAZMAT  2  2  4  2  2.3  Moderate  

Dam and Levee 
Failure  

1.5  2  2.5  3  1.95  Low  

Soil Erosion  2  1.5  2  3  1.95  Low  

Lighting  2  1.5  3  1  1.9  Low  

Major Disease 
Outbreak  

1.5  2  1  4  1.825  Low  

Terrorism, Agri-
Terrorism  

1  2  3.5  2  1.775  Low  

Radiological 
Outbreak  

1  1  4  4  1.75  Low  

Earthquake  1.5  1  4  1  1.675  Low  

Expansive Soils  1.5  1  1  4  1.525  Low  



  11  

Civil Disorder  1  2  2  1  1.45  Low  

Land Subsidence  1.5  1  1  2.5  1.375  Low  

Landslide  1  1  3  1  1.3  Low  

B. Disaster Magnitude Class 

This is an all-hazards EOP and addresses minor, major and catastrophic disasters. These 
levels of disaster are defined as: 
 
Catastrophic Disaster: A disaster that will require massive State and Federal assistance, 
including immediate military involvement. Federal assistance will involve response as well as 
recovery assets. 
 
Major Disaster: A disaster that will likely exceed local capability and require a broad range of 
State and Federal assistance. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) will be 
notified and potential Federal assistance will be predominantly recovery oriented. 
 
Minor Disaster: A disaster that will likely be within the response capability of local government 
and will result in only a minimal need for State or Federal assistance. 
 
 
  
  

 
 
  

  

 
  

C. Capability Assessment 

Currently capability assessments are performed regionally in Kansas . The capability 
assessment is performed through the Homeland Security Regions with wide input accepted 
from key stakeholders through a Stakeholder Preparedness Review (SPR). The SPR identifies 
current capabilities and capability gaps at the community level. The SPR is utilized by Reno 
County  and the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management to 
prioritize capabilities to build and sustain, plan for threats and hazards, and validate capabilities. 
 
Developing an accurate and complete SPR requires the perspectives of a broad range of 
informed stakeholders and SMEs from a variety of fields. The SPR was developed in 
conjunction with community stakeholders and SMEs, including local governments (such as 
counties and townships), businesses, faith-based organizations, non-profit organizations, lifeline 
functions (communications, energy, transportation and water), and institutions of higher 
education. 
 
Additionally, Reno County Emergency Management has completed a Discipline Capability 



  12  

Synopsis (as required by the Kansas Planning Standards) for the identification of baseline 
capabilities within Reno County.   
  

D. Economic Profile 

Reno County is home to 1,992 business establishments, a labor force of 30,321, and in 2021 
the leading industries were Healthcare and Social Services (4,828 jobs) 15.9%, Retail (4,246 
jobs) 14%, Manufacturing (2,875) 9.5%, and Education (2,684) 8.8%.  The largest employers 
included Hutchinson Regional Healthcare System, USD 308 Hutchinson Public Schools, Tyson 
Foods, Hutchinson Clinic, Dillons and the Hutchinson Correctional Facility.  Other significant 
public sectors employers include city and county governments, Hutchinson Community College, 
Buhler, Haven and Nickerson Public Schools.  Besides food processing and warehousing, Reno 
County is home to significant diverse employment in manufacturing including agriculture 
equipment manufacturing (Kuhn Krause, Kincaid Mfg and Shield Ag), industrial boiler systems 
(Superior Boiler), renewable energy specifically in wind energy (Siemens Gamesa), school 
buses (Collins Bus), sign production (Lowen and Luminous Neon), advanced manufacturing 
(Takako, Arconic, Haven Steel ) and a large number of technology companies including Data 
Center Inc, SDI/Mid America Point of Sale, PRA, Ideatek and AgTrax.  A staple industry in Reno 
County for centuries is the mining of salt with employers such as Morton Salt, Cargill Salt and 
Hutchinson Salt.  Agriculture and tourism round out the top industrial sectors.   Reno County 
has one of the most diverse industrial rankings in the US by industry sector, ranking 11th most 
diverse by sector in 2021 (Ady Advantage rankings).  The median household income in 2021 
was $54,948. 
  

E. Spatial Profile 

Reno County Kansas is bordered on the north by Rice and McPherson Counties; on the east by 
Harvey and Sedgwick; on the south by Kingman; and on the west by Pratt and Stafford. Reno 
County encompasses 1,256 square miles of total area with only 17 square miles of water. It is 
the third largest county in size in the State behind Butler and Finney Counties. The topography 
in the basin varies from flat plains to rolling uplands and hills. Sand soils and sand dunes are 
prevalent, mostly in the river valleys, but fine textured soils, tight clays and many other soil types 
are also present. 
 
  

F. Vulnerabilities 

The following vulnerabilities have been identified for the Reno County Emergency Operations 
Plan. 

1. Critical Facilities 

This information is available in a confidential document held in the Reno County Emergency 
Management Office. This document is not for public release. In accordance with the adapted 
K.S.A. § 45-221(12), information requested and received by Reno County departments from 
public and private sources deemed as sensitive or confidential material are to be treated as 
official use only and not for release to the general public 



  13  

 Name / Location 
(Physical Address)  

      Resources Located at Facility   

  Emergency Operations Center 
 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
210 W. 1st 
Hutchinson, KS 67501    

   
  

  Landing Zone 
 
Hutchinson Municipal Airport 
1100 Airport Rd 
Hutchinson, KS 67501    

   
  

  Warning Point 
 
Hutchinson/Reno County Emergency 
Communications 
210 W. 1st 
Hutchinson, KS 67501    

   
  

  Points of Distributions (supplies, food, water, etc) 
 
Kansas State Fairgrounds 
2000 N. Poplar 
Hutchinson, KS 67502    

   
  

 

2. Population Demographics 

According to the 2020 U.S Census Bureau the population of  Reno County was 61,898. The US 
Census 2021 Population Estimates, 83.9 percent of residents report they are White/Caucasian, 
3.4 percent Black or African American, .9 percent American Indian/Alaska Native, .6 percent 
Asian, .1 percent Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander, 2.5 percent two or more races and 9.7 
percent Hispanic or Latino.   
  

3. Access and Functional Needs 

Reno County recognizes considerations must be made to reasonably accommodate vulnerable 
populations during emergencies. Reno County is engaged in a number of activities which aim to 
improve response plans and operations to accommodate the needs of those most vulnerable 
during an emergency event. ESF Annexes within this plan outline or identify guidance to better 
assist supporting vulnerable needs populations. At times the best support for such needs is to 
request assistance from regional and/or state partners. Specifically, the following will be 
addressed in this EOP: 
 
•   Base Plan and EOP Mapper: Identification of populations with access and functional needs. 
•   ESF 1: Transportation 
•   ESF 2: Communications 
•   ESF 6: Mass Care, Emergency Assistance, Temporary Housing and Human Services 
•   ESF 8: Public Health and Medical Services 
•   ESF 14: Long-Term Community Recovery 



  14  

•   ESF 15: External Communications 
  

G. Planning Assumptions 

The preparation of the EOP was guided by several assumptions that address a range of issues 
that potentially impact response and recovery capabilities and the concept of operations. These 
assumptions include: 
  

• This plan addresses all phases of emergency management; preparedness, response, 
recovery and mitigation 

• The County will work to reduce its vulnerability and risk to hazards through proactive 
mitigation actions and activities. 

• Emergency management involves the whole community, incorporating all stakeholders 
and taking into consideration all threats or hazards that may potentially impact the 
jurisdiction.  

• All levels of government share the responsibility for working together in mitigating, 
preparing for, responding to, and recovering from disasters. The emergency plans and 
procedures referred to in the Reno County EOP have been maintained by those 
organizations having responsibility, are in coordination with the EOP. 

• Those individuals and organizations with responsibilities identified in the EOP (or in 
plans that support of the EOP) are sufficiently trained and prepared to perform their 
respective responsibilities. 

• Incidents are best managed at the lowest possible geographic, organizational and 
jurisdictional level. 

• Achieving and maintaining effective citizen and community preparedness reduces the 
immediate demands on response organizations. This level of preparedness requires 
continued public awareness and education programs to ensure citizens will take 
appropriate advance actions to reduce their vulnerability, especially during the initial 
days (first 72 hours) after disaster impact 

• Disasters in Kansas often occur with little or no warning and may escalate more rapidly 
than the ability of local government to effectively respond. Additionally, disasters may 
impact multiple jurisdictions simultaneously, both inside and outside of the county, which 
changes response capabilities and creates numerous demands on the same available 
pool of local and regional resources.  

• Numerous separate hazardous conditions and other emergencies could result from the 
major event, further complicating the response efforts 

• Widespread damage to commercial telecommunications facilities may occur and the 
ability of governmental response and emergency response agencies to communicate 
may be impaired. 



  15  

• Homes, public buildings, and other critical facilities and equipment may be destroyed or 
severely damaged. 

• Debris may make streets and highways impassable, seriously impeding the movement 
of emergency supplies and resources. 

• Public utilities may be damaged and may be either fully or partially inoperable. 

• During a disaster, there may be fatalities, casualties, property loss, displaced persons, 
and disruption of normal services and infrastructure 

• Many County emergency personnel may be victims of the emergency, preventing them 
from performing their assigned emergency duties. 

• Disasters may attract a sizeable influx of spontaneous volunteers and donations. 

• The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will be activated and staffed with agencies 
organized into specific ESFs. The coordinating agency for each support function is 
responsible for coordinating the planning and response activities for all the agencies of 
the function. 

• In major and catastrophic disasters, the Reno County EOC will become the central 
coordination point for county response and recovery. Day-to-day functions that do not 
contribute directly to emergency operations may be suspended for the duration of the 
event and efforts normally required for routine activities may be redirected to accomplish 
emergency tasks. During a declared local emergency, all County and City government 
employees not otherwise assigned emergency duties may be made available to 
augment the work of other departments or divisions 

• Initially, emergency response activities will focus on lifesaving activities (such as rescue 
and medical care), followed by restoring order, control, and restoration of critical 
infrastructure in the disaster area. 

• Reno County will utilize available resources fully before requesting state and/or federal 
assistance.  

• Mutual Aid Agreements will be implemented in those instances when locally available 
resources are depleted or need augmentation. 

• The County will coordinate all public information activities during an emergency 

• Disasters will require significant information sharing across jurisdictions and between the 
public and private sectors. Additionally, the government has a responsibility to keep its 
citizens informed about such things as continuing threats and availability of disaster 
assistance. Widespread power and communications outages may require alternate 
methods of providing public information and delivering essential services.  

• The County will coordinate with State and Federal personnel to expedite recovery. 

• Damage assessments will be conducted as soon as weather or the situation permits. 



  16  

• Unconventional hazards require unprecedented response measures. Such threats call 
for the development of more specific operational plans, which will complement the 
policies established in this plan. 

• Considerations must be made to reasonably accommodate vulnerable populations, 
including children, individuals with disabilities, as well as those with functional or access 
needs.  

• The outcome of any emergency response may be limited by the scope, magnitude and 
duration of the event.  Nothing in this EOP is to be construed as creating any duty of 
care owed by the County, Cities or any organization cooperating in the execution of this 
plan to any individual, corporation, firm or other entity.  

H. Pets and Service Animals 

This plan takes into consideration the needs of individuals with disabilities relying on service 
animals. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) protects the rights of all individuals with 
disabilities and requires that State and local governments comply with Title II of the ADA in the 
emergency and disaster-related programs, services, and activities they provide. 
 
The sheltering and protection of companion animals are the primary responsibility of their 
owners. When owners are unable to provide for the care and needs of their household pets and 
service animals, the local jurisdictions will provide assistance as outlined in the Pets Evacuation 
and Transportation Standards Act of 2006 (PETS) and FEMA DAP 9523.19. The Pets 
Evacuation and Transportation Standards Act of 2006 requires that local governments plan for 
sheltering and care of household pets and service animals during emergencies where shelters 
are established. Reno County has included pet sheltering as part of ESF 6: Mass Sheltering 
Annex. The following is specifically addressed in ESF 6: 

• Pre-event planning 

• Animal sheltering operations 

• Animal registration and return 

• Coordination with human shelters 

FEMA Disaster Assistance Policy 9523.19 
 
The Policy identifies the expenses related to state and local governments’ emergency pet 
evacuation and sheltering activities that are eligible for reimbursement following a major disaster 
declaration under Category B, Emergency Protective Measures, and provisions of the Public 
Assistance Program. The terms household pet, service animal, and congregate household pet 
shelters are defined. The policy details eligible reimbursements related to shelter facilities, 
supplies and commodities, eligible labor, equipment, emergency veterinary services, 
transportation, shelter safety and security, cleaning and restoration, and the removal and 
disposal of animal carcasses. 
  
Public Assistance and Program Policy 



  17  

 
The PETS act requires that state and local emergency preparedness operational plans address 
the needs of individuals with household pets and service animals following a major disaster or 
emergency. 
 
The FEMA Disaster Assistance Policy (DAP 9523.19) titled "Eligible Costs Related to Pet 
Evacuations and Sheltering," (DAP 9523.19) provides specific guidelines on expenses that are 
or are not reimbursable to states that expend resources on various aspects of responding to a 
disaster. 
 
In particular, the following items, for which a state could be reimbursed, are enumerated in 
FEMA's policy: 
 
•   Definition of what a "household animal" is 
•   Definition of what a "service animal" is 
•   Type of shelter employed 
•   What employees are utilized in rescuing animals 
•   Facilities, supplies, commodities, and labor used in sheltering operations 
•   Type of emergency veterinary services provided 
•   Type of transportation utilized in rescue 
•   Needs for safety and security of the shelter 
•   Cleaning and maintenance of the shelter 
•   Services for removal of dead animals 
•   Cataloging and tracking systems used for pets 
•   Timeframe under which the shelter may operate 
 
  

I. Education 

The following is a list of educational agencies located within Reno County. 
   

Name of Agency Area Served Description of Agency 

USD 308 Hutchinson K-12 

USD 309 Nickerson/South Hutchinson K-12 

USD 310 Fairfield K-12 

USD 311  Pretty Prairie K-12 

USD 312 Haven K-12 

USD 313  Buhler K-12 

Hutchinson Community College   Public community college 

Central Christian School   K-12 Private 

Holy Cross Catholic School   Private Elementary 

St. Joseph's Catholic School   K-8 Private 

Trinity Jr/Sr High School   Private Jr/Sr High School 



  18  

J. Culture, Arts and Humanities 

The following is a list of culture, art and humanity agencies located within Reno County.    
  

Name of Agency Description of Agency 

Kansas Cosmosphere & Space 
Museum 

Museum featuring displays and activities chronicling the 
Space Race. 

Strataca Underground museum detailing the history of salt mining. 

Reno County Museum Exhibits and research resources for Reno County history. 

Fox Theatre 
Historic theatre hosting live performances and film 
screenings. 

Kansas Kids Museum Exhibits and learning activities for children. 

Hutchinson Art Center Rotating exhibits promoting art education in Kansas. 

Hutchinson Theatre Guild Theatre hosting local stage productions. 

Flag Theatre Hosts Family/Community theatre live productions. 

Dillon Nature Center 100 acre arboretum and wildlife sanctuary. 

Hutchinson Public Library Public Library 

Buhler Public Library Public Library 

Nickerson Library Public Library 

Arlington Library Public Library 

Haven Public Library Public Library 

Pretty Prairie Library Public Library 

Partridge Library Public Library 

Sylvia Public Library Public Library 

Turon Library Public Library 

 
 
  

  

K. Public Safety 
 
The following is a list of public safety agencies within Reno County. They include law 
enforcement, medical services, fire districts, emergency management,  and 
communication/dispatching centers. 

   

Name of Agency Area Served 
Description of 

Agency 

Reno County Emergency Management Reno County 
Emergency 
Management 



  19  

Hutchinson/Reno County Emergency 
Communications 

Reno County Dispatch 

Hutchinson Police Department City of Hutchinson Law Enforcement 

Reno County Sheriff's Office Reno County Law Enforcement 

South Hutchinson Police Department 
City of South 
Hutchinson 

Law Enforcement 

Haven Police Department City of Haven Law Enforcement 

Buhler Police Department City of Buhler Law Enforcement 

Reno County EMS Reno County EMS 

Haven EMS SE Reno County EMS 

Pretty Prairie EMS SC Reno County EMS 

Nickerson EMS NC Reno County First Responder 

Trails West EMS W Reno County First Responder 

Hutchinson Fire Department 
City of Hutchinson / FD 
#2 

Fire Department 

South Hutchinson Fire Department 
City of South 
Hutchinson 

Fire Department 

Reno Co / Kingman Co Joint Fire Dist #1 SC Reno County Fire District 

Reno Co / Harvey Co Joint Fire Dist #2 NE Reno County Fire District 

Reno County Fire District #3 NC Reno County Fire District 

Reno County Fire District #4 Central Reno County Fire District 

Reno County Fire District #6 Western Reno County Fire District 

Reno County Fire District #7 SW Reno County Fire District 

Reno County Fire District #8 Central Reno County Fire District 

Reno County Fire District #9 SE Reno County Fire District 

III. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. Federal Government 

The federal government is responsible for: 

• Preventing terrorist attacks within the United States through the Department of 
Homeland Security; reducing the vulnerability of the nation to terrorism, natural 
disasters, and other emergencies; and minimizing the damage and assisting in the 
recovery from emergencies. 

• Providing emergency response on federally owned or controlled property, such as 
military installations and federal prisons. 

• Providing federal assistance as directed by the President of the United States under the 
coordination of the United States Department of Homeland Security, Federal Emergency 
Management Agency and in accordance with National Response plans. 



  20  

• Identifying and coordinating provision of assistance under other federal statutory 
authorities. 

• Providing assistance to the State and local governments for response to and recovery 
from a commercial radiological incident consistent with guidelines as established in the 
current Federal Radiological Emergency Response Plan and the National Response 
Plan. 

• Managing and resolving all issues pertaining to a mass influx of illegal aliens. 

• Providing repatriation assistance to U.S. citizens (including noncombatants of the U.S. 
Department of Defense) evacuated from overseas areas. The U.S. Department of Health 
and Human Services (DHHS), in coordination with other designated federal departments 
and agencies, is responsible for providing such assistance. 

B. State Government 

As a State's Chief Executive, the Governor is responsible for the public safety and welfare of the 
people of Kansas. The Governor:  

• Is responsible for coordinating State resources to address the full spectrum of actions to 
prevent, prepare for, respond to, and recover from incidents in an all-hazards context to 
include terrorism, natural disasters, accidents, and other contingencies. 

•  Has power to make, amend, and rescind orders and regulations under a Governor’s 
emergency declaration. 

• Provides leadership and plays a key role in communicating to the public and in helping 
people, businesses, and organizations cope with the consequences of any type of 
declared emergency within Kansas. 

• Encourages participation in mutual aid and implements authorities for the State to enter 
into mutual aid agreements with other States, tribes, and territories to facilitate resource-
sharing. 

• Is the Commander-in-Chief of State military forces (National Guard when in State Active 
Duty or Title 32 Status and the authorized State militias). 

• Requests Federal assistance when it becomes clear that State or tribal capabilities will 
be insufficient or have been exceeded or exhausted.  

The Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management is responsible for 
implementing all policy decisions relating to emergency management. These decisions are then 
relayed to the tasked state agencies. Those emergencies relating to local matters will be 
coordinated with local emergency management coordinators. 

C. County Government 

County governments are responsible for: 



  21  

• Maintaining an emergency management program at the county level involving all 
government, private and volunteer organizations which have responsibilities in the 
comprehensive emergency management system within the county. 

• Coordinating the emergency management needs of all municipalities within the county 
and working to establish intra-county Mutual Aid Agreements to render emergency 
assistance. 

• Implementing a broad-based public awareness, education and information program 
designed to reach all citizens of the county, including those needing special media 
formats, who are non-English speaking (including persons who do not use English as 
their first language), and those with hearing impairment or loss. 

• Coordinating mutual aid activities within Reno County to ensure the provision of 
supplemental emergency aid and assistance. 

• Maintaining an emergency management program that is designed to avoid, reduce and 
mitigate the effects of hazards through the enforcement of policies, standards and 
regulations. 

• Maintaining cost and expenditure reports associated with disasters, including resources 
mobilized as a result of Mutual Aid Agreements. 

• Coordinating public information activities during disasters. 

• Developing and maintaining systems to coordinate the provision of shelters and mass 
care to those displaced by disasters. 

Reno County departments have specific responsibilities during disasters and/or during EOC 
activations, the everyday organizational structure of Reno County government remains in effect 
during disaster situations. However, certain functions of various departments may be modified 
or suspended to meet the needs of the disaster situation. 

D. Municipal Government  

Cities are responsible for ensuring the safety and well-being of their citizens, as well as 
providing initial response, within city capabilities, in the case of emergency/disaster events. At a 
minimum, cities should establish emergency response policies and procedures for their 
jurisdiction. Specific responsibilities of cities include: 

• Appoint and support a qualified person to serve as the City Emergency Management 
Liaison. This position serves as the primary emergency management point of contact 
between the City and the County and actively participates in the emergency 
management system. 

• Coordinate and integrate emergency management activities of the city with county 
emergency management through all phases of emergency management (mitigation, 
preparedness, response, & recovery). 

• Provide Reno County Emergency Management with current copies of the city EOP (or 
EOGs/SOPs), emergency contact information, and lists of critical resources. 



  22  

• Ensure incident management activities will be initiated and conducted using the 
concepts and principles identified by the National Incident Management System (NIMS). 

• Ensure all responders have the appropriate level of NIMS and hazardous materials 
training. 

• Train damage assessment teams (for cities desiring to field their own teams) and 
coordinate efforts with Reno County's overall damage assessment process. 

• Ensure that Reno County Emergency Management is kept informed of situations that 
require (or may potentially require) countywide coordination and/or the activation of the 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 

• Ensure that, during a disaster, response activities (including requests for assistance, and 
public information efforts) are coordinated with Reno County and that situation reports, 
damage assessments, and requests for County, State and/or Federal assistance are 
channeled through Reno County. 

E. Special Districts 

Special districts (such as Soil and Water Conservation, Water Management, Mosquito Control, 
Fire, EMS and School) are responsible for establishing liaisons with Reno County and its 
organizations to support emergency management capabilities within Kansas. Special districts 
that involve inter-jurisdictional authority can provide resources and services to support other 
functionally related systems in times of disaster. 
 
  

F. Private Sector 

It is encouraged that members of the Private Sector: 

• Coordinate with government agencies to ensure a broad and comprehensive coverage 
of assistance during emergencies. 

• Provide and coordinate relief not provided by government on a complimentary and 
supplementary basis. 

• Certain organizations are required by existing law and regulation to bear the cost of 
planning and response to incidents, regardless of cause. 

• Unless the response role is inherently governmental (e.g., law enforcement, etc.), 
private-sector organizations are encouraged to develop and maintain capabilities to 
respond to and manage a complete spectrum of incidents and emergencies. 

• Develop Mutual Aid Agreements and Memorandums of Understanding for actions 
performed during emergencies. 



  23  

G. Non-Government and Volunteer Organizations 

• Coordinate with government agencies to ensure a broad and comprehensive coverage 
of assistance and relief during emergencies. 

• Provide and coordinate relief not provided by government on a complementary and 
supplementary basis. 

• Develop Mutual Aid Agreements and Memorandums of Understanding of duties and 
areas of responsibilities to be performed during an emergency. 

H. Hospitals, Nursing Facilities and Assisted Living Facilities 

These facilities are responsible for the safety and well-being of visitors and tenants to their 
facilities.  In accordance with Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) establishing a 
final rule requiring emergency preparedness requirements for Medicare and Medicaid 
participating providers and suppliers to plan adequately for both natural and man-made 
disasters, and to coordinate with federal, state, tribal, regional and local emergency 
preparedness systems. 
 
  

I. Schools 

Schools are responsible for the safety and well-being of students, staff & visitors to their 
facilities. Emergency plans should be developed taking into account those hazards to which 
schools might reasonably be exposed. Schools are encouraged to be proactive in developing 
and implementing these plans. Per the Safe and Secure school act, schools are required to 
develop school safety and security plans (crisis plans).    

J. Legal Affairs Officer 

The county counselor is responsible for providing legal advice and guidance to emergency 
management and the Board of County Commissioners regarding all emergency management 
issues and concerns. The county counselor is responsible for supporting requests about actions 
that require a legal opinion regarding jurisdictional policy and authority by ordinances, statutes 
and under state and federal laws (e.g., evacuations, quarantines, etc.). 
 
  

K. Emergency Support Functions (ESFs) 

The County disaster response resources are organized into ESFs. Each ESF is comprised of 
numerous agencies/organizations that manage and coordinate specific categories of assistance 
common to all disaster/emergency events. The ESF’s provide the structure for coordinating 
interagency support for both man-made and naturally occurring disaster/emergencies 
 
Each ESF is comprised of an ESF Coordinating Agency, ESF Primary Agencies, and ESF 
Support Agencies. The roles and responsibilities specific to each ESF are identified in their 
respective ESF Annex. 
The Emergency Management Director designates the primary and support agencies for each 



  24  

ESF to coordinate the activities of that function. In many cases, the Emergency Management 
Office has been assigned as ESF Coordinator. 
 
The following describes the roles of the ESF Coordinator, Primary Agency and Support 
Agencies. 
 
ESF Coordinating Agency 
 
Coordinating Agencies:  Coordinating Agencies are responsible for the overall direction and 
control of a particular ESF or Incident Annex .The Coordinating Agency is assisted by 
Primary and Support Agencies that contribute personnel, resources and expertise to accomplish 
the functional tasks.  The Coordinating Agency is responsible for coordinating all mitigation, 
preparedness, response and recovery activities of the ESF, including but not 
limited to: 

• Coordination before, during, and after an incident, including pre-incident planning and 
coordination.   

• Maintaining ongoing contact with ESF primary and support agencies.   

• Conducting periodic ESF meetings and conference calls.   

• Coordinating efforts with corresponding private-sector organizations.   

• Coordinating ESF activities relating to catastrophic incident planning and critical 
infrastructure preparedness, as appropriate.   

• Managing mission assignments and coordinating with primary and support agencies, as 
well as appropriate State officials, operations centers, and agencies.   

• Ensuring financial and property accountability for ESF activities.   

• Overall coordination of the ESF through all phases of emergency management;   

• Incident planning and coordination;   

• Maintain ongoing contact with ESF primary, support agencies, non-governmental, and 
private sectors;   

• Conducting periodic ESF meetings;   

• Coordinate with the EOC during activation to provide representation of ESF in EOC;   

• Coordinate efforts with appropriate private sector organizations;   

• Act as coordination point for the collection of post disaster information as/if required;   

• Provide representative to participate in EOP Planning Team  

ESF Primary Agencies 
 



  25  

Primary Agencies:  An agency designated as an ESF primary agency is chosen on the basis of 
its authorities, resources, and/or capabilities. When an ESF is activated in response to an 
incident, the primary agency is responsible for:  

• Supporting the ESF coordinator and coordinating closely with the other primary and 
support agencies.   

• Providing staff for the operations at fixed and field facilities.   

• Notifying and requesting assistance from support agencies.   

• Working with appropriate private-sector organizations to maximize use of all available 
resources.   

• Support and keep other ESFs and organizational elements informed of ESF operational 
priorities and activities.   

• Conducting situational and periodic readiness assessments.   

• Executing contracts and procuring goods and services as needed.   

• Participate in planning for short- and long-term incident management and recovery 
operations.   

• Maintaining trained personnel to support interagency emergency response and support 
teams.    

• Identifying new equipment or capabilities required to prevent or respond to new or 
emerging threats and hazards, or to improve the ability to address existing threats.   

• Incident planning and critical infrastructure preparedness;   

• Providing staff to perform ESF tasks;   

• Establishing and maintaining procedures for agency personnel to be available on a 24- 
hour basis for EOC staffing and emergency assignment, and providing this information 
to the ESF Coordinator;   

• Maintaining  a  current  inventory  and  provide  access  from  the  EOC  of  the  following
 information: 

o Key agency personnel to support emergency operations;   

o Facilities; and   

o Equipment.   

• Provide adequate training to its personnel to support interagency emergency 
response and support teams  

 
ESF Support Agencies 



  26  

 
Support Agencies:  Support agencies are those entities with specific capabilities or resources 
that support the primary agencies in executing the responsibilities to the ESF. 
 
The responsibilities and role assignments are based on the department’s expertise and 
resources. In most cases, a department’s day-to-day activities correlate to their assigned 
disaster responsibilities, thus allowing the knowledge and skills necessary to respond effectively 
to be immediately translated from daily activities to emergency situations. When an ESF is 
activated, support agencies are responsible for: 

• Conducting operations, when requested by the EOC consistent with their own authority 
and resources.   

• Participate in planning for short- and long-term incident management and recovery 
operations and the development of supporting operational plans, SOPs, checklists, or 
other job aids, in concert with existing first-responder standards.   

• Assisting in situational assessments.   

• Furnishing available personnel, equipment, or other resource support as requested by 
the EOC.   

• Providing input to periodic readiness assessments.   

• Maintaining trained personnel to support interagency emergency response and support 
teams.   

• Identifying new equipment or capabilities required to prevent or respond to new or 
emerging threats and hazards, or to improve the ability to address existing threats.   

Situations may arise when unanticipated events or special needs are identified. In such cases, 
additional responsibilities may be assigned to any agency or organization with the appropriate 
resources and capabilities to assist with the situation. Even if they are not specifically assigned, 
all County and City departments have emergency responsibilities. 
 
Private entities or non-profit organizations with roles and responsibilities identified in this plan 
that are not part of Reno County or the incorporated municipal governments that have adopted 
this plan, are voluntary. Mutual aid agreements exist with many of these organizations and are 
kept on file and maintained by the agencies with lead responsibilities. 
 
In addition to their Coordinating, Primary, or Support responsibilities, the head of each agency 
assigned a role in the EOP will: 
 
•   Appoint a qualified liaison and alternates to work with Reno County Emergency Management 
in the development and maintenance of the County Emergency Operations Plan (EOP). 
 
•   Develop and implement organizational response and recovery plans and procedures in 
support of assigned disaster functions. 
 
•   Establish and maintain procedures for agency personnel to be available on a 24-hour basis 
for Emergency Operations Center (EOC) staffing and emergency assignment. 



  27  

 
•   Maintain a current inventory of key agency personnel, facilities and equipment, and establish 
procedures to ensure this information can be accessed from the EOC. 
 
•   Establish procedures for assessing damage to departmental facilities and injury to personnel. 
 
•   Identify sources of additional personnel, facilities and equipment necessary to augment 
disaster operations. If appropriate, negotiate, coordinate, prepare and maintain mutual aid 
agreements. 
 
•   Establish procedures to rapidly obtain resources during an emergency. 
 
•   Develop and implement policies and procedures to ensure departmental personnel maintain 
an awareness of their emergency roles and responsibilities and are properly trained to fulfill 
them. 
 
•   Make staff available for Emergency Management training. Unless otherwise specified, costs 
for these activities will be borne by the respective department, division or agency. 
 
•   Provide disaster-related information to the EOC in a timely manner and deploy a 
representative to the EOC when requested. 
 
•   Carry out to the best of their ability the disaster response and recovery activities described in 
this EOP. 
 
It is recognized that employees will not be at peak efficiency or effectiveness during a disaster if 
the status of their household is unknown. Reno County employees, with assigned disaster 
responsibilities, are encouraged to make arrangements with other employees, friends, 
neighbors, or relatives to check on their immediate families in an emergency and to 
communicate that information to the employee through pre-designated means. 
 
In situations not specifically addressed in the EOP or in departmental plans or procedures, 
agencies will improvise and carry out their responsibilities to the best of their abilities under the 
circumstances, based on the information available to them at the time.



  28  

 
The following is a brief summary of the purpose of each ESF: 
  
ESF #1: Transportation 

• Coordinate and process transportation resources and people (evacuation)  

• Report damage to transportation infrastructure  

• Coordinate alternate transportation service  

• Coordinate the restoration and recovery of the transportation infrastructure   

ESF #2: Communications 

• Provide temporary communications to support incident management  

• Facilitate the restoration of the communications infrastructure  

• Supports all local agencies in the procurement and coordination of communications 
services from the communications and information technology industry during an 
incident response.  

ESF #3: Public Works and Engineering 

• Infrastructure protection and emergency restoration  

• Emergency assistance and support for first responders  

• Engineering and construction services  

• Liaison with state and federal resources  

• Debris management  

ESF #4: Firefighting 

• Fire prevention and suppression activities  

• Fire mutual aid and resource augmentation  

• Fire command and control structure  

ESF #5: Emergency Management 

• Emergency Operations Center (EOC) activation, configuration, management and 
staffing  

• On-scene command control structure and interface with the EOC  

• Emergency decision making and the local declaration process  



  29  

• Requesting state and federal assistance  

• Overall coordination of mutual aid and regional operations  

• Information collection and database creation and management  

• Analysis and dissemination of information  

• Issuing situation reports, bulletins and advisories  

• Notification and updating of staff and elected officials  

• Science and technology support (GIS mapping, modeling)  

• Incident Action Plans and resource tracking  

ESF #6: Mass Care, Housing and Human Services 

• Mass care operating including sheltering, feeding and other essential human needs  

• Housing resources  

• In-place shelter operations  

• Special needs populations  

ESF #7: Resource Support 

• Resource identification  

• Resource coordination and support  

• Resource procurement  

• Personnel augmentation  

• Logistics management  

ESF #8: Public Health and Medical Services 

• Assessment of public health and medical needs  

• Public health surveillance  

• Medical care personnel  

• Medical equipment and supplies  

ESF #9: Search and Rescue 

• Resources needed to conduct research and rescue activities  



  30  

• State and federal resources available to augment local search and rescue efforts  

• Aerial and ground search resources  

ESF #10: Oil and Hazardous Materials Response 

• Coordinated response to oil and hazardous materials incidents  

• Specialized local, regional, state and federal mutual aid resources  

• Hazardous materials planning and reporting requirements  

• Short and long-term environmental cleanup  

ESF #11: Agriculture and Natural Resources 

• Control and eradication of an outbreak of a devastating animal/zoonotic disease or plant 
disease  

• Assurance of food safety and security  

• Natural resource protection and restoration or historic properties  

ESF #12: Energy 

• Energy system assessment, repair and restoration  

• Water services (water, sewer and storm water)  

• Private utilities industry coordination  

• Energy forecasting  

• Power outages  

ESF #13: Public Safety 

• Law enforcement activities  

• Operational and personnel security  

• Ingress and egress to the disaster scene(s)  

• Liaison between response operations and criminal investigation activities  

• Coordination with state and federal law enforcement agencies  

ESF #14: Long-term Community Recovery 

• Community recovery operations  

• Economic assessment, protection and restoration  



  31  

• Mitigation analysis and program implementation  

• Coordination with the private sector  

• Coordination with state and federal community assistance programs  

ESF #15: External Communications 

• Emergency public information  

• Protective action guidance  

• Ongoing emergency information  

• Inter-departmental coordination  

• Establishing a Joint Information Center (JIC) and Joint Information System (JIS)  

• Media and community relations  

• Governmental and public affairs  

 
 
 
 
  

L. CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT 

Strong partnerships with citizen groups and organizations provide support for incident 
management, prevention, preparedness, response, recovery, and mitigation. The public is 
responsible for preparing for disasters just as the various levels of government do. Specifically, 
individual, family, and/or business plans need to be developed and maintained to ensure the 
appropriate level of preparedness 
 
 
  
  



  32  

IV. CONCEPTS OF OPERATIONS    

A. General 

Disasters are resolved at the lowest possible level, once the resources of initial response 
agencies are depleted or management of the disaster requires capabilities beyond those of local 
agencies, state and federal assistance will be requested as the situation escalates. In most 
situations, Reno County agencies will be the first and primary responders and will be required to 
exceed their abilities or deplete their resources before requesting state assistance. Under some 
rare circumstances state or federal agencies may have the primary jurisdiction for the overall 
response effort. However, Reno County resources will likely provide the first response for all 
incidents impacting the jurisdictions.   
  

1. Non-Disaster Daily Operations 

Day to day operations of Reno County, absent of a declaration of State or Local Disaster 
Emergency is under the authority of the local governing body. 
 
A proactive day-to-day disaster planning process is in place using the following resources: 

• Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) 

• The Local Emergency Planning Committee prepares county hazardous materials 
emergency plans that indicate the facilities that use, produce, or store hazardous 
substances that are present in the jurisdiction. 

LEPC serves as the repository for regional reports filed under Title III of the Emergency 
Planning and Community Right-To-Know Act of 1986 (EPCRA). LEPC directs regional Title III 
implementation activities and performs associated outreach functions to increase awareness 
and understanding of and compliance with the EPCRA program. 
 
It is the responsibility of governments of Reno County and its communities to protect life and 
property from the effects of hazardous events. This Plan is based on the concept that 
emergency functions of responding agencies will generally parallel their normal, day-to-day 
functions. To the extent possible, the same personnel and material resources will be employed 
in both cases. Day-to-day functions that do not contribute directly to the emergency operation 
may be suspended for the duration of any emergency. Efforts that would normally be required of 
those functions will be re-directed to accomplish the emergency task assigned. 
 
This plan provides assistance in day-to-day operations by providing each agency their 
responsibilities during an emergency. This allows agencies to construct programs, strategies 
and methods which allow day-to-day responsibilities to compliment emergency operations. 
 
  

2. Emergency Operations   

In accordance with KSA 48-932, the chairman of the Board of County Commissioners may 
declare a state of local disaster emergency within Reno County. Such declaration shall be 



  33  

based on the judgment that a state of local disaster emergency is necessary to deal with a 
current or imminent emergency/disaster situation. No state of local disaster emergency shall be 
continued for a period in excess of seven (7) days or renewed, except with the consent of the 
Board of County Commissioners of Reno County. 
  
In the event of the absence of the chairman of the Board of County Commissioners from Reno 
County or the incapacity of such chairman, the Board of County Commissioners by majority 
action of the remaining members may declare a state of local disaster emergency.  
  

Reno County Emergency Management will be responsible for preparing any disaster 
declarations. A declaration of a state of local disaster emergency shall implement the response 
and recovery elements of this plan and any applicable emergency operations plans. Subject to 
K.S.A. 48-932, the Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners may issue any order 
deemed necessary for the efficient and effective management for the protection of life or 
property or for the general public health and welfare.  Based on the complexity, severity, 
duration or resource needs of the event, the County Emergency Management Director, or 
designee, may advise the BOCC to declare a local emergency. If at any point during a 
developing emergency, officials determine the situation requires resources beyond local 
capabilities (including those obtained through mutual aid), assistance may be requested through 
the KDEM. The County Emergency Management Director or designee will serve as a liaison 
with KDEM and DHS/FEMA for coordinating state and federal assistance. Regardless of the 
level of assistance provided by outside entities, overall direction and control remains the 
responsibility of the County.  
 
The Board of County Commissioner may make, amend or rescind normal purchasing policies 
under a disaster declaration.  The Board of County Commissioners may also make, amend or 
rescind orders and regulations under a disaster declaration to ensure the life, safety and health 
of Reno County Citizens.    
 
The Reno County EOP may be activated by the following positions in order of succession:  

1. The Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners 

2. The Director of Reno County Emergency Management 

3. Any designated personnel in the Emergency Management office 

Response 
 
The organized structure for response to an emergency/disaster is under the leadership of 
the Reno County Board of County Commissioners who appoints the County Emergency 
Management Director overall coordination authority for the incident. The agencies, through the 
ESF structure, operate from the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) and support Reno 
County Emergency Management. The management structure designated to respond to 
emergency/disasters is coordinated by the staff of Reno County Emergency Management. 
 
Initial and subsequent notification procedures have been provided to the 24 hour Reno County 
Warning Point for initial contacts based on the type of event. Additional notifications are made 
as requested by the Incident Commander, Emergency Management Director, or designated 
personnel in the Emergency Management office. 



  34  

 
Disaster response and recovery agencies identify resources, training needs, or planning 
activities to Reno County Emergency Management. The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
will be activated for actual or potential events that threaten Reno County. The level of activation 
will be determined by the Emergency Management Director based on the emergency or disaster 
event. 
 
The following are possible criteria for activation of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC):  

1. A threat (or potential threat) increases the risk in Reno County 

2. Coordination of response activities are needed 

3. Resource coordination is needed to respond to an event 

4. Conditions are uncertain or could possibly escalate 

5. A County emergency/disaster declaration is made 

6. At the discretion of any of the individuals authorized to activate the EOC 

The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) may be activated or deactivated by any of the 
following individuals: 
  

Director - Reno County Emergency Management  
Specialist - Reno County Emergency Management 
Sheriff - Reno County Sheriff's Office 
Undersheriff - Reno County Sheriff's Office 
Incident Commander - when three or more free standing agencies respond to any one 
incident 
  

 
The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) utilizes 3 levels of activation: 

• Watch: When conditions indicate an event/disaster is imminent. Notification will be 
made to those agencies that will need to take action as part of their normal 
responsibilities. The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will be staffed by emergency 
management personnel. 

• Partial-Activation: When conditions indicate an event/disaster is very imminent or has 
occurred. Emergency management personnel and essential ESFs are represented in the 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 

• Full-Scale Activation: Any disaster/emergency that will require large-scale mutual aid 
and possible State and Federal assistance in response and recovery. Emergency 
management personnel and essential ESFs are represented in the Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC). 

The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is located at: 
 



  35  

Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
210 W. 1st 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
 
The facility serves as the coordination, command and control center for Reno County, and is 
staffed when the need arises. 
 
During activation, the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) provides the core emergency 
function coordination, communication, resource dispatch and tracking; information collection, 
analysis and dissemination; multi-agency coordination and joint information coordination. Field 
Operations will be managed through the Incident Command System (ICS) and is discussed 
below. 
 
EOC Organizational Structure 
 
The EOC staffing level and composition is contingent on the specific requirements of an 
incident. The organizational structure of the EOC is modular, extending to incorporate all 
elements necessary for the type, size, scope, and complexity of a given incident. While any 
configuration of functional units may be used in the EOC, the core organizational structure of 
the EOC is organized by Sections and ESF teams. While an organizational chart is provided 
below, the various functional elements are activated based on need. The organizational 
structure can be condensed, expanded, or reconfigured as needed. 
 
While the structure is flexible, it is always organized around five core functions: 

• EOC Management: This component is responsible for the overall disaster policy and 
coordination. Specific functions include oversight of the EOC and coordinates public 
information with ESF 15. EOC Management is led by the EOC Director. This position is 
staffed by a designated responsible agency. 

• Operations Section: The purpose of this section is to support field operations and 
coordinate countywide response activities through the implementation of the EOC Action 
Plan. This section is led by the Operations Section Coordinator which is staffed by a 
designated responsible agency. 

• Planning Section: The purpose of this section is to collect, evaluate, process, and 
disseminate information for use in the EOC. This section is led by the Planning Section 
Coordinator which is staffed by a designated responsible agency. 

• Logistics Section: This section supports operational activities through the provision of 
supplies, equipment, facilities, personnel, mutual aid, and other support and services 
necessary for disaster response and recovery. This section is led by the Logistic 
Sections Coordinator which is staffed by a designated responsible agency. 

• Finance Section: The finance section is responsible for the coordination of the financial 
planning, operations, and reporting services. This section is led by the Finance Section 
Coordinator which is staffed by a designated responsible agency. 

  



  36  

Each agency responding will report back to the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) through 
their liaison who is the Point of Contact (POC) for each respective agency or organization in 
either a single or Unified Command Structure. These reports are later synchronized and 
information is provided to mutual aid partners, adjacent counties, and the Adjutant General's 
Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management to provide visibility of emergency 
operations. 
 
During the response phase and upon declaration of a local state of emergency, the Reno 
County Board of County Commissioners has ultimate authority. Reno County Emergency 
Management reports directly to the Reno County Board of County Commissioners and then 
provides overall direction to the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
 
All municipalities, City departments, constitutional officers, agencies and other organizations fall 
under the direction of the coordinating agency designated in the plan. The Director of Reno 
County Emergency Management will coordinate with State, Federal and other outside agencies. 
  

  
  
 
 
  

   

  

 
 
 
  

3. Field Operations 

Field Operations will be managed through the Incident Command System (ICS).  ICS  has been 
implemented in Reno County and utilizes common terminology; is modular and scalable; 
incorporates measurable objectives; provides for a manageable span of control; and relies on 
the Incident Action Plan (IAP) as the principal tool for communicating and carrying out 
operational objectives in an incident. The incident may be controlled by local emergency 
responders or with other agencies through the mutual aid system. If the resources available at 
the field response level are not sufficient to mitigate the situation, the Incident Commander may 
request, through appropriate channels, that the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) be 
activated to support the field operations. 
 
Response to an incident by single discipline agencies (i.e., fire, law enforcement, EMS) will 
utilize a single Incident Commander within the ICS structure. As the incident progresses to 
include multiple jurisdictions and disciplines, a Unified Command will be used to the extent 
possible, and as deemed necessary. 
 
During a single discipline response to an incident, the first on-scene emergency responder with 



  37  

management responsibilities will take the necessary steps to establish an Incident Command 
Post (ICP), report a scene size-up, activate the appropriate ICS organizational elements 
required for incident management, delegate authority within the ICS organizational structure, 
and develop incident objectives on which subsequent incident action planning will be based. 
 
Each agency deploying to the field will report back to the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
through their liaison who is the Point of Contact (POC) for each respective agency or 
organization in either a single or Unified Command Structure. 
  

  
  

Command Staff 
 
The Command Staff function will be conducted in two ways: 1) as a Single Command (used 
when an incident occurs within single jurisdiction, and there is no jurisdictional or agency 
overlap, and a single IC can be designated); or 2) Unified Command (used when there are 
multiple agencies and multiple jurisdictions, and a single set of objectives need to be developed 
to guide incident management). 

 

 

 
General Staff 
 
The General Staff positions will include the following sections: 

• Operations Section 

• Planning Section 

• Logistics Section 

• Finance / Administration Section 

The scope, direction, and control of these sections will follow established ICS procedures. 
  



  38  

 

 
a. Area of Operations 
 
An area of operations will be established by the Incident Commander. This will vary depending 
on the size and magnitude of the event. Once established, or changes made to an existing area 
of operations, it will be communicated to all responders. 
 
b. Area Command 
 
An Area Command (AC) will be activated if an incident is not site specific (i.e., pandemic 
outbreaks), the incident is extremely large and involves multiple ICS organizations, or there are 
multiple incidents that are being handled by separate ICS organizations. If the incidents are 
multi-jurisdictional, then a UC will be established within the AC. Therefore, the AC has the 
responsibility to: 

• Set overall incident-related priorities 

• Allocate critical resources according to priorities 

• Ensure that incidents are properly managed 

• Ensure that incident management objectives are met and do not conflict with each other 
or with agency policy 

• Identify critical resource needs and report them to EOCs and/or multi-agency 
coordination entities 

• Ensure that short-term emergency recovery is coordinated to assist in the transition to 
full recovery operations 

c. Multi-Agency Coordination Center 
 
A key component of NIMS is the development of a multi-agency coordination system that 
integrates the operations and functions of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) and field 
operations, guided by the principles embedded in the Incident Command System. In most 
cases, emergencies are handled by local fire departments, law enforcement agencies, medical 



  39  

service agencies, and communication/dispatch centers; but in larger emergencies or disasters, 
additional coordination support is required. In these situations, entities such as city EOCs and/or 
the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) have critical roles in an emergency. 
 
The County's incident management responsibility is directed and managed through Reno 
County Emergency Management. As a multi-agency coordination entity, Reno County 
Emergency Management will coordinate and manage disaster operations through the 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC) to: 

• Ensure that each agency involved in incident management activities is providing 
appropriate situational awareness and resource status information  to Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC) 

• Establish priorities between incidents and/or Area Commands in concert with the 
Incident Command or Unified Command involved 

• Acquire and allocate resources required by incident management personnel in 
coordination with the priorities established by the IC or UC 

• Anticipate and identify future resource requirements 

• Coordinate and resolve policy issues arising from the incident(s) 

• Provide strategic coordination as required 

• Coordinate briefings, message tracking, situational reports, and establish a common 
operating picture 

Following an incident, plans, procedures, communications, staffing and other capabilities 
necessary for improved incident management are coordinated through Reno County 
Emergency Management. These tasks are accomplished by the Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC) by ensuring the ability to perform four core functions: 

• Coordination 

• Communications (that are reliable and contain built-in redundancies) 

• Resource dispatch and tracking 

• Information collection, analysis, and dissemination 

   



  40  

4. Joint Information Center 

The Joint Information System (JIS) provides the mechanism for integrating public information 
activities among Joint Information Centers (JIC), across jurisdictions, and with private-sector 
and non-governmental organizations. 
 
Reno County has implemented and institutionalized processes, procedures and plans for its JIC 
and can be referenced in the Annex for Emergency Support Function 15. 
 
When the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is activated, the Director of Reno County 
Emergency Management or the Public Information Officer may activate the Joint Information 
Center (JIC). When the JIC is in operation, it serves as the central point of public information 
collection and dissemination. The JIC functions as part of the Command in the Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC) and will coordinate the release of non-operational information. 
 
Depending on the incident, representatives from each jurisdiction, agency, private sector 
organization, and non-governmental organization involved in incident management activities will 
be notified and asked to have their JIC representative respond to the Emergency Operations 
Center (EOC) within a reasonable period of time. Communication will be accomplished via the 
Emergency Alert System, radio, cable override, television, fax, Internet, telephone or any other 
means available. When the JIC is activated, the Public Information Officer or his/her designee 
will notify media outlets that all media inquiries are to be directed to the JIC and that the JIC will 
be releasing media updates on a routine basis and when noteworthy events take place. 
Members of the media will not be allowed access to the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
 
More information on public awareness and education can be found in ESF 15, External 
Communications. More information on communication plans and protocols can be found in ESF 
2, Communications. 
 
  

B. Coordination, Direction and Control  

1. County Level 

Information Collection and Dissemination 
 
Initial notification of incidents at the local level are accomplished in a variety of ways including 
public safety radio, television, radio, broadcast, fax, etc. 
 
Responsibility for notification of most incidents is accomplished through the Reno County 
communication center. Other agencies with responsibilities for notification include the National 
Weather Service and Kansas Highway Patrol. 
 
The Reno County communication center will be responsible for notifying response and 
Emergency Management personnel when the threat of a disaster is imminent. 

• Internal: Response agencies will be notified from the communication center as required 
by the nature of the disaster. 



  41  

• External: It is the responsibility of Reno County Emergency Management to notify the 
appropriate agencies outside of the jurisdiction such as Adjutant General's Office, 
Kansas Division of Emergency Management, State Emergency Response Commission 
(SERC), and the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). 

Reno County provides communications essential for city and county governments to 
communicate with all government entities.  This information is then passed along to the public 
via third party notification systems, radio, NOAA radio, television, social media, etc. 
 
The media assume a vital role in dispersing information to the public. Reno County Emergency 
Management works closely with local media providers to ensure timely and accurate information 
is provided to the public. 
 
Information collection needs and priorities will include: 
  

1. Life safety 
2. Incident security and stability 
3. Property and environmental protection 

  
Direction and Control 
 
Impacted entities will coordinate the emergency response efforts within their political jurisdiction 
(county and municipalities). 

  
The Incident Command System (ICS) and National Incident Management System (NIMS) will be 
used to coordinate emergency response and recovery operations at the disaster scene(s). The 
ICS/NIMS organization will maintain communications and coordination with the Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC) at all times as detailed by this plan. 
 
Reno County Emergency Management may activate Mutual Aid Agreements with neighboring 
jurisdictions. They may also recommend that the Reno County Board of County Commission 
declare a local state of emergency and make a formal request for state assistance. The 
following positions are authorized to request resources by contacting Adjutant General's Office, 
Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 

1. The Reno County Director of Emergency Management 

2. Any designated personnel authorized by Reno County Director of Emergency 
Management 

To request state assistance, Reno County must meet the following parameters: 

1. Exhausted or will likely exhaust Reno County resources 

2. Exhausted or will likely exhaust mutual aid resources 

3. Exhausted or will likely exhaust contractual resources 

4. The requested assistance is not available at the local level 

5. County has made a verbal or written county disaster declaration 



  42  

   
The Director of Reno County Emergency Management or designee is delegated policy-making 
authority and can commit Reno County resources at the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
as well as routine management and operation of the facility. The Director of Reno County 
Emergency Management may issue mission assignments to the ESFs to perform duties 
consistent with Reno County policy. Mission assignments and mutual aid assistance is tracked 
at the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
 
Coordination of County-wide protective actions will occur among all affected risk, locations and 
organizations that provide services to the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) under the 
direction and control of the Director of Reno County Emergency Management. Areas not 
impacted by these events may be requested to provide assistance. Prior to an evacuation and 
under the direction of the Director of Reno County Emergency Management, the Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC)  will implement coordination on issues which may include, but not 
limited to: lifting of tolls, deploying and pre-deploying personnel, identifying evacuation routes, 
ensuring the sufficiency of fuel, address emergency medical issues, and initiate procedures for 
notification to the public. 
 
The Director of Reno County Emergency Management may authorize a field operations 
response in or near the impacted area. Field operations will be under the direction and control of 
the Incident Commander and may involve the deployment and staging of personnel and 
resources in the impacted area. 
 
Initial planning for recovery begins before an emergency event impacts Reno County. While 
response actions necessary to protect public health and safety are being implemented, the 
recovery section within the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) begins coordination and 
implementation of the recovery programs. 
 
In the event state and federal assistance is required by Reno County, the State Coordinating 
Officer will interface directly with representatives of the federal government. 
 
In the event a request for disaster assistance comes from the governor of another state, the 
Governor of the State of Kansas may order the mobilization of State and local resources under 
the Emergency Management Assistance Compact to be deployed to the impacted state. The 
management and coordination of these resources will be administered through the Response 
and Recovery Section under the direction of the Response and Recovery Director located at 
Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 

2. Coordinating Agencies 

The Director of Reno County Emergency Management designates the coordinating agencies for 
each emergency support function to coordinate the activities of that support function. 

Coordinating Agency Listing for Emergency Operations Plan 

FUNCTIONAL ANNEX COORDINATING AGENCY 

ESF 1 - Transportation  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 2 - Communications  Hutchinson/Reno County Emergency 
Communications   

ESF 3 - Public Works and Engineering  Reno County Emergency Management  



  43  

ESF 4 - Firefighting  Reno County Emergency Management 
Hutchinson Fire Department  

ESF 5 - Emergency Management  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 6 - Mass Care, Housing and Human 
Services  

Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 7 - Resource Support  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 8 - Public Health and Medical Services  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 9 - Search & Rescue  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 10 - Oil and Hazardous Materials  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 11 - Agriculture and Natural Resources  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 12 - Energy and Utilities  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 13 - Public Safety and Security  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 14 - Long-Term Community Recovery  Reno County Emergency Management  

ESF 15 - External Communication  Reno County Emergency Management  

      
 
Upon activation of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC), the primary agency for the 
emergency support functions will send representatives to the Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC) to coordinate activities. The coordinating agency determines which primary and support 
agencies are required at the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
 
The coordinating agency for the Emergency Support Functions will be responsible for collecting 
all information related to the disaster and providing it to Reno County Emergency Management. 

3. Intergovernmental Mutual Aid 

Mutual Aid Agreements and Memoranda of Understanding are essential components of 
emergency management planning, response, and recovery activities. 
 
These agreements provide reciprocal emergency aid and assistance during an emergency or 
disaster. They can increase available resources and improve response and recovery efforts. A 
complete list of Mutual Aid Agreements in effect for Reno County related to emergency 
management can be found in Section VII-Authorities and References of this EOP. In addition, 
these agreements are available for review in their entirety at the Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC). 
 
Kansas Mutual Aid System (KMAS) 
 
KSA 48-948 through 48-958 establishes the statewide Kansas mutual aid system which states: 

 
"The system shall provide for mutual assistance among the participating political 
subdivisions in the prevention of, response to and recovery from any disaster that results 
in a formal state of emergency in a participating political subdivision, subject to such 
participating political subdivision's criterion for a declaration. The system shall provide for 
mutual cooperation among the participating subdivisions in conducting disaster-related 
exercises, testing or other training activities outside actual declared emergency periods." 
  

All political subdivisions within Kansas  are automatically a part of the system, subject to the 
ability of political subdivision to withdraw from the statewide mutual aid system. The purpose of 



  44  

this compact is to expand the resources and provide assistance available to each of the 
participating political subdivisions, assist with planning, ensure more timely arrival of aid, 
minimize operational and administrative conflicts, resolve disputes, and facilitate the prompt 
recovery of costs. A participating political subdivision may request assistance of other 
participating political subdivisions in preventing, mitigating, responding to and recovering from 
disasters that result in locally-declared emergencies or in concert with authorized drills or 
exercises. 
  
  

 
Interstate Civil Defense Compact 
 
The purpose of the compact is to provide mutual aid among the states in meeting any 
emergency or disaster. The prompt, full, and effective utilization of the resources of the 
respective states include personnel, equipment, or supplies may be essential to the safety, care, 
and welfare of people therein. The Interstate Civil Defense and Disaster Compact may be 
entered in accordance with the provisions of KSA 48-3202. This action is accomplished by 
written agreement between the Governor of Kansas and the Governor(s) of one or more states 
which have legally joined said compact, or which are authorized to join. Such written agreement 
may specify the period of time said compact is entered into with regard to each such state. The 
State of Kansas compact is non-active until initiated by the Governor, in agreement with one or 
more states. 
 
Emergency Management Assistance Compact (EMAC) 
 
The EMAC is a mutual aid agreement and partnership among states to allow for the exchange 
of resources when state and local resources are overwhelmed and federal assistance is 
inadequate or unavailable. Request for EMAC assistance are legally binding, contractual 
arrangements which requires soliciting state to be responsible for reimbursing all out-of-state 
costs and be liable for the actions and safety of out-of-state personnel. Proving assistance to 
other states through EMAC is not an obligation. Kansas became a signatory to the compact in 
2000 (KSA 48-9a01). 
  

Great Plains Interstate Fire Compact   
 
The purpose of this compact is to promote effective prevention and control of wildland fires in 
the Great Plains region of the United States.  This compact provides the State Forester 
assistance in meeting statutory obligation to assist with wildland fire prevention and suppression 
by providing access to resources and assistance from 45 States and 9 Provinces that can be 
called on to supplement and provide assistance to Kansas Fire Departments in times of critical 
fire conditions.   

• One state receives a phone call from another member state, details, concerns, 
agreements are discussed and by the end of the call the request is completed. 

• Kansas Forest Service considers the following when making Compact Resource 
request: discussions with local, state and federal partners of current and expected fire 
conditions, feedback from local, state, and federal partners concerning critical resource 
shortages or needs, available support staff and available funds. 



  45  

 
 Requesting Mutual Aid 
 
All mutual aid requests should be coordinated through the Reno County Emergency Manager or 
the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) if activated. To request mutual aid, Reno County uses 
the following process: 

• The Party seeking mutual aid shall make the request directly to the party providing the 
aid in coordination with Reno County Emergency Management. 

• Requests may be verbal or in writing. If verbal, the request shall be confirmed in writing 
no later than thirty (30) calendar days following the verbal request unless otherwise 
stated according to policies or resolutions. 

• All communication shall be conducted directly between recipient and provider in 
coordination with Reno County Emergency Management. 

• The Recipient shall be responsible for keeping all parties advised of the status of mutual 
aid activities. 

If assistance is needed to coordinate mutual aid, Reno County can request coordination 
assistance from Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 

4. Communication 

ESF 2 (Communications) provides information and guidance concerning available 
communications systems and methods in Reno County, including: 

• Dissemination of emergency information to response organizations and government 

• Information flow and management to and from the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 

• Communications interoperability among response units. A 205 should be developed by 
a  qualified person. 

• Primary and backup communications systems 

• Telecommunications and information technology resources 

• Emergency warning and notification 

ESF 15 (External Communications) provides information on and the dissemination of 
information to the public for the purpose of protective action guidance and ongoing emergency 
information. This information is focused on the minimization of confusion, misinformation, and 
rumors during times of an emergency/disaster. 
 
The Director of HRCEC will coordinate operations between the EOC and emergency 
communications center. The EOC will allocate resources for large events and have them 
dispatched through emergency communications. If allocated resources are needed for a day-to-
day event, the emergency communications center will coordinate with the EOC prior to 
reassigning resources. The EOC will have ultimate authority over resources during large 



  46  

events.  
  
Under emergency conditions, no member of the EOC will discuss operations with any member 
of the press unless previous clearance has been given by the Incident Command Structure 
and/or Public Information Officer.  
  
More specific communications information is available in ESF-2, Communications  
 
Reno County Warning Point 
 
Hutchinson/Reno County Emergency Communications serves as the Reno County Warning 
Point. The Reno County Warning Point provides Reno County with a single point to disseminate 
information and warnings to government officials that a hazardous situation could threaten the 
general welfare, health and safety, and/or property of the population. 
 
The Warning Point is equipped with multiple communication networks and auxiliary power. 
 
Hutchinson/Reno County Emergency Communications  has Standard Operating Guides (SOG) 
to notify and warn officials and general public of emergency and disaster events that occur in 
Reno County. In addition these guides also identify actions to be taken based off types of 
incidents. Notification lists for agencies and individuals are maintained by the Hutchinson/Reno 
County Emergency Communications . Notification of the State Warning Point is included in 
these guides. The Director of Emergency Management or the on-call Emergency Management 
staff person will initiate any further notification.    
 
Developing or existing emergency conditions which should be reported to Hutchinson/Reno 
County Emergency Communications include those that have or may result in multiple loss of 
life, environmental or property damage, or evacuation of a populated area whether or not State 
or Federal resources are needed to support local emergency response efforts. 
 
ESF Coordinators and other Emergency Operation Center Representatives are kept informed of 
potential events by the Director of Reno County Emergency Management by fax, email, or 
telephone. 
 
Warnings are accomplished in various ways depending on the persons that need to be warned 
and the time available. The Director of Reno County Emergency Management or the Incident 
Commander can initiate warnings and notification procedures. The following list identifies 
warning methods during an event. Any or all may be used. 

• Activation of the Emergency Alert System (EAS)    

• Information statements released to the local media 

• Public address systems of public safety vehicles 

• Door-to-door contacts     

• Door knob hangers 

• Phone Messaging System  



  47  

• Outdoor warning devices   

• Social Media    

Specific warning zones are identified by the type of incident. Many have been pre-identified 
such as vulnerable areas around hazardous material locations and/or areas subject to storm 
surge and/or flooding.   
 
Persons in the threatened areas with vulnerable access and functional needs may be notified by 
all of the methods outlined above. Hotels, motels, Chambers of Commerce and the Tourist 
Information Center maybe able to assist in notification of tourists visiting the area. Most of the 
other warning systems previously listed would also reach some visitors to the County. 
  
 
 



  48  

 
  

5. State Level 

When an emergency or disaster has occurred or is imminent, the Governor may issue an 
Executive Order proclaiming the existence of a State of Emergency or activate the emergency 
response, recovery and mitigation aspects of State, local and inter-jurisdictional disaster plans. 
 
At the State level, the Kansas Adjutant General, or designee performs policy-making authority 
and commitment of State resources at the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). The 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC) Manager is responsible for the provision of State 
assistance, as well as routine management and operation of the Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC). The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) Manager may issue mission assignments to 
the State ESFs to perform duties consistent with State policy. Mission assignments, and mutual 
aid assistance brokered by the State, are tracked in the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
 
Coordination of regional and multi-regional protective actions will occur among all affected risk 
and host counties, other states, and the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) under the 
direction and control of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) Manager. Counties that are 
not impacted by an emergency/disaster situation may be directed by the Kansas Adjutant 
General to activate their EOCs to provide emergency assistance.  
 
Regional and statewide protective, response and recovery actions will occur under the 
command and coordination of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) policy. Political sub-
divisions may be mission assigned to support disaster and/or emergency response and 
recovery. 
 
During activation of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC), the Emergency Operations 
Center (EOC) Team provides up-to-date information on the situation and is also equipped to 
provide information on various grant programs and funding sources available to affected areas 
in the aftermath of disaster. 
 
The Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management Regional 
Coordinator serves as the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) liaison and shares information 
with local command, who then shares the information as per local protocol. The Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC) will provide incident information to State agencies, State legislative, 
and United States Congressional officials. This is typically accomplished via situation reports 
and frequent Emergency Operations Center (EOC) briefings. 
 
In the event federal assistance is required, the State Coordinating Officer will interface directly 
with representatives of the federal government. If the State Coordinating Officer determines that 
the span-of-control needs to be broadened, he may designate a Deputy State Coordinating 
Officer to ensure coordination between federal and State agency representatives and to 
anticipate any needs or conflicts in the response or recovery phases as they progress. 
 
In the event a request for disaster assistance comes from the governor of another state, the 
Governor of the State of Kansas may order the mobilization of State resources under the 
Emergency Management Assistance Compact (EMAC) to be deployed to the impacted state. 
The management and coordination of these resources will be administered through the 
Response Section under the direction of the Response Section Chief located in the Emergency 



  49  

Operations Center (EOC). In the event the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is not 
activated, EMAC will be managed and coordinated will be administered by Adjutant General's 
Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management’s Response and Recovery Branch under 
the direction of the Response and Recovery Branch Director. 
  
 When an emergency or disaster has occurred or is imminent, the Governor may issue a 
proclamation declaring the existence of a State of Emergency or activate the emergency 
response, recovery and mitigation aspects of State, local and inter-jurisdictional disaster plans. 
 
 
  
  



  50  

6. Federal Level 

Through the National Response Framework (NRF), the federal government provides assistance 
by establishing a single, comprehensive framework for the management of domestic incidents. 
The NRF provides the structure and mechanisms for the coordination of federal support. 
Through the NRF, federal ESFs may establish direct liaison with Kansas ESF representatives in 
the Emergency Operations Center (EOC). 
 
If the disaster is major or catastrophic, the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of 
Emergency Management will contact the Federal Emergency Management Agency, Region 7 
and request a Federal Liaison and/or alert them that the Governor may submit a formal request 
for federal assistance. 
 
If the President authorizes federal assistance, a Primary Federal Official (PFO) will represent 
the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and/or a Federal Coordinating 
Officer. The Federal Coordinating Officer is authorized to use the full authority of the Robert T. 
Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, as amended to reimburse response 
and recovery claims against the Disaster Relief Fund. Additionally, the Stafford Act provides 
funding to assist communities in mitigating the impact of future events. 

7. Joint Field Office 

The emergency recovery process is initiated when the President of the United States issues a 
Major Presidential Disaster Declaration. Such a declaration makes available a series of federal 
disaster assistance programs to aid the State in its recovery from a disaster situation. The basis 
for the declaration is the determination by the President that the disaster is of such severity and 
magnitude that response is beyond State and local capabilities. The field recovery operation will 
be conducted in accordance with the most current edition of the State of Kansas Emergency 
Response Plan as well as other recovery plans and procedures. 
 
The Joint Field Office (JFO) is the primary field location for the coordination of federal and state 
recovery operations. The FCO and the SCO co-locate in the JFO, as well as other federal and 
state personnel. Recovery and mitigation operations, logistics, information and planning, 
financial management and general administration are coordinated at the JFO. 
 
Once a field office has been established in Reno County, Reno County Emergency 
Management will provide the proper liaisons to the appropriate field office operations. 
 
The organizational structure for recovery is under the leadership of the State Coordinating 
Officer. Once a federal disaster declaration has been issued, the State Coordinating Officer 
consults with a Federal Coordinating Officer. In addition, a Governor's Authorized 
Representative (GAR) is designated in the Federal Emergency Management Agency-State 
Agreement and is responsible for compliance with that Agreement. 
 
During a recovery operation, the State Coordinating Officer usually appoints a Deputy State 
Coordinating Officer who represents him/her at the Joint Field Office. The Deputy State 
Coordinating Officer is responsible for the establishment and management of State operations 
in the Joint Field Office and coordination between State and federal programs. 



  51  

C. Prevention 

Reno County's prevention goals are to avoid an incident, intervene, or stop an incident from 
occurring. To accomplish the goal the following strategy will be used: 

• Expand Regional Collaboration 

• Implement the National Incident Management System and National Response 
Framework (NRF) 

• Strengthen Information Sharing and Collaboration capabilities 

• Strengthen Interoperable and Operable Communications capabilities 

• Strengthen Medical Surge and Mass Prophylaxis capabilities 

• Strengthen Planning and Citizen Preparedness Capabilities 

• Increase coordination with the Kansas Intelligence Fusion Center (KIFC) 

1. Kansas Intelligence Fusion Center   
 
The ability to share intelligence information quickly and accurately among state fusion centers 
and emergency operation centers is crucial in preventing potential criminal and terrorist acts. 
The primary components of a fusion center are situational awareness and warnings that are 
supported by law enforcement intelligence, derived from the application of the intelligence 
process, where requirements for actionable information are generated and information is 
collected, integrated, evaluated, analyzed, and disseminated. Important intelligence that may 
forewarn of a future attack may be derived from information collected by several diverse entities. 
 
The Reno County Sheriff's Office serves at the local liaison to the Kansas Intelligence Fusion 
Center. Given the nature of the information, the Reno County Sheriff's Office will distribute the 
information in accordance to local SOPs and be marked as Unclassified/For Official Use Only 
(U/FOUO).  

D. Preparedness 

The goal of Reno County's preparedness operations is to help ensure a timely and effective 
response to, recover from and mitigation of the impacts and consequences associated with an 
emergency/disaster situation. To accomplish the goal the following strategy will be used: 

• Administer grant programs for operational support and training activities 

• Participate in capability assessments at the regional and county level 

• Participate in the Comprehensive Resource Management and Credentialing (CRMCS) 
program to further develop resource management capabilities. 

• Establish an inclusive planning process using the “Whole Community “concept. 



  52  

1. Resource Management and Credentialing 

Resource Management 
 
 
Each agency tasked within this plan is responsible for developing and maintaining applicable 
resource lists. These lists should follow established county protocols for maintaining resource 
lists. At a minimum, full resource lists (including all county resources) will be provided to Reno 
County Emergency Management and the ESF 7 coordinating agency. The information will be 
maintained in Reno County Emergency Management’s shared drive.  The folder name is EOC 
and Resource Update.  

1. Vehicle inventories 

2. Personnel 

3. Equipment 

4. Equipment operators 

5. Suppliers/Contractors/vendors 

6. Resources in adjacent jurisdictions that could be used during a disaster-if applicable 

The following lists are currently created outside of the CRMCS and should also include point of 
contact, geographic location, and operation area:  

1. Facilities 

2. Staging areas for internal and external response 

3. Services/Contracts/Mutual Aid Agreements 

4. List of critical facilities having priority for restoration of utilities during emergencies 

Credentialing 
 
Reno County utilizes the CRMCS as the county credentialing system. Reno County follows their 
designated policy as a guide and policy to ensure that personnel resources requested to assist 
are adequately trained and skilled. The CRMCS is also used to verify identity and qualification 
to allow access to an incident site. This system can serve to prevent unauthorized (self-
dispatched or unqualified personnel) access to an incident site. 
  

 



  53  

2. Plan Development and Maintenance 

Plan Development 
 
The Reno County Emergency Operations Plan is developed with the assistance and input from 
the following groups serving in an advisory capacity. 

• Reno County Mitigation Planning Committee 

• Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) 

• ESF Coordinating, primary and support agencies 

• Mutual aid partners and adjoining counties. 

 
The preparation and revision of the basic plan and ESF Annexes will be coordinated by Reno 
County Emergency Management with the assistance and involvement of all applicable 
entities. Reno County Emergency Management will establish a format and content guidance 
that must be followed in the revision process and coordinate and incorporate revisions to the 
annexes 
  
 
This plan will be made available to all agencies tasked therein, mutual aid partners, and 
adjoining counties for comment. It is the responsibility of  all parties to review and submit any 
comments to Reno County Emergency Management. The process of distributing the plan will be 
accomplished by either 1) granting “viewer” access via Kansas Planner 
https://kansas.boldplanning.com/ or 2) providing an electronic copy. Reno County Emergency 
Management will keep a hard copy on file 
 
  
The public will be provided the opportunity to view the Basic Plan portion of this document at the 
Reno County website, http://www.renogov.org. 
 
Plan Maintenance 
 
Reno County Emergency Management will maintain the Reno County EOP and provide an 
updated EOP to Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management every 
five years, with the exception of ESF 10 which must be updated annually as per federal law. 
However, the EOP may be updated as often as needed during any year. Examination and 
review should be conducted annually and will reflect changes in implementing procedures, 
improved emergency preparation capabilities, and deficiencies identified from corrective action 
planning. Reno County Emergency Management will revise the plan by using a process best 
suited for the county. Whenever a change is made, the date and nature of the change will be 
recorded. Upon update, these changes will be incorporated into the overall plan and re-
promulgated by the Board of County Commissioners. 
 
The coordinating, primary and support agencies/organizations of each ESF will be responsible 
for preparing and maintaining operating procedures for all responsibilities assigned them in the 
EOP. These procedures will be prepared following guidance issued by local policies. 
 



  54  

The ESF Coordinator and Primary Agencies for each ESF must review their respective 
documents at least annually or after any large event for changes that should be 
made. Suggestions for changes will be submitted to the Director, Emergency Management for 
coordination of changes. 
 
Other Plans  
 
In addition to the Reno County EOP, additional plans have been developed and are maintained 
pursuant to state and federal requirements. 

3. Public Information 

Before an emergency or disaster occurs, public information is critical for the public to make the 
necessary protective actions. The County's public information program focuses on how to better 
communicate emergency information to the public before, during, and after a disaster. Particular 
attention will be given to strategies that enhance awareness of the evacuation process, road 
conditions, shelter status and re-entry issues, and how to communicate information to people 
during evacuation. 

• The County Administrator or other designee will serve as the Public Information Officer 
(PIO). The PIO will work closely with the Director of Reno County Emergency 
Management   or other personnel in the Emergency Management Department, and will 
be the primary resource for providing disaster-related information to the public. This 
includes information about all preparedness, response, recovery, and mitigation 
activities. Following a disaster, the public will be informed that they can contact the 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC) to receive disaster-related preparedness, 
response, recovery, or mitigation information.    

• The PIO will be responsible for collecting information, preparing releases for the media, 
and responding to requests for information and interviews. 

• The Reno County Emergency Management will prepare pre-scripted news releases that 
can easily be edited to include disaster specific information. 

• The PIO will, at his/her discretion, send disaster updates to local media outlets, and to 
the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 

• Additional information is provided in ESF 15. 

4. Training and Exercise 

All training related to emergency management is coordinated and scheduled through the Reno 
County Emergency Management. Reno County Emergency Management offers training to all 
inter-agencies (County, City and others) on preparedness, response, recovery, mitigation, 
hazardous materials, debris management, terrorism and other issues. The training offered is 
conducted through the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management 
training section, the Local Emergency Planning Committees, Fire Department, and any other 
organization offering training. Reno County Emergency Management provides the notice of 
training being offered to local response agencies. 
 



  55  

Reno County continues to implement a training and exercise program, consistent with NIMS, for 
incident management organizations and personnel. Elements of the program include: 

• Multi-disciplinary and multi-jurisdictional interaction, including involvement with private-
sector and non-governmental organizations, during realistic exercises. 

• Standard courses on incident command and management, incident management 
structure, and operational coordination processes and systems. 

• Courses focus on discipline and agency-specific subject matter expertise. 

Incident Commanders: The organizational structure for response to an emergency/disaster is 
under the leadership of the designated incident commander. No individual will be designated the 
incident commander for a multi-agency or multi-jurisdiction event unless they have had the 
following training: 

• IS-100 - Introduction to the Incident Command System 

• IS-200 - ICS for Single Resources and Initial Action Incidents 

• IS-300 - Intermediate ICS for Expanding Incidents for Operations First Responders 

• IS-400 - Advanced ICS for Command and General Staff 

• IS-700 - National Incident Management System, and Introduction 

• IS-800 - National Response Framework, an Introduction 

Other recommend course are: 

• IS-701 - NIMS Multiagency Coordination System 

• IS-702 - NIMS Public Information Systems 

• IS-703 - NIMS Resource Management 

Elected Officials: Elected officials that are not assigned primary response roles must complete 
at least IS-402 Public Officials Seminar. Elected officials with primary response roles must 
complete IS-100, IS-200, IS-700, IS-800 as a minimum. If they are to be in a command position 
they must also complete IS-300 and IS-400. They would not then need to complete the IS-402 
program. 
 
Appointed Officials: Appointed officials that are not assigned primary response roles must 
complete at least IS-100, IS-200, IS-700 and IS-800 courses. Those assigned to primary 
response roles and who may be placed in a command level position must also complete IS-300 
and IS-400. 
  
Responders and Support Personnel: All emergency response personnel and those who could 
be placed in a role of support during a large event must complete IS-100, IS-200, IS-700 as a 
minimum. 



  56  

  
Exercises are a key component in improving all-hazards incident management capabilities.  

  
The Homeland Security Exercise Evaluation Program (HSEEP) will be used for developing, 
delivering and evaluating Department of Homeland Security/Office of Domestic Preparedness 
funded exercises. 

  
The following agencies and entities have exercise programs:  
  

Name of Agency Type of Exercise Program 

Reno County Health Department Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

Hutchinson Police Department Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

Hutchinson Correctional Facility Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

Hutchinson Regional Medical Center Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

Hutchinson Regional Airport Tabletop, Full Scale 

School Districts Tabletop, Full Scale 

Reno County Sheriff Office Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

Reno County EMS Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

Reno County Fire Districts Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

Hutchinson Fire Department Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

South Hutchinson Fire Department Tabletop, Functional, Full Scale 

 
After Action Reviews and Corrective Action Plans 
 
After each exercise, the lead agency performing the exercise will conduct an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the exercise. This information will be incorporated into future plan revisions and 
updates by Reno County Emergency Management. This will be accomplished by drafting a 
corrective action plan which may include, but not limited to assigning the following actions: 

• Change to plans/procedures 

• Acquire new or replace outdated equipment/resources 

• Train/Re-Train Personnel 

Following actual events the same procedure will be used and will be led by Reno County 
Emergency Management. 

E. Response 

Reno County must be prepared to respond quickly and effectively on a 24-hour basis to 
developing events. The primary goal of the County's response operation is to ensure a timely 
and effective response to the many consequences that may be generated by an emergency/ 



  57  

disaster situation. When an event or potential event is first detected, a series of actions will take 
place to ensure an effective and efficient response operation. 

1. Local Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 

The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is the facility that is used to coordinate a County 
response to any major emergency or disaster situation. The Emergency Operations Center 
(EOC) is located at 210 W. 1st 
Hutchinson, KS 67501. The facility serves as the coordination, command and control center for 
Reno County. The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is staffed as prescribed above. 
Security and maintenance of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will be carried out in 
accordance with the provisions of the most current version of the Reno County EOP. In the 
event the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) is threatened, an alternate EOC site may be 
activated as designated in the Reno County Emergency Management Continuity of Operations 
Plan. 
 
The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will be activated for actual or potential events that 
threaten Reno County. The level of activation will be determined by the Director of Reno County 
Emergency Management based on the emergency or disaster event. 
 
Additional information on Emergency Operations Center (EOC), communications, warning 
points, and field operations has been previously provided above. 

2. Public Safety Enforcement Actions 

In a large-scale incident law enforcement resources will quickly become overwhelmed, and law 
enforcement officials will have to balance their resources and efforts between new 
responsibilities and everyday service demands. The ESF 13 Coordinating Agency will activate 
mutual aid by contacting law enforcement agencies outside the affected area. Shifts will be 
assigned and responding law enforcement agents will report to the staging area for 
assignments. ESF 13 will provide security for the inner and outer sections of the established 
perimeter. Additional information is provided in ESF 13.   

G. Recovery 

In the aftermath of a disaster, County efforts turn to rebuilding the infrastructure and restoring 
the social and economic life of the community with the incorporation of mitigation measures as a 
major goal. To accomplish this goal the following strategy is provided: 

• To deploy several specialized recovery teams (personnel) and facilities (centers) into a 
disaster area to help victims and support the Incident Commander 

• To work closely with the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency 
Management and to inform affected local governments, individuals and businesses that 
programs are available to assist them in recovery efforts. 

1. Recovery Field Operations 

In the aftermath of a disaster, with or without a Presidential Declaration, the State may deploy 
several specialized recovery teams (personnel) and establish centers (facilities) into a disaster 
area. 



  58  

2. Recovery Personnel 

• Assessment Team - Teams of qualified personnel, including building inspectors, 
structural engineers, and architects, who will gather information by performing an 
assessment of all structures and property in the disaster area; and teams of 
administrative personnel who will compile the gathered information to facilitate the 
application process for local, state, and federal disaster assistance programs. 

• Community Relations Team - Team is deployed to disseminate information and collect 
data to assist disaster-affected communities and eligible individuals in receiving 
assistance. The primary function of this team is to identify and report unmet human 
needs and to inform disaster victims of the disaster assistance programs and registration 
process. 

• Unmet Needs Committee - A committee that helps identify unmet needs and possible 
assistance. Such committees are comprised of volunteer agencies, private sector 
representatives, and governmental agencies. 

• Human Needs Assessment Team - A team that is deployed immediately after a disaster 
and before the establishment of a JFO Office to help counties assess and report the 
immediate needs of disaster victims. 

• Insurance Team - A team that is deployed to assist policy owners following a disaster. 

3. Damage Assessment    

Damage assessments include those actions that are undertaken to determine the nature and 
scope of damages to structures, facilities and infrastructure for the purpose of identifying and 
scaling the need for State and Federal disaster assistance in the recovery phase. Damage 
assessment will be closely coordinated with ESF 5, which has the lead for impact assessment 
and incident action planning during the response phase. 
 
Operational assessment is the immediate, informal reporting of emergency conditions to size-up 
the damage that has occurred and to determine what personnel, equipment and facility 
resources the county has available for response. First indications of the scope and extent of 
damages will likely be provided by field personnel reporting to their dispatch centers or to the 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC). These initial reports include hazard conditions, critical 
emergency needs and condition of surface routes, and are extremely important in allocating 
emergency responders and determining incident situation status. 
 
The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) may also receive damage assessment information 
from additional sources: ambulance crews, utility crews, employees traveling to or from work, 
media sources in the field, citizens, businesses, etc. The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 
may establish a process where the public can submit damage reports.   
 
The County Property Appraiser's Office will assist in providing estimates of loss and economic 
impact. The Chamber of Commerce and the insurance industry will provide information on 
losses to businesses. 
 
The Emergency Manager will provide information to the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas 
Division of Emergency Management within 12-36 hours if possible. 



  59  

 
Initial Safety and Damage Assessments  
 
Reno County will conduct an initial damage assessment using resources to determine the 
overall extent of damages. Reno County Emergency Management is responsible for the 
direction and control of the Impact Assessment process and will identify County and municipal 
employees who will assist with damage assessment. Also, members of the fire department have 
been trained and will assist with damage assessment. The goal of this assessment is to 
determine the magnitude and severity of damage to structures and infrastructure; and, in the 
event of a severe rainfall event, determine the level of flooding damage. This information will be 
collected and provided to Reno County Emergency Management, who will then provide the 
information to the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 
 
The impact assessment data provides a County wide general overview of the most significantly 
impacted areas and, therefore establishes a prioritization mechanism for damage assessment 
team deployment, resource allocation, and disaster assistance. 
 
Preliminary Damage Assessment  
 
If the situation warrants, a formal Preliminary Damage Assessment will be requested and 
performed by local, State, and Federal assessors. This will include assessments for both public 
and individual damages. Local representatives will accompany these teams during their 
assessments. These individuals will be familiar with damaged areas and will supply maps 
needed to complete the damage assessment process. The Adjutant General's Office, Kansas 
Division of Emergency Management will then coordinate with the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency to determine if the County qualifies for public and/or individual assistance. 
 
Capturing all costs associated with the emergency is essential because accurate damage 
assessments (Initial Damage Assessments and Preliminary Damage Assessments) document 
the need for state and/or federal assistance and are required to obtain a federal disaster 
declaration. 
 
Habitability Assessments 
 
Habitability assessors will determine the structural safety of residential buildings. When 
practical, this assessment will be coordinated with the American Red Cross, or other relief 
agencies. 
 
The municipalities in Reno County are responsible for all corresponding inspections, damage 
assessments and other disaster response and recovery functions and activities for their 
jurisdictional area and the County would include the municipalities in its response and recovery 
activities due to their limited resources. The municipalities will still coordinate final reporting 
to Reno County Emergency Management, who will then provide the information to the Adjutant 
General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 
 
The County is responsible for all corresponding inspections, damage assessments and other 
disaster response and recovery functions and activities for their jurisdictional area. The County 
will coordinate final damage estimates to the Reno County Emergency Management, who will 
then provide the information to the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency 
Management. 
 



  60  

Additional damage assessment functions are maintained in the appropriate Reno County SOPs 
and Annexes. This includes the identification of roles and responsibilities, training, assessment 
criteria, reporting formats and process for both initial and preliminary damage assessments. 
 
Priorities of inspections include: 

• Structures involved in response operations 

• Critical transportation routes and infrastructure 

• Essential county facilities 

Cities and special districts within the County share responsibility for damage assessment and 
provide information regarding damages and costs within their jurisdictions and service areas to 
Reno County Emergency Management, who will then provide the information to the Adjutant 
General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 

4. Disaster Declaration 

Following a major or catastrophic disaster in which an emergency or major disaster declaration 
is granted by the President, federal assistance to disaster victims becomes available under 
three program areas: Individual Assistance, Public Assistance, and Hazard Mitigation. The 
administration of these programs is coordinated through a joint Federal/State effort in a Joint 
Field Office, which is usually located in the impacted area 
 
The Joint Field Office (JFO) is the primary field location for the coordination of federal and state 
recovery operations. The Federal Coordinating Officer (FCO) and the State Coordinating Officer 
(SCO) co-locate in the JFO, as well as other Federal and State personnel. Recovery and 
mitigation operations, logistics, information and planning, financial management and general 
administration are coordinated at the JFO. 
 
Presidential Disaster Declaration 
 
Requests for federal disaster assistance will be predicated on the requirements outlined in the 
Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (Public Law 93-288). After 
local government conducts a rapid disaster assessment and reports to the SEOC, the Kansas 
Assessment Team (KAT) will deploy and conduct a joint local/state comprehensive disaster 
assessment on homes and businesses. Based on the KAT’s data, a preliminary damage 
assessment (PDA) may be scheduled that includes the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) and the Small Business Administration (SBA). The Public Assistance (PA) 
Program may deploy teams to inspect those areas affected that meet the PA Program criteria.   

5. Public Assistance (PA) and Individual Assistance (IA) Activities  

Declared Disasters 
 
Public Assistance (PA) 
 
The Public Assistance (PA) program provides program support to eligible local governmental 
entities following a disaster to assist in the recovery and restoration of buildings, infrastructure 



  61  

and the removal of debris that is on public property. The categories of Public Assistance 
include: 

• Category A: Debris Removal 

• Category B: Emergency Protective actions 

• Category C: Road Systems 

• Category D: Water Control Facilities 

• Category E: Buildings and Equipment 

• Category F: Utilities 

• Category G: Parks, Recreation, and Other 

In the event of a declared disaster, Reno County Emergency Management will work closely with 
ESF-15 - External Communications to notify all eligible governments and private not-for-profit 
organizations of the availability of federal public assistance funds. They include all Reno County 
government agencies, and those quasi-governmental organizations that perform a 
governmental function. Such applicants are trained concerning the public assistance program 
through the various recovery training sessions offered. Notification may occur through written 
correspondence and telephone contacts, notices in local newspapers, and broadcasts on local 
radio station. The will notify local governments, non-profit agencies and other eligible applicants 
of scheduled briefings and Kick Off Meetings for the Public Assistance (PA) program and the 
Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP). The Public Assistance applicant briefings include 
procedures for all aspects of financial management, personnel and record keeping that will be 
required for the various Federal and State financial assistance programs. State and Federal 
recovery personnel must advise the Reno County Emergency Management of these briefings 
so that agencies can be notified. Key components of the Public Assistance program include: 

• Project Worksheets are prepared for eligible emergency costs and eligible costs for 
restoration of damaged facilities. 

• The federal share for reimbursement under most federal declarations is 75 percent. The 
25 percent nonfederal share is normally provided from a combination of State and local 
sources in accordance with policies established by the Executive Office of the Governor 
and the Kansas Legislature. 

• The State serves as the Grantee and eligible applicants are Sub-grantees under the 
federal disaster assistance program. 

• Contractual agreements with Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency 
Management are executed with applicants with all reimbursements coming through 
Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 

• Documentation, record keeping, inspections, and final closeouts are overseen and 
approved by the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management. 



  62  

Documentation is obtained by Reno County Emergency Management regarding damage 
sustained to: 

• Roads 

• Water control facilities 

• Public building and related equipment 

• Public utilities 

• Facilities under construction 

• Recreational and park facilities 

• Educational institutions 

• Certain private non-profit facilities 

Public Assistance (PA) Activities 
 
A Presidential Disaster Declaration initiates a process that begins with applicants filing a 
Request for Public Assistance at an applicant's briefing. These briefings are publicized through 
the media and notifications to county emergency management directors in accordance with 44 
CFR-206 Subpart G & H. Project worksheets are prepared for eligible emergency costs and 
eligible costs for restoration of damaged facilities. The federal share for reimbursement under 
most federal declarations is 75 percent. The 25 percent nonfederal share is normally provided 
from a combination of State and local sources in accordance with policies established by the 
Executive Office of the Governor and the Kansas Legislature. In addition, the federal 
government does provide for an administrative cost allowance for each eligible project that is 
100 percent federally funded. The State serves as the Grantee and eligible applicants are Sub-
grantees under the federal disaster 
assistance program l Contractual agreements with the KDEM are executed with applicants with 
all reimbursements coming through the Division, Documentation, record keeping, inspections, 
and final closeouts are overseen and approved by the KDEM 
 
Individual Assistance (IA) 
 
If the County is declared for Individual Assistance, eligible residents will be able to apply for the 
Individual Assistance Program. In some cases, FEMA will deploy habitability inspectors to verify 
the damages individual applicants are claiming. They will do this independent of the State or 
local assessors. Reno County will also perform inspections of damaged homes to determine 
safety. The will be responsible for coordinating post-disaster habitability inspections. The will 
also be responsible for coordinating post-disaster permitting of structures to ensure compliance 
with all state and local building codes and to maximize mitigation of damages in future 
disasters.   
 
Once a Presidential Declaration has been issued that authorizes IA, the State IA Officer will 
coordinate with a federal counterpart on all related individual assistance programs, as defined 
and prescribed in 44 CFR, Part 206, Subparts D, E, and F. The primary means of applying for 
IA will be made through a National Tele-registration toll-free number. Disasters that do not 



  63  

support the criteria for requesting IA as part of a Presidential Disaster Declaration may meet the 
criteria for other federal assistance. 
 
Non-Declared Disasters 
 
During the recovery stage, a disaster may not be declared at the federal level. It will then fall 
upon the County to use local funds, available competitive grant funds, or any supplemental 
funding provided by the State of Kansas to recover from the event. 
 
Similar to a declared disaster, costs for response and recovery are to be monitored by all 
participating agencies. Each responding agency is responsible for the overall management of 
documentation of the costs of a non-declared disaster with reports submitted ultimately to the 
Board of County Commissioners for budget and finance approval of local dollars. 

6. Disaster Recovery Centers and Staging Areas 

Centers that are set up in a disaster area to provide information on the complete range of 
disaster assistance that is available. The responsibility for managing these centers is jointly 
shared by the State, the Federal Emergency Management Agency, and the County where the 
center is located. 
 
A Disaster Recovery Center (DRC) is a facility established in, or in close proximity to, the 
community affected by the disaster where persons can meet face-to-face with represented 
Federal, State, local and volunteer agencies to: 

• Discuss their disaster-related needs 

• Obtain information about disaster assistance programs 

• Tele-register for assistance 

• Learn about measures for rebuilding that can eliminate or reduce the risk 

• Request the status of their application for Assistance to Individuals and Households 

The Director of Reno County Emergency Management, the State of Kansas and potentially 
FEMA, will assess the need to open Disaster Recovery Centers and Field Offices, based upon 
initial damage assessment and human services needs estimates and reports. Reno County 
Emergency Management will request that the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of 
Emergency Management open a Disaster Recovery Center in Reno County. 
 
Once it has been determined that Disaster Recovery Centers and/or a Disaster Field Office will 
be opened in Reno County, Reno County will take the lead and should notify the Emergency 
Operations Center (EOC). The Disaster Recovery Manager will advise if there are resources the 
County may need to supply include staffing. The DRC will be staffed with representatives from 
appropriate federal, state, county, private relief organizations, and other organizations capable 
of providing disaster related information to individuals and businesses.    
 
The County Public Information Officer ( The County Administrator) will provide local media with 
detailed information on locations of recovery centers, distribution sites and other individual 



  64  

assistance programs. Pamphlets will be prepared to be distributed by personnel in damaged 
areas so citizens will know how to apply for assistance. 

7. Unmet Needs 

Once immediate life safety issues have been addressed in the end of the response phase and 
early in the recovery phase, the next task will be identifying any unmet needs. If the need arises 
for an Unmet Needs Committee, a group will be assembled consisting of members from local 
religious organizations, volunteer agencies, private sector representatives, and the appropriate 
State and Federal agencies. The Unmet Needs Committee will be responsible for addressing 
immediate human needs (food, water, clothing, etc.), immediate housing needs, issues involving 
special needs population and coordination with community relations personnel. The unmet 
needs committee will be formed on an as-needed basis for a given event.  

H. Mitigation 

In the aftermath of a disaster, the County's mitigation goal is to ensure mitigation efforts are 
designed to ensure that residents, visitors, and businesses in Kansas are safe and secure from 
future disasters. The strategies to complete this goal include: 

• Complete and maintain a hazards and risk assessment 

• Comprehensive list of mitigation goals, objectives and tasks 

• Planning process and organizational framework for carrying out the mitigation goals and 
objectives 

• Implement Pre and Post Hazard Mitigation Actions to reduce overall risk/vulnerability 

• Evaluation of existing agencies, organizations, plans, programs and guidelines that 
impact mitigation. 

1. Coordination of Mitigation Activities 

The Reno County Emergency Management has been delegated as the lead agency to facilitate 
and coordinate the activities of the Reno County Mitigation Planning Committee and 
subcommittees. The Reno County's Mitigation Plan identifies the hazards to which Reno County 
is vulnerable; assesses the facilities and structures that are most vulnerable to hazards; offers a 
prioritized list of mitigation projects to take advantage of available funding; and links mitigation 
projects to these sources of funding. 
 
The Reno County's Mitigation Plan defines the mitigation goals, objectives and initiatives for 
Reno County. Annual revisions to the Reno County's Mitigation Plan are standard, although in 
the event of a disaster, or if needed, the plan can be updated more frequently. 

2. Mitigation Programs 

Pre-Disaster Activities 

• The National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) –The Department of Agriculture, 
Division of Water Resources (DWR), provides technical assistance to the public and 



  65  

communities on the NFIP. The NFIP provides flood insurance to communities that agree 
to implement land use planning and construction requirements to reduce flood damage 
in their jurisdiction. These land use and construction requirements apply to all new 
construction and substantial improvements to existing structures in the community’s 
Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHAs). 

• Community Rating System (CRS) - Additionally, DWR provides technical assistance to 
local communities on the Community Rating System (CRS). The CRS is a voluntary 
incentive program that recognizes and encourages community floodplain management 
activities that exceed the minimum program requirements. As a result flood insurance 
premiums are discounted. The CRS is an integral part of the National Floodplain 
Insurance Program (NFIP).  

• Flood Mitigation Assistance (FMA) Program – Adjutant General's Office, Kansas 
Division of Emergency Management administers the FMA. This program makes federal 
funds available pre-disaster to fund mitigation projects in communities participating in the 
NFIP. These funds have a 25 percent non-federal match requirement. The overall goal 
of the FMA is to fund cost effective measures that reduce or eliminate the long-term risk 
of flood damage to NFIP insurable structures. This is accomplished through the 
reduction of the number of repetitively or substantially damaged structures. 

• Repetitive Flood Claims (RFC) Program - Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division 
of Emergency Management administers the RFC. The goal remains to reduce flood 
damages to individual properties for which one or more claim payments for losses have 
been made under flood insurance coverage and that will result in the greatest savings to 
the National Flood Insurance Fund (NFIF) in the shortest period of time. 

• Severe Repetitive Loss (SRL) Program - Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of 
Emergency Management administers the SRL. The goal remains to reduce flood 
damages to residential properties that have experienced severe repetitive losses under 
flood insurance coverage and that will result in the greatest savings to the National Flood 
Insurance Fund (NFIF) in the shortest period of time. 

• Pre-Disaster Mitigation (PDM) Program - Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of 
Emergency Management administers the PDM. The PDM is designed to assist States, 
Territories, Indian Tribal governments, and local communities to implement a sustained 
pre-disaster natural hazard mitigation program to reduce overall risk to the population 
and structures from future hazard events, while also reducing reliance on Federal 
funding from future major disaster declarations. 

• State Hazard Mitigation Planning - The State Hazard Mitigation Plan is updated every 
three years or in the aftermath of a disaster at the direction of the State Hazard 
Mitigation Officer (SHMO) as necessary. Additionally, the mitigation staff continues to 
provide technical assistance to communities on the development, implementation, and 
maintenance of local mitigation strategies. 

Post Disaster Activities 

• Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP) - Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division 
of Emergency Management administers the HGMP. HGMP is authorized by Section 404 
of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, as amended 



  66  

(the Stafford Act), Title 42, United States Code (U.S.C.) 5170c. The key purpose of 
HMGP is to ensure that the opportunity to take critical mitigation measures to reduce the 
risk of loss of life and property from future disasters is not lost during the reconstruction 
process following a disaster. HMGP is available when authorized under the Presidential 
major disaster declaration in the areas of the State requested by the Governor. 

• 406 Mitigation - Section 406 of the Stafford Act provides for direct federal assistance for 
repairs and improvements to eligible damaged public facilities. Mitigation measures 
(improvements) must be identified in the Project Worksheets (PW’s). The award of 
Section 406 hazard mitigation projects is at the discretion of the FEMA Regional 
Director. 

V. ADMINISTRATION, FINANCE AND LOGISTICS 

A. Documentation 

Responding agencies should keep documentation on the ICS Activity Log (ICS Form 214) or 
another suitable log. The Emergency Operations Center (EOC) will document activities on a 
situation reports, common operating pictures, and/or WebEOC. Such documentation is crucial 
for the following reasons: 

• Documentation is the key to recovering emergency response and recovery costs. 
Damage assessment documentation will be critical in establishing the basis for eligibility 
of disaster assistance programs. 

• Documentation provides a legal account of the actions which took place before, during 
and after an emergency. 

• Documentation provides for a historical record which could be used during after action 
reviews to improve response operations in the future. 

Reports and Records: The use of reports and records will vary according to the type of 
emergency being handled. 

• Messages: All requests for assistance and all general messages will be handled using 
the procedures and ICS forms found in: 

• Situation Report: These reports are compiled daily and forwarded to the Kansas Division 
of Emergency Management in order to keep the state informed about the current status 
of operations. 

• Event Log: A record of major events during EOC operations will be compiled by a 
member of the support staff as appointed by the coordinator. This will be compiled using 
data from the google doc event log, WebEOC or other forms 

• Other Reports: Incident Action Plans will be developed and maintained as a record of 
operations during all events lasting over one operational period. 

• Security: All personnel entering the EOC will be required to check in at the security desk 
located in the main entrance. 



  67  

Following a disaster, documentation is provided to Reno County Emergency Management to 
maintain an archive for the required time period, after such time archival documents are 
protected at a designated location. 
 
During after action review the documentation will be used to identify: 

• Actions taken (or not taken) 

• Resources expended 

• Economic and human impacts 

• Lessons learned and possible improvements 

• Possible mitigation measures that could be taken 

• Key impacts and damages 

B. Finance 

Funding 

• During local state of emergency, the monetary support for logistical and administrative 
support will be funded out of each agency’s budget. However, agencies may request 
reimbursement or additional funds that may be provided through the county’s general 
funds or other legal funding mechanisms available to the local jurisdiction (non-funded 
warrants, etc.) if an agency’s outlay exceeds their budget. 

• In the event of a federal declaration, some expenses and/or reimbursements are 
available to affected agencies through Public Assistance Grants. 

Disaster Assistance, Insurance, and Cost Recovery 
 
As previously mentioned, in a federal disaster declaration the county and its eligible 
jurisdictions/citizens may qualify for federal assistance. Such assistance has been described 
above and will be further described in ESF 14. In the event of a federal declaration authorizing 
public assistance, applicant briefings will be conducted to educate responders and local officials 
about the cost recovery process. 
 
Each entity is responsible for establishing the necessary administrative controls to manage 
the expenditure of funds and to provide reasonable accountability and justification for federal 
reimbursement in accordance with the established guidelines.  
 
All county owned property and equipment is insured under policies held with a private insurance 
company. In the event county property is damaged in a disaster, insurance will be relied upon to 
recover all costs beyond the deductibles listed in the policies.  
 
Tracking Local Disaster Costs 
 
In the event of a federally declared disaster, Reno County Emergency Management may ask 
the County’s Financial Officer to assign a special project number to track all county-related 



  68  

expenses. Incorporated areas of the county may also assign special project numbers per the 
recommendation of Reno County Emergency Management. 
 
Tracking of resources and costs for specific missions assignments will be accomplished through 
the use of a form ICS 211, maintained by the Finance and Administration Section Chief within 
the management team.  
 
Pet Sheltering Costs: Disaster Assistance Policy (DAP) 9523.19 
 
FEMA Disaster Assistance Policy (DAP) 9523.19 details eligible reimbursements related to pet 
sheltering including: shelter facilities, supplies and commodities, eligible labor, equipment, 
emergency veterinary services, transportation, shelter safety and security, cleaning and 
restoration, and the removal and disposal of animal carcasses. 
 
ESF 6 provides the concept of operations for pet sheltering and documentation of costs.  

C. Logistics 

Resource and logistic response will be prioritized and accomplished under the direction of the 
EOC Manager. Information from Field Incident Commanders and Incident Action Plan priorities 
will be used to prioritize multiple requests. Resource requests will be met dependent on incident 
type and the responding entities available or anticipated resource requirements. All resource 
requests should be captured using an ICS form. Any requests requiring rental, hire or costs to 
fill will be passed on to the Finance group with a copy of the ICS form. 
 
Contracting 
 
The following locations provide a list of contractors for Reno County: 

• A list of potential contractors that could be used to support emergency functions is 
maintained in a folder in Emergency Management’s shared drive titled EOC and 
Resource Update 

• Reno County can access the state contracting website at 
http://www.da.ks.gov/purch/Contracts and query for available state contracts applicable 
to political subdivisions (i.e. counties, cities, etc.) 

Requesting State Assistance 
 
Coordination of resource needs: 

• When local municipal resources are committed, the Reno County Emergency 
Management will coordinate assistance to satisfy resource needs. 

• If the County requires additional assistance, it will call mutual aid from adjacent counties 
and regional resources 

• Only the Reno County Emergency Manager or his/her documented designee, is 
authorized to request resource support from the Adjutant General's Office, Kansas 
Division of Emergency Management  



  69  

• Adjutant General's Office, Kansas Division of Emergency Management will turn to the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) for assistance in dealing with a major 
disaster that threatens to exceed the capabilities and resources of the state. 

Each agency tasked within this plan, is responsible for developing and maintaining applicable 
resource lists. These lists should follow established county protocols for maintaining resource 
lists. At a minimum, a full resource list (including all county resources) will be provided to Reno 
County Emergency Management and the ESF 7 Coordinating and Primary Agency. 
 
Key Logistics Facilities    
Key logistic facilities are marked and identified in EOP mapper, if they meet a Type 3 facility.   
 
Potential locations for Staging Areas and Points of Distribution sites (PODS) are identified 
annually by Reno County Emergency Management. Predetermined Staging Areas and PODS 
include: 
 
Reno County Points of Distribution: 

 
Kansas State Fairgrounds 
2000 N. Poplar 
Hutchinson, KS 67502 
 
 
  

Reno County Staging Area: 

 
 
  

Reno County Landing Zones: 

 
Hutchinson Municipal Airport 
1100 Airport Rd 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
 
 
  

Pre-Staging 
 
Certain situations will require pre-staging assets. Identifying these resources and triggers points 
to utilize such resources are based on the phases indicated in the Reno County Incident Action 
Plan (IAP). The IAP will be developed in preparation of or during an emergency or disaster 
situation. 
 
Fuel  
 



  70  

Fuel will be procured using local vendors. Local incident command will provide the desired 
location of fuel purchasing if applicable for the incident. ESF 7 and ESF 12 provide further 
details concerning procuring fuel. Additionally, Emergency Management maintains a resource 
list of contacts and vendors, in the shared drive.  EOP mapper also documents fuel supply 
locations in Reno County.     
 
 
Security  
 
Security at each staging area will be accomplished by mission assigning ESF 13. ESF 13 
provides further detail. 

VI. CONTINUITY OF OPERATIONS / CONTINUITY OF GOVERNMENT 

 
All Reno County government agencies are encouraged to develop and implement Continuity of 
Operations Plans (COOP) to ensure that a viable capability exists to continue their essential 
functions of government services. Planning and training efforts for COOP is closely coordinated 
with the EOP and actions. This serves to protect and preserve essential records/documents 
deemed essential for continuing government functions and conducting post-disaster operations. 
 
Continuity of Government is also an essential function of Emergency Management and is vital 
during an emergency/disaster situation. Critical issues such as Lines of Succession, Delegation 
of Emergency Authority, Emergency Actions, safeguarding essential records, and protection of 
government resources are adhered within the State of Kansas constitution, statutes and 
administrative rules. 
 
Delegation of Authority   
 
In the absence or incapacitation of all three county commissioners, the Sheriff in conjunction 
the  Emergency Management Director may declare a local state of disaster or emergency.  

VII. REFERENCES AND AUTHORITIES 

The following references and authorities may be consulted for further advice and guidance. 
Other than those references and authorities that have the inherent force and effect of law, this 
EOP is not intended to incorporate them by reference. 
 
References: 

• Federal Bureau of Investigation's Concept of Opera - Federal Bureau of 
Investigation's Concept of Operations for Weapons of Mass Destruction 

• Federal Radiological Emergency Response Plan 

• National Incident Management System (NIMS) - National Incident Management 
System (NIMS) 



  71  

• National Response Framework (NRF), Fourth Edition, October 2019. - National 
Response Framework (NRF) 

• Evacuation and Access in Disaster Response 

 
 
Authorities:   

• 10 U.S.C. 382 (2002) - Emergencies Involving Chemical or Biological Weapons. 

• 42 U.S.C. 201 et seq. - The Public Health Service Act 

• 44 CFR 350 - of the Code of Federal Regulations. 

• 44 CFR Part 10 - Environmental Considerations. 

• 44 CFR Part 13 - (The Common Rule) - Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants 
and Cooperative Agreements. 

• 44 CFR Part 14 - Audits of State and Local Governments. 

• 44 CFR Part 206 - Federal Disaster Assistance for Disasters Declared after November 
23, 1988. 

• 44 CFR Parts 59-76 - National Flood Insurance Program and related programs. 

• 50 CFR, Title 10 - 50 CFR - Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations. 

• 50 U.S.C. 1601-1651 (2003) - The National Emergencies Act. 

• National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. 4101 - As amended by the National 
Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994 (Title V of Public Law 103-325). 

• Public Law 101-549 - Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, which provide for reductions 
in hazardous air pollutants and risk management planning requirements. 

• Public Law 101-615 - Hazardous Materials Transportation Uniform Safety Act 
(HMTUSA), which provides funding to improve capability to respond to hazardous 
materials incidents. 

• Public Law 106-390, Disaster Mitigation Act 2000 - Public Law 106-390, Disaster 
Mitigation Act of 2000, to amend the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 
Assistance Act to authorize a program for pre-disaster mitigation, to streamline the 
administration of disaster relief, to control the Federal costs of disaster assistance, and 
for other purposes. 

• Public Law 107-188, 116 Stat. 294 (2002) - The Public Health Security and Bioterrorism 
Preparedness and Response Act of 2002. 

• Public Law 107-296, 116 Stat. 2135 (2002) - Public Law 107-296, 116 Stat. 2135 
(2002) (codified predominantly at 6 U.S.C. 101-557 and other sections of the U.S.C.), 



  72  

ESTABLISHED THE Department of Homeland Security with the mandate and legal 
authority to protect the American people from the continuing threat of terrorism. 

• Public Law 833-703 - amendment to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954. 

• Public Law 84-99,33 U.S.C. 701n - Flood Emergencies, authorizing an emergency fund 
for flood emergency preparation, flood fighting and rescue operations, and repair and 
restoration of flood control works threatened or destroyed by flood. 

• Public Law 85-256, Price-Anderson Act - 42 U.S.C. 2210, which provides for a system 
of compensating the public for harm caused by a nuclear accident. 

• Public Law 89-665,16 U.S.C. 470 - National Historic Preservation Act, relating to the 
preservation of historic resources damaged as a result of disasters. 

• Public Law 91-671, Food Stamp Act of 1964 - in conjunction with Section 412 of the 
Stafford Act, relating to food stamp distributions after a major disaster. 

• Public Law 93-234 - Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, as amended by the Flood 
Insurance Reform Act of 1994, 42 U.S.C. 4001, et seq, provides insurance coverage for 
all types of buildings. 

• Public Law 93-288, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 5121 - et seq, the Robert T. Stafford 
Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act, which provides authority for response 
and recovery assistance under the Federal Response Plan, which empowers the 
President to direct any federal agency to utilize its authorities and resources in support 
of State and local assistance efforts. 

• Public Law 95-510, 42 U.S.C. 9601 - et seq, the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA), as amended, which 
requires facilities to notify authorities of accidental releases of hazardous materials. 

• Public Law 99-499 - Superfund Amendments and Re-authorization Act of 1986, Part III, 
the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. 11001, 
et seq, which governs hazardous materials planning and community right-to-know. 

• Regulatory Improvement Act of 1994 - Regal Community Development and 
Regulatory Improvement Act of 1994. 

• Stewart B. McKinney Homeless Assistance Act - 42 U.S.C. 11331-11352, Federal 
Emergency Management Food and Shelter Program. 

• K.S.A. 65 Articles 1 & 2 - Public Health System 

• Kansas Administrative Regulation 56-2-1 and 56-2 - These regulations define the 
requirements of local emergency management agencies. It establishes the minimum 
functions of such agencies, the minimum support counties must provide to such 
agencies and the minimum qualifications of county emergency management 
directors/coordinators. 



  73  

• Kansas Planning Standards - The Kansas Planning Standards (KPS) is intended to be 
an all-encompassing guide to review or redevelop Local Emergency Operations Plans 
(LEOPs). 

• Kansas Response Plan - The Kansas Response Plan (KRP) is designed to address 
natural and man-made hazards that could adversely affect the State of Kansas. The 
KRP applies to all State government departments and agencies that are tasked to 
provide assistance in a disaster or emergency situation. It describes the fundamental 
policies, strategies, and general concept of operations to be used in control of the 
emergency from its onset through the post disaster phase. 

• Kansas Statutes Annotated (KSA) 48-9a01 - This Emergency Management 
Assistance Compact (EMAC) is a mutual aid agreement and partnership that allows 
states to assist one another during emergencies. Emergency Management Assistance 
Compact establishes a firm legal foundation for States to send assistance to and receive 
assistance from other States. 

• KSA 12-16, 117 - This state statute empowers municipalities (counties and cities) to 
establish policies regarding the rendering of aid to other municipalities during times of 
declared emergencies/ disasters. It streamlines the process of mutual aid over the 
“interlocal agreement” mechanism contained in KSA 12-2901. 

• KSA 48-904 et seq. - Emergency Preparedness for Disasters 

• KSA 48-904 through 48-936 - These state statutes establish the duties, roles and 
responsibilities for emergency management within the state, and establishes basic 
requirements for counties to establish and maintain emergency management programs. 
It outlines the organization, policies and procedures governing the Kansas Division of 
Emergency Management (KDEM), establishes the powers and authorities of the 
Governor, state and local officials to deal with emergencies/disasters before, during and 
after their occurrence. 

• KSA 48-924-945 - Emergency Preparedness for Disasters 

• KSA 48-948-958 - Kansas Intrastate Emergency Mutual Aid Act 

• KSA 61-101 et seq. - The Secretary of Health and Environment shall exercise general 
supervision of the health of the people of the state. 

• KSA 65-5701 through 65-5711 - These state statutes are the state level implementation 
of Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act (SARA), Title III. It defines the 
Hazardous Materials (HAZMAT) roles and responsibilities of state agencies, makes 
counties Hazardous Materials emergency planning districts, and establishes a Local 
Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) in each county. 

• State of Kansas Executive Order 05-03 - This Executive Order designates the National 
Incident Management System (NIMS) as the standard for incident management in the 
State of Kansas. 

• Reno County Resolution Number 2002-45 - adopted the 13th day of November 2002, 
Establishing a policy of Reno County, Kansas to provide assistance to other 



  74  

governmental entities, such as counties, cities and Townships during disasters Pursuant 
to K.S.A. 12-16,117. 

• Reno County Resolution Number 2003-19 - adopted the 16th day of April 2003, 
Creating the Central Kansas Region for Public Health Emergency Preparedness Fund. 
Reno County Resolution Number 2004-45, adopted the 9th day of September, 2004, 
Adopting the Provisions of Homeland Security Presidential Directive (HSPD)-5, 
Management of Domestic Incidents 

• Reno County Resolution Number 83-30 - adopted the 27th Day of June 1983, 
renaming the Office of Civil Defense in Reno County to the Office of Emergency 
Preparedness. 

• Reno County Resolution Number 93-65 - adopted the 22nd Day of December, 1993, 
Affirming the establishment of the Reno County Office of Emergency Preparedness; 
providing for and further defining the responsibilities, duties and authority of said office; 
and affirming the establishment of the position of Director of Emergency Management. 

• Reno County Resolution Number 94-37 - adopted the 21st day of December, 1994, 
Re-designating the Reno County Office of Emergency Preparedness as the Reno 
County Office of Emergency Management; Providing authority for Reno County to 
accept certain services, gifts, grants and loans; and directing compliance with K.A.R. 56-
2-1, ET. SEQ. 

 
 
Memorandums of Understanding and Agreements:                 

 
Local  

• Mutual Aid Agreement  

• Tender Automatic Aid Agreement  

  74  
 













PROMULGATION 
 

 
One of the responsibilities of Kansas counties required by K.S.A. 48-929, is the 

development and promulgation of a County Emergency Operations Plan (CEOP) 
with the intention of saving lives and protecting property in the event of a major 
emergency or disaster.  

 
This planning includes: Mitigation to reduce the probability of occurrence and 

minimize the effects of unavoidable incidents; Preparedness to respond to 
emergency/ disaster situations; Response actions during an emergency/disaster; 
and Recovery operations that will ensure the orderly return to normal or improved 

levels following an emergency/disaster. 
  

The Reno County Emergency Operations Plan has been developed to establish 
the policies, guidance and procedures that will provide the elected and appointed 
officials, administrative personnel, various governmental departments and private 

and volunteer agencies with the information required to function in a coordinated 
and integrated fashion and to ensure a timely and organized management of the 

consequences arising from emergencies/disasters.  
 
As Chairman of the Board of County Commissioners, I endorse this Plan, as 

approved by the Reno County Board of County Commissioners on   
    and direct that all personnel involved assume the roles and 

responsibilities and take appropriate actions as outlined herein.  
  

 

 
Chairman  _________________________________________________ 

 
Date  _____________________________________________________ 
 

Board of County Commissioners  
 

 
  



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.A

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY:

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Public Hearing regarding the amended Reno County Sanitation Code

1. Open the Hearing
2. Discussion
3. Close the Hearing 



MEMORANDUM 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Reno County has amended the entire county sanitary code to be more in line with Bulletin 4-2. 

Attached for signatures are an amendment for the Reno County Sanitation Code and a letter to Patrick Hoffman
County Attorney and Counselor notifying the approval of the Reno County Sanitation Code. 

If you should have any questions or concerns please contact me at your earliest conveinance. (785) 296-0051

January 10, 2024

Janet Stanek, KDHE Secretary

Watershed Management Section, Chief
Michael Beezhold, Bureau of Environmental Field Services

Adoption and Amendments: Reno County Sanitation Code Adopted January 1, 1988, Amended May 15, 1991, 
Amended August 1, 1994, Amended July 2, 2003-

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



Amendment 

The parties to this agreement hereby agree to amend provisions as follows: 

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have affixed their signatures. 

Mike Beezhold, WMS Section Chief 

1.

2.

3.

Regarding

and

Erich Glave, BEFs Director

Emily Quinn, Attorney

Leo Henning, Deputy Secretary 

Janet Stanek, KDHE Secretary 

Chairman, Board of County Commissioners

Reno County Sanitation Code Amendment

Board of County Commissioners, K.S.A. 19-3701

All other provisions of the Agreement are reaffirmed.

Adoption and Amendments: Reno County Sanitation Code Adopted January Amended May 
15, 1991, Amended August 1, 1994, Amended July 2, 2003.

Adpotion and Amendments: Reno County Sanitation Code January _10_, 2024.

Kansas Department of Health and Environment

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 
 

January 10, 2024 

 

 

Patrick Hoffman 

County Attorney and Counselor  

206 W 1st Ave 

Hutchinson, KS 67501  

 

Regarding: Environmental/Sanitary Code of Reno County, Kansas 

 

Dear Mr. Hoffman, 

 

The revised Reno County Environmental/Sanitary Code has been reviewed and approved by the Kansas 

Department of Health and Environment (KDHE), in accordance with Kansas Statutes Annotated (K.S.A.) 19-

3704. An official copy of the proposed sanitary code, as approved by this Agency, is attached for your records.   

 

After the Reno County Environmental/Sanitary Code has been officially adopted by the Board of County 

Commissioners, please send a copy of the adopted code and the completed County Code Adoption Form 

(attached) to the following email address: Adrienne.miller@ks.gov 

 

KDHE recommends you contact the Reno County Conservation District office, KSU extension office, 

contractors, and lending institutions within Reno County, to inform them of the changes to the code.  

 

If you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Adrienne Miller at (785) 296-7165 or 

Adrienne.miller@ks.gov. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Janet Stanek  

Secretary 

Kansas Department of Health and Environment  

 

Enclosures: Reno County Sanitary/Environmental Code 

County Code Adoption Form 

 

cc:  Randall Parks, County Commissioner, 206 W 1st Ave, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 
 

 
Reno County 

Sanitation Code 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 1 ~ 
 

Reno County Sanitation Code Adoption and Amendments: Adopted January 1, 1988, Amended May 15, 
1991, Amended August 1, 1994, Amended July 2, 2003 

 

Table of Contents 
  Subject  Page No. 

 
Chapter 1 – Administrative Procedures 
Article 1 General Provisions ........................................................................................................................2 
Article 2 Administration...............................................................................................................................3 
Article 3 Applications, Permits and Licenses..............................................................................................5 
Article 4 Inspections and Investigations .....................................................................................................9 
 
Chapter 2 – Domestic Wastewater Disposal 
Article 1 General Provisions ........................................................................................................................10 
Article 2 Prohibited Practices .......................................................................................................................15 
Article 3 Semi-Public Wastewater Systems.................................................................................................16 
Article 4 Private & Semi-Public Wastewater System Operation and Maintenance ...............................16 
Article 5 Regulations for Sanitary Service Contractors................................................................................16 
Article 6 Regulations for Wastewater Contractors.......................................................................................17 
 
Chapter 3 – Water Supplies 
Article 1 General Provisions ...........................................................................................................................18 
Article 2 General Regulatons.........................................................................................................................20 
Article 3 Private & Semi-Public Water Supplies............................................................................................21 
Article 4 Semi- Public Water Supplies……………………………………………………………………………….….….….22 
Article 5 Well Status and Maintenance………………………………………………………………………………..………22 
 
Chapter 4 – Public Water Supply Protection 
Article 1 General Provisions ...........................................................................................................................22 
Article 2 Prohibited Practices .........................................................................................................................23 
 
Chapter 5 – Public Nuisance 
Article 1 Public Health Nuisances……………………………………………………………………………………….……23 
 
Chapter 6 – Environmental Health Assessments  
Article 1 Environmental Health Assessments……………………………………….……………………………….…..24 
 
Chapter 7 – Code Enforcement 
Article 1 Unlawful Conduct ................................................................................................................... 26 
Article 2 Enforcement Proceedings .........................................................................................................26 
Article 3 Penalties and Prosecution .............................................................................................................27 
Article 4 Appeals ...........................................................................................................................................27 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 Lagoon Construction Diagram................................................................................................29 
Appendix 2 Setbacks and Animal Units.....................................................................................................30 
Appendix 3 EPA Wastewater Treatment Chart………………………………………………………………….……31-32 
Appendix 4 KSU Lagoon Sizing Chart………………………………………………………………………….……………33 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 2 ~ 
 

Chapter One 
ADMINISTRATIVE  

Article 1: General Provisions 

Section I. Title – This Code shall be known and referred to as the Reno County Sanitation Code. 
 
Section II. Legal Authority – This Code is adopted under the authority granted to the Board of County 
Commissioners by K.S.A. 19-3701 et. Seq. as amended. 
 
Section III. Findings and Declaration of Policy – The County Commissioners find that provisions for 
adequate and reasonable control over the environmental conditions in unincorporated areas of the 
county are necessary and desirable; and that it is necessary to adopt a sanitation code to: 

A. Eliminate and prevent the development of environmental conditions that are hazardous to health 
and safety; and  

B.  Promote the economical and orderly development of land and water resources of the county. For 
those reasons and objectives, it shall be the policy of the Board of County Commissioners to 
amend this code from time to time with respect to any matter affecting environmental sanitation 
and safety. 

 
Section IV. Purpose – The purpose and intent of this code is: 

A. To prescribe the administrative procedures to be followed in administering this sanitation code 
or any amendments thereto. 

B. To prescribe regulations for controlling practices to minimize health and safety hazards. 
C. To establish administrative procedures to facilitate fair and equitable regulation while recognizing 

the rights of affected persons to receive reasonably prompt processing and to appeal 
administrative decisions. 

 
Section V. Jurisdiction and Application – This Code and all authorized regulations, restrictions, and 
requirements shall apply from and after the effective date and adoption to and throughout the 
unincorporated area of Reno County, Kansas, and to all persons, property, establishments, and business 
activities located or conducted, regardless of ownership and acreage, within Reno County, Kansas, and 
outside municipal boundaries of any city. 
 

Section VI. Severability – If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, or subsection of this Code shall be 
adjudged invalid for any reason whatsoever, such judgment shall not affect, repeal, or invalidate the 
remainder thereof, but shall be confined to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or subsection thereof 
found to be invalid. 
 
Section VII. Disclaimer of Liability – This Code shall not be construed or interpreted as imposing upon 
the County, or its officials or employees: (1) any liability or responsibility for damages to any property; or 
(2) any warranty that any installation, system, or portion thereof that is constructed, repaired, or modified 
under permits or inspections required by this Code shall function properly. In addition, any employee 
charged with the enforcement of this Code, who acts in good faith and without malice in the discharge 
of his duties, shall not thereby be personally liable for damage which may occur to any person or property 
as a result of the discharge of his duties. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 3 ~ 
 

Section VIII. Amendments and Additions – This Code may be supplemented, or its provisions may be 
amended by Resolution adopted by the Board of County Commissioners, after notice and hearing, as 
required by law, and any such amendments or additions shall be incorporated within and codified as a 
part of this Code. Any changes, modifications or additional provisions adopted and imposed by State or 
Federal law or regulation which are applicable to and administered through the jurisdiction of Reno 
County, Kansas shall be incorporated within and made part of this Code, with or without notice and 
hearing, as authorized or required by State or Federal law. 

 
Section IX. Repeal and Supersede Effect – This Code shall supersede any and all previously adopted 
Resolutions or regulations, which are, in whole or in part, in conflict with any provision of this Code, 
where applicable, any regulation or resolution which is or was in effect upon the effective date of this 
Code shall be repealed to the extent necessary to give this Code full force and effect, and in the case of 
any conflict of provisions, whether real or apparent, then the provision of this Code shall govern wherever 
applicable. 
 
Section X. Effective Date – This Code shall become effective from and after the date of adoption by the 
Board of County Commissioners, or other appropriate jurisdiction, and publication of notice as required 
by law. 

Article 2:  Administration 

Section I. Administering Authority – This code shall be administered by the Reno County Public Works 
Department, and the Director of that department or his or her designee(s) shall have the authority and 
responsibility for the administration of this Code. Here in after the Reno County Public Works 
Department shall be referred to as RCPWD. Under the authority of any particular Chapter or Article 
of this Code, the RCPWD may implement such administrative procedures consistent with this Code. 
 
Section II. Administrative Actions and Decisions –  

A. It is the intent of this Code to establish regulations and standards for the protection of the public’s 
health and safety. To the extent possible, all administrative actions and decisions required or 
authorized for the administration of this Code shall be made solely in accordance with the 
standards enumerated in the Code.  Whenever in the course of an administrative decision or 
taking action for which standards are not provided then the decision or action shall be made 
according to the purpose and intents of this Code so that the result best serves the public health 
and safety. 

B. Any Policies created by the Reno County Public Works Director for the implementation of this 
code shall be reported to the Board of County Commissioners at their next regular meeting. 

 
Section III. Interpretation of Terms or Words – All terms and words used in this Code shall be 
interpreted and given meaning according to their common understanding and to provide reasonable 
application of the purposes and intent of the Code. Whenever applied to this Code, the terms and 
phrases used shall be interpreted in the following manner: 

A. Words appearing in the singular number shall include the plural, and those appearing in the 
plural shall include the singular. 

B. Words used in the present tense shall include the past tense and future tense, and words used in 
the future tense shall include the present tense and past tense. 

C. The word “shall” be mandatory; the word “may” be permissive. 
D. The phrase “this Code” shall refer to the Code and all authorized regulations, restrictions and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 4 ~ 
 

requirements, and the phrase “the regulations “shall include regulations, restrictions, and 
requirements authorized by the Code. 

 
Section IV. Definitions – The following words, terms and phrases appear in more than one Section of 
this Code and, thus, have general application and usage.  Words, terms, and phrases appropriate or 
applicable to specific Chapters within this Code are defined, where necessary, within those Chapters. 
Unless the Code requires or specifies otherwise the following words, terms or phrases, as used in this 
Code, shall be given the meaning defined in this Section. 

A. Access: Entry into or upon any real estate, structure or vehicle including any part thereof. 
B. Administrative Agency: The Reno County Public Works Department; also referred to herein 

as “Agency”. 
C. Administrative Regulations: Those regulations contained in Chapter One of this Code which 

prescribe general procedures to be followed in the administration of the Code adopted by the 
County. 

D. Applicant: Any person who submits an application or requests permission to do some act 
regulated by this Code. 

E. Application: The application forms provided by the RCPWD including the filing fee and any 
other supporting documents required by the Agency. 

F. Authorized Representative: Any employee of the Reno County Public Works Department 
(RCPWD) who is designated by the Department Director to administer this code. 

G. Board of County Commissioners: Means the Board of County Commissioners of Reno 
County, Kansas. 

H. Board of Health: The Board of County Commissioners acting as the Reno County Board of 
Health. 

I. KDHE: Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) 
J. Inspection: A careful examination of property and proposal. 
K. Final Inspection:  A careful examination of the permitted proposal.  
L. Law: Includes federal, state, and local statutes, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions. 
M. License: Identifies an individual that has the authority to perform wastewater tasks. 
N. Permit: Document provided by the Agency on standard forms to perform tasks required by this 

Code. 
O. Person: Any municipality, political subdivision, institution, corporation, partnership, 

association, or individual. 
P. Premises/Parcel: Any one or more lots or tracts of land that have separate deeds that were 

created by a survey, including all buildings, structures, or facilities located thereon. 
Q. Reno County Sanitation Commission: Shall consist of the Reno County Planning and Zoning 

Commission which will operate The Reno County Sanitation Commission as needed. 
R. Sanitation Code: Procedures, standards and regulations adopted by the County designed to 

minimize or control those environments and environmental conditions that may adversely affect 
the health and wellbeing of the public. Such environments and environmental conditions may 
include but are not restricted to domestic wastewater and domestic wastewater disposal; water 
supply; food and food handling. Whenever the term “Code” is used herein, such reference shall 
be to the Sanitation Code of Reno County, Kansas. 

S. Schedule of Compliance: A schedule of remedial measures and times including an enforceable 
sequence of actions or operations leading to compliance with any regulation or limitation. 

T. Subdivision: Any tract of land that is or has been subdivided into two or more lots for the 
purpose of sale or building development, whether immediate or future, including the streets, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 5 ~ 
 

alleys or other portions thereof intended to be dedicated for public use; and any re-subdivision 
of land or lots. 

U. Recommend: Any recommendations in this code are for information only and are not 
mandatory. Under no circumstances shall a permit be denied for failure to follow a 
recommendation. Recommendations are completely optional and included for reference and 
information purposes only.     

 
Section V. Technical and Scientific Terms – Unless otherwise defined, any technical or scientific term 
used within this Code or within any regulation, restriction, or requirement shall be given the meaning 
most commonly known and applied within the appropriate literature or manuals applicable for that 
science, industry or technological skill. 

 
Section VI. Vested Interests – Nothing contained in this Code, or any regulations shall be deemed or 
construed to grant any vested interest or protected right to any person beyond the express limited terms 
of any permit or ruling issued under this Code, and the Code and regulations are expressly declared to 
be subject to amendment, change or modification. 
 
Section VII. Compatibility with Other Laws – Nothing contained in this Code or any regulations shall 
be deemed to alter or modify the application of any other laws, codes or regulations which are or may be 
applicable to the property, use, business activity or other object or matter regulated under this Code, and 
any permit, approval or other condition given or acknowledged under this Code shall be limited in effect 
to the requirements of this Code and shall not, under any circumstances, relieve the holder from 
compliance with all other applicable laws, codes, regulations or requirements. 

 
Section VIII. Variance of Requirements – In unusual cases where compliance with the requirements of 
this Code is not feasible, the RCPWD shall have the authority, and sole discretion, to waive the 
requirements, provided the RCPWD Administration is furnished with reliable information to show that 
such variance does not and will not impair the potability of the groundwater or otherwise endanger the 
health and safety of the individuals involved or the general public. Affected property owner must also 
provide written approval of any variance. Approval shall be filed of record with the Register of Deeds at 
the applicant’s expense. Requests for exception to any of the regulations as set out within this Code shall 
be submitted to the RCPWD in writing and shall contain all information relevant to the request. 
Occasionally an existing variance will be on file for a property that may apply to the current situation 
and no additional variance is needed.  The RCPWD shall review each site on a case-by-case basis and 
make a determination. The RCPWD shall recommend variances that meet the applicable state minimum 
standards.  Appeals from the decision of the RCPWD shall be made to the Reno County Sanitation 
Commission at a regular or special meeting of that Board, which shall advise the Reno County Public 
Works Department Director to approve a variance or sustain the decision of RCPWD.  Any such 
decision may be appealed to the Board of County Commissioners, who may or may not take it up at 
their next regular meeting.  If not taken up the decision of the Reno County Public Works Department 
Director shall stand.  

 
Article 3: Applications, Permits and Licenses 

Section I. Application Forms and Procedures 
A. Content – A completed Application for a permit or license shall be made on forms provided for 

that purpose. The application shall give a description of the character of the work proposed to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 6 ~ 
 

be done, or activity to be engaged in, and, if appropriate, the locations, ownership, occupancy, 
and use of the premises in connection therewith.  An application for any permit or license 
required under this Code shall be filed with the Agency.  Applications are not transferable to 
another owner. 

B. Verification – An application for a permit must be signed by the owner of the property to be 
improved and for which the permit is being requested or by his authorized representative. The 
RCPWD may require proof of such authorization, including approval of proposed plans. 

C. Compliance – The applicant and owner shall be responsible for compliance with the permit 
requirements as further set out in this Code. Only a person who complies with the requirements 
of this Code shall be entitled to receive or retain a permit or license. 

 
Section II. Permits and Licenses Required – No person shall conduct, carry-on or perform any business 
or activity identified in this Section without first having obtained a valid permit in conformance with the 
requirements of this Code. 

A. *Permit for Private or Semi-Public Wastewater Disposal System – Every person who installs, 
removes, alters, repairs or replaces or causes to be installed, removed, altered, repaired or replaced 
any private wastewater disposal system or part thereof shall, prior to commencement of any work, 
apply for and obtain a permit to perform such work, and no private wastewater disposal system 
shall be installed, removed, altered, repaired or replaced except pursuant to a permit issued under 
this Article. Permits are required for all wastewater tank installations or replacements, lateral field 
installation or replacements, installation of units that alter the wastewater system’s chemistry and 
function, and other wastewater systems that would be installed or replaced. 

B. *License for Wastewater Contractor/Site Specific Wastewater Contractor/ Installer – Every 
person who conducts the activity of an installer as defined in Chapter 2 of this Code, shall apply 
for, obtain, and maintain a valid operator’s license to perform that activity.  

C. Licensed Wastewater Reciprocity – Installers who are not licensed in Reno County but are 
licensed in a county with similar testing requirements may submit their testing and experience 
and request license based on reciprocity. 

D. License for Sanitary Service Contractor – Every person who engages in or conducts the activity 
of a Sanitary Service Contractor, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Code, shall apply for, obtain and 
maintain a valid operator’s license to perform that activity. 

E. *Permit for Private Water Supplies – Every person who installs, drills, develops, constructs, or 
reconstructs any private water supply on any premises subject to the Code shall, prior to 
commencement of any work, apply, and obtain a permit, to perform such work.  

* Includes Homeowners. 

Section III. Construction Plans – The RCPWD shall require plans, specifications or drawings and such 
other information as deemed necessary in pursuant of a permit or license.  

 
Section IV. Permit/License Issuance; Investigations – If the RCPWD determines that the application 
complies with the requirements of this Code, a permit for construction or license for operation shall be 
issued. In making this determination the RCPWD may perform an inspection to determine compliance 
with this Code.  Within ten (10) working days after receipt of an application for a permit or license, the 
RCPWD shall begin such investigations and inspections as it shall deem necessary to determine whether 
the permit or license shall be issued or not issued and shall issue the permit or license within twenty (20) 
working days of receipt of the application or explain in writing the reason it cannot be issued. If the 
application is not issued, the RCPWD shall give the applicant written reason it is not issued.  It shall be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 7 ~ 
 

the duty of the person performing the work authorized by a permit to notify the RCPWD when work is 
ready for any required inspection. Such notification shall be given not less than one regular working day 
before the work is to be inspected. Permits usually shall be issued within 2 business days following the 
receipt of plans and staff confirming no conflicts exist with other agencies.  In rare situations when more 
time is required, staff shall communicate within 2 business days of the reason for the delay and 
approximate time a permit decision shall be made. 
 

Section V. Permit and License Conditions – Every permit and license issued under this Code shall be 
subject to the terms and conditions specified in this Section. 

A. Right of Access – Application for, and acceptance of, any permit issued under this Code shall 
grant to any inspector, code or law enforcement officer, and any representative of the RCPWD 
the right to enter upon any property subject to the permit, at any reasonable time during standard 
business hours, with or without notice, for the purpose of inspection to determine and ensure 
qualifications for and compliance with the permit, and shall allow for reasonable access to and 
review of records, property or other materials necessary to perform the inspection. 

B. Authorized Activity – Each permit or license issued under the authority of this Code shall be 
limited to and expressly provide for the type and manner of activity permitted for the holder and 
shall not be used nor applied for any other purpose, type, or manner of activity. The permit or 
license issued shall specifically refer to the activity description contained within the permit or 
license application, and any change in the type, manner, scope, or location of any activity shall 
require application for and modification of the permit or license. 

C. Application, Permit or License Non-transferable – No application, permit, or license, required 
by this Code shall be transferable to another activity, person or premises and the holder of the 
permit or license shall notify the RCPWD prior to any change in ownership or location of any 
permitted licensed activity. 

D. Term Expiration – Each permit for construction or license issued under the authority of this 
Code shall clearly state the date of issuance, the term of the permit or license, and the expiration 
date. The term of each permit or license issued under this Code shall be for a period not to 
exceed one (1) year unless the RCPWD determines, for cause shown, that the permit or license 
should be issued for a period of time other than one (1) year; in which case, the RCPWD may 
designate a lesser time when the activity can or maybe fully completed within the shorter period, 
or may designate a greater time, but in no event more than three (3) years, subject to annual 
review and payment of any required fee, where the activity is reasonably known or contemplated 
for continuation beyond one year.   

E. Permit Factors Conditions and Assumptions – A permit is approved subject to the conditions 
and upon the terms, details and requirements of the approved construction plan, wastewater 
application, soil profiles, and the county’s wastewater inspection.  It is assumed the property 
owner has read and informed themselves in regard to the maintenance and operation of the 
wastewater system that may be constructed or repaired.  It is also assumed the owner has or 
obtained legal authority to utilize a utility easement or physically crossing a utility easement line 
for the placement of the wastewater system where applicable. Without a survey from a Kansas 
Licensed Surveyor, the county staff cannot determine with certainty that the proposed system 
conforms to the code’s setback requirements from the adjacent property lines and road right of 
way.  Therefore, the County’s inspection of the proposed site or the county’s issuance of a permit 
is based on information provided by the Owner and or contractor. RCPWD shall confirm tract 
sizes based on recorded deeds as necessary, generally when preliminary records show the tract is 
within 0.5 acres of a minimum code size. Water well construction shall comply with Kansas law 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 8 ~ 
 

described in K.S.A., 82a-1201, et seq. (Article 12), and KDHE water well regulations described 
in K.A.R. 28-30-2, et seq., and amendments thereto.  Water well construction shall meet the 
current standards of KDHE Article 30 and 12.  

F. Permit Renewal – Any permit issued under the authority of this Code may be renewed for one 
or more additional terms upon application for renewal filed with the RCPWD on a form 
authorized for that purpose. No permit which has been expired for more than thirty (30) working 
days or which is subject to revocation, for any reason, may be renewed, and such permits may be 
reissued only upon the filing of a complete application for a new permit All applications and fees 
expire in (3) years if a permit has not been issued.  See other chapters for permit renewal details 
(i.e. semi-public permit renewal).  

G. Error and Omissions – The issuance of a permit or license shall not prevent the RCPWD from 
thereafter requiring the correction of errors in plans and specifications or from preventing 
construction activity being carried on thereunder when such activity would be in violation of this 
code or of any other code or resolution or from revoking any permit or license when issued in 
error. The RCPWD may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit issued under provisions of this 
Code whenever the permit is issued in error or on the basis of incorrect information provided by 
the applicant or contractor. 

 
Section VI. Permit and License Revocation – A permit or license may be revoked for failure to comply 
with this Code. The revocation procedure shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 5.  
 
Section VII. Fees 
 

A. Standard Fees – For the purpose of defraying all or part of the cost of administration of this 
Code, the Board of County Commissioners shall establish a schedule of fees for all permits and 
licenses required by the Code. The fees imposed under this Code shall be paid by the applicant 
prior to the issuance of any permit or license authorized by the Code, and all annual fees shall be 
paid prior to the anniversary or expiration date of a permit or license, where applicable. Fees shall 
accompany all applications and be remitted prior to any site evaluation or license issuance.  

B. Double Fee for Unauthorized Practices – Any person who shall commence any activity for which 
a permit is required by this Code without first having obtained the permit shall, if subsequently 
permitted to obtain a permit, pay double the permit fee fixed by this section for such activity, 
provided, however that this provision shall not apply to emergency work when such work was 
urgently necessary to protect public health and safety and it was not practical to obtain a permit 
before commencement of such emergency work. In all such cases, a permit must be obtained 
within three (3) working days after the performance of such work or a double fee as herein provided 
shall be charged. 
 

Section VIII. Supplemental to State Regulations – The permits or licenses, and all fees, conditions and 
regulations imposed under this Section, or any other Section of this Code shall be supplemental to and 
in addition to any permits, licenses, fees or regulations imposed or required by any other law, including 
but not limited to those administered by the Kansas Dept. of Health & Environment, the Kansas 
Department of Agriculture’s Division of Water Resources, the Equus Beds Groundwater Management 
District No. 2, etc. 

A. Conflict in Regulations or Requirements – All regulations, restrictions, and requirements of this 
Code shall remain in effect and shall apply to any activity or condition covered by this Code 
except when in direct conflict with a provision of the State regulations, in which case the State-

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 9 ~ 
 

imposed regulations shall apply. Terms and conditions, requirements, regulations or limitations 
which are supplemental to those imposed by the State and which are not specifically or expressly 
excluded or prohibited shall not be considered conflicting and shall be imposed and in effect. 

B. Additional Regulations – Regulations and requirements applicable to any conduct, activity, 
condition or standard, which are not expressly regulated by operation of State law, but which are 
regulated by this Code, shall be and remain in full force and effect as specifically applied under 
this Code for and within Reno County, Kansas. 
 
 

Article 4:  Inspections and Investigations 
 
Section I. Inspections Required – Physical site inspections shall be authorized and performed for all 
activities under this code. 

A. Construction Activity – Whenever plans and specifications are required by this Code to be 
submitted as part of a permit application, the RCPWD shall inspect the premises prior to the 
start of operations to determine compliance with the approved specifications and with any other 
requirements of this Code. 

B. Private, Semi-Public Water Wells and Wastewater Systems – Private and semi-public water wells 
and wastewater systems shall be inspected by the RCPWD prior to being placed in operation to 
ensure compliance with this code. Such systems shall be inspected thereafter as often as necessary 
to ensure compliance with this Code.  No portion of the wastewater system shall be covered or 
made inaccessible to inspection prior to approval. Private and Semi-public water wells shall be 
inspected by staff of above ground construction requirements for KDHE Article 12 and 30. Staff 
shall use the approved/permitted plans on file submitted by the contractor or owner as a guide 
to conducting the final inspection. Staff shall use photographs and GIS to document inspection 
findings whenever possible.  Applicants may submit photographs for approval and use by county 
staff. Staff may provide educational handouts as appropriate.  

 
Section II. Inspection Reports – A written inspection report shall be made for all inspections conducted 
under the authority of this Code, stating the name of the inspector, the date and time of the inspection, 
the type of inspection and the property inspected. The report shall enumerate all findings made during 
the inspection. Staff may use photographs and GIS to document inspection findings whenever possible.  
Applicants may submit photographs for approval and use by county staff.  Staff may provide educational 
handouts as appropriate.  Whenever a private or semi-public water well or wastewater system is inspected 
after a permit is issued, the findings of the inspector shall describe any identified violations, the Code 
section violated, and the correction to be made.  A copy of the completed report shall be issued to the 
owner of the premises and, if different than the owner, to the holder of the permit.  All final County 
forms are public records available upon request.  Drafts and county staff documents such as notes, and 
electronic communications are not public record. 

 
Section III. Inspection Scheduling and Re-inspections – Whenever inspections are required under this 
Code to be scheduled for any installation, construction, initial activity, or for the correction of any 
violation or other non-conforming condition, it shall be the duty of the holder of the permit or license 
or the establishment to notify the RCPWD and schedule the time and date for the inspection. Use of 
electronic software for permit processes and investigations maybe used by staff whenever possible and 
applicants and contractors are encouraged to use electronic software as well. Staff may not complete 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 10 ~ 
 

forms that are intended to be completed by the applicant or contractor. Staff will make best efforts to 
keep track of all communications from all parties in a chart and to retain all records related to the permit. 

Section IV. Access and Right of Entry – The RCPWD shall have the right to make inspections of 
establishments, premises, places, and localities for the purpose of determining compliance with this 
Code. Inspections shall be done at a reasonable time. The RCPWD may examine the water usage records 
of any establishment that uses a private sewage disposal system for information pertaining to the amount 
of water used by the establishment. If the building, premises, or establishment to be inspected is occupied, 
the RCPWD representative shall first present proper identification and request entry; if such building or 
premises be unoccupied, he shall first make a reasonable effort to locate the owner, or other persons 
having charge or control of the building or premises, to request entry. If entry is refused, the RCPWD 
shall have recourse to all remedies provided by law to secure entry. The RCPWD shall have reasonable 
access to the business records of any person licensed to perform any activity under this Code where the 
records, daily logs, or other documents are reasonably necessary to determine compliance with the 
requirements of this Code. 
 
Section V. Educational handouts and lists – The County will update educational handouts and lists 
as needed and post on the county’s website as needed. This will include updates of new products or 
design approvals. Relevant state laws and regulations shall also be posted on the county’s website. 

Chapter Two 
DOMESTIC WASTEWATER TREATMENT 

Article 1: General 

Section I. Purpose – Wastewater is a potential source of disease and a potential hazard to the health, 
safety, and welfare of the public. It also poses a direct threat to the environment as a potential pollutant 
of the air, water, and soil, and presents a hazard to all forms of plant and animal life. It is the purpose of 
this Chapter to provide minimum standards for the sanitary treatment of all sewage generated or 
transported within Reno County unless otherwise regulated by competent authority. 
 

Section II. Scope – All wastewater must be disposed of by the use of a sanitary sewer system as defined 
in this Section. A sanitary sewer system may be classified as either a: public wastewater system, semi-
public wastewater system or a private wastewater system. 
 
Section III. Definitions – Unless the context requires or specifies otherwise, the following words, terms 
or phrases, as used in this Code, shall be given the meaning defined in this section. 

A. Absorption System: A private wastewater system for the treatment of sewage by means of 
absorption trenches and the biological decomposition of wastewater effluent in the adjacent 
soil. 

B. Absorption Trenches: One or more trenches of varying length and depth and of fixed 
horizontal separation in which effluent is percolated into the soil. 

C. Agriculture Land: Any land that is currently classified as agricultural by the Reno County 
Planning Commission. 

D. Alternative Wastewater System: A domestic wastewater system other than an anaerobic septic 
tank-soil absorption system, lagoon or privy that is used or designed to be used, to collect, treat, 
hold or discharge domestic waste from residential, industrial or commercial property. This 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 11 ~ 
 

includes, but is not limited to, such systems as; mounds, shallow and at-grade absorptions fields. 
E. ANSI: American National Standards Institute certification for wastewater products. 
F. Bedrock: A soil horizon which contains greater than 50% consolidated material, by volume. 
G. Cesspool: A drywell that receives untreated sanitary wastes containing human excreta. 
H. Class V Injection Well: A  septic system receiving only domestic wastewater and having the 

potential to serve 20 or more persons a day, any septic system receiving non-domestic 
wastewater, or any well authorized by the KDHE to inject as a UIC Class V well for remedial 
purposes. 

I. Composting Toilet: A dry toilet that treats human waste using organic matter. 
J. Distribution Box: A watertight chamber below the outlet level of a septic tank or treatment 

unit and from which effluent enters the absorption system. 
K. Domestic Septage: The liquid and solid material removed from a septic tank, lagoon, privy 

(portable or stationary), alternative wastewater system, portable toilet or similar device that 
receives only domestic wastewater. Domestic septage does not include commercial or industrial 
wastewater or grease removed from a grease trap. 

L. Domestic Wastewater: All water-borne wastes produced at family dwellings in connection with 
ordinary living including kitchen, toilet, laundry, shower, and bathtub wastewater. It also 
includes similar type wastewater produced at businesses, churches, industrial and commercial 
facilities, or establishments. Stormwater shall not be mixed with domestic wastewater. 

M. Drywell: A well or excavation completed above the water table so that its bottom and sides are 
typically dry except when receiving fluids. 

N. Enhanced Treatment System: This includes any private or semi-public wastewater system which 
has been designed to improve the quality of wastewater effluent going into the soil absorption 
field that is of higher quality than from a conventional septic tank.  Includes all media filters, 
aerated tanks, retro fit units, followed by a soil absorption system.  one or more of the 
following: biological oxygen demand, dissolved solids, suspended solids, nitrates, phosphorus, 
or bacteria is reduced prior to dispersal. Examples of such systems are aerobic septic tanks, 
sand, textile or peat filters and constructed wetlands. 

O. Flood Plain: The Flood Plain refers to land that is currently designated as part of the Flood 
Plain by the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 

P. Lateral Field Fill: Fill material should be sandy loam, free of debris including roots, man made 
materials, minimal to no clay content, and cannot contain characteristics of a water features. 

Q. GPD: Gallons Per Day. 
R. Graywater: All domestic water that does not contain water from toilets. 
S. Holding Tank: A watertight receptacle for the retention of wastewater either before, during or 

after treatment. 
T. Lateral Field:  System of perforated or pen joint sewer pipe positioned underground or cover 

within crushed rock/gravel beds, chambers, gravel less pipe or other approved material to effect 
transfer of septic tank or enhanced treatment effluent for final treatment and dispersal. 

U. New Construction: Means the initial construction or enlargement of the onsite wastewater 
treatment system, modification of the method or extent of sewage treatment, or replacement 
of a significant portion of the existing onsite wastewater treatment system.  

V. NSF: National Science Foundation certification for wastewater products.  
W. Non-Domestic Wastes: Any liquid or water-borne wastes, other than domestic wastewater, 

produced in connection with any industrial or commercial process or operation. 
X. Onsite Wastewater System:  Treatment system means of arrangement of devise, structures and 

mechanisms to treat and modify wastewater system from a structure, in locations where public 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 12 ~ 
 

sewerage is not available, in such a fashion as to prevent sewage from being a public health 
hazard, a detriment to environment or natural resources, or water pollutants.  

Y. Wastewater Contractor/Installer: Any person duly licensed to construct, install and/or repair 
private sewage treatment systems. 

Z. Private Wastewater System: Any septic system, lagoon, alternative wastewater system, privy, 
holding tank or other means of wastewater treatment that does not discharge to a public or 
semi-public wastewater system. 

AA. Pit Privy/Privy: A facility designed and/or used for the biological composting and disposal of 
human excreta. 

BB. Public Wastewater System: A wastewater system that is used or designed to be used for the 
collection, treatment, and discharge of domestic wastewater or industrial or commercial wastes 
and has a valid permit from KDHE. 

CC. Reconstruction: The replacement, alteration or repair of existing components of a private or 
semi-public wastewater system that improves or enhances the performance of the system or 
changes the classification of the wastewater system. 

DD. Sand Trap Waste: The sand, gravel and other solid material along with its associated liquid 
which settles from the effluent flow produced in connection with the commercial or industrial 
process of washing vehicles. 

EE. Sanitary Service: The pumping out and/or removal of wastes, sludge or human excreta from 
privies, septic systems, lagoons, alternative wastewater systems, enhanced treatment systems and 
other private or semi-public wastewater systems, and the transportation of such material to a 
point of final disposal treatment. 

FF. Sanitary Service Contractor: Any person duly licensed to perform sanitary disposal services. 
GG. Semi-Public Wastewater System: A wastewater system used for the on-site collection and 

treatment of domestic wastewater only, that accepts, or is designed to accept, greater than 1,000 
GPD but no more than 2,500 GPD and does not discharge to the surface waters of the State. 

HH. Septic System: An anaerobic septic tank-soil absorption system used for the collection and 
treatment of domestic wastewater. 

II. Septic Tank: An approved, watertight, accessible, covered receptacle designed and constructed 
to receive sewage in which three processes take place: settling of the solids, the digestion of some 
of the accumulated solids by anaerobic action, and separation of the floatable scum. 

JJ. Single Family Waste Stabilization Pond: An artificial or man-made structure which is not a 
public wastewater system and into which 1,000 GPD or less of domestic wastewater is 
discharged and confined for treatment. It is otherwise referred to as “lagoon” herein. 

KK. Site specific Licensed Wastewater Contractor: A property owner that is only licensed to 
construct, install, maintain, and repair private sewage treatment system(s) on their own 
property.  

LL. Soil Mottles: Spots or streaks of contrasting soil colors that indicate the presence of a seasonal 
water table zone. 

MM. Wastewater Contractor: Any individual or company that constructs, reconstructs, or modifies 
private or semi-public wastewater systems.  

NN. Wastewater (Sewer) District: A special district authorized and empowered by state statutes to 
plan, construct and operate a public wastewater system. 

 
Section IV. Rules of Application – The requirements established by Chapter 2 of the Reno County 
Sanitation Code shall apply and be applicable to any and all private and semi-public wastewater systems 
now or hereafter installed, used or operated upon any property located within Reno County, Kansas 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 13 ~ 
 

subject to the provisions of this Code. 
A. General Regulation: No person shall construct, reconstruct, or modify, nor cause or allow the 

construction, reconstruction, or modification of any private wastewater system except as 
permitted or allowed within the requirements of this Code. No commercial or industrial waste 
shall be directed to a private or semi-public wastewater system. 

B. Existing Systems Treating Domestic Waste: Any private sewage treatment system installed prior 
to the effective date of this Code and used exclusively for domestic sewage, and not industrial nor 
commercial wastes, may remain in use if, and as long as, it continues to operate in accordance 
with the original design and location, does not experience any system failure, and does not 
present any hazard to the public health, safety or welfare; however, any replacement, alteration, 
enlargement, repair, removal, conversion, improvement or demolition shall comply with the 
requirements of this Code or any later amendments, revisions or versions. Existing wastewater 
system components shall be brought up to code at the time of permit issuance and noted in plans.  

C. Existing Tank Replacement: Will not require a soil profile test to be conducted but will require 
photo or inspection of uncovered tank installed in the new location, prior to back filling.  Staff 
will conduct a final inspection.   

D. Installation of Holding Tanks: will not require a soil profile test to be conducted but will require 
photo or inspection of uncovered tank installed in the new location, prior to back filling.  Staff 
will conduct a final inspection.   

E. Consultation: Staff may consult with KDHE in unusual circumstances and follow KDHE 
interpretations during the permit process.    

 
Section V. Approval of Plans and Specifications 

A.  Private and Semi- Public Wastewater Systems- Plans and specifications for all wastewater 
systems shall be submitted to and approved by the RCPWD prior to starting any construction of 
such systems.  Wastewater systems shall meet the minimum design standards of the publications 
below, including depth and elevation of a wastewater system, setbacks, and in coordination of 
the proposed wastewater system and soil profile results.  See below and Appendix 2 for setbacks 
distance.  

                Private and Semi-Public Wastewater System Setbacks Distance 
 Minimum Setbacks for wastewater systems 
Setback Required 
Septic tank/Aerobic unit/ Retro Fit to 
foundation of a house or other building 

10 Feet 

Soil Absorption system to a dwelling foundation 20 Feet 

Any part of the wastewater system to:  
Public potable water line  25 Feet 
Private potable water line 10 Feet 

Property line 10 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Public water supply well or suction line 100 Feet 
Private water supply well or suction line 50 Feet 
Surface watercourse 50 Feet 
Wastewater Lagoons (Lagoon 5’ water level) to:  

Property line 50 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Dwelling foundation 50 Feet  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 14 ~ 
 

 
Any other distances not listed are subject to KDHE interpretation and KDHE Bulletin 4-2, and 
amendments thereafter. Any setbacks not identified in the above table refer to KDHE Environmental 
health handbook or other KDHE publications. 
 
It is good practice to remove trees within 25 feet of the absorption field or to provide a root barrier to 
keep roots out of absorption field.  
 
The standards of design, construction and location for such systems shall be extracted from independent 
standards current to the time of plan review. Such standards applicable at the time of this codes adoption 
are KDHE Bulletin 4-2, Minimum Standards for Design and Construction of Onsite Wastewater 
Systems, KDHE Environmental Health Handbook, KSU Extension, EPA Onsite Wastewater Manual, 
and any amendments thereafter. Under unique circumstances the RCPWD may require the system to 
be designed by an active Kansas licensed professional engineer or ask for review of the proposal by KDHE.   
 
 
Section VI. Wastewater Product Reviews- Wastewater storage and/or treatment product reviews will be 
conducted on products that are not included in KDHE Bulletin 4-2, and are intended to be installed as 
enhanced treatment, new style of soil absorption system, or treat/alter sewage treatment.  Literature 
submission shall include: an engineer approval, engineered designs, NSF or ANSI certification, regimen 
for maintenance, limitation of installations, and other information as requested by staff.  Other 
Wastewater certification may be accepted if comparable to either NSF or ANSI.  Proprietary wastewater 
products may only be installed per the certifications provided. County will issue an approval or non-
approval letter that will be sent to the local dealer.  
 
Section VII. Criteria for Plan Approval – Prior to issuing a permit for construction, a soil profile test of 
the proposed wastewater building site shall be conducted, in order to identify site limitations or 
restrictions.  Staff may also conduct a site inspection to determine any other site limitations and evaluate 
proposed plans for code compliance. Credentialing of persons wishing to complete a soil profile must 
meet the following criteria:  Soil profile abilities approved by a Kansas licensed soil scientist, Kansas 
licensed professional engineer, or have completed a soils class from Kansas Small Flows that was 
instructed by a college accredited professor or approved personnel. Proof of certification must be 
submitted to RCPWD. No permit shall be issued unless the proposed wastewater system meets accepted 
design standards for the conditions determined by the soil profile test. Soil profile findings shall include 
property owner name, address, date, location of soil profile, soil horizons, soil color, any mottling 
encountered, texture, structure, consistency, roots, remarks, loading rate, vegetation present ground 
level, and depth in inches to restrictive features, and signature and date of qualified person that 
conducted the soil profile.  County soil form can be provided for use if needed.  Soil profile results shall 
be submitted to the county in combination with other forms needed in the permit process.   Applicants 
may be asked to excavate additional soil profile pits or observational holes as needed.  If an existing soil 
profile has been completed in the area of the existing system, no future soil profiles are needed to be 
repeated, unless the site has undergone major changes. If the location of the wastewater system moves 
over 50’ from the original soil profile pit, then another soil profile pit may need to be completed by 
either the RCPWD or credentialed persons. Soil fill to be used may also be evaluated by staff or 
credentialed persons. 

A. Enhanced wastewater systems may be installed at owners’ discretion and are recommended but 
not required. Highly recommend following any prescribed maintenance from the manufacturer.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 15 ~ 
 

B. Parcels and lots established after the date of this code shall meet minimum code setbacks.    
C. New lots of record created after the date of this code shall meet the minimum setbacks and 

current design standards as identified in the following KDHE Bulletin 4-2, Minimum Standards 
for Design and Construction of Onsite Wastewater Systems and the KDHE Environmental 
Health Handbook, KSU Extension, and EPA Onsite Wastewater manual, and any amendments 
thereafter. 

D. In all circumstances, regardless of lot size, there should be a suitable area for immediate and 
eventual use as a private wastewater system, exclusive of buildings, non-porous driveways, and 
other public right of way easements.  This area is to be comparable in size to the current or 
proposed wastewater system.  In all cases sewage saturated soils and past wastewater system 
components may not be used for new lateral field installations.   

E. Inspection Ports – All lateral fields are required to have an inspection port installed at the end 
of each lateral.   Inspection port shall be constructed of solid PVC that is a 90 degree turn up 
and extending to at least grade level.  A solid removable PVC cap is to be installed.  

F. Effluent Filter – All existing or newly installed septic tanks shall be fitted with an effluent filter 
and installed per manufacturer specifications.  

G. Wastewater Construction Plans – Plans shall include setbacks, depth, and elevation of a 
wastewater system, in coordination of the proposed wastewater system, soil profile results, and 
soil amendments, site restrictions, and use of easements if applicable and reflect meeting the 
minimum design criteria for the above publications and any additional site criteria listed on the 
wastewater inspection form. If a floodplain or floodway is present on the property, additional 
criteria may be listed in the permit or on plans. Use of staff aerial, existing diagrams maybe used 
as part of plan submitted, if applicable.   Plans can be amended during the final inspection by 
the contractor to reflect the true installation. Plan amendments in all circumstances are to be 
initialed and dated. Contractors are responsible to ensure aggregate used meets the above design 
spec publications. Following the issuance of a permit for construction, and prior to covering any 
portion of the wastewater system, the permit holder shall contact the RCPWD and arrange for 
an inspection of construction for the purpose of assuring compliance with the conditions of this 
Code. 

H. Easements – Use of easements maybe considered by the RCPWD and approved by the county 
counselor. 

I. Engineer approved Exceptions – Reno County has had an experienced wastewater engineer 
review several historically used wastewater designs and installations, and upon approval they have 
been posted on the County’s website and may be used consistent with that approval. Any other 
designs and installations that are not in the publications identified in paragraph B above must 
be evaluated by a licensed engineer and that evaluation included with the application. 

J. In unique circumstances of same ownership of multiple homes and buildings on one parcel, the 
structures may be connected to one wastewater system.  Plans must reflect future wastewater 
system reserve areas may be located. 

K. No private or semi-public wastewater system shall be constructed if the applicant’s property line 
is within 400 feet of an existing public sewer, unless the RCPWD finds that connection to such 
a sewer is not feasible and that a domestic wastewater system, meeting the requirements of this 
Code, can be constructed on the property. 

L. Final Inspections of Construction – Staff shall use permitted plans as a guide to conduct a final 
inspection.  Multiple final inspections may be conducted, depending on the type of wastewater 
system installed and violations encountered.    Staff may use photos, collect measurements, and 
GIS to document inspection findings. Photo corrections by the contractor are allowed in some 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 16 ~ 
 

circumstances. Contractor will need to call staff if inclement weather is approaching and make 
arrangements for the wastewater system to be covered up, prior to staff completing a final 
inspection.  Photo submission is allowed as part of the arrangement upon staff approval.  

M. Class V Injection Wells – Owner/operators of private and semi-public wastewater systems 
meeting the KDHE definition of a class V injection well shall contact the KDHE and comply with 
or satisfy all requirements and regulation adopted by the KDHE, pursuant to Kansas 
Administrative Regulations, Article 46. 

 

Article 2: Prohibited Practices 

Section I. Private or Semi-Public Wastewater Systems – No person shall sell, use, or lease for use any 
real estate upon which is located a private or semi-public wastewater system which: 

A. Improperly discharges effluent as prohibited by Chapter Five, Article 1, Section I, Paragraph G of 
this code; or 

B. Discharges or receives industrial or commercial waste; or 
C. Discharges onto the surface of the ground, into watercourses, lakes, ponds, or any impoundment; 

or Causes fly breeding, produces offensive odors or any other condition that is prejudicial to 
health and comfort, and has documented violations that are not corrected.   
 

 

Article 3: Semi-Public Wastewater Systems 

Section I. Annual Permit – The owner of every semi-public wastewater system shall obtain a permit for 
the initial operation of the system and annually thereafter from the Agency. A permit for operation shall 
be issued by the RCPWD following an inspection of the system and said Agency’s determination that 
the system has been constructed according to approved plans and presents no significant health risk. No 
semi-public wastewater system shall be constructed or operated until the owner has obtained the required 
permit. 

 

Article 4: Semi-Public and Private Wastewater  
System Operation and Maintenance 

Section I. Proper Maintenance and Operation of Semi Public and Private Wastewater Systems 
A. All private and semi-public wastewater systems shall be maintained in good working condition, 

operating per permit issued, and shall not discharge onto the surface of the ground or drain into 
any stream or roadside ditch, or produce offensive odors or become a breeding place for flies, 
mosquitoes, or rats. Whenever the RCPWD shall find any private or semi-public wastewater 
system malfunctioning and causing any of the above prohibited conditions the RCPWD shall 
order the owner and/or user to correct the condition within thirty (30) working days and 
subsequent inspections will occur as needed. 

 

Article 5: Regulations for Sanitary Service Contractors 

Section I. License Required – No person shall remove, haul, transport, or dispose of any domestic septage 
without a valid license from the Agency. A valid sanitary service contractor’s license issued to a sole 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 17 ~ 
 

proprietor, a partnership or a corporation shall be valid as to all its agents and employees. 
 
Section II. License Term and Renewal – Any license issued under this Section shall expire on December 
31st of each year and must be renewed annually. All required license fees shall be paid at the time of 
application for the license or renewal, and no fee required under this Code shall be prorated or refunded 
for any partial term of part-year application. 
 
Section III. Standard of Performance-Every person licensed as a sanitary service contractor under this 
Section shall comply with the performance requirements specified in this Code. 

A. Equipment-A license holder shall maintain equipment to ensure that no spillage of sewage shall 
occur during transportation, and that employees of the licensee are not subjected to undue health 
hazards. All sewage shall be transported in an enclosed watertight tank. 

B. Vehicles-Sewage shall be transported only in vehicles approved for that purpose by the Agency. Each 
such vehicle must be inspected prior to issuance or renewal of a license to a sanitary services 
contractor. The vehicle must be kept in good working condition and the name of the licensee shall 
be clearly displayed on both sides of the vehicle in bold letters not less than 5 inches high. 

C. Disposal-All licensees shall comply with the requirements of Title 40, Part 503 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations: Sewage Sludge Use and Disposal and the KDHE Kansas Environmental 
Health Handbook and KDHE EPA 503 Land Application of Septage publication and any 
amendments thereafter.  Land application disposal logs shall be kept by the licensee for at least a 
period of 5 years and will need to be made available upon request of RCPWD staff.  

Article 6: Regulations for County wide  
and Site-specific Licensed Wastewater Contractors 

Section I. License Required – No person shall install, engage in the installation of, repair or modify a private 
or semi-public wastewater system unless that person holds a valid wastewater contractor license issued by the 
Agency. Employees of a validly licensed installer are not required to be separately licensed. 

 
Section II. License and License Renewal – Any license issued under this Section shall expire on 
December 31st of each year and must be renewed annually. All required license fees shall be paid at the 
time of application for the license or renewal, and no fee required under this Code shall be prorated or 
refunded for any partial term of part-year application. Proof of CEUs must be submitted with renewal 
application. Site specific Wastewater contractors shall only be issued one license and it will expire by 
anniversary date.  
 
Section III. Standard of Performance – Prior to the issuance or renewal of a license under this Article, 
the applicant shall be required to demonstrate adequate knowledge of State and Local regulations 
pertaining to private and semi-public wastewater systems and general engineering principles pertaining to 
such systems. The RCPWD may consider actual experience, education, or professional licensing of the 
applicant in the granting or not granting of an application for an initial license or renewal, including 
prior revocations or disciplinary action. The County Wide Wastewater Contractor may list employees 
that are capable to work under the applicant’s license as a benefit to complete or edit plans. Attendance 
by any applicant to an appropriate training workshop, conducted or sponsored by the RCPWD or other 
recognized governmental, education or professional institution, and satisfactory completion of 80%, a 
written examination administered by the RCPWD covering subjects related to public health concerns, 
wastewater treatment techniques, standards for design or construction or installation of wastewater 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 18 ~ 
 

systems, wastewater treatment theory, and/or soil science, shall satisfy the requirements of this Section.  
 

Section IV. Reciprocity — Licensure in other counties shall be reciprocal if training, exam, and passing 
scores are equal or greater than those of Reno County.  
 
Section V. Continuing Education – Every person licensed as a wastewater contractor, under the 
authority of this Article, must obtain a minimum of three (3) hours of annual continuing education 
regarding onsite wastewater that must be approved by the RCPWD each calendar year, and no license 
issued under this Article shall be renewed without submission of a certification of the training to the 
Agency. Continuing education is not a requirement for site specific licensing.  
 
Section VI. License Revocation – A license may be revoked for failure to comply with this Code. The 
revocation procedure shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 7 of this Code. 

 
 

Chapter Three 
WATER SUPPLIES 

 

Article 1: General Provisions 

Section I. Purpose and Intent – The provisions of this code are for the purpose of regulating and 
controlling the development, maintenance, and use of private or semi-public water supplies in the 
unincorporated area of Reno County, Kansas, to ensure that public health is protected and contamination 
and pollution of the water resources within the county are prevented. 
 
Section II. Compliance Required – After the effective date of this code, no person shall construct or 
reconstruct on any property subject to this code, any semi-public or private water supply that does not comply 
with the requirements of this code. 
 

Section III. Definitions – In addition to the definitions provided in Chapters 1, 2 and 4 of this Code 
the words, terms and phrases listed below, for purposes of this chapter, are defined as follows: 

A. Abandoned Well: If meets at least one of the following conditions: (1) Use of the water well has 
been permanently discontinued. (2) Pumping equipment has been permanently removed from 
the water well. (3) The water well either is in such disrepair that it cannot be used to supply water 
or has the potential for transmitting surface contaminants into the aquifer, or both. (4) The water 
well poses potential health and safety hazards. (5) The water well is in such a condition that it is 
not an active well or cannot be placed in inactive status. 

B. Above Ground Surface Completion: The termination of a water well or boring if the casing used 
is at least 12 inches above the surrounding ground surface.  

C. Active Well: A water well which is an operating well used to withdraw water, monitor, or observe 
groundwater conditions. 

D. Annular Space: The space between the well casing and the bore hole or the space between two 
or more strings of well casings. 

E. Aquifer: An underground formation that contains and is capable of transmitting groundwater. 
F. Confined Aquifer: An aquifer overlain and underlain by impermeable layers.  Groundwater in 

a confined aquifer is under pressure greater than atmospheric pressure and may rise in a well 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 19 ~ 
 

above the point at which it is first encountered. 
G. Construction: All acts necessary to create a water well as defined in LL herein. 
H. Domestic Purpose: The use of water by any person(s) for household purposes, or for the watering 

of livestock, poultry, farm and domestic animals used in operating a farm, or for the irrigation of 
lands not exceeding a total of two acres for the growing of gardens, orchards and lawns. These 
wells will be commonly referred to as household wells or lawn and garden wells or small livestock 
wells. 

I. Groundwater: That part of the subsurface water which is in the zone of saturation. 
J. Grout: Material such as cement, neat cement, bentonite clay or other such material approved by 

KDHE used to create a permanent impervious watertight bond between the casing and the 
undisturbed formation surrounding the casing or between two or more strings of casing. 

K. Grout Tremie Pipe or Grout Pipe: A steel or galvanized steel pipe or similar pipe having equivalent 
structural soundness that is used to conduct pumped grout to a point of selected emplacement 
during the grouting of a well casing or plugging of an abandoned well or test hole. 

L. Heat Pump Hole: A hole drilled to install piping for an earth-coupled source heat pump system. 
M. Household Purpose: The use of water by a person for cooking, cleaning, washing, bathing, 

human consumption, rest room facilities, fire protection, and other uses normally associated 
with the operation of a household. 

N. Inactive Status: A water well that is not presently operating but is maintained in such a way that 
it can be put back in operation with a minimum of effort. 

O. Lawn and Garden well: A water well used for the outdoor watering of land not exceeding two (2) 
acres (gardens, trees, shrubs, and plants), or for filling swimming pools or the washing of vehicles, 
boats, trailers or building exterior associated with a residence or farm. 

P. Pitless Well Adaptor or Unit: An assembly of parts installed below frost line that permits pumped 
groundwater to pass through the wall of the well casing or an extension of the casing and prevent 
the entrance of contaminants. 

Q. Potable Water: Water free from impurities in amounts sufficient to cause disease or harmful 
physiological effects in humans and conforming to the most recent EPA primary drinking water 
standards. 

R. Private Water Supply: A water well supply used for domestic purposes, excluding public water 
supplies, semi-public water supplies and water supplies used for the watering of livestock on lands 
exceeding ten acres. Wells used for watering livestock less than 10.0 acres will be commonly 
referred to as small livestock wells.  

S. Public Water Supply: A water well that meets both of the following conditions: (1) Provides 
groundwater to the public for human consumption; and (2) has at least 10 service connections or 
serves an average of at least 25 individuals daily for at least 60 days during a calendar year. 

T. Pump Pit: A watertight structure constructed at least two (2) feet away from the water well and 
below ground level to prevent freezing or pumped groundwater and which houses the pump or 
pressure tank, distribution lines, electrical controls, or other appurtenances. 

U. Reconstructed Water Well: An existing water well that has been deepened or has had the casing 
replaced, repaired, added to, or modified in any way for the purpose of obtaining groundwater. 

V. Sanitary Well Seal: A manufactured seal installed at the top of the well casing which, when 
installed, creates an air and watertight seal to prevent contaminated or polluted water from 
gaining access to the groundwater supply. 

W. Semi-Public Water Supply: A water supply used for domestic purposes serving three (3) to nine 
(9) residential units (rental or under separate ownership) on a piped system. 

X. Setback Distances: The minimum distance a structure must be from another defined boundary 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 20 ~ 
 

or structure. 
Y. Small Livestock wells:  A well to water livestock on property less than 10 acres. 
Z. Static Water Level: The highest point below or above ground level which the groundwater in the 

well reaches naturally. 
AA. Test Hole: Any excavation constructed for the purposes of determining the geologic, hydrologic 

and water quality characteristics of underground formations. 
BB. Treatment: The stimulation of production of groundwater from a water well by a properly licensed 

person through the use of hydrochloric acid, muriatic acid, sulfamic acid, calcium or sodium 
hypochlorite, polyphosphates or other chemicals and mechanical means, for the purpose of reducing 
or removing iron and manganese hydroxide and oxide deposits, calcium and magnesium carbonate 
deposits and slime deposits associated with iron or manganese bacterial growths which inhibit the 
movement of groundwater into the well. 

CC. Uncased Test Hole: Any test hole in which casing has been removed or in which casing has not 
been installed. 

DD. Unconfined Aquifer: An aquifer containing groundwater at atmospheric pressure. The upper 
surface of the groundwater in an unconfined aquifer is the water table. 

EE. Water District: Any special district authorized and empowered by state statutes to plan, construct 
and/or operate a public water supply system. 

FF. Water Well: Any excavation that is drilled, cored, bored, washed, driven, dug jetted, or otherwise 
constructed, when the intended use of such excavation is for the location, diversion, artificial 
recharge, or acquisition of groundwater. 

GG. Water Well Contractor or Contractor: A n y  person who constructs, reconstructs or treats a water 
well. The term shall not include: (1) An individual while in the act of constructing a water well on 
land which is owned by such individual and is used by such individual for domestic purposes at 
such individual’s place of abode, but only when the well is constructed in compliance with 
prescribed minimum well standards as provided in this act; or (2) an individual who performs labor 
or services for a licensed water well contractor at such contractor’s direction and under such 
contractor’s supervision. 

Article 2: General Regulations 

Section I. Requirements of Application – The requirements established by Chapter 3 of the Reno 
County Sanitation Code shall apply and be applicable to all private and semi-public water wells now or 
hereafter installed, used, or operated upon any property located within Reno County, Kansas subject to 
the provisions of this Code. 

A. General Regulations – Unless otherwise provided or accepted in accordance with this Section, 
from and after the effective date of the Code, no person shall construct, reconstruct, or modify, 
nor cause or allow the construction, reconstruction, or modification of any private or semi-public 
well as permitted under and which complies with the established requirements of this Code. No 
public water supply wells shall be permitted by this code.  

B. Existing Water Wells – Any private or semi- public water well existing prior to the date of this 
code may remain in use if, and as long as, it continues to operate in accordance with the original 
design and location, does not experience any system failure, and does not present any hazard to 
the public health, safety or welfare; however, any replacement, alteration, enlargement, repair, 
removal, conversion, improvement or plugging shall comply with the requirements of this Code 
or any later amendments, revisions or versions. 

C. Staff may consult with KDHE in unusual circumstances and follow KDHE interpretations during 
the permit process.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 21 ~ 
 

 
Section II. Use Limitations and Prohibited Practices 

A. No permit for drilling a water well for private water supply purposes shall be issued to any person 
when in the discretion of the RCPWD the property can be served at a reasonable cost by a public 
water supply, or when the water supply to be accessed constitutes a significant, quantified health risk. 

B. No use of surface water (lakes, ponds, or streams) as a source of water for a private water supply shall 
be permitted.  

C. No person shall sell, lease, or rent any real estate upon which is located a private or semi-public water 
supply which fails to comply with the provisions of this Code after written notice of the defective 
condition has been given to the owner or responsible person by the Agency.   

 
Section III. Approval of Plans and Specifications 

A. Private and Semi- Public Water wells – Plans and specifications for all well water systems shall 
be submitted to and approved by the RCPWD prior to starting any construction of such systems.  
Each water well shall comply with KDHE Minimum Construction Standards in Article 30. 
Setback distances are listed below and in Appendix 2. 

 

Article 3: Private and Semi-Public Water Supplies 

Section I. Permit and plans – No person shall construct or reconstruct any private or semi-public water 
supply on any premises subject to the regulations of this code until a permit has been obtained from the 
Agency. See below and Appendix 2.  

Private and Semi-Public Well Setback Distances 
  Required Minimum Setbacks for water wells 
Property line or public right of way 25 feet (road right of way may not be included) 
*Contamination Source 50 feet 
Watertight sewer line 10 feet 
Surface water 50 feet 
Pump pit  2 feet 

*Contamination sources include sewer lines, pressure sewer lines, septic tanks, laterals, pit privies, seepage pits, 
fertilizer storage, pesticide storage, feed lots or barn yards, and other wastewater systems. Any other contamination 
sources and distances not listed are subject to Kansas law and/or KDHE interpretation and regulations in Article 
30.” 

 
Section II. Criteria for Plan Approval 

A. Plans shall include setback distances, site restrictions, and easements, and indicate compliance 
with minimum construction standards in Article 30 and any additional site criteria listed on the 
well inspection form. If a floodplain or floodway is present on the property, additional criteria 
may be listed in the permit or on plans. Use of staff aerial, existing diagrams may be used as part 
of plan submitted, if applicable.  Plans can be amended during the final inspection by the 
contractor/owner to reflect the true installation. Plan amendments in all circumstances are to be 
initialed and dated. If a proposed well location is within one (1) mile of known ground water 
contamination site, staff shall consult with KDHE.  

B. Use of easements shall be considered by the RCPWD and approved by the county counselor. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 22 ~ 
 

C. In unique circumstances of same ownership of multiple homes and buildings on one parcel, the 
structures may be connected to one water well.  If a structure or land is divided for new ownership 
and a common well is not to be shared, then a new water well shall be required that meets the 
Code’s standards. Plans must reflect when a future division occurs, the land division for each 
home and the proposed future well location. 

D. No private or semi-public water well intended for human consumption shall be constructed 
within a water district.  RCPWD shall notify water districts of when permitting any lawn and 
garden and small livestock wells within the district.  If the applicant proves to RCPWD that a 
hardship exists such that connection to such a water system is not feasible and domestic water 
well system meeting the requirements of this Code can be constructed on the property. RCPWD 
may grant a hardship permit for such a well. 

E. Final Inspections of Construction – Staff shall use permitted plans as a guide to conduct a final 
inspection. Multiple final inspections may be conducted, as needed, if violations are encountered.    
Staff may take/use photographs, measurements, GIS data to document inspection findings. 
Photographs of corrected issues taken by the contractor or owner may be allowed. Staff shall send 
final wellhead construction criteria to the contractor/owner. Photo submission is allowed as part 
of the arrangement upon staff approval.  

 
 

Article 4: Semi-Public Water Supplies 

Section I. Requirements for Semi-Public Water Supplies – No person shall operate or maintain a semi-
public water supply system that has been:  

A. Constructed or reconstructed after January 1, 1988, until it has been inspected and a permit issued 
by the Agency. 

B. Temporarily or permanently enjoined as a public health nuisance by a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

C. Found by the RCPWD not to comply with the provisions of this code and written notice thereof 
has been given to the owner or his agent. 

 
Section II. Conditions of Use – In addition to applicable the requirements of Article 3 of this Chapter, 
which pertain to semi-public water wells, the following is recommended: 

A. An initial test for all contaminants for which primary drinking water standards have been established 
by the KDHE. 

B. An initial and at least annual sample collection and testing for bacterial and nitrate. 
 
 

Article 5:  Well Status and Maintenance 

Section I. Plugging of Abandoned Wells, Cased and Uncased Test Holes, Inactive Status – All abandoned 
water wells and cased and uncased test holes shall be plugged in accordance with Article 12 and KDHE 
and/or GMD#2 water well regulations in Article 30. Water wells not in use may obtain KDHE and/or 
GMD#2 approval to place a well in inactive status rather than plug the well, if the landowner can present 
evidence as to the condition of the well and the landowner’s intentions to use the well in the future. 
 
Section II.  Private and Semi-Public Operation and Maintenance – All private and semi-public wells 
shall be maintained in good working condition, as permitted. Whenever the RCPWD finds any private 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 23 ~ 
 

or semi-public wellhead that is in violation of the code, the owner and/or user shall correct the condition 
within thirty (30) working days and subsequent inspections will occur as needed. 

 
Chapter Four 

PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY PROTECTION 

Article 1: General Provisions 

Section I. Purpose and Intent – The provisions of this chapter are adopted for the purpose of protecting 
the sources of water for public water supplies through the regulation and control of practices contributing 
to non-point source pollution within wellhead protection zones that have been approved by the governing 
body of the public water supply and the Reno County Board of County Commissioners. 
 
Section II. Definitions – In addition to the definitions provided in Chapters 1,2 and 3 of this code, the 
words, terms, and phrases listed below, for purposes of this Chapter are defined as follows: 

A. Animal Unit: Means a unit of measurement calculated by using the most current formula 
described by K.S.A. 65-171d and any future amendments thereof. See Appendix 2. 

B. Confined Animal Feeding Operation: Means any lot, pen, pool, or pond, which is: 
1. Used for the confined feeding of animals or fowl for food, fur or pleasure purposes. 
2. Not normally used for raising crops; and 
3. Not used for growing vegetation for animal food. 

C. Publicly Owned Treatment Works: Means any wastewater treatment facility licensed by the 
Kansas Department of Health and Environment which is operated, owned, or licensed to a 
benefit district, township, city, county, or state unit of government. 

D. Wellhead Protection Zone: Means a groundwater sensitive area identified by the public water 
supplier as being within the zone of capture, withdrawal, or other accepted method of delineating 
a public water supply well. Also referred to as source water protection zone or groundwater 
protection zone. 

Article 2: Prohibited Practices 

Section I. Confined Animal Feeding Operation – No person shall operate a confined animal feeding 
operation within a wellhead protection zone that has been constructed after the effective date of this Code 
that: 

A. Contains more than 1,000 animal units; or 
B. Contains any number of animal units within 300 feet of a public water supply well. 

 
Section II. Unlined Pit Privies – No person shall sell, use, lease or rent any unlined pit privy within a 
wellhead protection zone. 
 
Section III. Commercial Storage Tanks – Owners of commercial storage tanks located within a wellhead 
protection zone shall report to the public water supplier for their respective wellhead protection zone any 
release or unaccounted loss of inventory within 24 hours. 
 
Section IV. Publicly Owned Treatment Works Sludge – Within a wellhead protection zone, publicly 
owned treatment works sludge shall not be applied on or below the ground. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 24 ~ 
 

 

Chapter Five 
PUBLIC HEALTH NUISANCES 

Article 1: Public Health Nuisances 

Section I. Purpose and Intent –  The purpose and intent of this article is to outline those conditions 
which constitute a public nuisance and are deemed hazardous to public health. 

A. General – The RCPWD shall have the authority and power to examine all nuisances, sources 
of filth and causes of sickness that in its opinion may be injurious to the health of the 
inhabitants within the county. Whenever any such nuisance, source of filth or cause of sickness 
shall be found to exist on any private property or upon any watercourse  in this county, the 
RCPWD shall have the power and authority to order, in writing, the owner or occupant thereof 
at his own expense to remove the nuisance, source of filth, or cause of sickness within 24 
hours, or within such reasonable time thereafter as the RCPWD may order. Public nuisances 
shall include but shall not be restricted to the following: 

1. Any privy, privy vault, or other place used for the deposit of human excreta which 
permits animals or insects access to the excreta; which produces foul or objectionable 
odors; or is located so as to make pollution of any water supply probable.   

2. The collection or accumulation of any organic materials such as swill, meat scraps, dead 
fish, shells, bones, decaying vegetables, tree waste, dead carcasses, human or animal 
excrements, or any kind of offal that may decompose and create an attraction or breeding 
place for insects or rodents. 

3. Any animal pen that pollutes a water supply, underground water-bearing formation, or 
stream in a manner that is hazardous to human health or is maintained in a manner 
that creates an attraction or insect breeding place or is a rodent harborage or breeding 
place. 

4. Solid waste, which is stored, collected, transported, processed, treated, or disposed of 
contrary to the regulations, standards, or orders of the RCPWD, or in such a manner as 
to create a public nuisance. 

 
Section II. Inspections Required – Physical site inspections shall be authorized and performed for all 
activities under this code. 
 
Section III. Inspection Reports – A written inspection report shall be made for all inspections conducted 
under the authority of this Code, stating the name of the inspector, the date and time of the inspection, 
the type of inspection and the property inspected. The report shall enumerate all findings made during 
the inspection. Staff may use photographs and GIS to document inspection findings whenever possible.  
Time frames of corrections will be based on the severity of the public health nuisance.  Multiple 
inspections may occur. A copy of the completed report shall be issued to the owner of the premises. Final 
versions of County forms are public records available upon request. Drafts and County staff documents 
such as notes, and electronic communications are not public record.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 25 ~ 
 

 
Section IV. Inspection Scheduling and Re-inspections – Whenever inspections are required under this 
Code to be scheduled for any correction of any violation or other non-conforming condition, it shall be 
the duty of the property owner to notify the RCPWD and schedule the time and date for the inspection.   

Chapter Six 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ASSESSMENTS 

 
Article 1: Environmental Health Assessments 

Section I General Provisions – RCPWD coordinates with the Planning and Zoning Department in the 
evaluation of land development to ensure proposals can meet the sanitation code.  
Section II. Scope – Proposed Zoning permits and cases may be reviewed by environmental Staff to ensure 
the proposal does not interfere with the existing wastewater system or well, nor should the proposal have 
impeded future wastewater and well placement or replacement.  

Section III.  Definitions – Unless the context requires or specifies otherwise, the following words, terms, 
or phrases, as used in the Code, shall be given the meaning defined in this section. 

A. Interoffice Communication: A notification from the Planning and Zoning office to the 
Environmental Health Section requesting an evaluation of a proposal.  

B. Environmental Health Well Assessment: Either an office review or a site evaluation review of 
the proposal in regard to the existing or possible future well placements or replacements.  Review 
may contain notices of violations or agreements if discovered.  

C. Environmental Health Wastewater Assessment: Either an office review or a site evaluation 
review of the proposal in regard to the existing or possible future wastewater system placements 
or replacements. Review may contain notices of violations or agreements if discovered.  

D. Site Evaluations: An onsite inspection that is not associated with a permit process, to determine 
if a proposal shall meet code compliance requirements.  

Section IV. Requirements of Application – The requirements established by Chapter 6 of the Reno 
County Sanitation Code shall apply and be applicable to any and all private and semi-public wastewater 
systems and wells now or hereafter installed, used or operated upon any property located within Reno 
County, Kansas subject to the provisions of this Code. 
 
Section V. Reviews, Site Evaluations, and Reporting – Staff shall review proposals that have been sent 
from the Planning and Zoning office via interoffice communication or requested from individuals.  
Environmental Well and Wastewater Assessments forms shall be completed per proposal. 

A. Requests and Fees – All requests and fees shall be paid prior to any site evaluation.  
B. Site Plans – Site plans shall be submitted with each request.  
C. Office Reviews – Office reviews shall be completed by staff for all proposals, excluding 

subdivision reviews.   Unique circumstances may arise, and a site evaluation may be required.   
D. Site Evaluations – Site evaluations shall be completed for all proposals as needed by owner/ 

applicant or as needed by staff.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 26 ~ 
 

E. Subdivision Reviews – Subdivision reviews shall include a site evaluation per lot that includes a 
soil profile to determine adequate space for well and wastewater.  A test well shall be required to 
determine if water is present.  Water well shall be tested for at least bacteria and nitrates.   Staff 
may also review water geology with the Groundwater Management Districts. Each lot shall be 
identified prior to staff arrival. Soil profile shall be required per lot and to be conducted by staff 
or qualified persons. Other agencies may be consulted as needed. Applications for subdivision 
review and fees shall be submitted prior to any evaluation. 

F. Reporting – Staff shall complete the necessary inspection forms, including photos, GIS, soil 
profile forms, as needed for a determination of code compliance.  Final reports can include 
supportive documents and possible notice of violations. Multiple inspections can occur if 
necessary. All documentation shall be shared with the Planning and Zoning office, or other 
agencies as needed.   

G. Non-Approval – Non-approval of proposals will be in written format to owner/developer, and 
the Planning and Zoning office.  

H. Public Hearings – Staff can attend public hearings for the Reno County Sanitation Commission, 
Board of Zoning Appeals as requested from Planning and Zoning staff or applicant.   
 

Chapter Seven 

CODE ENFORCEMENT 
 

Article 1: Unlawful Conduct 

Section I. General Provisions – For the purpose of enforcing the regulations, conditions, requirements, 
and prohibitions established by this Code the following acts shall be unlawful: 

A. Obstruction of the Agency – No person shall willfully impede or obstruct a representative of the 
RCPWD in the discharge of his official duties under the provision of this Code. 

B. Operation without a Permit or License – No person shall do any act or engage in any activity for 
which a permit or license is required by this Code unless first obtaining such permit or license. 
The existence of emergency conditions may be a defense to this provision. 

C. Failure to Comply with Emergency Order – No person shall fail or refuse to comply with an 
emergency order of the RCPWD issued under Section A of this chapter. 

D. Failure to Comply with Permit or License – No person shall fail to comply with the specified 
terms or conditions of any permit or license issued under this Code nor do any act or engage in 
any activity of conduct regulated by this Code without a valid permit or license, nor continue 
activities or conduct subject to any permit or license which has expired, been suspended or been 
revoked under this Code. 

E. Failure to Comply with Regulations – No person shall do any act or engage in any activity which 
is regulated by any Section or Chapter of this Code except as authorized and permitted under the 
Code, and no person shall knowingly operate any activity regulated by this Code in any manner 
which does not comply with the requirements of the conditions and regulation specified in this 
Code. 

F. Falsification and Misrepresentation – No person shall falsify nor misrepresent any fact, 
information, produce, or data provided, required or submitted for any application, permit, 
license, inspection, examination, investigation, report, record, test or other determination 
required under this code. 

G. Failure to Repair or Correct – No person shall fail or refuse to repair or to correct any defect, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 27 ~ 
 

deficiency, or other condition, whether natural or otherwise, in any private or semi-public 
wastewater system which has caused, or which the RCPWD determines is likely to cause, within 
reasonable certainty, any improper discharge or other health hazard, unsanitary condition, or 
unlawful pollution. 

H. Prohibited Practices-No person shall permit, or allow to permit, any prohibited practice as 
established by this Code. 
 

Article 2: Enforcement Proceedings 

Section I. Emergency Orders – The RCPWD or other authorized code enforcement office or 
representative of the Agency, may issue such orders or directives as he deems necessary upon a 
determination that such action is required to prevent, contain, or eliminate an obvious violation of this 
Code or an imminent threat to the health or safety of the public. 

A. Health Risk – Whenever the RCPWD finds that an emergency exists which requires immediate 
action to protect the public health he may without notice or hearing, issue an order reciting the 
existence of such an emergency and require that such action be taken as he may deem necessary 
to meet the emergency, including the suspension of the permit or license. Notwithstanding any 
other provisions of this Code, such order shall be effective immediately and shall by enforceable 
in Reno County District Court. 

B. Work Stoppage – Whenever any work is being performed on a private sewage disposal system 
contrary to the provisions of this Code, the RCPWD representative may order the work stopped 
immediately by issuing an emergency order and serving it on any persons engaged in the doing 
or causing such work to be done, and any such person shall forthwith stop such work until 
authorized by the RCPWD to proceed with the work. 

C. Compliance – Any person, to whom an emergency order is directed, shall comply therewith 
immediately, but upon written request filed within five (5) days of issuance, shall be afforded a 
hearing before a Reno County Sanitation Commission as soon as possible. A hearing shall be 
held within ten (10) days of the issuance of such emergency order. 

 
Section II. Suspension of Permit or License – The RCPWD may suspend any permit or license that it 
issues if the holder thereof does not comply with the requirements of this Code.  The suspension shall 
become effective ten (10) days after the holder of the license or permit, or the premises subject to the 
permit, receives written notice of such suspension.  
The holder or other aggrieved party may request a hearing in accordance with Article 4, Section I of this 
Chapter. After a hearing, the hearing officer may uphold the suspension as originally ordered or modify 
it as he sees fit, but in no event shall he enter an order of suspension for a period longer than that set 
out in the original order. Both the original order and any order entered after an appeal may condition 
the length of suspension upon correction of the conditions upon which the suspension is based. 
 
Section III. Revocation of License – The RCPWD may revoke a license for serious or repeated violations 
of any of the requirements of this Code or for interference with the RCPWD in the performance of its 
duties.  Prior to revocation, the RCPWD shall notify, in writing, the holder of the license, of the specific 
reason (s) for which the license is to be revoked and that the license shall be revoked at the end of the 
ten days following service of such notice unless a written request for hearing is filed with the regulatory 
authority by the holder of the license within the 10-day period. If no request for hearing is filed within 
the 10-day period, the revocation of the license becomes final. 
Whenever a revocation of a license has become final, the holder of the revoked license may make a 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 28 ~ 
 

written application for a new license and pay the fee required. 
 

Article 3: Penalties and Prosecution 

Section I. Penalties – Any violation of any provision or requirement of this Code or the commission 
of any unlawful act or conduct specified in this Chapter shall be deemed to be a Class C 
misdemeanor punishable upon conviction by a fine of not less than $100.00 and not more than 
$500.00. Each day’s violation shall constitute a separate offense. 

 
Section II. Prosecution – The RCPWD is hereby authorized to apply to the District Court for 
enforcement of this Code, unless a municipality adopting this Code provides otherwise for the 
prosecution of violations arising within its municipal jurisdiction. In that event, the City Attorney of the 
municipality adopting this Code may prosecute violations of this Code in the name of the city in the 
municipal court of that city. 
 

Article 4: Appeals 

Section I. Appeal for Hearing – Except as otherwise provided in Section V or this Chapter, any person 
aggrieved by any notice, final order, or non-approval of a permit or license by the RCPWD files with the 
RCPWD within ten (10) days after the date of issuance of the notice, order, or non-approval a written 
request for a hearing setting forth the grounds on which the request is made. The filing of the request 
for hearing shall operate as a stay of any notice or order except an emergency order. 

 
Section II. Hearings – Appeals shall be heard by the Reno County Sanitation Commission at a regular 
or special meeting of that Board, which shall operate as the Hearing officers for appeals. 
 
Section III. Conduct of Hearing – Upon receipt of the appeal request, The Reno County Sanitation 
Commission shall set a time and place for a hearing and shall give the petitioner written notice thereof. 
The hearing shall commence not later than ten (10) days after the date on which the request for hearing 
was filed; provided that upon request of the aggrieved party, the hearing may be postponed for a 
reasonable time beyond such ten-day period. 
A record shall be made at the hearing, and the aggrieved party may be represented by counsel or 
another authorized person. The RCPWD shall have the burden to sustain any notice, final order, or 
other decision subject to the appeal. 

 
Section IV. Decision – Within ten (10) days after the conclusion of the appeal hearing, The Reno County 
Sanitation Commission shall issue a written recommendation to the Reno County Public Works Director 
and to the petitioning party. That recommendation may be to sustain, modify or overturn the decision of 
the Agency. The Reno County Public Works Director shall then make a determination to follow or not 
follow the recommendation. Any such decision may be appealed to the Board of County Commissioners, 
who may or may not take it up at  their next regular meeting. If not taken up the decision of the Reno County 
Public Department Director shall stand. 

 
Section V. Proceedings of Hearings – A summary of all proceedings of hearing, including the findings 
and appeal decisions of The Reno County Sanitation Commission, together with a copy of every notice 
and order related thereto, shall be filed with RCPWD. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 29 ~ 
 

Section VI. Application of State Law Procedures – The appeal of any final decision action of the 
RCPWD which is taken under the authority of a state administrative RCPWD in application of the Laws 
of the State of Kansas shall be subject to and conducted in accordance with the Kansas Administrative 
Procedures Act, K.S.A. 77-501, et Seq., and the provisions of that Act shall supersede any and all time 
limitations and procedures otherwise specified in this Code. 
The Kansas Administrative Procedures Act shall not apply to any proceeding arising out of an appeal 
from any decision or action taken solely under the authority of the Board of County Commissioners or 
the governing body of any city. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 30 ~ 
 

APPENDIX 1: Lagoon Construction Diagram 
 

Top View 
 
 

Lagoon Size A B C X (Slope) 
M-35 47’X47’ 35’x35’ 5’X5’ 3:1 
M-40 52’X52’ 40’x40’ 10’X10’ 3:1 
M-45 59’X59’ 45’X45’ 10’X10’ 3.5:1 
M-50 64’X64’ 50’x50’ 15’X15’ 3.5:1 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Cross Section View 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 4' berm width 

Berm- 2' 
Above grade

 X  
    

Wastewater Line 
  • Cleanouts at every turn  

and no greater than 100' 
apart. 

•  Installed at grade of 
0.125 • 0.25" drop I foot. 

 
 
 

Fencing Requirements: 
• Mesh size opening no larger than 2" by 4". 
• Minimum fence height of 4 feet. 
• Minimum gate width of 4 feet. 
• Fence on outside of berm if livestock are present. 
• Fence may be on top of berm if no livestock are present. 

References: KDHE Environmental Health Handbook, Kansas State University 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 31 ~ 

 

APPENDIX 2: Setbacks Distance 
Table 1. Wastewater Setbacks Distance 

 Minimum Setbacks for wastewater systems 
Setback Required 
Septic tank/Aerobic unit/Retro Fit to 
foundation of a house or other building 

10 Feet 

Soil Absorption system to a dwelling foundation 20 Feet 
Any part of the wastewater system to:  
Public potable water line  25 Feet 
Private potable water line 10 Feet 
Property line 10 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Public water supply well or suction line 100 Feet 
Private water supply well or suction line 50 Feet 
Surface watercourse 50 Feet 
Wastewater Lagoons (Lagoon 5’ water level) to:  
Property line 50 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Dwelling foundation 50 Feet 

Any other distances not listed are subject to KDHE interpretation and KDHE Bulletin 4-2, and 
amendments thereafter. Any setbacks not identified in the above table refer to KDHE Environmental 
health handbook or other KDHE publications or interpretations. 
 
Table 2: Water well setbacks Distance 

  Required Minimum Setbacks for water wells 
Property line or public right of way 25 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
*Contamination Source 50 Feet 
Watertight sewer line 10 Feet 
Surface water 50 Feet 
Pump pit  2 Feet 

Contamination sources include sewer lines, pressure sewer lines, septic tank, laterals, pit privy, seepage 
pits, fertilizer storage, pesticide storage, feed lots or barn yard, and other wastewater systems. Any other 
distances not listed are subject to KDHE interpretation and KDHE Article 12 and 30 an amendment 
thereafter.  

Table 3: Animal Units Definition 
Animal Animal Unit Value 
Horses 2.0 
Mature Dairy Cattle 1.4 
Beef Cattle over 700pounds 1.0 
Cattle over 700pounds .5 
Swine over 55pounds .4 
Ducks .2 
Swine less than 55 pounds .1 
Sheep or lambs .1 
Laying hens or Broilers with a liquid manure 
system 

.033 

Turkeys .018 
Laying Hens or Broilers with continuous 
overflow watering 

.01 

 
Total Animal Units = (# Animals) x (Corresponding Animal Unit Value) Reference: K.A.R. 28-16-56C (0) 1-10 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 32 ~ 

APPENDIX 3: Wastewater Treatment Manual Charts 

EPA Onsite Wastewater Treatment Manual Charts Pgs. 3-4, 3-5, 3-6  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 33 ~ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 34 ~ 

 

APPENDIX 4:  Lagoon Gal./Day  
 

KSU Wastewater and Pond Design and Construction Handout 

 
G. Morgan Powell 

Extension Natural Resource Engineer 
Barbara Dallemand 

Extension Assistant Specialist, On-Site Wastewater 
Ann Mayo 

Director of Environmental Health, 
Lyon County Health Department 

Publications from Kansas State University are available on the 
World Wide Web at: http://www.oznet.ksu.edu 

These materials may be freely reproduced for educational 
purposes. All other rights reserved. In each case, credit 

G. Morgan Powell et. al, Wastewater Pond Design and 
Construction, MF-1044, Kansas State University, October 

1997. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #8.A

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Patrick Hoffman, County Counselor

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Adoption of Reno County Sanitation Code

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Adopt Proposed County Sanitation Code
2. Deny Proposed County Sanitation Code

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Adopt proposed Amended Reno County Sanitation Code



RESOLUTION NO. 2024_________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS  

ADOPTING THE AMENDED COUNTY SANITATION CODE ENTITLED 

 “RENO COUNTY SANITATION CODE” 

 

WHEREAS, K.S.A. 19-3704 authorizes Counties to adopt a Sanitary Code; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Reno County, Kansas has prepared 

a Sanitary Code and submitted it to the Kansas Department of Environmental Health in accordance 

with K.S.A. 19-3704; and 

WHEREAS, the Secretary of the Kansas Department of Health and Environment has 

approved said Amended Sanitary Code; and 

WHEREAS, notice of the Public Hearing was published in the Ninnescah Valley News on 

January 26th, February 2nd, and February 9th, 2024, citing the purpose of the hearing was to consider 

testimony regarding the proposed adoption of the Amended Sanitation Code; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners conducted a public hearing on February 

28th, 2024, in accordance with K.S.A. 19-3704; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and finds that the 

Amended County Sanitation code is necessary to be more in line with Kansas Department of 

Health and Environment’s minimum standards Bulletin 4-2; and  

 WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined and finds that a 

Sanitary Code is necessary to promote and protect the public health, safety, and general welfare of 

the persons of Reno County. 



 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Reno County Board of County 

Commissioners does hereby adopt the Amended County Sanitation Code for the unincorporated 

territory of Reno County entitled “Reno County Sanitation Code”. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that said Amended Sanitation Code is hereby adopted 

by reference as if it were fully set forth herein as provided by K.S.A 12-3303. 

 PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this 28th day of February 2024. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

________________________________________ 

Randy Parks, Chairman 

 

________________________________________ 

Don Bogner, Vice-Chairman 

 

________________________________________ 

ATTEST:     Daniel Friesen, Member  

__________________________ 

Donna Patton, County Clerk   ________________________________________ 

Ron Hirst, Member 

 

________________________________________ 

John Whitesel, Member 



MEMORANDUM 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Reno County has amended the entire county sanitary code to be more in line with Bulletin 4-2. 

Attached for signatures are an amendment for the Reno County Sanitation Code and a letter to Patrick Hoffman
County Attorney and Counselor notifying the approval of the Reno County Sanitation Code. 

If you should have any questions or concerns please contact me at your earliest conveinance. (785) 296-0051

January 10, 2024

Janet Stanek, KDHE Secretary

Watershed Management Section, Chief
Michael Beezhold, Bureau of Environmental Field Services

Adoption and Amendments: Reno County Sanitation Code Adopted January 1, 1988, Amended May 15, 1991, 
Amended August 1, 1994, Amended July 2, 2003-

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



Amendment 

The parties to this agreement hereby agree to amend provisions as follows: 

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have affixed their signatures. 

Mike Beezhold, WMS Section Chief 

1.

2.

3.

Regarding

and

Erich Glave, BEFs Director

Emily Quinn, Attorney

Leo Henning, Deputy Secretary 

Janet Stanek, KDHE Secretary 

Chairman, Board of County Commissioners

Reno County Sanitation Code Amendment

Board of County Commissioners, K.S.A. 19-3701

All other provisions of the Agreement are reaffirmed.

Adoption and Amendments: Reno County Sanitation Code Adopted January Amended May 
15, 1991, Amended August 1, 1994, Amended July 2, 2003.

Adpotion and Amendments: Reno County Sanitation Code January _10_, 2024.

Kansas Department of Health and Environment

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 
 

January 10, 2024 

 

 

Patrick Hoffman 

County Attorney and Counselor  

206 W 1st Ave 

Hutchinson, KS 67501  

 

Regarding: Environmental/Sanitary Code of Reno County, Kansas 

 

Dear Mr. Hoffman, 

 

The revised Reno County Environmental/Sanitary Code has been reviewed and approved by the Kansas 

Department of Health and Environment (KDHE), in accordance with Kansas Statutes Annotated (K.S.A.) 19-

3704. An official copy of the proposed sanitary code, as approved by this Agency, is attached for your records.   

 

After the Reno County Environmental/Sanitary Code has been officially adopted by the Board of County 

Commissioners, please send a copy of the adopted code and the completed County Code Adoption Form 

(attached) to the following email address: Adrienne.miller@ks.gov 

 

KDHE recommends you contact the Reno County Conservation District office, KSU extension office, 

contractors, and lending institutions within Reno County, to inform them of the changes to the code.  

 

If you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact Adrienne Miller at (785) 296-7165 or 

Adrienne.miller@ks.gov. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Janet Stanek  

Secretary 

Kansas Department of Health and Environment  

 

Enclosures: Reno County Sanitary/Environmental Code 

County Code Adoption Form 

 

cc:  Randall Parks, County Commissioner, 206 W 1st Ave, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 
 

 
Reno County 

Sanitation Code 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 1 ~ 
 

Reno County Sanitation Code Adoption and Amendments: Adopted January 1, 1988, Amended May 15, 
1991, Amended August 1, 1994, Amended July 2, 2003 

 

Table of Contents 
  Subject  Page No. 

 
Chapter 1 – Administrative Procedures 
Article 1 General Provisions ........................................................................................................................2 
Article 2 Administration...............................................................................................................................3 
Article 3 Applications, Permits and Licenses..............................................................................................5 
Article 4 Inspections and Investigations .....................................................................................................9 
 
Chapter 2 – Domestic Wastewater Disposal 
Article 1 General Provisions ........................................................................................................................10 
Article 2 Prohibited Practices .......................................................................................................................15 
Article 3 Semi-Public Wastewater Systems.................................................................................................16 
Article 4 Private & Semi-Public Wastewater System Operation and Maintenance ...............................16 
Article 5 Regulations for Sanitary Service Contractors................................................................................16 
Article 6 Regulations for Wastewater Contractors.......................................................................................17 
 
Chapter 3 – Water Supplies 
Article 1 General Provisions ...........................................................................................................................18 
Article 2 General Regulatons.........................................................................................................................20 
Article 3 Private & Semi-Public Water Supplies............................................................................................21 
Article 4 Semi- Public Water Supplies……………………………………………………………………………….….….….22 
Article 5 Well Status and Maintenance………………………………………………………………………………..………22 
 
Chapter 4 – Public Water Supply Protection 
Article 1 General Provisions ...........................................................................................................................22 
Article 2 Prohibited Practices .........................................................................................................................23 
 
Chapter 5 – Public Nuisance 
Article 1 Public Health Nuisances……………………………………………………………………………………….……23 
 
Chapter 6 – Environmental Health Assessments  
Article 1 Environmental Health Assessments……………………………………….……………………………….…..24 
 
Chapter 7 – Code Enforcement 
Article 1 Unlawful Conduct ................................................................................................................... 26 
Article 2 Enforcement Proceedings .........................................................................................................26 
Article 3 Penalties and Prosecution .............................................................................................................27 
Article 4 Appeals ...........................................................................................................................................27 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 Lagoon Construction Diagram................................................................................................29 
Appendix 2 Setbacks and Animal Units.....................................................................................................30 
Appendix 3 EPA Wastewater Treatment Chart………………………………………………………………….……31-32 
Appendix 4 KSU Lagoon Sizing Chart………………………………………………………………………….……………33 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 2 ~ 
 

Chapter One 
ADMINISTRATIVE  

Article 1: General Provisions 

Section I. Title – This Code shall be known and referred to as the Reno County Sanitation Code. 
 
Section II. Legal Authority – This Code is adopted under the authority granted to the Board of County 
Commissioners by K.S.A. 19-3701 et. Seq. as amended. 
 
Section III. Findings and Declaration of Policy – The County Commissioners find that provisions for 
adequate and reasonable control over the environmental conditions in unincorporated areas of the 
county are necessary and desirable; and that it is necessary to adopt a sanitation code to: 

A. Eliminate and prevent the development of environmental conditions that are hazardous to health 
and safety; and  

B.  Promote the economical and orderly development of land and water resources of the county. For 
those reasons and objectives, it shall be the policy of the Board of County Commissioners to 
amend this code from time to time with respect to any matter affecting environmental sanitation 
and safety. 

 
Section IV. Purpose – The purpose and intent of this code is: 

A. To prescribe the administrative procedures to be followed in administering this sanitation code 
or any amendments thereto. 

B. To prescribe regulations for controlling practices to minimize health and safety hazards. 
C. To establish administrative procedures to facilitate fair and equitable regulation while recognizing 

the rights of affected persons to receive reasonably prompt processing and to appeal 
administrative decisions. 

 
Section V. Jurisdiction and Application – This Code and all authorized regulations, restrictions, and 
requirements shall apply from and after the effective date and adoption to and throughout the 
unincorporated area of Reno County, Kansas, and to all persons, property, establishments, and business 
activities located or conducted, regardless of ownership and acreage, within Reno County, Kansas, and 
outside municipal boundaries of any city. 
 

Section VI. Severability – If any clause, sentence, paragraph, section, or subsection of this Code shall be 
adjudged invalid for any reason whatsoever, such judgment shall not affect, repeal, or invalidate the 
remainder thereof, but shall be confined to the clause, sentence, paragraph, section or subsection thereof 
found to be invalid. 
 
Section VII. Disclaimer of Liability – This Code shall not be construed or interpreted as imposing upon 
the County, or its officials or employees: (1) any liability or responsibility for damages to any property; or 
(2) any warranty that any installation, system, or portion thereof that is constructed, repaired, or modified 
under permits or inspections required by this Code shall function properly. In addition, any employee 
charged with the enforcement of this Code, who acts in good faith and without malice in the discharge 
of his duties, shall not thereby be personally liable for damage which may occur to any person or property 
as a result of the discharge of his duties. 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 3 ~ 
 

Section VIII. Amendments and Additions – This Code may be supplemented, or its provisions may be 
amended by Resolution adopted by the Board of County Commissioners, after notice and hearing, as 
required by law, and any such amendments or additions shall be incorporated within and codified as a 
part of this Code. Any changes, modifications or additional provisions adopted and imposed by State or 
Federal law or regulation which are applicable to and administered through the jurisdiction of Reno 
County, Kansas shall be incorporated within and made part of this Code, with or without notice and 
hearing, as authorized or required by State or Federal law. 

 
Section IX. Repeal and Supersede Effect – This Code shall supersede any and all previously adopted 
Resolutions or regulations, which are, in whole or in part, in conflict with any provision of this Code, 
where applicable, any regulation or resolution which is or was in effect upon the effective date of this 
Code shall be repealed to the extent necessary to give this Code full force and effect, and in the case of 
any conflict of provisions, whether real or apparent, then the provision of this Code shall govern wherever 
applicable. 
 
Section X. Effective Date – This Code shall become effective from and after the date of adoption by the 
Board of County Commissioners, or other appropriate jurisdiction, and publication of notice as required 
by law. 

Article 2:  Administration 

Section I. Administering Authority – This code shall be administered by the Reno County Public Works 
Department, and the Director of that department or his or her designee(s) shall have the authority and 
responsibility for the administration of this Code. Here in after the Reno County Public Works 
Department shall be referred to as RCPWD. Under the authority of any particular Chapter or Article 
of this Code, the RCPWD may implement such administrative procedures consistent with this Code. 
 
Section II. Administrative Actions and Decisions –  

A. It is the intent of this Code to establish regulations and standards for the protection of the public’s 
health and safety. To the extent possible, all administrative actions and decisions required or 
authorized for the administration of this Code shall be made solely in accordance with the 
standards enumerated in the Code.  Whenever in the course of an administrative decision or 
taking action for which standards are not provided then the decision or action shall be made 
according to the purpose and intents of this Code so that the result best serves the public health 
and safety. 

B. Any Policies created by the Reno County Public Works Director for the implementation of this 
code shall be reported to the Board of County Commissioners at their next regular meeting. 

 
Section III. Interpretation of Terms or Words – All terms and words used in this Code shall be 
interpreted and given meaning according to their common understanding and to provide reasonable 
application of the purposes and intent of the Code. Whenever applied to this Code, the terms and 
phrases used shall be interpreted in the following manner: 

A. Words appearing in the singular number shall include the plural, and those appearing in the 
plural shall include the singular. 

B. Words used in the present tense shall include the past tense and future tense, and words used in 
the future tense shall include the present tense and past tense. 

C. The word “shall” be mandatory; the word “may” be permissive. 
D. The phrase “this Code” shall refer to the Code and all authorized regulations, restrictions and 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 4 ~ 
 

requirements, and the phrase “the regulations “shall include regulations, restrictions, and 
requirements authorized by the Code. 

 
Section IV. Definitions – The following words, terms and phrases appear in more than one Section of 
this Code and, thus, have general application and usage.  Words, terms, and phrases appropriate or 
applicable to specific Chapters within this Code are defined, where necessary, within those Chapters. 
Unless the Code requires or specifies otherwise the following words, terms or phrases, as used in this 
Code, shall be given the meaning defined in this Section. 

A. Access: Entry into or upon any real estate, structure or vehicle including any part thereof. 
B. Administrative Agency: The Reno County Public Works Department; also referred to herein 

as “Agency”. 
C. Administrative Regulations: Those regulations contained in Chapter One of this Code which 

prescribe general procedures to be followed in the administration of the Code adopted by the 
County. 

D. Applicant: Any person who submits an application or requests permission to do some act 
regulated by this Code. 

E. Application: The application forms provided by the RCPWD including the filing fee and any 
other supporting documents required by the Agency. 

F. Authorized Representative: Any employee of the Reno County Public Works Department 
(RCPWD) who is designated by the Department Director to administer this code. 

G. Board of County Commissioners: Means the Board of County Commissioners of Reno 
County, Kansas. 

H. Board of Health: The Board of County Commissioners acting as the Reno County Board of 
Health. 

I. KDHE: Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) 
J. Inspection: A careful examination of property and proposal. 
K. Final Inspection:  A careful examination of the permitted proposal.  
L. Law: Includes federal, state, and local statutes, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions. 
M. License: Identifies an individual that has the authority to perform wastewater tasks. 
N. Permit: Document provided by the Agency on standard forms to perform tasks required by this 

Code. 
O. Person: Any municipality, political subdivision, institution, corporation, partnership, 

association, or individual. 
P. Premises/Parcel: Any one or more lots or tracts of land that have separate deeds that were 

created by a survey, including all buildings, structures, or facilities located thereon. 
Q. Reno County Sanitation Commission: Shall consist of the Reno County Planning and Zoning 

Commission which will operate The Reno County Sanitation Commission as needed. 
R. Sanitation Code: Procedures, standards and regulations adopted by the County designed to 

minimize or control those environments and environmental conditions that may adversely affect 
the health and wellbeing of the public. Such environments and environmental conditions may 
include but are not restricted to domestic wastewater and domestic wastewater disposal; water 
supply; food and food handling. Whenever the term “Code” is used herein, such reference shall 
be to the Sanitation Code of Reno County, Kansas. 

S. Schedule of Compliance: A schedule of remedial measures and times including an enforceable 
sequence of actions or operations leading to compliance with any regulation or limitation. 

T. Subdivision: Any tract of land that is or has been subdivided into two or more lots for the 
purpose of sale or building development, whether immediate or future, including the streets, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 5 ~ 
 

alleys or other portions thereof intended to be dedicated for public use; and any re-subdivision 
of land or lots. 

U. Recommend: Any recommendations in this code are for information only and are not 
mandatory. Under no circumstances shall a permit be denied for failure to follow a 
recommendation. Recommendations are completely optional and included for reference and 
information purposes only.     

 
Section V. Technical and Scientific Terms – Unless otherwise defined, any technical or scientific term 
used within this Code or within any regulation, restriction, or requirement shall be given the meaning 
most commonly known and applied within the appropriate literature or manuals applicable for that 
science, industry or technological skill. 

 
Section VI. Vested Interests – Nothing contained in this Code, or any regulations shall be deemed or 
construed to grant any vested interest or protected right to any person beyond the express limited terms 
of any permit or ruling issued under this Code, and the Code and regulations are expressly declared to 
be subject to amendment, change or modification. 
 
Section VII. Compatibility with Other Laws – Nothing contained in this Code or any regulations shall 
be deemed to alter or modify the application of any other laws, codes or regulations which are or may be 
applicable to the property, use, business activity or other object or matter regulated under this Code, and 
any permit, approval or other condition given or acknowledged under this Code shall be limited in effect 
to the requirements of this Code and shall not, under any circumstances, relieve the holder from 
compliance with all other applicable laws, codes, regulations or requirements. 

 
Section VIII. Variance of Requirements – In unusual cases where compliance with the requirements of 
this Code is not feasible, the RCPWD shall have the authority, and sole discretion, to waive the 
requirements, provided the RCPWD Administration is furnished with reliable information to show that 
such variance does not and will not impair the potability of the groundwater or otherwise endanger the 
health and safety of the individuals involved or the general public. Affected property owner must also 
provide written approval of any variance. Approval shall be filed of record with the Register of Deeds at 
the applicant’s expense. Requests for exception to any of the regulations as set out within this Code shall 
be submitted to the RCPWD in writing and shall contain all information relevant to the request. 
Occasionally an existing variance will be on file for a property that may apply to the current situation 
and no additional variance is needed.  The RCPWD shall review each site on a case-by-case basis and 
make a determination. The RCPWD shall recommend variances that meet the applicable state minimum 
standards.  Appeals from the decision of the RCPWD shall be made to the Reno County Sanitation 
Commission at a regular or special meeting of that Board, which shall advise the Reno County Public 
Works Department Director to approve a variance or sustain the decision of RCPWD.  Any such 
decision may be appealed to the Board of County Commissioners, who may or may not take it up at 
their next regular meeting.  If not taken up the decision of the Reno County Public Works Department 
Director shall stand.  

 
Article 3: Applications, Permits and Licenses 

Section I. Application Forms and Procedures 
A. Content – A completed Application for a permit or license shall be made on forms provided for 

that purpose. The application shall give a description of the character of the work proposed to 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 6 ~ 
 

be done, or activity to be engaged in, and, if appropriate, the locations, ownership, occupancy, 
and use of the premises in connection therewith.  An application for any permit or license 
required under this Code shall be filed with the Agency.  Applications are not transferable to 
another owner. 

B. Verification – An application for a permit must be signed by the owner of the property to be 
improved and for which the permit is being requested or by his authorized representative. The 
RCPWD may require proof of such authorization, including approval of proposed plans. 

C. Compliance – The applicant and owner shall be responsible for compliance with the permit 
requirements as further set out in this Code. Only a person who complies with the requirements 
of this Code shall be entitled to receive or retain a permit or license. 

 
Section II. Permits and Licenses Required – No person shall conduct, carry-on or perform any business 
or activity identified in this Section without first having obtained a valid permit in conformance with the 
requirements of this Code. 

A. *Permit for Private or Semi-Public Wastewater Disposal System – Every person who installs, 
removes, alters, repairs or replaces or causes to be installed, removed, altered, repaired or replaced 
any private wastewater disposal system or part thereof shall, prior to commencement of any work, 
apply for and obtain a permit to perform such work, and no private wastewater disposal system 
shall be installed, removed, altered, repaired or replaced except pursuant to a permit issued under 
this Article. Permits are required for all wastewater tank installations or replacements, lateral field 
installation or replacements, installation of units that alter the wastewater system’s chemistry and 
function, and other wastewater systems that would be installed or replaced. 

B. *License for Wastewater Contractor/Site Specific Wastewater Contractor/ Installer – Every 
person who conducts the activity of an installer as defined in Chapter 2 of this Code, shall apply 
for, obtain, and maintain a valid operator’s license to perform that activity.  

C. Licensed Wastewater Reciprocity – Installers who are not licensed in Reno County but are 
licensed in a county with similar testing requirements may submit their testing and experience 
and request license based on reciprocity. 

D. License for Sanitary Service Contractor – Every person who engages in or conducts the activity 
of a Sanitary Service Contractor, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Code, shall apply for, obtain and 
maintain a valid operator’s license to perform that activity. 

E. *Permit for Private Water Supplies – Every person who installs, drills, develops, constructs, or 
reconstructs any private water supply on any premises subject to the Code shall, prior to 
commencement of any work, apply, and obtain a permit, to perform such work.  

* Includes Homeowners. 

Section III. Construction Plans – The RCPWD shall require plans, specifications or drawings and such 
other information as deemed necessary in pursuant of a permit or license.  

 
Section IV. Permit/License Issuance; Investigations – If the RCPWD determines that the application 
complies with the requirements of this Code, a permit for construction or license for operation shall be 
issued. In making this determination the RCPWD may perform an inspection to determine compliance 
with this Code.  Within ten (10) working days after receipt of an application for a permit or license, the 
RCPWD shall begin such investigations and inspections as it shall deem necessary to determine whether 
the permit or license shall be issued or not issued and shall issue the permit or license within twenty (20) 
working days of receipt of the application or explain in writing the reason it cannot be issued. If the 
application is not issued, the RCPWD shall give the applicant written reason it is not issued.  It shall be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 7 ~ 
 

the duty of the person performing the work authorized by a permit to notify the RCPWD when work is 
ready for any required inspection. Such notification shall be given not less than one regular working day 
before the work is to be inspected. Permits usually shall be issued within 2 business days following the 
receipt of plans and staff confirming no conflicts exist with other agencies.  In rare situations when more 
time is required, staff shall communicate within 2 business days of the reason for the delay and 
approximate time a permit decision shall be made. 
 

Section V. Permit and License Conditions – Every permit and license issued under this Code shall be 
subject to the terms and conditions specified in this Section. 

A. Right of Access – Application for, and acceptance of, any permit issued under this Code shall 
grant to any inspector, code or law enforcement officer, and any representative of the RCPWD 
the right to enter upon any property subject to the permit, at any reasonable time during standard 
business hours, with or without notice, for the purpose of inspection to determine and ensure 
qualifications for and compliance with the permit, and shall allow for reasonable access to and 
review of records, property or other materials necessary to perform the inspection. 

B. Authorized Activity – Each permit or license issued under the authority of this Code shall be 
limited to and expressly provide for the type and manner of activity permitted for the holder and 
shall not be used nor applied for any other purpose, type, or manner of activity. The permit or 
license issued shall specifically refer to the activity description contained within the permit or 
license application, and any change in the type, manner, scope, or location of any activity shall 
require application for and modification of the permit or license. 

C. Application, Permit or License Non-transferable – No application, permit, or license, required 
by this Code shall be transferable to another activity, person or premises and the holder of the 
permit or license shall notify the RCPWD prior to any change in ownership or location of any 
permitted licensed activity. 

D. Term Expiration – Each permit for construction or license issued under the authority of this 
Code shall clearly state the date of issuance, the term of the permit or license, and the expiration 
date. The term of each permit or license issued under this Code shall be for a period not to 
exceed one (1) year unless the RCPWD determines, for cause shown, that the permit or license 
should be issued for a period of time other than one (1) year; in which case, the RCPWD may 
designate a lesser time when the activity can or maybe fully completed within the shorter period, 
or may designate a greater time, but in no event more than three (3) years, subject to annual 
review and payment of any required fee, where the activity is reasonably known or contemplated 
for continuation beyond one year.   

E. Permit Factors Conditions and Assumptions – A permit is approved subject to the conditions 
and upon the terms, details and requirements of the approved construction plan, wastewater 
application, soil profiles, and the county’s wastewater inspection.  It is assumed the property 
owner has read and informed themselves in regard to the maintenance and operation of the 
wastewater system that may be constructed or repaired.  It is also assumed the owner has or 
obtained legal authority to utilize a utility easement or physically crossing a utility easement line 
for the placement of the wastewater system where applicable. Without a survey from a Kansas 
Licensed Surveyor, the county staff cannot determine with certainty that the proposed system 
conforms to the code’s setback requirements from the adjacent property lines and road right of 
way.  Therefore, the County’s inspection of the proposed site or the county’s issuance of a permit 
is based on information provided by the Owner and or contractor. RCPWD shall confirm tract 
sizes based on recorded deeds as necessary, generally when preliminary records show the tract is 
within 0.5 acres of a minimum code size. Water well construction shall comply with Kansas law 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 8 ~ 
 

described in K.S.A., 82a-1201, et seq. (Article 12), and KDHE water well regulations described 
in K.A.R. 28-30-2, et seq., and amendments thereto.  Water well construction shall meet the 
current standards of KDHE Article 30 and 12.  

F. Permit Renewal – Any permit issued under the authority of this Code may be renewed for one 
or more additional terms upon application for renewal filed with the RCPWD on a form 
authorized for that purpose. No permit which has been expired for more than thirty (30) working 
days or which is subject to revocation, for any reason, may be renewed, and such permits may be 
reissued only upon the filing of a complete application for a new permit All applications and fees 
expire in (3) years if a permit has not been issued.  See other chapters for permit renewal details 
(i.e. semi-public permit renewal).  

G. Error and Omissions – The issuance of a permit or license shall not prevent the RCPWD from 
thereafter requiring the correction of errors in plans and specifications or from preventing 
construction activity being carried on thereunder when such activity would be in violation of this 
code or of any other code or resolution or from revoking any permit or license when issued in 
error. The RCPWD may, in writing, suspend or revoke a permit issued under provisions of this 
Code whenever the permit is issued in error or on the basis of incorrect information provided by 
the applicant or contractor. 

 
Section VI. Permit and License Revocation – A permit or license may be revoked for failure to comply 
with this Code. The revocation procedure shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 5.  
 
Section VII. Fees 
 

A. Standard Fees – For the purpose of defraying all or part of the cost of administration of this 
Code, the Board of County Commissioners shall establish a schedule of fees for all permits and 
licenses required by the Code. The fees imposed under this Code shall be paid by the applicant 
prior to the issuance of any permit or license authorized by the Code, and all annual fees shall be 
paid prior to the anniversary or expiration date of a permit or license, where applicable. Fees shall 
accompany all applications and be remitted prior to any site evaluation or license issuance.  

B. Double Fee for Unauthorized Practices – Any person who shall commence any activity for which 
a permit is required by this Code without first having obtained the permit shall, if subsequently 
permitted to obtain a permit, pay double the permit fee fixed by this section for such activity, 
provided, however that this provision shall not apply to emergency work when such work was 
urgently necessary to protect public health and safety and it was not practical to obtain a permit 
before commencement of such emergency work. In all such cases, a permit must be obtained 
within three (3) working days after the performance of such work or a double fee as herein provided 
shall be charged. 
 

Section VIII. Supplemental to State Regulations – The permits or licenses, and all fees, conditions and 
regulations imposed under this Section, or any other Section of this Code shall be supplemental to and 
in addition to any permits, licenses, fees or regulations imposed or required by any other law, including 
but not limited to those administered by the Kansas Dept. of Health & Environment, the Kansas 
Department of Agriculture’s Division of Water Resources, the Equus Beds Groundwater Management 
District No. 2, etc. 

A. Conflict in Regulations or Requirements – All regulations, restrictions, and requirements of this 
Code shall remain in effect and shall apply to any activity or condition covered by this Code 
except when in direct conflict with a provision of the State regulations, in which case the State-

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 9 ~ 
 

imposed regulations shall apply. Terms and conditions, requirements, regulations or limitations 
which are supplemental to those imposed by the State and which are not specifically or expressly 
excluded or prohibited shall not be considered conflicting and shall be imposed and in effect. 

B. Additional Regulations – Regulations and requirements applicable to any conduct, activity, 
condition or standard, which are not expressly regulated by operation of State law, but which are 
regulated by this Code, shall be and remain in full force and effect as specifically applied under 
this Code for and within Reno County, Kansas. 
 
 

Article 4:  Inspections and Investigations 
 
Section I. Inspections Required – Physical site inspections shall be authorized and performed for all 
activities under this code. 

A. Construction Activity – Whenever plans and specifications are required by this Code to be 
submitted as part of a permit application, the RCPWD shall inspect the premises prior to the 
start of operations to determine compliance with the approved specifications and with any other 
requirements of this Code. 

B. Private, Semi-Public Water Wells and Wastewater Systems – Private and semi-public water wells 
and wastewater systems shall be inspected by the RCPWD prior to being placed in operation to 
ensure compliance with this code. Such systems shall be inspected thereafter as often as necessary 
to ensure compliance with this Code.  No portion of the wastewater system shall be covered or 
made inaccessible to inspection prior to approval. Private and Semi-public water wells shall be 
inspected by staff of above ground construction requirements for KDHE Article 12 and 30. Staff 
shall use the approved/permitted plans on file submitted by the contractor or owner as a guide 
to conducting the final inspection. Staff shall use photographs and GIS to document inspection 
findings whenever possible.  Applicants may submit photographs for approval and use by county 
staff. Staff may provide educational handouts as appropriate.  

 
Section II. Inspection Reports – A written inspection report shall be made for all inspections conducted 
under the authority of this Code, stating the name of the inspector, the date and time of the inspection, 
the type of inspection and the property inspected. The report shall enumerate all findings made during 
the inspection. Staff may use photographs and GIS to document inspection findings whenever possible.  
Applicants may submit photographs for approval and use by county staff.  Staff may provide educational 
handouts as appropriate.  Whenever a private or semi-public water well or wastewater system is inspected 
after a permit is issued, the findings of the inspector shall describe any identified violations, the Code 
section violated, and the correction to be made.  A copy of the completed report shall be issued to the 
owner of the premises and, if different than the owner, to the holder of the permit.  All final County 
forms are public records available upon request.  Drafts and county staff documents such as notes, and 
electronic communications are not public record. 

 
Section III. Inspection Scheduling and Re-inspections – Whenever inspections are required under this 
Code to be scheduled for any installation, construction, initial activity, or for the correction of any 
violation or other non-conforming condition, it shall be the duty of the holder of the permit or license 
or the establishment to notify the RCPWD and schedule the time and date for the inspection. Use of 
electronic software for permit processes and investigations maybe used by staff whenever possible and 
applicants and contractors are encouraged to use electronic software as well. Staff may not complete 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 10 ~ 
 

forms that are intended to be completed by the applicant or contractor. Staff will make best efforts to 
keep track of all communications from all parties in a chart and to retain all records related to the permit. 

Section IV. Access and Right of Entry – The RCPWD shall have the right to make inspections of 
establishments, premises, places, and localities for the purpose of determining compliance with this 
Code. Inspections shall be done at a reasonable time. The RCPWD may examine the water usage records 
of any establishment that uses a private sewage disposal system for information pertaining to the amount 
of water used by the establishment. If the building, premises, or establishment to be inspected is occupied, 
the RCPWD representative shall first present proper identification and request entry; if such building or 
premises be unoccupied, he shall first make a reasonable effort to locate the owner, or other persons 
having charge or control of the building or premises, to request entry. If entry is refused, the RCPWD 
shall have recourse to all remedies provided by law to secure entry. The RCPWD shall have reasonable 
access to the business records of any person licensed to perform any activity under this Code where the 
records, daily logs, or other documents are reasonably necessary to determine compliance with the 
requirements of this Code. 
 
Section V. Educational handouts and lists – The County will update educational handouts and lists 
as needed and post on the county’s website as needed. This will include updates of new products or 
design approvals. Relevant state laws and regulations shall also be posted on the county’s website. 

Chapter Two 
DOMESTIC WASTEWATER TREATMENT 

Article 1: General 

Section I. Purpose – Wastewater is a potential source of disease and a potential hazard to the health, 
safety, and welfare of the public. It also poses a direct threat to the environment as a potential pollutant 
of the air, water, and soil, and presents a hazard to all forms of plant and animal life. It is the purpose of 
this Chapter to provide minimum standards for the sanitary treatment of all sewage generated or 
transported within Reno County unless otherwise regulated by competent authority. 
 

Section II. Scope – All wastewater must be disposed of by the use of a sanitary sewer system as defined 
in this Section. A sanitary sewer system may be classified as either a: public wastewater system, semi-
public wastewater system or a private wastewater system. 
 
Section III. Definitions – Unless the context requires or specifies otherwise, the following words, terms 
or phrases, as used in this Code, shall be given the meaning defined in this section. 

A. Absorption System: A private wastewater system for the treatment of sewage by means of 
absorption trenches and the biological decomposition of wastewater effluent in the adjacent 
soil. 

B. Absorption Trenches: One or more trenches of varying length and depth and of fixed 
horizontal separation in which effluent is percolated into the soil. 

C. Agriculture Land: Any land that is currently classified as agricultural by the Reno County 
Planning Commission. 

D. Alternative Wastewater System: A domestic wastewater system other than an anaerobic septic 
tank-soil absorption system, lagoon or privy that is used or designed to be used, to collect, treat, 
hold or discharge domestic waste from residential, industrial or commercial property. This 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 11 ~ 
 

includes, but is not limited to, such systems as; mounds, shallow and at-grade absorptions fields. 
E. ANSI: American National Standards Institute certification for wastewater products. 
F. Bedrock: A soil horizon which contains greater than 50% consolidated material, by volume. 
G. Cesspool: A drywell that receives untreated sanitary wastes containing human excreta. 
H. Class V Injection Well: A  septic system receiving only domestic wastewater and having the 

potential to serve 20 or more persons a day, any septic system receiving non-domestic 
wastewater, or any well authorized by the KDHE to inject as a UIC Class V well for remedial 
purposes. 

I. Composting Toilet: A dry toilet that treats human waste using organic matter. 
J. Distribution Box: A watertight chamber below the outlet level of a septic tank or treatment 

unit and from which effluent enters the absorption system. 
K. Domestic Septage: The liquid and solid material removed from a septic tank, lagoon, privy 

(portable or stationary), alternative wastewater system, portable toilet or similar device that 
receives only domestic wastewater. Domestic septage does not include commercial or industrial 
wastewater or grease removed from a grease trap. 

L. Domestic Wastewater: All water-borne wastes produced at family dwellings in connection with 
ordinary living including kitchen, toilet, laundry, shower, and bathtub wastewater. It also 
includes similar type wastewater produced at businesses, churches, industrial and commercial 
facilities, or establishments. Stormwater shall not be mixed with domestic wastewater. 

M. Drywell: A well or excavation completed above the water table so that its bottom and sides are 
typically dry except when receiving fluids. 

N. Enhanced Treatment System: This includes any private or semi-public wastewater system which 
has been designed to improve the quality of wastewater effluent going into the soil absorption 
field that is of higher quality than from a conventional septic tank.  Includes all media filters, 
aerated tanks, retro fit units, followed by a soil absorption system.  one or more of the 
following: biological oxygen demand, dissolved solids, suspended solids, nitrates, phosphorus, 
or bacteria is reduced prior to dispersal. Examples of such systems are aerobic septic tanks, 
sand, textile or peat filters and constructed wetlands. 

O. Flood Plain: The Flood Plain refers to land that is currently designated as part of the Flood 
Plain by the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 

P. Lateral Field Fill: Fill material should be sandy loam, free of debris including roots, man made 
materials, minimal to no clay content, and cannot contain characteristics of a water features. 

Q. GPD: Gallons Per Day. 
R. Graywater: All domestic water that does not contain water from toilets. 
S. Holding Tank: A watertight receptacle for the retention of wastewater either before, during or 

after treatment. 
T. Lateral Field:  System of perforated or pen joint sewer pipe positioned underground or cover 

within crushed rock/gravel beds, chambers, gravel less pipe or other approved material to effect 
transfer of septic tank or enhanced treatment effluent for final treatment and dispersal. 

U. New Construction: Means the initial construction or enlargement of the onsite wastewater 
treatment system, modification of the method or extent of sewage treatment, or replacement 
of a significant portion of the existing onsite wastewater treatment system.  

V. NSF: National Science Foundation certification for wastewater products.  
W. Non-Domestic Wastes: Any liquid or water-borne wastes, other than domestic wastewater, 

produced in connection with any industrial or commercial process or operation. 
X. Onsite Wastewater System:  Treatment system means of arrangement of devise, structures and 

mechanisms to treat and modify wastewater system from a structure, in locations where public 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 12 ~ 
 

sewerage is not available, in such a fashion as to prevent sewage from being a public health 
hazard, a detriment to environment or natural resources, or water pollutants.  

Y. Wastewater Contractor/Installer: Any person duly licensed to construct, install and/or repair 
private sewage treatment systems. 

Z. Private Wastewater System: Any septic system, lagoon, alternative wastewater system, privy, 
holding tank or other means of wastewater treatment that does not discharge to a public or 
semi-public wastewater system. 

AA. Pit Privy/Privy: A facility designed and/or used for the biological composting and disposal of 
human excreta. 

BB. Public Wastewater System: A wastewater system that is used or designed to be used for the 
collection, treatment, and discharge of domestic wastewater or industrial or commercial wastes 
and has a valid permit from KDHE. 

CC. Reconstruction: The replacement, alteration or repair of existing components of a private or 
semi-public wastewater system that improves or enhances the performance of the system or 
changes the classification of the wastewater system. 

DD. Sand Trap Waste: The sand, gravel and other solid material along with its associated liquid 
which settles from the effluent flow produced in connection with the commercial or industrial 
process of washing vehicles. 

EE. Sanitary Service: The pumping out and/or removal of wastes, sludge or human excreta from 
privies, septic systems, lagoons, alternative wastewater systems, enhanced treatment systems and 
other private or semi-public wastewater systems, and the transportation of such material to a 
point of final disposal treatment. 

FF. Sanitary Service Contractor: Any person duly licensed to perform sanitary disposal services. 
GG. Semi-Public Wastewater System: A wastewater system used for the on-site collection and 

treatment of domestic wastewater only, that accepts, or is designed to accept, greater than 1,000 
GPD but no more than 2,500 GPD and does not discharge to the surface waters of the State. 

HH. Septic System: An anaerobic septic tank-soil absorption system used for the collection and 
treatment of domestic wastewater. 

II. Septic Tank: An approved, watertight, accessible, covered receptacle designed and constructed 
to receive sewage in which three processes take place: settling of the solids, the digestion of some 
of the accumulated solids by anaerobic action, and separation of the floatable scum. 

JJ. Single Family Waste Stabilization Pond: An artificial or man-made structure which is not a 
public wastewater system and into which 1,000 GPD or less of domestic wastewater is 
discharged and confined for treatment. It is otherwise referred to as “lagoon” herein. 

KK. Site specific Licensed Wastewater Contractor: A property owner that is only licensed to 
construct, install, maintain, and repair private sewage treatment system(s) on their own 
property.  

LL. Soil Mottles: Spots or streaks of contrasting soil colors that indicate the presence of a seasonal 
water table zone. 

MM. Wastewater Contractor: Any individual or company that constructs, reconstructs, or modifies 
private or semi-public wastewater systems.  

NN. Wastewater (Sewer) District: A special district authorized and empowered by state statutes to 
plan, construct and operate a public wastewater system. 

 
Section IV. Rules of Application – The requirements established by Chapter 2 of the Reno County 
Sanitation Code shall apply and be applicable to any and all private and semi-public wastewater systems 
now or hereafter installed, used or operated upon any property located within Reno County, Kansas 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 13 ~ 
 

subject to the provisions of this Code. 
A. General Regulation: No person shall construct, reconstruct, or modify, nor cause or allow the 

construction, reconstruction, or modification of any private wastewater system except as 
permitted or allowed within the requirements of this Code. No commercial or industrial waste 
shall be directed to a private or semi-public wastewater system. 

B. Existing Systems Treating Domestic Waste: Any private sewage treatment system installed prior 
to the effective date of this Code and used exclusively for domestic sewage, and not industrial nor 
commercial wastes, may remain in use if, and as long as, it continues to operate in accordance 
with the original design and location, does not experience any system failure, and does not 
present any hazard to the public health, safety or welfare; however, any replacement, alteration, 
enlargement, repair, removal, conversion, improvement or demolition shall comply with the 
requirements of this Code or any later amendments, revisions or versions. Existing wastewater 
system components shall be brought up to code at the time of permit issuance and noted in plans.  

C. Existing Tank Replacement: Will not require a soil profile test to be conducted but will require 
photo or inspection of uncovered tank installed in the new location, prior to back filling.  Staff 
will conduct a final inspection.   

D. Installation of Holding Tanks: will not require a soil profile test to be conducted but will require 
photo or inspection of uncovered tank installed in the new location, prior to back filling.  Staff 
will conduct a final inspection.   

E. Consultation: Staff may consult with KDHE in unusual circumstances and follow KDHE 
interpretations during the permit process.    

 
Section V. Approval of Plans and Specifications 

A.  Private and Semi- Public Wastewater Systems- Plans and specifications for all wastewater 
systems shall be submitted to and approved by the RCPWD prior to starting any construction of 
such systems.  Wastewater systems shall meet the minimum design standards of the publications 
below, including depth and elevation of a wastewater system, setbacks, and in coordination of 
the proposed wastewater system and soil profile results.  See below and Appendix 2 for setbacks 
distance.  

                Private and Semi-Public Wastewater System Setbacks Distance 
 Minimum Setbacks for wastewater systems 
Setback Required 
Septic tank/Aerobic unit/ Retro Fit to 
foundation of a house or other building 

10 Feet 

Soil Absorption system to a dwelling foundation 20 Feet 

Any part of the wastewater system to:  
Public potable water line  25 Feet 
Private potable water line 10 Feet 

Property line 10 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Public water supply well or suction line 100 Feet 
Private water supply well or suction line 50 Feet 
Surface watercourse 50 Feet 
Wastewater Lagoons (Lagoon 5’ water level) to:  

Property line 50 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Dwelling foundation 50 Feet  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 14 ~ 
 

 
Any other distances not listed are subject to KDHE interpretation and KDHE Bulletin 4-2, and 
amendments thereafter. Any setbacks not identified in the above table refer to KDHE Environmental 
health handbook or other KDHE publications. 
 
It is good practice to remove trees within 25 feet of the absorption field or to provide a root barrier to 
keep roots out of absorption field.  
 
The standards of design, construction and location for such systems shall be extracted from independent 
standards current to the time of plan review. Such standards applicable at the time of this codes adoption 
are KDHE Bulletin 4-2, Minimum Standards for Design and Construction of Onsite Wastewater 
Systems, KDHE Environmental Health Handbook, KSU Extension, EPA Onsite Wastewater Manual, 
and any amendments thereafter. Under unique circumstances the RCPWD may require the system to 
be designed by an active Kansas licensed professional engineer or ask for review of the proposal by KDHE.   
 
 
Section VI. Wastewater Product Reviews- Wastewater storage and/or treatment product reviews will be 
conducted on products that are not included in KDHE Bulletin 4-2, and are intended to be installed as 
enhanced treatment, new style of soil absorption system, or treat/alter sewage treatment.  Literature 
submission shall include: an engineer approval, engineered designs, NSF or ANSI certification, regimen 
for maintenance, limitation of installations, and other information as requested by staff.  Other 
Wastewater certification may be accepted if comparable to either NSF or ANSI.  Proprietary wastewater 
products may only be installed per the certifications provided. County will issue an approval or non-
approval letter that will be sent to the local dealer.  
 
Section VII. Criteria for Plan Approval – Prior to issuing a permit for construction, a soil profile test of 
the proposed wastewater building site shall be conducted, in order to identify site limitations or 
restrictions.  Staff may also conduct a site inspection to determine any other site limitations and evaluate 
proposed plans for code compliance. Credentialing of persons wishing to complete a soil profile must 
meet the following criteria:  Soil profile abilities approved by a Kansas licensed soil scientist, Kansas 
licensed professional engineer, or have completed a soils class from Kansas Small Flows that was 
instructed by a college accredited professor or approved personnel. Proof of certification must be 
submitted to RCPWD. No permit shall be issued unless the proposed wastewater system meets accepted 
design standards for the conditions determined by the soil profile test. Soil profile findings shall include 
property owner name, address, date, location of soil profile, soil horizons, soil color, any mottling 
encountered, texture, structure, consistency, roots, remarks, loading rate, vegetation present ground 
level, and depth in inches to restrictive features, and signature and date of qualified person that 
conducted the soil profile.  County soil form can be provided for use if needed.  Soil profile results shall 
be submitted to the county in combination with other forms needed in the permit process.   Applicants 
may be asked to excavate additional soil profile pits or observational holes as needed.  If an existing soil 
profile has been completed in the area of the existing system, no future soil profiles are needed to be 
repeated, unless the site has undergone major changes. If the location of the wastewater system moves 
over 50’ from the original soil profile pit, then another soil profile pit may need to be completed by 
either the RCPWD or credentialed persons. Soil fill to be used may also be evaluated by staff or 
credentialed persons. 

A. Enhanced wastewater systems may be installed at owners’ discretion and are recommended but 
not required. Highly recommend following any prescribed maintenance from the manufacturer.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 15 ~ 
 

B. Parcels and lots established after the date of this code shall meet minimum code setbacks.    
C. New lots of record created after the date of this code shall meet the minimum setbacks and 

current design standards as identified in the following KDHE Bulletin 4-2, Minimum Standards 
for Design and Construction of Onsite Wastewater Systems and the KDHE Environmental 
Health Handbook, KSU Extension, and EPA Onsite Wastewater manual, and any amendments 
thereafter. 

D. In all circumstances, regardless of lot size, there should be a suitable area for immediate and 
eventual use as a private wastewater system, exclusive of buildings, non-porous driveways, and 
other public right of way easements.  This area is to be comparable in size to the current or 
proposed wastewater system.  In all cases sewage saturated soils and past wastewater system 
components may not be used for new lateral field installations.   

E. Inspection Ports – All lateral fields are required to have an inspection port installed at the end 
of each lateral.   Inspection port shall be constructed of solid PVC that is a 90 degree turn up 
and extending to at least grade level.  A solid removable PVC cap is to be installed.  

F. Effluent Filter – All existing or newly installed septic tanks shall be fitted with an effluent filter 
and installed per manufacturer specifications.  

G. Wastewater Construction Plans – Plans shall include setbacks, depth, and elevation of a 
wastewater system, in coordination of the proposed wastewater system, soil profile results, and 
soil amendments, site restrictions, and use of easements if applicable and reflect meeting the 
minimum design criteria for the above publications and any additional site criteria listed on the 
wastewater inspection form. If a floodplain or floodway is present on the property, additional 
criteria may be listed in the permit or on plans. Use of staff aerial, existing diagrams maybe used 
as part of plan submitted, if applicable.   Plans can be amended during the final inspection by 
the contractor to reflect the true installation. Plan amendments in all circumstances are to be 
initialed and dated. Contractors are responsible to ensure aggregate used meets the above design 
spec publications. Following the issuance of a permit for construction, and prior to covering any 
portion of the wastewater system, the permit holder shall contact the RCPWD and arrange for 
an inspection of construction for the purpose of assuring compliance with the conditions of this 
Code. 

H. Easements – Use of easements maybe considered by the RCPWD and approved by the county 
counselor. 

I. Engineer approved Exceptions – Reno County has had an experienced wastewater engineer 
review several historically used wastewater designs and installations, and upon approval they have 
been posted on the County’s website and may be used consistent with that approval. Any other 
designs and installations that are not in the publications identified in paragraph B above must 
be evaluated by a licensed engineer and that evaluation included with the application. 

J. In unique circumstances of same ownership of multiple homes and buildings on one parcel, the 
structures may be connected to one wastewater system.  Plans must reflect future wastewater 
system reserve areas may be located. 

K. No private or semi-public wastewater system shall be constructed if the applicant’s property line 
is within 400 feet of an existing public sewer, unless the RCPWD finds that connection to such 
a sewer is not feasible and that a domestic wastewater system, meeting the requirements of this 
Code, can be constructed on the property. 

L. Final Inspections of Construction – Staff shall use permitted plans as a guide to conduct a final 
inspection.  Multiple final inspections may be conducted, depending on the type of wastewater 
system installed and violations encountered.    Staff may use photos, collect measurements, and 
GIS to document inspection findings. Photo corrections by the contractor are allowed in some 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 16 ~ 
 

circumstances. Contractor will need to call staff if inclement weather is approaching and make 
arrangements for the wastewater system to be covered up, prior to staff completing a final 
inspection.  Photo submission is allowed as part of the arrangement upon staff approval.  

M. Class V Injection Wells – Owner/operators of private and semi-public wastewater systems 
meeting the KDHE definition of a class V injection well shall contact the KDHE and comply with 
or satisfy all requirements and regulation adopted by the KDHE, pursuant to Kansas 
Administrative Regulations, Article 46. 

 

Article 2: Prohibited Practices 

Section I. Private or Semi-Public Wastewater Systems – No person shall sell, use, or lease for use any 
real estate upon which is located a private or semi-public wastewater system which: 

A. Improperly discharges effluent as prohibited by Chapter Five, Article 1, Section I, Paragraph G of 
this code; or 

B. Discharges or receives industrial or commercial waste; or 
C. Discharges onto the surface of the ground, into watercourses, lakes, ponds, or any impoundment; 

or Causes fly breeding, produces offensive odors or any other condition that is prejudicial to 
health and comfort, and has documented violations that are not corrected.   
 

 

Article 3: Semi-Public Wastewater Systems 

Section I. Annual Permit – The owner of every semi-public wastewater system shall obtain a permit for 
the initial operation of the system and annually thereafter from the Agency. A permit for operation shall 
be issued by the RCPWD following an inspection of the system and said Agency’s determination that 
the system has been constructed according to approved plans and presents no significant health risk. No 
semi-public wastewater system shall be constructed or operated until the owner has obtained the required 
permit. 

 

Article 4: Semi-Public and Private Wastewater  
System Operation and Maintenance 

Section I. Proper Maintenance and Operation of Semi Public and Private Wastewater Systems 
A. All private and semi-public wastewater systems shall be maintained in good working condition, 

operating per permit issued, and shall not discharge onto the surface of the ground or drain into 
any stream or roadside ditch, or produce offensive odors or become a breeding place for flies, 
mosquitoes, or rats. Whenever the RCPWD shall find any private or semi-public wastewater 
system malfunctioning and causing any of the above prohibited conditions the RCPWD shall 
order the owner and/or user to correct the condition within thirty (30) working days and 
subsequent inspections will occur as needed. 

 

Article 5: Regulations for Sanitary Service Contractors 

Section I. License Required – No person shall remove, haul, transport, or dispose of any domestic septage 
without a valid license from the Agency. A valid sanitary service contractor’s license issued to a sole 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 17 ~ 
 

proprietor, a partnership or a corporation shall be valid as to all its agents and employees. 
 
Section II. License Term and Renewal – Any license issued under this Section shall expire on December 
31st of each year and must be renewed annually. All required license fees shall be paid at the time of 
application for the license or renewal, and no fee required under this Code shall be prorated or refunded 
for any partial term of part-year application. 
 
Section III. Standard of Performance-Every person licensed as a sanitary service contractor under this 
Section shall comply with the performance requirements specified in this Code. 

A. Equipment-A license holder shall maintain equipment to ensure that no spillage of sewage shall 
occur during transportation, and that employees of the licensee are not subjected to undue health 
hazards. All sewage shall be transported in an enclosed watertight tank. 

B. Vehicles-Sewage shall be transported only in vehicles approved for that purpose by the Agency. Each 
such vehicle must be inspected prior to issuance or renewal of a license to a sanitary services 
contractor. The vehicle must be kept in good working condition and the name of the licensee shall 
be clearly displayed on both sides of the vehicle in bold letters not less than 5 inches high. 

C. Disposal-All licensees shall comply with the requirements of Title 40, Part 503 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations: Sewage Sludge Use and Disposal and the KDHE Kansas Environmental 
Health Handbook and KDHE EPA 503 Land Application of Septage publication and any 
amendments thereafter.  Land application disposal logs shall be kept by the licensee for at least a 
period of 5 years and will need to be made available upon request of RCPWD staff.  

Article 6: Regulations for County wide  
and Site-specific Licensed Wastewater Contractors 

Section I. License Required – No person shall install, engage in the installation of, repair or modify a private 
or semi-public wastewater system unless that person holds a valid wastewater contractor license issued by the 
Agency. Employees of a validly licensed installer are not required to be separately licensed. 

 
Section II. License and License Renewal – Any license issued under this Section shall expire on 
December 31st of each year and must be renewed annually. All required license fees shall be paid at the 
time of application for the license or renewal, and no fee required under this Code shall be prorated or 
refunded for any partial term of part-year application. Proof of CEUs must be submitted with renewal 
application. Site specific Wastewater contractors shall only be issued one license and it will expire by 
anniversary date.  
 
Section III. Standard of Performance – Prior to the issuance or renewal of a license under this Article, 
the applicant shall be required to demonstrate adequate knowledge of State and Local regulations 
pertaining to private and semi-public wastewater systems and general engineering principles pertaining to 
such systems. The RCPWD may consider actual experience, education, or professional licensing of the 
applicant in the granting or not granting of an application for an initial license or renewal, including 
prior revocations or disciplinary action. The County Wide Wastewater Contractor may list employees 
that are capable to work under the applicant’s license as a benefit to complete or edit plans. Attendance 
by any applicant to an appropriate training workshop, conducted or sponsored by the RCPWD or other 
recognized governmental, education or professional institution, and satisfactory completion of 80%, a 
written examination administered by the RCPWD covering subjects related to public health concerns, 
wastewater treatment techniques, standards for design or construction or installation of wastewater 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 18 ~ 
 

systems, wastewater treatment theory, and/or soil science, shall satisfy the requirements of this Section.  
 

Section IV. Reciprocity — Licensure in other counties shall be reciprocal if training, exam, and passing 
scores are equal or greater than those of Reno County.  
 
Section V. Continuing Education – Every person licensed as a wastewater contractor, under the 
authority of this Article, must obtain a minimum of three (3) hours of annual continuing education 
regarding onsite wastewater that must be approved by the RCPWD each calendar year, and no license 
issued under this Article shall be renewed without submission of a certification of the training to the 
Agency. Continuing education is not a requirement for site specific licensing.  
 
Section VI. License Revocation – A license may be revoked for failure to comply with this Code. The 
revocation procedure shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 7 of this Code. 

 
 

Chapter Three 
WATER SUPPLIES 

 

Article 1: General Provisions 

Section I. Purpose and Intent – The provisions of this code are for the purpose of regulating and 
controlling the development, maintenance, and use of private or semi-public water supplies in the 
unincorporated area of Reno County, Kansas, to ensure that public health is protected and contamination 
and pollution of the water resources within the county are prevented. 
 
Section II. Compliance Required – After the effective date of this code, no person shall construct or 
reconstruct on any property subject to this code, any semi-public or private water supply that does not comply 
with the requirements of this code. 
 

Section III. Definitions – In addition to the definitions provided in Chapters 1, 2 and 4 of this Code 
the words, terms and phrases listed below, for purposes of this chapter, are defined as follows: 

A. Abandoned Well: If meets at least one of the following conditions: (1) Use of the water well has 
been permanently discontinued. (2) Pumping equipment has been permanently removed from 
the water well. (3) The water well either is in such disrepair that it cannot be used to supply water 
or has the potential for transmitting surface contaminants into the aquifer, or both. (4) The water 
well poses potential health and safety hazards. (5) The water well is in such a condition that it is 
not an active well or cannot be placed in inactive status. 

B. Above Ground Surface Completion: The termination of a water well or boring if the casing used 
is at least 12 inches above the surrounding ground surface.  

C. Active Well: A water well which is an operating well used to withdraw water, monitor, or observe 
groundwater conditions. 

D. Annular Space: The space between the well casing and the bore hole or the space between two 
or more strings of well casings. 

E. Aquifer: An underground formation that contains and is capable of transmitting groundwater. 
F. Confined Aquifer: An aquifer overlain and underlain by impermeable layers.  Groundwater in 

a confined aquifer is under pressure greater than atmospheric pressure and may rise in a well 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 19 ~ 
 

above the point at which it is first encountered. 
G. Construction: All acts necessary to create a water well as defined in LL herein. 
H. Domestic Purpose: The use of water by any person(s) for household purposes, or for the watering 

of livestock, poultry, farm and domestic animals used in operating a farm, or for the irrigation of 
lands not exceeding a total of two acres for the growing of gardens, orchards and lawns. These 
wells will be commonly referred to as household wells or lawn and garden wells or small livestock 
wells. 

I. Groundwater: That part of the subsurface water which is in the zone of saturation. 
J. Grout: Material such as cement, neat cement, bentonite clay or other such material approved by 

KDHE used to create a permanent impervious watertight bond between the casing and the 
undisturbed formation surrounding the casing or between two or more strings of casing. 

K. Grout Tremie Pipe or Grout Pipe: A steel or galvanized steel pipe or similar pipe having equivalent 
structural soundness that is used to conduct pumped grout to a point of selected emplacement 
during the grouting of a well casing or plugging of an abandoned well or test hole. 

L. Heat Pump Hole: A hole drilled to install piping for an earth-coupled source heat pump system. 
M. Household Purpose: The use of water by a person for cooking, cleaning, washing, bathing, 

human consumption, rest room facilities, fire protection, and other uses normally associated 
with the operation of a household. 

N. Inactive Status: A water well that is not presently operating but is maintained in such a way that 
it can be put back in operation with a minimum of effort. 

O. Lawn and Garden well: A water well used for the outdoor watering of land not exceeding two (2) 
acres (gardens, trees, shrubs, and plants), or for filling swimming pools or the washing of vehicles, 
boats, trailers or building exterior associated with a residence or farm. 

P. Pitless Well Adaptor or Unit: An assembly of parts installed below frost line that permits pumped 
groundwater to pass through the wall of the well casing or an extension of the casing and prevent 
the entrance of contaminants. 

Q. Potable Water: Water free from impurities in amounts sufficient to cause disease or harmful 
physiological effects in humans and conforming to the most recent EPA primary drinking water 
standards. 

R. Private Water Supply: A water well supply used for domestic purposes, excluding public water 
supplies, semi-public water supplies and water supplies used for the watering of livestock on lands 
exceeding ten acres. Wells used for watering livestock less than 10.0 acres will be commonly 
referred to as small livestock wells.  

S. Public Water Supply: A water well that meets both of the following conditions: (1) Provides 
groundwater to the public for human consumption; and (2) has at least 10 service connections or 
serves an average of at least 25 individuals daily for at least 60 days during a calendar year. 

T. Pump Pit: A watertight structure constructed at least two (2) feet away from the water well and 
below ground level to prevent freezing or pumped groundwater and which houses the pump or 
pressure tank, distribution lines, electrical controls, or other appurtenances. 

U. Reconstructed Water Well: An existing water well that has been deepened or has had the casing 
replaced, repaired, added to, or modified in any way for the purpose of obtaining groundwater. 

V. Sanitary Well Seal: A manufactured seal installed at the top of the well casing which, when 
installed, creates an air and watertight seal to prevent contaminated or polluted water from 
gaining access to the groundwater supply. 

W. Semi-Public Water Supply: A water supply used for domestic purposes serving three (3) to nine 
(9) residential units (rental or under separate ownership) on a piped system. 

X. Setback Distances: The minimum distance a structure must be from another defined boundary 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 20 ~ 
 

or structure. 
Y. Small Livestock wells:  A well to water livestock on property less than 10 acres. 
Z. Static Water Level: The highest point below or above ground level which the groundwater in the 

well reaches naturally. 
AA. Test Hole: Any excavation constructed for the purposes of determining the geologic, hydrologic 

and water quality characteristics of underground formations. 
BB. Treatment: The stimulation of production of groundwater from a water well by a properly licensed 

person through the use of hydrochloric acid, muriatic acid, sulfamic acid, calcium or sodium 
hypochlorite, polyphosphates or other chemicals and mechanical means, for the purpose of reducing 
or removing iron and manganese hydroxide and oxide deposits, calcium and magnesium carbonate 
deposits and slime deposits associated with iron or manganese bacterial growths which inhibit the 
movement of groundwater into the well. 

CC. Uncased Test Hole: Any test hole in which casing has been removed or in which casing has not 
been installed. 

DD. Unconfined Aquifer: An aquifer containing groundwater at atmospheric pressure. The upper 
surface of the groundwater in an unconfined aquifer is the water table. 

EE. Water District: Any special district authorized and empowered by state statutes to plan, construct 
and/or operate a public water supply system. 

FF. Water Well: Any excavation that is drilled, cored, bored, washed, driven, dug jetted, or otherwise 
constructed, when the intended use of such excavation is for the location, diversion, artificial 
recharge, or acquisition of groundwater. 

GG. Water Well Contractor or Contractor: A n y  person who constructs, reconstructs or treats a water 
well. The term shall not include: (1) An individual while in the act of constructing a water well on 
land which is owned by such individual and is used by such individual for domestic purposes at 
such individual’s place of abode, but only when the well is constructed in compliance with 
prescribed minimum well standards as provided in this act; or (2) an individual who performs labor 
or services for a licensed water well contractor at such contractor’s direction and under such 
contractor’s supervision. 

Article 2: General Regulations 

Section I. Requirements of Application – The requirements established by Chapter 3 of the Reno 
County Sanitation Code shall apply and be applicable to all private and semi-public water wells now or 
hereafter installed, used, or operated upon any property located within Reno County, Kansas subject to 
the provisions of this Code. 

A. General Regulations – Unless otherwise provided or accepted in accordance with this Section, 
from and after the effective date of the Code, no person shall construct, reconstruct, or modify, 
nor cause or allow the construction, reconstruction, or modification of any private or semi-public 
well as permitted under and which complies with the established requirements of this Code. No 
public water supply wells shall be permitted by this code.  

B. Existing Water Wells – Any private or semi- public water well existing prior to the date of this 
code may remain in use if, and as long as, it continues to operate in accordance with the original 
design and location, does not experience any system failure, and does not present any hazard to 
the public health, safety or welfare; however, any replacement, alteration, enlargement, repair, 
removal, conversion, improvement or plugging shall comply with the requirements of this Code 
or any later amendments, revisions or versions. 

C. Staff may consult with KDHE in unusual circumstances and follow KDHE interpretations during 
the permit process.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 21 ~ 
 

 
Section II. Use Limitations and Prohibited Practices 

A. No permit for drilling a water well for private water supply purposes shall be issued to any person 
when in the discretion of the RCPWD the property can be served at a reasonable cost by a public 
water supply, or when the water supply to be accessed constitutes a significant, quantified health risk. 

B. No use of surface water (lakes, ponds, or streams) as a source of water for a private water supply shall 
be permitted.  

C. No person shall sell, lease, or rent any real estate upon which is located a private or semi-public water 
supply which fails to comply with the provisions of this Code after written notice of the defective 
condition has been given to the owner or responsible person by the Agency.   

 
Section III. Approval of Plans and Specifications 

A. Private and Semi- Public Water wells – Plans and specifications for all well water systems shall 
be submitted to and approved by the RCPWD prior to starting any construction of such systems.  
Each water well shall comply with KDHE Minimum Construction Standards in Article 30. 
Setback distances are listed below and in Appendix 2. 

 

Article 3: Private and Semi-Public Water Supplies 

Section I. Permit and plans – No person shall construct or reconstruct any private or semi-public water 
supply on any premises subject to the regulations of this code until a permit has been obtained from the 
Agency. See below and Appendix 2.  

Private and Semi-Public Well Setback Distances 
  Required Minimum Setbacks for water wells 
Property line or public right of way 25 feet (road right of way may not be included) 
*Contamination Source 50 feet 
Watertight sewer line 10 feet 
Surface water 50 feet 
Pump pit  2 feet 

*Contamination sources include sewer lines, pressure sewer lines, septic tanks, laterals, pit privies, seepage pits, 
fertilizer storage, pesticide storage, feed lots or barn yards, and other wastewater systems. Any other contamination 
sources and distances not listed are subject to Kansas law and/or KDHE interpretation and regulations in Article 
30.” 

 
Section II. Criteria for Plan Approval 

A. Plans shall include setback distances, site restrictions, and easements, and indicate compliance 
with minimum construction standards in Article 30 and any additional site criteria listed on the 
well inspection form. If a floodplain or floodway is present on the property, additional criteria 
may be listed in the permit or on plans. Use of staff aerial, existing diagrams may be used as part 
of plan submitted, if applicable.  Plans can be amended during the final inspection by the 
contractor/owner to reflect the true installation. Plan amendments in all circumstances are to be 
initialed and dated. If a proposed well location is within one (1) mile of known ground water 
contamination site, staff shall consult with KDHE.  

B. Use of easements shall be considered by the RCPWD and approved by the county counselor. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 22 ~ 
 

C. In unique circumstances of same ownership of multiple homes and buildings on one parcel, the 
structures may be connected to one water well.  If a structure or land is divided for new ownership 
and a common well is not to be shared, then a new water well shall be required that meets the 
Code’s standards. Plans must reflect when a future division occurs, the land division for each 
home and the proposed future well location. 

D. No private or semi-public water well intended for human consumption shall be constructed 
within a water district.  RCPWD shall notify water districts of when permitting any lawn and 
garden and small livestock wells within the district.  If the applicant proves to RCPWD that a 
hardship exists such that connection to such a water system is not feasible and domestic water 
well system meeting the requirements of this Code can be constructed on the property. RCPWD 
may grant a hardship permit for such a well. 

E. Final Inspections of Construction – Staff shall use permitted plans as a guide to conduct a final 
inspection. Multiple final inspections may be conducted, as needed, if violations are encountered.    
Staff may take/use photographs, measurements, GIS data to document inspection findings. 
Photographs of corrected issues taken by the contractor or owner may be allowed. Staff shall send 
final wellhead construction criteria to the contractor/owner. Photo submission is allowed as part 
of the arrangement upon staff approval.  

 
 

Article 4: Semi-Public Water Supplies 

Section I. Requirements for Semi-Public Water Supplies – No person shall operate or maintain a semi-
public water supply system that has been:  

A. Constructed or reconstructed after January 1, 1988, until it has been inspected and a permit issued 
by the Agency. 

B. Temporarily or permanently enjoined as a public health nuisance by a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

C. Found by the RCPWD not to comply with the provisions of this code and written notice thereof 
has been given to the owner or his agent. 

 
Section II. Conditions of Use – In addition to applicable the requirements of Article 3 of this Chapter, 
which pertain to semi-public water wells, the following is recommended: 

A. An initial test for all contaminants for which primary drinking water standards have been established 
by the KDHE. 

B. An initial and at least annual sample collection and testing for bacterial and nitrate. 
 
 

Article 5:  Well Status and Maintenance 

Section I. Plugging of Abandoned Wells, Cased and Uncased Test Holes, Inactive Status – All abandoned 
water wells and cased and uncased test holes shall be plugged in accordance with Article 12 and KDHE 
and/or GMD#2 water well regulations in Article 30. Water wells not in use may obtain KDHE and/or 
GMD#2 approval to place a well in inactive status rather than plug the well, if the landowner can present 
evidence as to the condition of the well and the landowner’s intentions to use the well in the future. 
 
Section II.  Private and Semi-Public Operation and Maintenance – All private and semi-public wells 
shall be maintained in good working condition, as permitted. Whenever the RCPWD finds any private 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 23 ~ 
 

or semi-public wellhead that is in violation of the code, the owner and/or user shall correct the condition 
within thirty (30) working days and subsequent inspections will occur as needed. 

 
Chapter Four 

PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY PROTECTION 

Article 1: General Provisions 

Section I. Purpose and Intent – The provisions of this chapter are adopted for the purpose of protecting 
the sources of water for public water supplies through the regulation and control of practices contributing 
to non-point source pollution within wellhead protection zones that have been approved by the governing 
body of the public water supply and the Reno County Board of County Commissioners. 
 
Section II. Definitions – In addition to the definitions provided in Chapters 1,2 and 3 of this code, the 
words, terms, and phrases listed below, for purposes of this Chapter are defined as follows: 

A. Animal Unit: Means a unit of measurement calculated by using the most current formula 
described by K.S.A. 65-171d and any future amendments thereof. See Appendix 2. 

B. Confined Animal Feeding Operation: Means any lot, pen, pool, or pond, which is: 
1. Used for the confined feeding of animals or fowl for food, fur or pleasure purposes. 
2. Not normally used for raising crops; and 
3. Not used for growing vegetation for animal food. 

C. Publicly Owned Treatment Works: Means any wastewater treatment facility licensed by the 
Kansas Department of Health and Environment which is operated, owned, or licensed to a 
benefit district, township, city, county, or state unit of government. 

D. Wellhead Protection Zone: Means a groundwater sensitive area identified by the public water 
supplier as being within the zone of capture, withdrawal, or other accepted method of delineating 
a public water supply well. Also referred to as source water protection zone or groundwater 
protection zone. 

Article 2: Prohibited Practices 

Section I. Confined Animal Feeding Operation – No person shall operate a confined animal feeding 
operation within a wellhead protection zone that has been constructed after the effective date of this Code 
that: 

A. Contains more than 1,000 animal units; or 
B. Contains any number of animal units within 300 feet of a public water supply well. 

 
Section II. Unlined Pit Privies – No person shall sell, use, lease or rent any unlined pit privy within a 
wellhead protection zone. 
 
Section III. Commercial Storage Tanks – Owners of commercial storage tanks located within a wellhead 
protection zone shall report to the public water supplier for their respective wellhead protection zone any 
release or unaccounted loss of inventory within 24 hours. 
 
Section IV. Publicly Owned Treatment Works Sludge – Within a wellhead protection zone, publicly 
owned treatment works sludge shall not be applied on or below the ground. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 24 ~ 
 

 

Chapter Five 
PUBLIC HEALTH NUISANCES 

Article 1: Public Health Nuisances 

Section I. Purpose and Intent –  The purpose and intent of this article is to outline those conditions 
which constitute a public nuisance and are deemed hazardous to public health. 

A. General – The RCPWD shall have the authority and power to examine all nuisances, sources 
of filth and causes of sickness that in its opinion may be injurious to the health of the 
inhabitants within the county. Whenever any such nuisance, source of filth or cause of sickness 
shall be found to exist on any private property or upon any watercourse  in this county, the 
RCPWD shall have the power and authority to order, in writing, the owner or occupant thereof 
at his own expense to remove the nuisance, source of filth, or cause of sickness within 24 
hours, or within such reasonable time thereafter as the RCPWD may order. Public nuisances 
shall include but shall not be restricted to the following: 

1. Any privy, privy vault, or other place used for the deposit of human excreta which 
permits animals or insects access to the excreta; which produces foul or objectionable 
odors; or is located so as to make pollution of any water supply probable.   

2. The collection or accumulation of any organic materials such as swill, meat scraps, dead 
fish, shells, bones, decaying vegetables, tree waste, dead carcasses, human or animal 
excrements, or any kind of offal that may decompose and create an attraction or breeding 
place for insects or rodents. 

3. Any animal pen that pollutes a water supply, underground water-bearing formation, or 
stream in a manner that is hazardous to human health or is maintained in a manner 
that creates an attraction or insect breeding place or is a rodent harborage or breeding 
place. 

4. Solid waste, which is stored, collected, transported, processed, treated, or disposed of 
contrary to the regulations, standards, or orders of the RCPWD, or in such a manner as 
to create a public nuisance. 

 
Section II. Inspections Required – Physical site inspections shall be authorized and performed for all 
activities under this code. 
 
Section III. Inspection Reports – A written inspection report shall be made for all inspections conducted 
under the authority of this Code, stating the name of the inspector, the date and time of the inspection, 
the type of inspection and the property inspected. The report shall enumerate all findings made during 
the inspection. Staff may use photographs and GIS to document inspection findings whenever possible.  
Time frames of corrections will be based on the severity of the public health nuisance.  Multiple 
inspections may occur. A copy of the completed report shall be issued to the owner of the premises. Final 
versions of County forms are public records available upon request. Drafts and County staff documents 
such as notes, and electronic communications are not public record.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 25 ~ 
 

 
Section IV. Inspection Scheduling and Re-inspections – Whenever inspections are required under this 
Code to be scheduled for any correction of any violation or other non-conforming condition, it shall be 
the duty of the property owner to notify the RCPWD and schedule the time and date for the inspection.   

Chapter Six 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ASSESSMENTS 

 
Article 1: Environmental Health Assessments 

Section I General Provisions – RCPWD coordinates with the Planning and Zoning Department in the 
evaluation of land development to ensure proposals can meet the sanitation code.  
Section II. Scope – Proposed Zoning permits and cases may be reviewed by environmental Staff to ensure 
the proposal does not interfere with the existing wastewater system or well, nor should the proposal have 
impeded future wastewater and well placement or replacement.  

Section III.  Definitions – Unless the context requires or specifies otherwise, the following words, terms, 
or phrases, as used in the Code, shall be given the meaning defined in this section. 

A. Interoffice Communication: A notification from the Planning and Zoning office to the 
Environmental Health Section requesting an evaluation of a proposal.  

B. Environmental Health Well Assessment: Either an office review or a site evaluation review of 
the proposal in regard to the existing or possible future well placements or replacements.  Review 
may contain notices of violations or agreements if discovered.  

C. Environmental Health Wastewater Assessment: Either an office review or a site evaluation 
review of the proposal in regard to the existing or possible future wastewater system placements 
or replacements. Review may contain notices of violations or agreements if discovered.  

D. Site Evaluations: An onsite inspection that is not associated with a permit process, to determine 
if a proposal shall meet code compliance requirements.  

Section IV. Requirements of Application – The requirements established by Chapter 6 of the Reno 
County Sanitation Code shall apply and be applicable to any and all private and semi-public wastewater 
systems and wells now or hereafter installed, used or operated upon any property located within Reno 
County, Kansas subject to the provisions of this Code. 
 
Section V. Reviews, Site Evaluations, and Reporting – Staff shall review proposals that have been sent 
from the Planning and Zoning office via interoffice communication or requested from individuals.  
Environmental Well and Wastewater Assessments forms shall be completed per proposal. 

A. Requests and Fees – All requests and fees shall be paid prior to any site evaluation.  
B. Site Plans – Site plans shall be submitted with each request.  
C. Office Reviews – Office reviews shall be completed by staff for all proposals, excluding 

subdivision reviews.   Unique circumstances may arise, and a site evaluation may be required.   
D. Site Evaluations – Site evaluations shall be completed for all proposals as needed by owner/ 

applicant or as needed by staff.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 26 ~ 
 

E. Subdivision Reviews – Subdivision reviews shall include a site evaluation per lot that includes a 
soil profile to determine adequate space for well and wastewater.  A test well shall be required to 
determine if water is present.  Water well shall be tested for at least bacteria and nitrates.   Staff 
may also review water geology with the Groundwater Management Districts. Each lot shall be 
identified prior to staff arrival. Soil profile shall be required per lot and to be conducted by staff 
or qualified persons. Other agencies may be consulted as needed. Applications for subdivision 
review and fees shall be submitted prior to any evaluation. 

F. Reporting – Staff shall complete the necessary inspection forms, including photos, GIS, soil 
profile forms, as needed for a determination of code compliance.  Final reports can include 
supportive documents and possible notice of violations. Multiple inspections can occur if 
necessary. All documentation shall be shared with the Planning and Zoning office, or other 
agencies as needed.   

G. Non-Approval – Non-approval of proposals will be in written format to owner/developer, and 
the Planning and Zoning office.  

H. Public Hearings – Staff can attend public hearings for the Reno County Sanitation Commission, 
Board of Zoning Appeals as requested from Planning and Zoning staff or applicant.   
 

Chapter Seven 

CODE ENFORCEMENT 
 

Article 1: Unlawful Conduct 

Section I. General Provisions – For the purpose of enforcing the regulations, conditions, requirements, 
and prohibitions established by this Code the following acts shall be unlawful: 

A. Obstruction of the Agency – No person shall willfully impede or obstruct a representative of the 
RCPWD in the discharge of his official duties under the provision of this Code. 

B. Operation without a Permit or License – No person shall do any act or engage in any activity for 
which a permit or license is required by this Code unless first obtaining such permit or license. 
The existence of emergency conditions may be a defense to this provision. 

C. Failure to Comply with Emergency Order – No person shall fail or refuse to comply with an 
emergency order of the RCPWD issued under Section A of this chapter. 

D. Failure to Comply with Permit or License – No person shall fail to comply with the specified 
terms or conditions of any permit or license issued under this Code nor do any act or engage in 
any activity of conduct regulated by this Code without a valid permit or license, nor continue 
activities or conduct subject to any permit or license which has expired, been suspended or been 
revoked under this Code. 

E. Failure to Comply with Regulations – No person shall do any act or engage in any activity which 
is regulated by any Section or Chapter of this Code except as authorized and permitted under the 
Code, and no person shall knowingly operate any activity regulated by this Code in any manner 
which does not comply with the requirements of the conditions and regulation specified in this 
Code. 

F. Falsification and Misrepresentation – No person shall falsify nor misrepresent any fact, 
information, produce, or data provided, required or submitted for any application, permit, 
license, inspection, examination, investigation, report, record, test or other determination 
required under this code. 

G. Failure to Repair or Correct – No person shall fail or refuse to repair or to correct any defect, 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 27 ~ 
 

deficiency, or other condition, whether natural or otherwise, in any private or semi-public 
wastewater system which has caused, or which the RCPWD determines is likely to cause, within 
reasonable certainty, any improper discharge or other health hazard, unsanitary condition, or 
unlawful pollution. 

H. Prohibited Practices-No person shall permit, or allow to permit, any prohibited practice as 
established by this Code. 
 

Article 2: Enforcement Proceedings 

Section I. Emergency Orders – The RCPWD or other authorized code enforcement office or 
representative of the Agency, may issue such orders or directives as he deems necessary upon a 
determination that such action is required to prevent, contain, or eliminate an obvious violation of this 
Code or an imminent threat to the health or safety of the public. 

A. Health Risk – Whenever the RCPWD finds that an emergency exists which requires immediate 
action to protect the public health he may without notice or hearing, issue an order reciting the 
existence of such an emergency and require that such action be taken as he may deem necessary 
to meet the emergency, including the suspension of the permit or license. Notwithstanding any 
other provisions of this Code, such order shall be effective immediately and shall by enforceable 
in Reno County District Court. 

B. Work Stoppage – Whenever any work is being performed on a private sewage disposal system 
contrary to the provisions of this Code, the RCPWD representative may order the work stopped 
immediately by issuing an emergency order and serving it on any persons engaged in the doing 
or causing such work to be done, and any such person shall forthwith stop such work until 
authorized by the RCPWD to proceed with the work. 

C. Compliance – Any person, to whom an emergency order is directed, shall comply therewith 
immediately, but upon written request filed within five (5) days of issuance, shall be afforded a 
hearing before a Reno County Sanitation Commission as soon as possible. A hearing shall be 
held within ten (10) days of the issuance of such emergency order. 

 
Section II. Suspension of Permit or License – The RCPWD may suspend any permit or license that it 
issues if the holder thereof does not comply with the requirements of this Code.  The suspension shall 
become effective ten (10) days after the holder of the license or permit, or the premises subject to the 
permit, receives written notice of such suspension.  
The holder or other aggrieved party may request a hearing in accordance with Article 4, Section I of this 
Chapter. After a hearing, the hearing officer may uphold the suspension as originally ordered or modify 
it as he sees fit, but in no event shall he enter an order of suspension for a period longer than that set 
out in the original order. Both the original order and any order entered after an appeal may condition 
the length of suspension upon correction of the conditions upon which the suspension is based. 
 
Section III. Revocation of License – The RCPWD may revoke a license for serious or repeated violations 
of any of the requirements of this Code or for interference with the RCPWD in the performance of its 
duties.  Prior to revocation, the RCPWD shall notify, in writing, the holder of the license, of the specific 
reason (s) for which the license is to be revoked and that the license shall be revoked at the end of the 
ten days following service of such notice unless a written request for hearing is filed with the regulatory 
authority by the holder of the license within the 10-day period. If no request for hearing is filed within 
the 10-day period, the revocation of the license becomes final. 
Whenever a revocation of a license has become final, the holder of the revoked license may make a 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 28 ~ 
 

written application for a new license and pay the fee required. 
 

Article 3: Penalties and Prosecution 

Section I. Penalties – Any violation of any provision or requirement of this Code or the commission 
of any unlawful act or conduct specified in this Chapter shall be deemed to be a Class C 
misdemeanor punishable upon conviction by a fine of not less than $100.00 and not more than 
$500.00. Each day’s violation shall constitute a separate offense. 

 
Section II. Prosecution – The RCPWD is hereby authorized to apply to the District Court for 
enforcement of this Code, unless a municipality adopting this Code provides otherwise for the 
prosecution of violations arising within its municipal jurisdiction. In that event, the City Attorney of the 
municipality adopting this Code may prosecute violations of this Code in the name of the city in the 
municipal court of that city. 
 

Article 4: Appeals 

Section I. Appeal for Hearing – Except as otherwise provided in Section V or this Chapter, any person 
aggrieved by any notice, final order, or non-approval of a permit or license by the RCPWD files with the 
RCPWD within ten (10) days after the date of issuance of the notice, order, or non-approval a written 
request for a hearing setting forth the grounds on which the request is made. The filing of the request 
for hearing shall operate as a stay of any notice or order except an emergency order. 

 
Section II. Hearings – Appeals shall be heard by the Reno County Sanitation Commission at a regular 
or special meeting of that Board, which shall operate as the Hearing officers for appeals. 
 
Section III. Conduct of Hearing – Upon receipt of the appeal request, The Reno County Sanitation 
Commission shall set a time and place for a hearing and shall give the petitioner written notice thereof. 
The hearing shall commence not later than ten (10) days after the date on which the request for hearing 
was filed; provided that upon request of the aggrieved party, the hearing may be postponed for a 
reasonable time beyond such ten-day period. 
A record shall be made at the hearing, and the aggrieved party may be represented by counsel or 
another authorized person. The RCPWD shall have the burden to sustain any notice, final order, or 
other decision subject to the appeal. 

 
Section IV. Decision – Within ten (10) days after the conclusion of the appeal hearing, The Reno County 
Sanitation Commission shall issue a written recommendation to the Reno County Public Works Director 
and to the petitioning party. That recommendation may be to sustain, modify or overturn the decision of 
the Agency. The Reno County Public Works Director shall then make a determination to follow or not 
follow the recommendation. Any such decision may be appealed to the Board of County Commissioners, 
who may or may not take it up at  their next regular meeting. If not taken up the decision of the Reno County 
Public Department Director shall stand. 

 
Section V. Proceedings of Hearings – A summary of all proceedings of hearing, including the findings 
and appeal decisions of The Reno County Sanitation Commission, together with a copy of every notice 
and order related thereto, shall be filed with RCPWD. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 29 ~ 
 

Section VI. Application of State Law Procedures – The appeal of any final decision action of the 
RCPWD which is taken under the authority of a state administrative RCPWD in application of the Laws 
of the State of Kansas shall be subject to and conducted in accordance with the Kansas Administrative 
Procedures Act, K.S.A. 77-501, et Seq., and the provisions of that Act shall supersede any and all time 
limitations and procedures otherwise specified in this Code. 
The Kansas Administrative Procedures Act shall not apply to any proceeding arising out of an appeal 
from any decision or action taken solely under the authority of the Board of County Commissioners or 
the governing body of any city. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 30 ~ 
 

APPENDIX 1: Lagoon Construction Diagram 
 

Top View 
 
 

Lagoon Size A B C X (Slope) 
M-35 47’X47’ 35’x35’ 5’X5’ 3:1 
M-40 52’X52’ 40’x40’ 10’X10’ 3:1 
M-45 59’X59’ 45’X45’ 10’X10’ 3.5:1 
M-50 64’X64’ 50’x50’ 15’X15’ 3.5:1 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Cross Section View 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 4' berm width 

Berm- 2' 
Above grade

 X  
    

Wastewater Line 
  • Cleanouts at every turn  

and no greater than 100' 
apart. 

•  Installed at grade of 
0.125 • 0.25" drop I foot. 

 
 
 

Fencing Requirements: 
• Mesh size opening no larger than 2" by 4". 
• Minimum fence height of 4 feet. 
• Minimum gate width of 4 feet. 
• Fence on outside of berm if livestock are present. 
• Fence may be on top of berm if no livestock are present. 

References: KDHE Environmental Health Handbook, Kansas State University 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 31 ~ 

 

APPENDIX 2: Setbacks Distance 
Table 1. Wastewater Setbacks Distance 

 Minimum Setbacks for wastewater systems 
Setback Required 
Septic tank/Aerobic unit/Retro Fit to 
foundation of a house or other building 

10 Feet 

Soil Absorption system to a dwelling foundation 20 Feet 
Any part of the wastewater system to:  
Public potable water line  25 Feet 
Private potable water line 10 Feet 
Property line 10 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Public water supply well or suction line 100 Feet 
Private water supply well or suction line 50 Feet 
Surface watercourse 50 Feet 
Wastewater Lagoons (Lagoon 5’ water level) to:  
Property line 50 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
Dwelling foundation 50 Feet 

Any other distances not listed are subject to KDHE interpretation and KDHE Bulletin 4-2, and 
amendments thereafter. Any setbacks not identified in the above table refer to KDHE Environmental 
health handbook or other KDHE publications or interpretations. 
 
Table 2: Water well setbacks Distance 

  Required Minimum Setbacks for water wells 
Property line or public right of way 25 Feet (road right of way may not be included) 
*Contamination Source 50 Feet 
Watertight sewer line 10 Feet 
Surface water 50 Feet 
Pump pit  2 Feet 

Contamination sources include sewer lines, pressure sewer lines, septic tank, laterals, pit privy, seepage 
pits, fertilizer storage, pesticide storage, feed lots or barn yard, and other wastewater systems. Any other 
distances not listed are subject to KDHE interpretation and KDHE Article 12 and 30 an amendment 
thereafter.  

Table 3: Animal Units Definition 
Animal Animal Unit Value 
Horses 2.0 
Mature Dairy Cattle 1.4 
Beef Cattle over 700pounds 1.0 
Cattle over 700pounds .5 
Swine over 55pounds .4 
Ducks .2 
Swine less than 55 pounds .1 
Sheep or lambs .1 
Laying hens or Broilers with a liquid manure 
system 

.033 

Turkeys .018 
Laying Hens or Broilers with continuous 
overflow watering 

.01 

 
Total Animal Units = (# Animals) x (Corresponding Animal Unit Value) Reference: K.A.R. 28-16-56C (0) 1-10 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 32 ~ 

APPENDIX 3: Wastewater Treatment Manual Charts 

EPA Onsite Wastewater Treatment Manual Charts Pgs. 3-4, 3-5, 3-6  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 33 ~ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



 

~ 34 ~ 

 

APPENDIX 4:  Lagoon Gal./Day  
 

KSU Wastewater and Pond Design and Construction Handout 

 
G. Morgan Powell 

Extension Natural Resource Engineer 
Barbara Dallemand 

Extension Assistant Specialist, On-Site Wastewater 
Ann Mayo 

Director of Environmental Health, 
Lyon County Health Department 

Publications from Kansas State University are available on the 
World Wide Web at: http://www.oznet.ksu.edu 

These materials may be freely reproduced for educational 
purposes. All other rights reserved. In each case, credit 

G. Morgan Powell et. al, Wastewater Pond Design and 
Construction, MF-1044, Kansas State University, October 

1997. 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: E950A34C-C252-473E-8851-D8564E3EBD41



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #8.B

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Patrick Hoffman, County Counselor

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Resolution changing the organization plan for the County Environmental Health Department

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Adopt the proposed resolution the changing the Organization plan for the County Environmental

Department
2. Deny the Resolution changing the Organization plan for the County Environmental Department
3. Direct Staff to modify the Resolution and bring back at a future meeting

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Adopt the proposed resolution the changing the Organization plan for the County Environmental
Department



RESOLUTION NO. _____________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 
ADOPTING CHANGES TO THE ORGANIZATION PLAN FOR THE COUNTY 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

Now on this 28th day of February, 2024, the Board of County Commissioners of Reno County, 

Kansas, after due deliberation, finds that: 

 WHEREAS: K.S.A. 19-3703 allows the board of county commissioners to designate a 

county agency other than the local health department to administer sanitary code regulations; and 

 WHEREAS, the Reno County Sanitation Code is in the process of being amended to 

provide for the administration of the code to be carried out by the Reno County Public Works 

Department, however that amendment process is not yet complete; and 

 WHEREAS: the Board of Commissioners and county staff have determined that the 

county will achieve greater efficiency in administering the county sanitary code in greater 

coordination with the county planning and zoning division, and that greater coordination can be 

achieved by the two divisions sharing a departmental administrator and office space; and 

 WHEREAS: currently the Reno County Environmental Health Division is administrated 

by the Health Department Administrator and has office space in the Reno County Health 

Department and the Reno County Planning Division is administered by the Director of Public 

Works and has office space in the Public Works Building. 

BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED: By the Board of County Commissioners of Reno County, 

Kansas sitting in regular session this 28th day of February, 2024, that the Reno County 

Environmental Health Division shall be administered by the Reno County Public Works 

Department, and shall administratively report to the Director of Public Works, shall have its offices 

in the Reno County Public Works Department Building, and shall be renamed the “Environmental 

Division of Public Works” effective immediately.  

 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED: that the following resolutions, and any other 

Resolutions and policies which reference Environmental Health being administered by the Health 

Department, shall continue to be in full force and effect in all aspects except to the extent they do 

not reflect the changes in this resolution.  

 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this 28th day of February, 2024 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF 
RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 
________________________________________ 
Randy Parks, Chairman 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Don Bogner, Vice-Chairman 
 
 
________________________________________ 

ATTEST:     Daniel Friesen, Member  
 
__________________________ 
Donna Patton, County Clerk   ________________________________________ 

Ron Hirst, Member 
 
 
________________________________________ 
John Whitesel, Member 

 
 



Presentation to Reno County Commission
FEBRUARY 2024

jubilee.critchfield
Typewritten text
AGENDA ITEM #8.C



Entrepreneur Navigator

Jackson Swearer

@jacksonswearer

Program Administrator

Christopher Acker

@christopheracker



Why 
Entrepreneurship?



Reno County Entrepreneurship Ecosystem Partnership
(RCEEP)

• StartUp Hutch
• Network Kansas
• City of Hutchinson
• Reno County Commission
• Hutchinson/Reno County Chamber of Commerce
• Hutchinson Community Foundation
• Hutchinson Community College
• South-Central Kansas Economic Development District (SCKEDD)
• K-State 105
• Local Small Businesses
• Local Lenders

Approximately 20 members



Accomplishments



Statewide Recognition



2023 Loan Highlights

West 5th Pet Resort
• Transition of an existing local business

• Received $89,000 in NetWork Kansas 
Funds

HTeaO
• Launch of a new iced tea shop in Hutchinson
• Received $268,440 in NetWork Kansas 

Funds

South Central Kansas Economic 

Development District (SCKEDD)
• Rehabilitation of 50 Reno County homes
• Received $300,000 gap loan 

from HutchCF

These loans leveraged outside funds of $70,000 in 2022, 
and $1.75M in 2023 



Growing Rural Businesses
Eight-week certificate program customized for rural businesses

13 Business Participants



Entrepreneurial Spotlights



Business Builder 
Workshops
Topics:
• How to Prepare for an 

Emergency Transition
• Building Wealth in Your 

Business
• Buying/Selling a Business
• Business Valuation & 

Assessment
• Finding Appropriate 

Consultants
• How to strategically grow 

your business
• Understanding your balance 

sheet



Entrepreneur Business Basics
12-Week Course for Aspiring Entrepreneurs

2023 Pitch Winners: Natasha Russell-Iverson,



Youth 
Entrepreneurship 
Challenge

• Do It Yourself Dinner
Grace Tech, Jaiden Gillette, Kade 

Ratzlaff
• Create Soul

Bryleigh Thibeaux
• Soapy Express

Alex Andrew, Craytan Erickson, Easton 
Yoder, Jayden Black

Winners People’s Choice Winners
• Athlify

Ty Lastinger
• Create Soul

Bryleigh Thibeaux
• Sleepbetter Inc

Grant Prior, Jersey Alpers, 
Mason McConnaughy



Manufacturing Expo



Monthly Networking Events

Entrepreneurship Connections Coffee in the County



Online 
Community

Website

StartUp Hutch 
Idea Exchange

Social Media



Monthly Podcast – The HotSeat



Entrepreneurial Spotlights

Andrew Penrose
Jack’s for all Trades

Aryn Hedrick
Hedrick’s Exotic Animal Farm

Chris and Shelly Bartel
Bartel Kitchen & Bath

Darrin Thomas
HTeaO

Holly Thomas
Holly’s Sweet Treats

Kristy Kidd
Machine Design Services

Steve Miller
Visionaries Eyecare

Travis and Kristen Mullen
Prairie Hills Nursery



Entrepreneurial Spotlights



Services

Free Coaching Calls Monthly E-Newsletter



“All of life is an experiment. 
The more experiments you 
make the better.”

-Ralph Waldo Emerson



Questions



Facebook.com/StartUpHutch
Instagram @StartUpHutch

Twitter @StartUpHutch
LinkedIn @StartUp Hutch

www.StartUpHutch.com

Social Media
Jackson Swearer

Jackson@StartUpHutch.com

Contact Info

Join our online community by searching:
StartUp Hutch Idea Exchange on Facebook



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

Mission: 

Our mission is to provide the leadership and support to save lives and protect property from all 

types of hazards through a comprehensive, risk-based, all hazards integrated emergency 

management program of mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery. 

 

What is Emergency Management? 

Emergency Management exists because hazards and vulnerabilities exist everywhere in our 

community.  It is the job of Emergency Management to coordinate and preplan with response 

agencies and private organizations on how we are going to mitigate against, prepare for, respond 

to, and recover from different hazards.   

Emergency Management is responsible for the coordination of all components of the emergency 

management system.  Emergency Management is the county’s liaison with local, regional, State 

and Federal government agencies as well as volunteer and private sectors on any and all 

activities that include mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery issues that may affect the 

local jurisdiction and its citizens.  

Reno County Emergency Management is also responsible for the 8 rural fire Districts which 

cover more than 1,100 square miles of Reno County.  This includes over 173 volunteer 

firefighters and 14 fire stations located in the following areas: Nickerson, The Highlands, 

Arlington, Abbyville, Plevna, Partridge, Sylvia, Turon, Yoder, Pleasantview, Pretty Prairie, 

Buhler, Haven, and St. Joe.  

 

History of Emergency Management 

Emergency Management is a concept that arose and evolved from the Civil Defense Act of 1950.  

The term “civil defense” means all those activities and measures undertaken to: 

1.  Minimize the effects upon civilian population caused, or which would be 
caused, by an attack upon the United States, or by natural disaster 

2. Deal with the immediate emergency conditions which would be created by 
such an attack or natural disaster 

3. To effectuate emergency repair, or the emergency restoration of, vital utilities 
and facilities destroyed or damaged by an attack or natural disaster 
 

jubilee.critchfield
Typewritten text
AGENDAITEM #8.D



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

Effective April 11, 1975 the Kansas Legislature approved K.S.A. Chapter 48, Article 9 which 

was the Emergency Preparedness for Disasters Act.  These statutes establish the need for 

emergency planning and set the responsibility for this at both the State and local levels. 

In 1983 the Reno County Office of Civil Defense was renamed the Office of Emergency 

Preparedness (Resolution 83-30).  

In 1993 the establishment of the Office of Emergency Preparedness of Reno County is 

reaffirmed (Resolution 93-65). 

Effective January 3, 1994, the Kansas Legislature approved K.A.R. 56-2-2.  This sets the 

minimum standards for local disaster agencies in so far as establishing the agency, defining the 

duties of the Emergency Manager to the jurisdiction and, in return, establishes the minimum 

limits of support the jurisdiction should provide to the Emergency Manager. 

In 1994 the Reno County Office of Emergency Preparedness is re-designated as the Reno County 

Office of Emergency Management (Resolution 94-37). 

Today, the Emergency Management office operates with the Director, Specialist, Fire 

Administrator, and Administrative Assistant. 

 

Four Phases of Emergency Management: 

There are four phases of Emergency Management as outlined in the National Incident 

Management System (NIMS).  They are: 

1. Mitigation 
2. Preparedness 
3. Response 
4. Recovery 

 

It is important that we work through these four phases in the plans we develop, procedures that 

take place, exercises we participate/facilitate, and the training we provide.  

 

Mitigation:  Identifying hazards and vulnerabilities and then undertaking those activities that 

will help to eliminate, reduce the chance of occurrence, or reduce the effects of a disaster. 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

 

Preparedness:  Planning how to respond to various hazards/emergency scenarios.  Training and 

equipping responders so that they have the resources needed to respond to any type of incident.  

Exercising the various plans so that we know if they will work or not.  Educating the public 

about the hazards they face in the community and know how they can prepare themselves and 

their families.  

 

Response:  This takes place during and immediately after an emergency or disaster.  Actions are 

taken to provide emergency assistance to victims i.e. Fire/EMS/Law Enforcement for public 

safety, debris clearance to allow access to the area by other responders, and shelters for people 

whose homes were damaged or destroyed.  Another part of response is taking actions to reduce 

further damage i.e. putting out fires, stopping gas or chemical leaks, sandbagging, and 

conducting search and rescue operations.  It is very common for us to utilize the local responders 

as well as the Public Works Department in the response phase. 

 

Recovery:  This phase is trying to get the community back to a sense of “normalcy” as quickly 

as possible.  There are two types of recovery – 

1.  Short Term – actions that are taken to restore vital life-support systems to 
minimal operating conditions – i.e. restore power, clearing of roadways, etc. 

2. Long Term – actions taken to try to return the community to “normal”, or to 
make it more “disaster resistant” - i.e. debris removal, rebuilding and/or 
restoration of damaged properties, Federal assistance to victims. 

 

Operational Plans & Standard Operating Guidelines  

Emergency Managers should be prepared to assist department heads in the development and 

maintenance of operational plans.  Emergency Managers should also assist local industries in the 

development of emergency plans and capabilities in support of the local government plan.  The 

local Emergency Manager is responsible, along with their many partners, for the maintenance 

and revision of the Local Emergency Operations Plan (LEOP), which is required by state statute.  

The LEOP is required to be revised and updated every five years; this update was completed and 

submitted to the Board of County Commissioners (BOCC) Chairman for approval, prior to being 

sent to the state for review.  Once the state reviews the plan, recommends changes, and approves 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

the plan, it is sent back to the BOCC for approval.  The LEOP is currently at the BOCC level and 

must be promulgated prior to April 1, 2024.  Once in place, the LEOP will not expire until 2030. 

 

Coordination of Resources  

When disaster strikes, Emergency Management must ensure that all governmental, volunteer and 

private agencies are functioning according to plan, have the resources necessary to do the job and 

most importantly, are working as a team.  This is coordination, not command.  Each agency has 

the authority and responsibility to do what needs to be done as only it can.  Emergency 

Management simply attempts to “pull together” everything that is going on in the response 

effort.  The Director advises the chief elected officials on disaster matters and ensures that the 

proper disaster declarations are made.  Emergency Management is the recognized point of 

contact for securing the help of outside entities such as the State and Federal Emergency 

Management Agencies. 

To do this effectively resource lists need to be updated and added to.  This is an ongoing 

endeavor year-round.  NIMS requires that resource “typing” be done which involves 

categorizing resources by capability based on measurable standards of capability and 

performance.  During an event, resources that are utilized should be tracked.  Reimbursement 

amounts are then assigned to that resource for possible reimbursement. 

The Local Emergency Manager is responsible for creating a local disaster declaration which will 

be sent to the Board of County Commissioners to declare.  Once a disaster declaration is in 

place, Reno County is responsible for the first $284,730.80 (found in file FFY 2024_Public 

Assistance Thresholds and Factors Per Capita in the shared drive) in damages before we will 

receive public assistance. This number is based on $4.60 per capita (2023 was $4.44 per capita).  

The state is currently using the 2020 census of 61,898 residents in Reno County.  Public 

Assistance can refund eligible: debris removal, emergency protective measures, repair, 

restoration, reconstruction, or replacement of a public facility or infrastructure which is damaged 

or destroyed by a disaster.  The State of Kansas is responsible for $5,405,699 before receiving 

any federal assistance.  If a county and the State both reach their threshold on a single incident, 

the State of Kansas may request a presidential disaster.  If that presidential disaster is approved 

and declared, local governments may be reimbursed up to 75% of the eligible expenses and the 

county will have to cover the other 25%.   

In recent years, Reno County has qualified for Fire Management Assistance Grant(s) (FMAG).  

When a fire is actively burning out of control, Emergency Management will contact the Kansas 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

Department of Emergency Management and request an FMAG.  To qualify, there are several 

determining factors which include: 

1. There must be a significant threat to lives, improved property, and critical infrastructure. 

2. The ability of state and local firefighting resources and other wildland fires occurring that 

impact local and state response.  

3. High fire danger conditions.  

4. Potential for major economic impact that would constitute a major disaster. 

5. If multiple wildland fires exist, they must be combined into an incident complex and 

under one incident commander to be considered under one FMAG declaration request. 

The threshold for an FMAG individual fire is $270,285.00.  The cumulative fire threshold is 

$810,855.00.  FMAGs are challenging to qualify for and receive but we received two in recent 

years; one for the Highlands Fire and the second one for the Cottonwood Complex. 

A local disaster declaration allows us to request assistance from the state and/or federal 

government once our local resources and contracts have been expended.  The local disaster 

declaration activates the response and recovery portion of the Reno County Emergency 

Operations Plan (EOP).   

For an FMAG, eligible cost of materials, equipment and supplies will be reimbursed using the 

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) current equipment rates established for the 

Public Assistance Program and/or actual costs.   

Reno County has received assistance from the state in recent years in the form of personal 

protective equipment, and assistance with fire suppression during large wildfires.  With an active 

disaster declaration in place, Reno County was able to utilize those state resources without 

utilizing any local funding. 

 

Liaison 

In this role, the Emergency Manager is the first line of contact with the State during times of 

crisis.  The Emergency Manager is charged with requesting additional resources at the State level 

based upon the situation.  The local Emergency Manager is the liaison among local entities and 

the Federal government during Presidential-declared disasters.   



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

 

Advisor 

The Emergency Manager is expected to be the Chief of Staff to the local officials before, during 

and following disaster emergencies.  In this role, they bring awareness of potential as well as 

existing problems and suggests solutions based on the needs of a community and available 

resources.  During times of crisis, the Emergency Manager keeps local officials apprised of 

situations in order for them to make the best decisions possible for response and recovery issues. 

These issues are then communicated to the response agencies based on the priorities set between 

the elected officials and the response community.  

 

Public Education 

In order to inform the public of emergency management activities as well as teach the public 

how to take care of themselves during disaster emergencies, it is the responsibility of the local 

Emergency Manager to participate in a variety of methods for training.  These methods can 

include developing new programs, utilizing existing programs, and even handing out literature at 

public events.  It is important that the public be aware of the power they possess to take 

personnel responsibility for themselves first before a greater response is needed.  

 

Emergency Operations Center (EOC) 

The Emergency Manager is responsible for developing, maintaining, and/or improving the EOC.  

Our EOC is in the basement of the Law Enforcement Center and will serve as the seat of 

government during times of disaster/emergencies.  It facilitates continuity of government during 

times of crisis and must be kept at a state of readiness at all times.   

The following are possible criteria for activation of the Reno County Emergency Operations 

Center: 

1. A threat (or potential threat) increases the risk in Reno County. 
2. Coordination of response activities are needed. 
3. Resource coordination is needed to respond to an event. 
4. Conditions are uncertain or could possibly escalate. 
5. A County emergency/disaster declaration is made. 
6. At the discretion of any of the individuals authorized to activate the EOC. 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

 
The Reno County Emergency Operations Center may be activated or deactivated by the 

Emergency Management Director or any of the following individuals: 

• Specialist - Reno County Emergency Management 
• Fire Administrator- Reno County Emergency Management 
• Sheriff - Reno County Sheriff's Department 

 

The Reno County Emergency Operations Center utilizes 3 levels of activation: 

• Watch: When conditions indicate an event/disaster is imminent. Notification will be 
made to those agencies that will need to take action as part of their normal 
responsibilities. The Reno County Emergency Operations Center will be staffed by 
emergency management personnel. 
  

• Partial-Activation: When conditions indicate an event/disaster is very imminent or has 
occurred. Emergency management personnel and essential ESFs are represented in the 
Reno County Emergency Operations Center. 
  

• Full-Scale Activation: Any disaster/emergency that will require large-scale mutual aid 
and possible State and Federal assistance in response and recovery. Emergency 
management personnel and essential ESFs are represented in the Reno County 
Emergency Operations Center. 

 
The facility serves as the coordination, command and control center for Reno County, is staffed 
when the need arises, and serves as the 24 hour Reno County Warning Point for initial 
notification and warning of emergencies and disasters. 
 
During activation, the Reno County Emergency Operations Center provides the core emergency 
function coordination, communication, resource dispatch and tracking; information collection, 
analysis and dissemination; multi-agency coordination and joint information coordination. Field 
Operations will be managed through the Incident Command System (ICS). 
 
Due to the current size and capability constraints of the county Emergency Operations Center, all 
moderate and large-scale events are organized at the Hutchinson Fire Command and Training 
Center. 
 

Annual Budget 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

Emergency Management is responsible for preparing, submitting, and justifying the annual 

Emergency Management budget, and the budgets for 8 rural fire districts.  There is considerable 

time spent with each fire district during the budgeting process. 

 

Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) 

CERT programs educate people about disaster preparedness for hazards that may impact their 

community and then trains them in basic disaster response skills, such as fire safety, light search 

and rescue, team organization, and disaster medical operations.  Using the training learned in the 

classroom and during exercises, these members can assist others in their neighborhood or 

workplace following an event when professional responders are not immediately available to 

help.  These members also are encouraged to support emergency response agencies by taking a 

more active role in emergency preparedness projects in their community. They are also 

encouraged to take other trainings offered by such agencies as the American Red Cross to 

enhance their abilities.  

CERT can also assist with local events, help with parking issues, and direct traffic, etc. These 

groups require periodic training and exercising to keep up their skills.  Some of the training 

would be done by agencies that have the skills in that area.  The coordination of the training, etc. 

would need to be done by Emergency Management.  Records of training and volunteer time are 

also maintained.  

In addition to monthly trainings, CERT was utilized for staging and feeding during wildfires in 

2023. 

 

 

2023 Large Fire District Purchases 

Reno/Harvey Joint Fire District #2 (Buhler):  

• Purchased and outfitted a firefighting UTV. 

• New water tender truck (2022 purchase) is expected to be delivered in the next few 
months. 

District 3 (Highlands, Nickerson): 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

• Received and outfitted their new fire engine (2022 purchase), it has been in service for 
several months. 

• Purchased and outfitted a firefighting UTV. 

District 4 (Arlington, Abbyville, Partridge, Plevna):  

• Have a contract for a new water tender truck.  That truck is scheduled to be built but is 
waiting on a chassis. 

• Purchased and outfitted a firefighting UTV. 

• Purchased a new cascade breathing air fill station. 

District 7 (Turon):  

• Purchased land for a new fire station.  We have requested estimates for a fire station from 
several different contractors.  A new fire station in Turon is a 2024 priority. 

• Purchased a used fire engine from Fire District 3. 

District 8: 

• Signed a contract to purchase a new brush truck; this brush truck is expected to be 
delivered later this year 

All the Fire Districts: 

• Now have access to Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD)- this was an approved ARPA 
purchase. 

 

 

Fire Merger Study: 

Since meeting with the BOCC in the study session in August, we have spent several hours 
meeting with every county fire district about the merger document that was presented.  7 
meetings were held throughout the county, lasting up to 4 hours.  The last meeting was 
conducted on 12/21/2023.  After each meeting, a high-level overview of the meeting was 
documented in a memorandum for record.  That memorandum was sent in draft form to the fire 
district, asking them to edit, change, or add to it to ensure an accurate account of the meeting was 
documented.  Each district was given 30 or more days to accomplish that task.  To date, 6 out of 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

the 7 memorandums are completed and approved by the fire district.  Overall, the meetings with 
the fire districts were positive. 

Next month, at the monthly Chiefs Meeting, we will discuss the meetings with the Chiefs.  
Utilizing those Chiefs as a “steering committee” we will begin to develop various options to 
bring back to the BOCC later this year. 

 

Conclusion: 

2023 was a very busy, successful year in the Emergency Management Office.  Some of the major 
accomplishments include, but are not limited to, the quarterly training for the fire districts, the 
completion of the Emergency Operations Plan, and the Lexipol Policies.  Numerous hours were 
spent outside normal business hours responding to events across the county. 

As we enter our wildfire season, 2024 is already shaping up to be a busy year.  In addition to our 
everyday tasks, we will be completing a mitigation plan and working on the merger documents.   

 

 

 

 

 

 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #8.E

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Michael Plank, County Appraiser

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
County Appraisal Questions & Answers

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Background information regarding property valuations and the appraisal process

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Discussion only





























AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #8.F

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: James Krstolich, Community & Public Relations Manager for ideatek

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Ideatek Broadband Acceleration Grant Request

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Letter of Support, as well as a pledge of funds to this Reno County project

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
Connects 211 Reno County premises, where a normal business case is not feasible.



Program:

The Kansas Office of Broadband Development launched the fourth round of Broadband
Acceleration Grants, with the application window closing March 11, 2024., in an effort to improve
broadband infrastructure access and affordability through rural Kansas.

This program is designed to address the critical broadband needs in rural communities that lack
speeds of at least 100/20 Mbps. In order to accomplish these goals through the entire state, the
maximum award per project is $1M. Applicants participating in this program will be required to
provide affordable and reliable broadband services within the proposed areas, and will have 24
months to complete the proposed project.

Reno County:
Estimated Project Cost: $850,112

This proposed fiber to the home build would offer symmetrical speeds up to 2.5 GIG to 211
premises from 69th Avenue north to 108th Ave to include two farms between Pennington Road
and Monroe in Reno County, upgrading them to the connectivity needed for the next 50-100
years of internet technology growth. This is a high cost per premise project, that would not be
possible without state funding opportunities such as this. Reliable services in this area are not
only below the required 100/20, but in reality are actually more like 25/3 according to BDC Data.



 

Randy Parks 
District 1 

Ron Hirst 
District 2 

Daniel P. Friesen 
District 3 

John Whitesel 
District 4 

Don Bogner 
District 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
February 28, 2024 

 

Kansas Department of Commerce 

Kansas Office of Broadband Development 

1000 SW Jackson, Suite 100 

Topeka, KS 66612 

 
RE: IdeaTek – BAG 4.0 Letter of Support 

 
Dear Kansas Office of Broadband Development, 

 
I am writing in support of IdeaTek's Broadband Acceleration Grant application to bring critical 

fiber optic internet to rural parts of Reno County that lack adequate service. 

 
Residents in the proposed project area have long suffered with poor broadband that fails to offer the 

same basic advantages that their counterparts just a few miles away enjoy. Residents of Highlands 

are left without the ability to telecommute, use telehealth services or to engage in virtual learning. 

 
These broadband infrastructure failings do not just impact current residents, they affect our 

community’s ability to grow. This grant offers the opportunity to remedy this problem for over 211 

premises in the rural Reno County community. Ideatek has proven to be an innovative problem 

solver in resolving coverage gaps throughout other rural areas of Kansas, and we are excited at the 

potential for IdeaTek to bring Internet Freedom to our community. 

 
Please give Ideatek’s application strong consideration so that they can continue their efforts to 

ensure every Kansan has the service they need to thrive. 

 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
      
Randy Parks, Chairman 

Courthouse 

206 W. 1st Avenue 

Hutchinson, Ks 67501 

 

County Commission 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #9.A

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Randy Partington, County Administrator

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Monthly Department Reports

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Every month, departments have been asked to provide an update on the previous month's major
activities.  The reports are intended to keep the county commission informed about the appointed and
elected departments.  Attached are reports for Health Dept, Human Resources, Information Technology,
Maintenance, Public Works, Solid Waste, Treasurer and Youth Services.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Randy Partington, County Administrator: 

 

 

RE:  Monthly report ending January 31, 2024 

 

 

Staffing Vacancies:   

All positions are filled.   

 

Program Updates: 

Admin/Finance/Health Information Management (HIM).  Staff are collecting information and 

data for our Public Health Accreditation Board (PHAB) annual report, which includes our 

Strategic Planning report.        

 

Child Care Licensing (CCL).  Staff submitted quarterly grants report, received 2 building site 

consults and 4 inquiries on becoming a childcare provider, conducted their monthly orientation, 

and conducted 1 initial survey, 3 annual surveys, 2 compliance visits, 1 complaint survey, and 1 

illegal care survey.  Staff sent out alerts to all providers for Recalls and Holiday Hazards, made 

connections with area-wide resources to better assist new providers, provided education to 

providers that included grant availability, they maintained an “open door” to all providers for 

assistance, and educated and updated providers on changes to the Background/Fingerprinting 

process.  The Hunt Institute released the Final Report of the Kansas Early Childhood Transition 

Task Force, December 2023.  https://governor.kansas.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Kansas-

Early-Childhood-Transition-Task-Force-Final-Report.pdf.  The report does provide a roadmap 

for where the State is headed regarding early childhood care and education.       

 

Clinical – Basic Health Services (BHS), Maternal Child Health (MCH), Family Planning (FP), 

Older Adult Services (OAS), and Epidemiology.  2023 year-end statistics for clinical services 

were similar to previous years: 5,454 immunizations, 753 MCH/FP visits, 590 Footcare clinics, 

and 2,757 Home and Community Based Services (HCBS).    

           

Epidemiology and COVID-19 Update.  For the month, staff conducted 19 infectious disease 

investigations, with 13 confirmed or probable cases.  Reno County had 1 case of histoplasmosis 

this month.  There was 1 animal bite investigation conducted.  As of 1/31/24, the percentage of 

COVID-19 emergency department (ED) visits has decreased from a peak of over 5% of all ED 

visits at the end of December, to 1.5% at the end of January.  There were 6 COVID-19 

admissions the week of 1/20.  As of January 31st, there were 3 patients hospitalized with 

COVID-19.  ED visits for RSV are currently low, but are high for Influenza.  RSV ED visits 

accounted for 0.6% of all ED visits and influenza accounted for 3.7% of ED visits this past week.  

 

209 West 2nd Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas 67501-5232 

(620) 694-2900 

Fax (620) 694-2901 

TDD: Kansas Relay Center 800-766-3777 

www.renogov.org/health 



 

Health Education – Chronic Disease and Risk Reduction (CDRR), National Association of 

County & City Health Officials (NACCHO) Reducing Overdose through Community 

Approaches (ROCA) Mentorship, Pathways to a Healthy Kansas, Comprehensive Opioid, 

Stimulant, and Substance Use Site-based Program (COSSUP), and Community Education.  

CDRR-Staff met with Haven High School and Prairie Hills Middle School on vaping/tobacco 

prevention.  Staff continue to work with the Reno County Jail staff on the Kansas Tobacco 

Cessation Training (KaTCH) that provides jail staff and therapists with tools to help tobacco 

dependent individuals entering jail with cessation tools.  Currently, 3 of the 10 staff members 

have completed the training.  The Food Advisory Committee is starting their data collection 

phase of a food system assessment.  NACCHO-Our mentee health department from Wisconsin 

was here for their site visit January 15-17th; we met with community partners including the DA’s 

office, New Beginnings, Kansas Recovery Network, and Reno Recovery Collaborative; this 

grant process is complete.  Pathways-Staff are working with New Beginnings to start communal 

meals with Nutrition as Recovery.  COSSUP-Grant work has begun and is in full swing of 

getting our partners, Reno County Jail and Horizon’s on board with agreements and moving 

forward to accomplish the goal of Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT) in the Jail.  The 

Overdose Fatality Review Board has met and reviewed their first case.    Community Education-

Staff taught health/nutrition and substance use education to Substance Abuse Center of Kansas 

(SACK).  Staff presented at the All-Hands-on-Deck Professional Development Day for all Reno 

County educators.   Staff provided 4 Narcan training sessions.          

 

Preparedness (PHEP).  Staff completed the quarterly workplan for the Public Health Emergency 

Preparedness (PHEP) and Medical Reserve Corps (MRC STTRONG) grants, presented to 

Childcare Providers at The Father’s House, held their first MRC meeting, received two new 

MRC volunteer applications, attended the South-Central Healthcare Coalition meeting, and 

conducted 1 school inspection.   

 

WIC – Women, Infant & Children. We have 1187 active clients (have used at least 1 item on 

food benefits) out of 1379 participating (received benefits).  This is a decline from last month, 

which is typical and similar to past years.  Breastfeeding Peer Counselors held 2 events with 15 

participants, and staff assisted 13 individuals with breastfeeding.        

       

Becoming a High(er) Performing Organization.  Staff have been actively involved in training 

sessions for a successful move to Office365, thus providing our assistance in reducing county 

software expenses.       

 

Sincerely,  

 

Karla Nichols,  

Director of Public Health 



                                                                                               
           RENO COUNTY 
                                                                                       206 West First Ave. 
                              Hutchinson, Kansas 67501-5245 

                                                                          PHONE: (620) 694-2982 
   FAX: (620) 694-2508 

 
 

Board of Commissioners - Department Update 

Human Resources – January 2024 
Helen Foster – Human Resources Director 

 

 
Employment Activity for January 
During the month of January, we had 7 (seven) new hires and 6 (six) separations from employment as of January 
31st. This month we received a total of 171 applications through January 31st.  We went from 15 active job 
postings to11 active job postings by the end of the month of January.  
 
Evaluations 
The evaluation cycle has began.  Departments are doing a great job of getting the self-evaluations completed and 
some have already completed a good portion of their staff evaluations. The evaluation process will be completed 
by February 28th for the HR Review. Departments will be completing the employee meetings through the month of 
March.  Once all evaluations are completed, I will be doing an analysis of the data and compiling some different 
strategies with Pay for Performance for the 2025 evaluation cycle.    
 
Year End 1095’s 
Human Resources has distributed the completed 1095’s to employees.  This was completed on February 1, 2024 
and all 1095’s have been received by the departments and mailed.  The deadline for this project was March 1, 
2024, but it is helpful for the employees to have them earlier so that they are able to affirm that they have received 
the 1095 at the time they are completing their taxes.  The IRS electronic filing will be done by the end of February. 
 
Annual Turnover 
The annual turnover rate for 2023 was 26.41%.  This is an increase over the 2022 rate of 21.57%.  Most of the 
separations have been voluntary and the biggest reason for leaving is for more money.  Most of the employees that 
have left are leaving for a position not related to the position they were filling for the County.  
  
 

 

 



 
 

 

 

 

 

Feb. 6, 2024 

 
           Monthly Report Information Services 

           Michael Mathews 

 

Staffing changes or issues  

We have no staffing changes currently. 

Budget YTD summary 

We are in the middle of paying most of our large software maintenance agreements. It will appear as we are spending a 

large percentage of our budget but will even out over the year. 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

We are still helping with the Tyler Eagle recording software installation. IT is slated to go live in 2024. 

GovBuilt for EH continues to be a priority we are currently working on all EH forms. WE are hoping to be completed by 

soon. 

We are currently working very closely with GovBuilt on the county website redesign and content review. It is our goal to 

be live on the new platform by mid-April 

Cyber Security 
 
We are currently working with several departments to find more innovative ways to be more efficient. 
 
We have moved all of the employees that were able to be moved to the cloud-only version of Microsoft O365. We are 
currently working with each department that chooses to move to work out any bugs that have come to our attention.  
 
WE have spent the last week or so installing CrowdStrike security software to all the network computers, so far it has 
gone well. We believe this is a major upgrade to the cyber security of our network. It continues to be a welcome 
advancement in our cyber defense.   
 
  
Issues that we dealt with in the past month include. Just managing our cyber security. It is a ongoing battle.  

 

 

 

 

 

RENO COUNTY 
206 West First Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas 67501-5245 
620-694-2523 

Fax: 620-694-2954 



         

  

 

Maintenance & Purchasing Monthly Report  2/01/2024 

Harlen Depew, Director 

Staffing:  At this time, we are taking applications for one FT, custodial position and two Maintenance Tech I 

position.  Additionally, we have one tech on medical light duty thru mid-march, leaving us with only half of our 

daytime crew to work with.  I’d like to commend these fine folks for all the extra work they are doing during this 

time. 

Budget YTD summary 

As of the end of December we’ve spent 85% of our operating budget for the year.  Final remaining invoices for 

2023 should be thru the system by the end of this month. 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Staffing continues to be a challenge.  We’re getting very few applications for our daytime positions.  I’m currently 

looking for alternative options for covering groundskeeping duties in case we still haven’t been able to hire anyone 

prior to the start of the mowing season. 

Courthouse Remodel 

Other than carpet replacement in the main open space on the 1st floor, remodel work is substantially complete on 

floors 1, 2, 3 and 4.  Wall framing on 5 is complete.  Drywall is in the finishing stages.  Maintenance staff completed 

installation of network cabling in this area in January.   

The new furniture for the DA’s office has been ordered and should arrive early in March, at which time the DA can 

move out of their existing offices temporarily so carpet can be replaced in their current space, 

Asbestos testing was recently completed prior to the carpet installation in the existing fifth floor DA’s offices.  The 

tile underneath the existing carpet was not positive, but the adhesive under it was.  This has caused a bit of a shift 

in plans as the entire office area will need to be vacated while the asbestos adhesive is being abated. 

Courthouse Network Cabling  

Maintenance and IT had planned to contract out a comprehensive project of replacing the network cabling 

throughout the building.  We have decided we can do this work with our own people at a significant savings, and 

we’re currently in the early stages of this project.  We will be working on this over the winter months as time 

allows.   

   

 

 



 

Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge • Planning & Zoning • Noxious Weed • Utilities 

 
                                                                                                   

  

J a n u a r y , 2024 Monthly Report 

 

Asphalt Crew is asphalt crack sealing.  

 

Mowing/Sign is trimming trees along the ROW throughout the county.  

 

Dirt Crew is cleaning ditches and replacing entrance culverts.  

 

Bridge Crew is about to start replacing Riverton Rd Bridge 12.95, 1 mile north of Arlington Rd. 

and repairing bridges as needed.  

 

Planning & Zoning  Planning & Zoning Commission is working on limited scale  and residential 

solar regulations. 

 

Environmental Health Sanitation code was approved by KDHE and will now go before the 

County Commission and will require a public hearing.  

 

Utilities Grants are being applied for Both SD201-202 and Yoder WD101 projects and Public 

Works staff has applied for grants for these projects.   

 

Contracted Projects  

 

Woody Seat Bridge  The concrete deck patching rehab has been completed since the first week 

in December. The bridge is scheduled to close for final repairs on 5/6/2024.   

 

The Willowbrook Bridge construction is on schedule and the bridge deck was poured on 

02/06/2024 .   

  

Challenges                                                              

 

 

   

Public Works 

600 Scott Boulevard 

South Hutchinson, Kansas 67505 

620-694-2976 

Don Brittain, Director 

 



                           Reno County Solid Waste  
                                                                                 4015 W Clark Rd 
                                                                                 Hutchinson, KS 67501 
              (620) 694-2586 
               

 

 
 

Solid Waste Monthly Update January 2024 
Megan Davidson, Director 

 

Staffing: We currently do not have any open positions at the landfill!! 
 
 Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns: The month of January has been nothing 
but struggles due to weather, cold, frozen temps and moisture. 
 
The month of January has been nothing but everyday tasks of accepting trash, but 
also trying to keep up with the ever changing frozen temps, moisture and cold. It 
causes day to day operation issues with not only traffic in and out, but also it is 
very hard on the equipment. 
 
Office staff has been busy tying up loose ends from the 2023 year and already 
through a full month of 2024!!! 
 
The 826 compactor is finally in the shop starting repairs on it. We have a major 
need for a dozer to go in for a rebuild this year as the engine is causing us some 
issues in the field.  
 
The Gun range has been to wet to do any work, but as soon as we get caught up 
with our own site we will get down there to continue dirt work. 
 
 
Budget: We are still getting in some invoices from the 2023 budget year. New 
equipment purchases for 2024 will start coming in for approval once all of the 
information has been received from vendors.  



 

www.renogov.org 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 29, 2024 

 

 

Monthly Report – Treasurer’s Office 

 
 
 

STAFFING CHANGES OR ISSUES:   

 

We have spent the past couple weeks reviewing applicants and conducting interviews to fill the 

two open positions in our office.  Once these new hires have completed their testing, dates will 

be set for them to begin working with us.   

 

We had another employee submit her 2-week notice this morning.  This employee had already 

had several interviews with another department, so the outcome was not unexpected. Our hope is 

that the recent position re-grading for our front line employees will assist with employee 

retention.  Our Customer Service Associates must have extensive knowledge of both office and 

KDOR policies and procedures for vehicle titles, plus have the ability to maintain 

professionalism and be courteous at all times with even the most challenging customers. 

 

Our office remains in transition from Brenda’s retirement. Once the final position details of our 

upper level positions have been finalized, we will start promoting/moving employees around and 

begin all the necessary training and cross-training.  Training has already begun at the upper 

levels of our department. 

 

 

PROJECTS/ISSUES/CHALLENGES/CONCERNS: 

 

The January tax distribution, nearly $70 million and our largest distribution of the year, was 

recently completed and checks were mailed out to all the local entities.  The January distribution 

is a major project involving weeks of general ledger balancing, PILOT spreadsheets, journal 

entries and AP payment batches.   

 

We are presently working on providing Annual Reports to all the cities in Reno County, as well 

as working with providing audit documentation for local entities regarding their distribution 

payments for 2023. 

 

Thankfully, the statewide MOVRS issues from December have now been fully resolved.  We 

were finally given clearance by KDOR in the past week to approve titles from December 19 and 

RENO COUNTY TREASURER 
125 West First Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas 67501-5245 
620-694-2938 

Fax: 620-694-2776 
T

TDD: Kansas Relay Center 1-800-766-3777 
 

 



 

www.renogov.org 

 

20 when the MOVRS issues were at their height.  KDOR had previously stopped all counties 

from approving title transactions from that time period due to repeated issues with multiple titles 

printing with the same title number. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Youth Services Monthly Report 

January 2024   

Staffing changes or issues (if any) 

Jessica Susee is the new Assistant Director of Youth Services. She brings several years of 

experience to the position and is already doing a tremendous job. Jessica was the supervisor 

of Intake and Assessment for three years, a position which will now be filled by the current 

second shift supervisor, Becky Turley.  Becky will begin her new role on February 5th.  

We currently have offers out to fill the part time Youth Care Specialist position, as well as the 

40-hour Youth Care Specialist (male only). Both individuals are currently completing testing 

for the positions. We are still accepting applications for a full time, male only, juvenile 

corrections officer for second shift.   All positions, except standby and on-call positions, offer 

insurance benefits and KPERS. Those interested in the open positions can apply online at 

Renogov.org.     

The employee of the month for January is Angel Schroeder. Angel works in the detention 

center and has been an incredible asset to Reno County Youth Services. Angel can be 

depended on to bring a positive attitude to the job, as well as a genuine caring presence for 

the youth she works with. Angel is a great team player and is always willing to help out 

wherever possible. Congratulations, Angel. She is very deserving of this award and we are 

very fortunate to have her on our staff. 

Budget YTD Summary 

In 2023, we spent 68% of our Shelter budget (Dept.90). The total shelter budget is $933,553. We 

spent 96% of our detention budget (Dept.91). The total detention budget is $1,109,483.  In January of 

2024, we spent 5% of our budget, while in detention, we spent 6% of the budget.      

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

We began taking bids this month for the renovation of both restrooms in the Emergency Shelter. This 

will be a tremendous upgrade once this project is completed.   

January was a very busy month for our youth. All of them started back to school and two of them are 

now employed in our community and doing well. I am looking forward to the opportunities a few of our 

youth have as they begin working towards moving out into the world to begin their adult lives. We are 

very thankful to have strong agencies in our community to assist these young adults in their time of 

RENO COUNTY YOUTH SERVICES 
219 West Second Ave. 

Hutchinson, Kansas  67501 
(620) 694-2500 

Fax:  (620) 694-2504 
TDD:  Kansas Relay Center  1-800-766-3777 

JUVENILE DETENTION CENTER 

JUVENILE INTAKE & ASSESSMENT 

BOB JOHNSON YOUTH SHELTER 

 



transition. I also look forward to the new training opportunities available to our staff in this upcoming 

year and welcome all the new adventures 2024 will bring us.    



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #13.A

AGENDA DATE: February 28, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Megan Davidson, Solid Waste Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Discussion of Proposals for Landfill Methane Gas Project.
Associated Documents

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

In late summer/early fall, Reno County sent out a simple Request for Proposals (RFP) for companies
interested in using the methane produced at the landfill for a project that might bring additional money
to the landfill, while helping a private company.  We received three proposals that have been reviewed
by staff, including Megan, Patrick and Randy.  The proposals were also shared with our consultants
SCS Engineers, as they are contracted to oversee portions of the landfill dealing air permits related to
methane gasses. 

ALL OPTIONS:
Discussion item.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Discussion item with no action expected.

https://www.renogov.org/DocumentCenter/View/13196/Study-Session-Documents

	~2.28.2024 Agenda.pdf (p.1-2)
	06B Minutes.pdf (p.3-13)
	06C Res Dividing Districts.pdf (p.14-17)
	06D Surplus Property.pdf (p.18-23)
	06E PW Truck Purchase.pdf (p.24-28)
	06F SW Truck Purchases.pdf (p.29-67)
	06G  SW Rebuild.pdf (p.68-71)
	06H SW Rebuild.pdf (p.72-76)
	06I SW Undercarriage Replacement.pdf (p.77-79)
	06J Ward Davis Change Order 1.pdf (p.80-87)
	06K Fire Districts SOP.pdf (p.88)
	06L  Reappointment EM.pdf (p.89-95)
	06M EOP.pdf (p.96-178)
	07A Public Hearing.pdf (p.179-217)
	08A Sanitation Code.pdf (p.218-258)
	08B Res EH.pdf (p.259-261)
	08C Start Up Hutch.pdf (p.262-283)
	08D EM Yearly.pdf (p.284-293)
	08E CA.pdf (p.294-307)
	08F Ideatek.pdf (p.308-310)
	09A CA.pdf (p.311-322)
	13A Study Session.pdf (p.323)

